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 ESRS 2 BP-1 

General basis for preparation of  
sustainability statements

Under the title “EVN Full Report”, we publish an 
 integrated annual and sustainability report for the 
 previous financial year which covers the period from 
1 October to 30 September. “EVN” subsequently 
refers – not least to improve readability – to the entire 
EVN Group and therefore to EVN AG as the parent com-
pany together with all fully consolidated subsidiaries.

Our goal for this publication is to provide equal 
 treatment for financial and non-financial information, 
including the corporate governance report. In prepara-
tion for the mandatory application of the Corporate 
Sustainability Reporting Standards (CSRD) by EVN AG 
beginning with the 2024/25 financial year, this inte-

grated report for 2023/24 is based on the structure of 
the European Sustainability Reporting Standards (ESRS). 
It is expressly noted that this report does not claim to 
comply with all ESRS requirements. 

Scope of consolidation

The sustainability statement for 2023/24 was prepared 
on a consolidated basis and covers the fully consolidated 
companies in EVN’s scope of consolidation, which are 
included as of 30 September 2024 in accordance with 
IFRS consolidation requirements. Any deviations from 
this presentation for company-specific reasons are 
explained in a footnote to the respective metric. The 
scope of consolidation and any changes in comparison 
with the previous year are explained in the notes to 
the consolidated financial statements.

In accordance with the operational control approach 
required by ESRS, five further companies that are not 
part of financial reporting due to their insignificance 
are included under the following standards: ESRS E1 
 “Climate change“, ESRS E2 “Pollution “ and ESRS E4 
“Biodiversity and ecosystems“. These five companies 
are EVN-WIEN ENERGIE Windparkentwicklungs- und 
Betriebs GmbH & Co KG, Biowärme Amstetten-West-
GmbH, Bioenergie Wiener Neustadt GmbH, Abwasser-
beseitigung Kötschach-Mauthen Errichtungs- und 
Betriebsgesell schaft mbH, and Wasser ver- und Ab was-
serentsorgungsgesellschaft Märkische Schweiz mbH. 
This expanded reporting scope is also transparently 
presented for the involved metrics.

The disclosures on our strategic supplier management 
also address – as far as this is relevant and possible – 
the material impacts, risks and opportunities along the 
central value chain and the related strategies, measures 
and goals. Additional information on EVN’s value chain 
can be found beginning on page 27ff. 

Further references

We prepared this full report and verified the data with 
the greatest possible diligence. Nevertheless, rounding, 
typesetting and/or printing errors can not be excluded. 
The use of automatic data processing equipment can 
lead to rounding differences in the addition of rounded 
amounts and percentage rates.

We use the following signs in this report: 

 Reference to additional information in this full report
 Reference to content on the internet

EVN is committed to equal treatment in references to all 
genders in its internal and external publications, i. e. also 
in this full report. 

This full report is available in German and English. In case 
of doubt, the German version takes precedence. 

The editorial deadline for this report was 
 27 November 2024. 

About the sustainability 
statement

 ESRS 2 
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Code based on the requirements of the IFRS issued by 
the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and 
the interpretations of the International Financial Report-
ing Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) which required 
mandatory application as of the balance sheet date and 
had been adopted by the European Union. 

Application of European norms

EVN voluntarily implemented standardised management 
systems many years ago, among others to improve 
 environmental performance. Detailed information on 
the applied norms (also see the following table) can 
be found under the disclosures on the individual topics.  

Moreover, the business activities of our Group companies 
are certified according to various branch frameworks. 
Included here, among others, are:

• Sector regulations for network operations by 
 Österreichs Energie (Austria’s electricity industry 
association)

• Quality standards QS-WVU400 and AGB V40 issued 
by the Austrian Gas and Water Association (ÖVGW)

• Voluntary certification system “Sustainable  Resources 
Verification Scheme“ (SURE) for all plants operated 
by EVN Wärme which fall under the scope of appli-
cation of RED II, which ensures the tracking and 
proof of sustainability under RED II criteria for the 
biomass used. This certification is expanded regularly 
based on legal requirements.

Disclosures stemming from other legislation 
 or generally accepted sustainability reporting 
pronouncements

EU Directive 2014/95/EU on the disclosure of non- 
financial and diversity-related information (NFI Guideline) 
was implemented in Austria through the Sustainability 
and Diversity Improvement Act (“Nachhaltigkeits- und 
Diversitätsverbesserungsgesetz”). In order to meet the 
related requirements, EVN opted to prepare a separate 
non-financial report for the 2023/24 consolidated finan-
cial statements and integrate this information in the 
full report. The disclosures required by the Sustainability 
and Diversity Improvement Act on environmental, social 
and employee issues, respect for human rights and the 
fight against corruption are therefore presented under 
the – still separate – “sustainability statement” section. 
The statement also includes our reporting on the 
EU  Taxonomy Regulation to meet the requirements of 
Article 8 of the EU Taxonomy Regulation (2020/852) 
as planned by the CSRD in the future.

 For reporting on the EU Taxonomy Regulation, see page 42ff.

This report meets the requirements of the UN Global 
Compact and presents our progress in the related areas. 
The following corporate departments were primarily 
responsible for the collection, calculation and consolida-
tion of data in accordance with national and interna-
tional standards and with the guidelines for financial and 
sustainability reporting: accounting, controlling, human 
resources management, safety and infrastructure, procure-
ment and purchasing, and innovation and sustainability. 

The consolidated financial statements were prepared in 
accordance with § 245a of the Austrian Commercial 

company- specific definition of EVN’s “areas of activity” 
was discontinued as was the application of the 
GRI standards beginning with the 2023/24 reporting 
period.

The structure of this report and, in turn, the sustainability 
statement for 2023/24 is oriented on the ESRS classifi-
cation. The disclosures and metrics also correspond to 
ESRS requirements as far as possible. Any deviation in 
the calculation method for a metric is explained together 
the respective data, and the company-specific calcula-
tion method is explained. It is again noted that the 
 voluntary, premature orientation of this report on ESRS 
is not connected with any claim to conformity with the 
new standards.

For the calculation of greenhouse gas emissions, the 
country-specific emission factors were based on national 
energy statistics and the resulting energy mix of the 
respective country for North Macedonia and Bulgaria 
beginning with the 2023/24 financial year (and retro-
spective for the 2022/23 and 2021/22 financial years. 
This applies to network losses (Scope 2, market-based) 
and to electricity sales volumes (Scope 3.3). This adjust-
ment was made to increase transparency and to improve 
the presentation of a rapidly changing energy market. 
It is also noted together with the respective metric. 
Scope 3 category “3.6 Air travel“ is no longer part of 
reporting because the related data is immaterial. The 
prior year values were adjusted accordingly.

Corrections to prior periods

Any corrections to prior year metrics or values are 
explained together with the respective data.

 ESRS 2 BP-2 

Disclosures in relation to specific circumstances

Estimates related to the value chain, sources  of 
estimation and outcome uncertainty

This full report also contains forward-looking estimates 
and assumptions which are based on the information 
available to us up to the editorial deadline. Such state-
ments are typically connected with terms such as “expect”, 
“estimate”, “plan”, “anticipate” etc. We would like to 
point out that actual circumstances – and, in turn, actual 
results – may differ from the expectations presented in 
this report for a variety of reasons.

Changes in the preparation or presentation of 
sustainability information

Non-financial reporting in previous financial years was 
based on the standards set by the Global Reporting 
Initiative (GRI) “in accordance with the GRI-Standards 2021“. 
The selection of the content for the non- financial report 
followed the materiality principle defined by GRI report-
ing standards together with the inclusion of stakeholders. 
EVN’s most important activity and  subject areas are 
defined by the EVN materiality matrix based on the 
results of the stakeholder survey and are reflected in 
the structure for this full report. 

In preparation for the mandatory application of the 
CSRD beginning with the 2024/25 financial year, 
EVN carried out a double materiality analysis for this 
reporting period in accordance with ESRS requirements. 
This led, among others, to the alignment of material 
topics with the ESRS terminology. The previously used 
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External verification

BDO Assurance GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungs- und 
 Steuerberatungsgesellschaft was responsible for an 
audit with limited assurance of the consolidated 
 non-financial report for the 2023/24 financial year in 
agreement with the requirements of the Austrian 
 Sustainability and Diversity Improvement Act, § 267a 
of the Austrian  Commercial Code, and Article 8 of 
the EU Taxonomy Directive ((EU)2020/852) in connec-
tion with the  applicable Delegated Acts.

 For the independent assurance report on the consolidated 

non-financial report, see page 123f.  

Application of European norms

European norm
Application areas Focal points

Eco Management and Audit Scheme (EMAS)
ISO 14001, ISO 14001:2004

All thermal plants in Lower Austria and 74 heat and cooling 
 generation plants in the EVN Group meet these standards; 
 integrated quality and environmental management system in 
Bulgaria and in the WTE Group

Definition of measurable environmental goals, continuous 
improvement process, complete compliance with environmen-
tally relevant laws, strict controls

ISO 9001, ISO 9001:2008 The thermal waste utilisation plant in Dürnrohr and the systems 
engineering area at EVN Wärmekraftwerke are certified under 
ISO 9001:2015; integrated quality and environmental management  
system in Bulgaria and in the WTE Group

Process-oriented quality management system

ISO 27001 Certification of the Information Security Management Systems 
(ISMS) at EVN AG (corporate function: IT), Netz Niederösterreich 
and EVN Wärmekraftwerke; other areas (e. g. subsidiaries 
in  Bulgaria and North Macedonia) are currently preparing for 
 certification

Externally audited information security management system to 
increase information security; also serves as the basis to imple-
ment EU-wide legal regulations on cybersecurity; high security 
standards for critical networks and information systems, regular 
comprehensive audits (once each year per certificate)

EN 50600 Certification of the computer centre in Maria Enzersdorf Comprehensive approach for the planning, construction and 
operation of computer centres, increase in physical security, 
energy efficiency qualification and safeguarding the availability 
of computer centre infrastructure

ISO 50001 Certification of WTE’s group-wide energy and environmental 
 management system

Definition of goals and targets for more efficient energy use

ISO 18295-1 Certification of customer relations by December 2028 Review of processes in customer service, evaluation of the quality 
of services, training concepts and technical procedures for the 
customer relations team

ISO 45001:2018 Certification of an occupational safety and health management 
 system for Elektrorazpredelenie Yug and EVN Toplofikatsia in 
 Bulgaria, also for WTE.

Provision of effective occupational safety and health protection 
through the active participation of all employees; timely identifi-
cation of potential dangers and better calculation of liability risks

15

EVN Full Report 2023 / 24 Segment report Financial statementsManagement reportCorporate governanceNon-financial report



 ESRS 2 GOV-1 

The role of the administrative, management  
and supervisory bodies

Composition of the Executive Board 
  and  Supervisory Board

The Executive Board of EVN had three members as 
of 30 September 2024. Of the 15 members of the 
 Super visory Board on that date, ten were elected by 
the Annual General Meeting. The Supervisory Board 
also included five members as of 30 September 2024 
who were delegated by the works council.

Relevant experience of the members of the 
Executive Board and Supervisory Board

The listed EVN Group, together with its subsidiaries and 
Group companies, is active primarily in Austria, Germany, 

 Bulgaria and North Macedonia. With state-of-the-art 
infrastructure, it provides electricity, natural gas, heat, 
drinking water supplies, wastewater disposal and  thermal 
waste utilisation from a single hand. The  product port-
folio also includes network operations for internet and 
telecommunications as well as various energy services for 
private and business customers and municipalities.

The members of the Executive Board and Supervisory 
Board, as seen from a general overview, have relevant 
experience and knowledge in both an international 
and listed context in the following areas: controlling, 
accounting, corporate accounting, finance and risk 
 management, investor relations, procurement and pur-
chasing, internal audit, human resources, communica-
tion, IT and data processing, safety and infrastructure, 
customer relations, innovation and sustainability, 
energy generation, the energy sector, sales, project 
development, stakeholder management, legal affairs 
and the capital markets. 

Disclosures on the diversity of the  Executive 
Board and Supervisory Board

The Executive Board as of 30 September 2024 included 
one female member (33.3%) and two male members 
(66.7%), all of whom ranged in age from 40 to 60 years.

The 15 members of the Supervisory Board as of 30 Sep-
tember 2024 included six women (40%) and nine men 
(60%). Of this total, 6.7% were younger than 40 years 
old, 53.3% between 40 and 60 years old, and 40% 
older than 60 years. 

Of the Supervisory Board members elected by the 
Annual General Meeting, 90% are independent of the 
company and its Executive Board according to C-Rule 53 
of the Austrian Corporate Governance Code (ACGC). 

The members classified as independent according to 
C-Rule 53 of the ACGC include six persons who do not 
hold or represent the interests of an investment of more 
than 10%. Based on the total number of Supervisory 
Board members elected by the Annual General Meeting, 
60% are classified as independent according to C-Rule 54 
of the ACGC.

Working procedures, roles and responsibilities 
of the Supervisory Board

At the Supervisory Board level, the Audit Committee 
includes Maria Patek as a sustainability expert together 
with shareholder representatives Georg Bartmann, 
 Reinhard Wolf, Jochen Danninger and Willi Stiowicek 
and the employee representatives Paul Hofer, Uwe  Mitter 
and Monika Fraißl. This committee is also responsible 
for reviewing the non-financial statement according to 
the rules of procedure for the Supervisory Board 

(§ 267 (6) of the Austrian Commercial Code). The Audit 
Committee meets at least twice each year and reports to 
the full Supervisory Board. 

Sustainability organisation

At the Executive Board level, the staff department for 
innovation, sustainability and environmental protection 
reported to the full Executive Board up to 31 August 2024. 
This staff department was upgraded to a corporate 
function as of 1 September 2024, renamed “innovation 
and sustainability“ and assigned to the reporting line of 
the CTO through a change in the rules of procedure for 
the Executive Board.  

The corporate function for innovation and sustainability 
is responsible for sustainability issues as well as envi-
ronmental and climate protection in the EVN Group. 
  A  central component of these activities is the Group-wide 
and strategic coordination of sustainability and, in 
 particular, the implementation of the new legal require-
ments. In preparation for the mandatory application of 
the CSRD by EVN beginning with the 2024/25 financial 
year, the following departments nominated staff respon-
sible for the individual ESG standards: innovation and 
sustainability, human resources, safety and infrastructure, 
procurement and purchasing, information and commu-
nications, customer relations and corporate compliance 
management. The central management by these corpo-
rate functions is intended to ensure compliance with 
high sustainability standards throughout the EVN Group. 
It will also support the operational development and 
implementation of new ESG aspects like the application 
of the CSRD.

An extensive exchange of information between the 
innovation und sustainability corporate function and the 

 ESRS 2 

Governance
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tion of the ESG impacts, opportunities and risks. In the 
2023/24 financial year, this mainly involved the budget 
preparation for the EVN Group and planned projects for 
heat supplies, renewable generation and power plants/
power plant locations. 

As previously mentioned, both the Executive Board and 
the Supervisory Board receive regular information and, 
at the same time, training on sustainability issues. This 
information transfer and training also takes place as part 
of a regular series of events entitled “Supervisory Board 
Special“ in which internal and external experts lecture on 
key topics. 

The Supervisory Board plays an important role in 
sustainability reporting. Quarterly and annual reports 
are presented to the Audit Committee and the full 
Supervisory Board prior to publication and discussed by 
the Executive Board and Supervisory Board. The Remu-
neration Committee is responsible for monitoring the 
achievement of sustainability targets in connection with 
remuneration policy, remuneration practices and remu-
neration-related incentive structures. In addition, the 
Executive Board provides the Supervisory Board with 
up-to-date information on ESG issues at every meeting. 
The content is presented primarily by the Executive 
Board, if necessary with the support of internal experts. 
The Supervisory Board is also able to contact internal 
experts at any time for additional information apart from 
the scheduled meetings.

EVN’s strategic goals result primarily from legal 
regulations, capital market and rating agency require-
ments, customers’ demands, the EVN strategy, the 
EVN Climate Initiative, the materiality analysis and 
voluntary commitments, e. g. in connection with the 
Science Based Targets initiative.

The approved measures are implemented through 
projects carried out by the staff in the innovation and 
sustainability corporate function and employees in 
various departments and companies concerned in 
Austria and other countries. Function and role descrip-
tions as well as guiding principles are issued and/or 
adapted to anchor competence and responsibilities in 
the organisation (in particular, through the EVN sustain-
ability guideline, the EVN Code of Conduct and the 
EVN Integrity Clause).  

Target achievement is measured according to the target, 
form and term in line with the above-mentioned formats 
as well as through internal (in the form of steering com-
mittees for each segment) and external quarterly report-
ing and the annual financial statements. It is based on 
the defined project goals or also on the annually defined 
individual non-financial goals set for the Executive Board 
members and management. 

Reporting requirements result chiefly from reporting 
requirements for specific project activities, management 
meetings and steering committees as well as from the 
legal requirements for quarterly reporting and the annual 
financial statements. 

The proposals for investment projects that require the 
approval of the Executive Board and/or Supervisory 
Board are also required to include a standardised evalua-

The project-related sustainability steering committees, 
in 2023/24 above all the CSRD readiness steering com-
mittee, are responsible for reporting on and the determi-
nation of concrete measures. The circle of participants 
includes, in particular, the full Executive Board, the 
innovation and sustainability corporate function, and 
representatives of the other involved corporate functions 
and Group companies in Austria and other countries. 

In addition to continuous exchange with internal experts, 
the Executive Board and Supervisory Board can draw on 
several advisory boards in which external experts from 
various disciplines contribute their expertise and outside 
perspectives on ESG issues: the Sustainability Advisory 
Board, the EVN Social Advisory Board and the EVN Art 
Advisory Board.

responsible Executive Board member takes place every 
four to six weeks within the framework of management 
meetings and more frequently if required.

The full Executive Board is informed of sustainability 
programmes and plans at the quarterly meetings of the 
sustainability steering committee. This committee deals 
with current ESG issues, approves major ESG activities 
and, due to its broad composition, ensures that the 
addressed strategies, measures and goals are rolled out 
and implemented in operations throughout the Group. 
The circle of participants also includes other key corpo-
rate functions (in particular controlling and investor 
relations, accounting, finance, legal and public affairs) 
as well as representatives of key Group companies and 
departments from Austria and other countries.  

Environment
Social
Governance

Management and decisions

•  Sustainability Steering Committee  

(meets four times per year)

• Chair: Executive Board

• Participation: technically responsible corporate 

functions and significant Group companies 

Coordination and strategy

• Corporate function: innovation and sustainability

Reporting

• Corporate function: controlling and investor relations
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Integration of sustainability-related 
performance in incentive schemes

Decisions on and principles of remuneration 
policy at EVN

The principles for the remuneration of the members 
of EVN’s Executive Board (remuneration policy) were 
approved by the Supervisory Board in accordance with 
§ 78a (1) of the Austrian Stock Corporation Act on 
27 September 2023 based on a proposal of the Super-
visory Board’s Remuneration Committee in keeping 
with C-Rule 43 of the ACGC. These principles have 
remained in effect since the passing of a resolution by 
EVN’s 95th Annual General Meeting on 1 February 2024. 
In accordance with § 78a (1) of the Austrian Stock 
 Corporation Act, the remuneration policy must be pre-
sented to the Annual General Meeting at least every 
fourth year for voting. The remuneration is established 
annually by the Annual General Meeting.

The Remuneration Committee defines the financial and 
non-financial targets for the Executive Board members 
as part of the remuneration policy each year. It evaluates 
the results of business activities after the end of the 
financial year and establishes the target achievement for 
the financial and non-financial goals. The achievement 
for the financial and ESG targets requires the prior 
approval of the annual financial statements, whereby 
the Remuneration Committee reviews, or arranges 
for a review of, the correct calculation of the relevant 
 metrics in advance. Based on this information, the 
 Remuneration Committee defines the target achieve-
ment and the amount of payment, subject to the formal 
approval of the annual financial statements by the 
Supervisory Board and informs the members of the 
 Executive Board  accordingly.

Remuneration policy for the members 
 of the Executive Board

The remuneration for the members of the Executive 
Board includes both fixed and variable components. 
The fixed remuneration components are independent 
of performance and consist of a base salary, remunera-
tion in kind and ancillary benefits as well as a pension 
serviced by an external pension fund. 

The variable remuneration components are dependent 
on performance and consist of long-term financial 
 targets that are measured on the basis of multi-year 
performance criteria. Also included are ESG targets with 
single or multi- year goals as well as individual targets 
with one-year performance criteria. The Long Term 
Account (LTA), which covers the achievement of financial 
and ESG targets,  creates the basis for a long-term review 
period. Moreover, the remuneration policy includes 
malus and clawback rules.

The Remuneration Committee sets the financial targets 
for a period of four years in advance to uncouple the 
annual corporate planning process from the variable 
remuneration system and, in particular, to strengthen 
the concentration on medium- and long-term strategic 
goals and opportunities. The concrete ESG goals can 
be determined annually based on the company’s long-
term targets. The purpose of the four-year planning 
horizon is to focus the targets in the remuneration 
 policy on medium- and long-term corporate goals 
and, through the multi-period nature of variable 
 remuneration, to support sustainable management 
over a  number of years. This four-year period reflects 
 standard market practice. 

The targets are derived on the basis of internal 
 corporate data and information as well as external 

sources, above all peer group comparisons or capital 
market and rating agency evaluations.  

To strengthen the sustainable development of the 
EVN Group, the Remuneration Committee also defines 
quantitatively measurable ESG targets for the variable 

remuneration components which are based on the 
sustain ability strategy presented in the full report. 
These targets can be defined for a single year or for 
a multi- year period. The decisive criteria catalogue 
 covers the following subject areas, whereby at least 
three targets must be included: 

Sustainability strategy – targets

Environment

Criteria Areas

Consideration of ecological and environmental criteria •  Energy management
•  Disposal management
•  Production
•  Environmental protection

Social

Criteria Areas

Consideration of social criteria in engagement with stakeholders •  Employees
•  Suppliers
•  Customers
•  Society

Governance

Criteria Areas

Consideration of management factors to support the long-term, 
sustainable and ethical development of the company

•  Compliance / integrity / ethics / corporate culture
•  Risk management
•  Organisational development
•  Data security
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The amount of the basic remuneration for the Super visory 
Board members can be measured differently for factual 
reasons, in particular the respective functions (e. g. chair-
person, vice-chairperson, chair or membership in commit-
tees). The attendance fees reflect the fact that the  number 
of meetings and the related time spent, especially in 
connection with committee memberships, can vary. 

The employee representatives on the Supervisory Board 
exercise their functions in accordance with § 110 (3) of 
the Austrian Labour Constitutional Act in an honorary 
capacity and do not receive any remuneration and also 
no ESG-dependent remuneration.

At the Executive Board level, 15% of variable remunera-
tion is linked to ESG targets. The Long Term Account 
transfers the variable remuneration from the achieve-
ment of the financial and ESG targets in a particular 
period into an aliquot annual payment by releasing 
50% of the Long Term Account in the first year after 
expiration of the financial year on which the entitle-
ment is based. The remaining 50% are carried forward 
to the following periods.

Remuneration policy for the members 
of the Supervisory Board

The shareholder representatives on the Supervisory 
Board receive fixed annual base remuneration and 
a fixed attendance fee per meeting, but do not 
receive any variable or any ESG-based remuneration. 
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 Energy  Environmental services  Investments 

Strategy,
business model
and value chain
EVN’s headquarters are located in Lower Austria, 
further core markets are Bulgaria and North Macedonia.
In total, EVN was active in 13 countries during the 
2023/24 financial year.

 Business areas 

Our integrated business model

covers the entire value chain: 

• Energy generation

• Operation of distribution networks

• Supply of electricity, natural gas 

and heat to end customers 

(with different focal points in our 

individual markets)

The environmental services

business covers the following

activities:

• Drinking water supplies in 

Lower Austria

• For the international project business 

further strategic options are under 

evaluation consistent with EVN’s focus 

on the core energy business following 

the termination of the process for the 

complete sale of WTE in April 2024. 

Investments in areas related

to the core business supplement

and hedge our value chain:

• Verbund AG (12.63%)

• Burgenland Holding (73.63%), 

which, in turn, holds 49.0% 

of Burgenland Energie

• RAG (50.03 %)
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Austria
• Generation: electricity, heat, 

thermal waste utilisation

• Network operations: electricity, 

natural gas, heat, internet, 

telecommunications

• Energy supplies: electricity, 

natural gas, heat

• Environmental services business:

drinking water supplies

Germany
• Generation: electricity

• Energy supplies: electricity

• Environmental services business:

drinking water supplies and 

wastewater treatment, 

thermal sludge utilisation

Croatia
• Network operations: natural gas

• Energy supplies: natural gas

• Environmental services business:

wastewater treatment

Bulgaria
• Generation: electricity, heat

• Network operations: electricity, heat

• Energy supplies: electricity, heat

North Macedonia
• Generation: electricity

• Network operations: electricity

• Energy supplies: electricity

Albania
• Generation: electricity

DE

AT

HR

MK

BG

AL

Other countries
• International project business: 

WTE is responsible for the construction 

and operation of plants for drinking 

water supplies, wastewater treatment 

and thermal waste and sludge utilisation 

in Germany, Poland, Romania, Slovenia, 

Croatia, North Macedonia, Cyprus, 

Bahrain and Kuwait.

Markets and
business areas
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15.6%
Thermal

Electricity generation
3.3 TWh

84.4%
Renewable

22.3 TWh
Energy sales volumes

Networks
155,853 km

140,909 km
Electricity 13,966 km

Natural gas

978km
Heat

   

Customers
4.9m

0.1m
Heat

3.6m
Electricity

0.3m
Natural gas

0.3m

   Internet and
telecommunications

0.6m
Drinking water

Employees
8,006

4,894
International

3,112
National

Key data
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Description of material business activities

Electricity generation

The focus for electricity generation reflects our  Strategy 
2030 and lies on the further expansion of renewable 
generation capacity, especially in the areas of wind 
power and photovoltaics. Based on our currently opera-
tional renewable plants – hydropower and wind power, 
photovoltaics and biomass – the share of renewable 
generation will continue to increase in the future. 

We have significantly reduced our conventional energy 
production in recent years as part of our decarbonisa-
tion ambitions. The current thermal capacity of 470 MW 
in the Theiss power plant serves solely as a reserve for 
the transmission network operator APG. Consequently, 
this power plant only generates electricity when called 
on by APG for network stabilisation.
 

 For information on completed processes for the transforma-

tion of our conventional generation portfolio, see page 65

 For information on EVN’s electricity generation capacity and 

current renewable expansion projects, see page 65f

Electricity network infrastructure

Our electricity distribution networks and the smooth 
operation of the technically complex infrastructure form 
the basis for reliable supplies to our customers. EVN 
acts as the distribution network operator for electricity 
in Lower Austria, Bulgaria and North Macedonia.

The integration of electricity from renewable sources, 
which is delivered from a growing number of decentral-
ised plants, and the related changing and volatile energy 
flows represent a growing challenge for our networks. 

Changing consumption patterns driven primarily by heat 
pumps and e-mobility as well as more intensive inter-
action with customers who generate electricity or are part 
of an energy community are making network planning, 
management and operations more complicated. In the 
end, our networks must also be able to meet these 
users’ needs when there is no local energy generation.

The energy transformation has turned the network 
 infrastructure into a data hub for the energy future and 
made intelligent networks the backbone of our future 
electricity system. Innovative solutions and continuous 
investments are required to maintain the same high- 
quality performance. The massive expansion, ongoing 
modernisation and digitalisation of this infrastructure is 
a necessity – including high-voltage power lines, trans-
former stations and medium-voltage capacity as well 
as substations, local networks and smart meters. To 
support the energy transformation, we plan to invest 
roughly EUR 3bn alone in our network infrastructure 
in Lower Austria by 2030. Our focus for the low- and 
 medium-voltage levels is on digitalisation and sensor 
technology. Therefore, more than 98% of all equipment 
in the Netz Niederösterreich supply area was equipped 
with smart meters as of 30 September 2024.

Natural gas

The EVN Group operates natural gas distribution 
 networks in Lower Austria and in four counties in 
 Croatia. Against the backdrop of the decarbonisation 
trend in the energy business, we are concentrating 
 primarily on maintenance and repairs in this area to 
ensure safe power line operations. Our network 
 investments have also already turned to preparations 
for the future transport of hydrogen.

Our long-term contracts for natural gas storage facilities 
ensure uninterrupted supplies, especially during periods 
with temperature-related higher consumption or possible 
shortages at the European level (e. g. due to political 
crises in transit or origin countries). This strategy has 
proven to be very successful, especially in the challeng-
ing environment that has characterised the energy 
 market in recent years, and enables us to remain a 
 reliable partner for our customers.

Our stake in RAG – with its focus, above all, on the 
 natural gas storage business – has high strategic impor-
tance in this context. In the development of hydrogen 
technologies and green natural gas, RAG is seen as a 
pioneer for the branch due to successful pilot projects 
and is therefore also a key element in our strategy for 
the future renewable energy system.

Energy supply

 EVN supplies energy to end customers in Austria, Bulgaria 
and North Macedonia. In Austria, this takes place within 
the framework of EnergieAllianz through the equity 
accounted supply company EVN KG. In Bulgaria and 
North Macedonia, EVN also has separate companies that 
cover the liberalised and regulated market segments.

District heating

According to the Renewable Energy Expansion Act, 
district heating will make a significant contribution to 
meeting Austrian and European climate goals through 
expansion and decarbonisation in Austria. The use of 
renewable energy in the heating business has played an 
important role at EVN for many years. As the largest 
natural heat supplier in Austria, we currently operate 

more than 80 biomass district heating plants and 
 biomass-based combined heat and power plants in 
Lower Austria. Three large cross-regional district heating 
transport pipelines – including the longest such line in 
Austria from the energy hub in Dürnrohr to St. Pölten 
(32 km) – as well as four natural cooling plants complete 
our extensive natural heating infrastructure. We are 
currently working on the construction of a new biomass 
combined heat and power plant in St. Pölten, which will 
be the fifth of this type for EVN.

Our biomass plants with a capacity of 20 MW or more 
only operate with biomass certified as sustainable 
under RED II.  

Drinking water

Demographic trends in our supply area as well as 
 changing climatic conditions are responsible for a 
 con tinuous increase in the demand for drinking water. 
In addition to the ongoing operation of numerous local 
networks that are supplied by EVN Wasser with drinking 
water, connecting water-rich and water-poor areas via 
cross-regional transport pipelines represents a particular 
challenge. This pipeline network is fed by well fields 
and high-level tanks throughout Lower Austria. In order 
to offset a climate-related decline in precipitation or 
regional breakdowns, we must construct new pipelines, 
improve the performance of our current network and 
develop new well fields.

The responsible use of drinking water involves new 
pipeline construction as well as the upgrading of the 
existing infrastructure – primarily through the identifica-
tion and repair of leaks and the protection or improve-
ment of the water quality while minimising the negative 
impact on the environment. One good example is the 
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Strategy 2030:   
More sustainable. More digital. More efficient.

The future-oriented development of our corporate 
 strategy started in 2019/20 with a Group-wide process 
by EVN’s management in close coordination with the 
Supervisory Board. The time horizon is focused on 2030.

Our strategy process was significantly influenced by the 
international frameworks applicable to the energy sector. 
Included here are the Sustainable Development Goals of 
the United Nations and the goals of global and European 
energy and climate policy (e. g. the Paris Climate Agree-
ment and European Green Deal). These goals and policies 
are leading, in part, to massive changes in the frame-
work and in the legal and regulatory requirements on 
energy providers. The determining change for our 
 industry – and a central factor for our strategy – is the 
result of social and political efforts to achieve the 
 fastest possible transition to a functioning renewable 
energy system in order to minimise sector-specific 
 climate effects faster and even more clearly. It is also 
reflected in the inclusion of our major stakeholders’ 
central  concerns in the  strategy process. Our answer 
to these developments is the EVN Climate Initiative, 
which is based on the Strategy 2030. It links relevant 
objectives, like the decarbonisation goals coordinated 
with the Science Based Targets initiative, with EVN’s 
overall  strategy.

The development of many basic market and environ-
mental factors is connected with uncertainty. Our 
 strategy process therefore includes sensitivity and 
 scenario analyses to support reliable conclusions for 

construction of natural filter plants to improve quality 
through the physical softening of water. Magnesium, 
calcium and other trace substances are dissolved and 
removed from the water with the help of modern 
 technologies and without the use of chemicals.

Internet and telecommunication services

Sufficiently dimensioned, high-quality networks and 
technical infrastructure also form the basis for the 
 reliable flow of data in this business. The high-perform-
ance network operated by kabelplus offers digital 
cable television in HD, and partially also in UHD quality. 
The use of modern glass fibre technology, which is 
the focus of continuous expansion, also supports 
 internet usage with upload and download speeds in 
the Gigabit range.

E-mobility

In the area of e-mobility EVN has positioned itself as 
a leading provider for charging infrastructure – not 
only for cars but also for trucks, buses and even ships. 
We had over 3,000 charging points in operation as of 
30 September 2024. More than 20,000 fuel cards have 
already been issued for customers, which can be used 
throughout Austria based on joint roaming agreements. 
Further growth is expected, especially in the public 
sphere, and EVN is currently installing a charging infra-
structure on the parking areas of two large supermarket 
chains. We have also started to develop an e-charging 
infrastructure in Bulgaria and North Macedonia.

The infrastructure provided and operated 

by EVN creates the foundation for reliable 

supplies and the smooth functioning of 

society and the economy. Consequently, 

supply security has always been our central 

goal and our promise to our customers. 

This promise also determines our investment 

programme, which is directed primarily to 

network investments. 

The central parameters for the quality of our 

network infrastructure are network losses 

and the indicators for power interruption. In 

Lower Austria, network losses have remained 

stable for many years at roughly 4%, which 

is a very low level in international comparison. 

A direct comparison with our supply areas in 

Bulgaria and North Macedonia is not possible 

due to the different customer and network 

structures. As the indicators in these two 

South Eastern European markets are higher, 

our investment programmes in these markets 

concentrate on the further reduction of 

network losses and the continuous improve-

ment of efficiency. We have successfully 

reduced our network losses in Bulgaria from 

approximately 20% at the time of our market 

entry in 2004/05 to a recent level of 5.8% 

and from approximately 25% in 2005/06 to 

currently 14.5% in North  Macedonia.

The reliability of our electricity supplies is 

also confirmed by externally calculated 

indicators such as SAIFI (System Average 

Interruption Frequency Index) and SAIDI 

(System Average Interruption Duration 

Index). They have confirmed our company‘s 

constantly reliable supply performance in 

Lower Austria for many years. Information is 

currently not provided on the respective 

indicators for our South East European 

markets in Bulgaria and North Macedonia 

due to the lack of an appropriate database.

SAIFI in the 2023 calendar year: 0.84 

 (previous year: 0.86)1)

That means an EVN customer was affected 

by an average of one unplanned power 

interruption in 2023.

SAIDI in the 2023 calendar year:  

26.21 minutes (previous year: 17.19 minutes)

The SAIDI was again clearly below the 

 Austrian average2) of 61.03 minutes 

( previous year: 39.36 minutes).

1) Source: Netz Niederösterreich, breakdown and 

 disruption statistics for 2022 and 2023

2) Source: Energie-Control Austria, breakdown and 

disruption statistics for 2022 and 2023

Supply security as our top priority
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Our core strategies for 2030

1) Enabling a renewable energy system

• We are committed to making a significant 
 contribution to meeting Austrian and European 
climate goals.

• This commitment is underscored by the 
 preparation of a 1.5°C transition plan.

• A central measure for the attainment of 
our goals is the expansion of our renewable 
generation capacity in our core markets of 
Lower  Austria, Bulgaria and North Macedonia, 
especially in the areas of wind power and 
 photovoltaics. Plans  call for an increase in our 
annual  renewable electricity production to 
roughly 3.8 TWh by 2030.

• The increasing surplus production from renew-
able generation requires innovative approaches 
for the efficient cross-sector use of energy. 
We are actively working on initiatives that will 
allow green electricity to also support decar-
bonisation in other areas like the heat and trans-
port sectors. For this purpose, we are investing 
in the expansion of the e-charging infrastructure 
and in the increased use of heat pumps.

• In addition to sector coupling, we are working 
on projects to store the surplus production from 
renewable energy. Concrete projects involve the 
operation of large battery storage systems and 
the generation and storage of green hydrogen.  

the identification of concrete measures. We also 
 continuously monitor energy sector conditions and 
 regularly discuss developments, including deviations 
from plan assumptions and their effects, at the 
 management level – for example, at the quarterly 
 segment steering committee meetings where the 
 members of the Executive Board and  managers 
exchange information with internal experts. The 
 Executive Board then regularly discusses the 
 aggregated findings with the Supervisory Board.

 For the initial 1.5°C transition plan, see page 63f
Solutions 

for the 
 circular 

 economy

Enabling a  
renewable  

energy system

Network  
expansion  
for a 
renewable  
energy future

Digital 
offerings for 
customers

Reliable  
drinking water 

supplies

Our 

core strategies 

for 2030
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5) Solutions for the circular economy

• EVN operates a modern, ecologically optimised 
thermal waste utilisation plant in Lower Austria. 
The energy gained from waste incineration is 
used to generate electricity and district heat.

• Based on our know-how and our many years of 
experience in thermal waste utilisation, we also 
operate thermal sewage sludge utilisation plants 
that generate electricity and district heat.

•  This knowledge is flowing into our evaluations 
for the construction of a further plant for the 
thermal treatment of sewage sludge, whereby 
we plan to recover phosphorous from the sew-
age sludge.  

4) Reliable drinking water supplies

• As in the energy business, the highest possible 
claims for supply security and quality also apply 
to our drinking water business in Lower Austria. 
Developments like the increase in water consump-
tion due to demographic changes and the rising 
number of weather-related consumption peaks 
make additional investments in drinking water 
supplies unavoidable in the coming years. 

• These investments will focus on the expansion of 
cross-regional pipeline networks and capacity 
increases in the pump plants. These measures will 
guarantee that sufficient water resources can be 
distributed as efficiently as possible into all regions 
of our supply area. 

• We are also investing continuously in the improve-
ment of the water quality. For this purpose, we 
are constructing natural filter plants that soften 
and purify the water physically with membrane 
technology – in other words, without the use of 
chemicals. 

3) Digital offerings for customers

• The transformation of the energy system is 
changing the roles and behaviour of our 
 customers. Private electricity generation with 
photovoltaic equipment and separate storage 
batteries, heat pumps and e-charging stations 
are converting electricity customers into active 
participants on the energy market. 

• Our claim is to support these developments with 
special services and offerings as a way of meeting 
the changing needs of our customers. Based on 
our expertise in the energy sector, we are also 
developing software solutions and applications 
that will allow our customers to easily and relia-
bly participate in the energy market, for example 
through energy communities.

• EVN’s strategy for all customer groups involves 
the consequent digitalisation of our marketing 
processes to make internal operations more 
efficient and thereby continuously improve the 
service quality and offering for our customers.

2) Network expansion for a renewable 
energy future

• An efficient, high-performance and digital 
 electricity network infrastructure is the 
 requirement for an CO2-free energy system. 
The steadily increasing feed-in of wind and 
solar electricity combined with changes in 
 consumption behaviour – above all, through 
e-mobility and the transformation of the 
 heating sector – require substantial expansion 
in our network areas. We are therefore realis-
ing an ambitious investment programme in 
the coming years. It covers the installation of 
 additional power lines at all voltage levels as 
well as the construction of  further trans-
former stations and substations.

• In addition to these construction projects, 
we are increasing our focus on digitalisation. 
The  use of smart technologies and applications 
in network operations optimises load manage-
ment as well as the feed-in and use of green 
electricity, above all during production peaks. 
Intelligent digital network controls will allow us 
to optimise the necessary hardware investments.

• The infrastructure previously used for natural 
gas is being prepared for the future transport 
of hydrogen and renewable gas.
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purchased on wholesale markets over national and 
international OTC trading centres and exchanges, 
for example in Austria (CEGH) or Germany (NCG). 
Natural gas imports follow the international flows of 
pipeline and liquid gas volumes.

Trading activities in the EVN Group have increased 
significantly in recent years. The progressive market 
liberalisation and integration, higher liquidity on the 
exchanges and changes in the market environment have 
led to an increase in the demands in and on energy 
trading. In response to these developments we imple-
mented a Group-wide Energy Trading and Risk Manage-
ment System in 2023/24 which bundles all trading 

own generation equipment (especially photovoltaic 
equipment) where technically possible.

Our electricity supply subsidiaries in Bulgaria are required 
by law to purchase the electricity for sale to customers 
in the regulated market segments from the state-owned 
producer NEK. The remainder of the electricity required 
for customers in previously liberalised segments is pur-
chased over wholesale markets. In North Macedonia, 
electricity supplies for customers are purchased primarily 
from the national electricity producer ESM.

Long-term supply contracts cover a large part of our 
natural gas purchases. The remaining volumes are 

Procurement of energy

We cover the electricity supplies for our Austrian 
customers – via EnergieAllianz – through medium-term 
supply contracts and through purchases over the 
wholesale market. These supplies are purchased directly 
over the electricity exchange, through bilateral trans-
actions with various trading partners or over-the-counter 
(OTC) platforms – and include the production from 
our own power plants. We also purchase green energy, 
which is allocated in accordance with the Green 
Electricity Act based on our share of electricity sales 
in the respective control area. In addition, we take 
over the surplus electricity produced by our customers‘ 

Our value chain

EVN’s upstream and downstream value chain can be 
subdivided into the following three main categories:
• Electricity generation and storage
• Operation of distribution networks and electricity, 

natural gas and heat supplies for customers
• Environmental business (drinking water supplies in 

Lower Austria, international projects for wastewater 
treatment and sewage sludge utilisation)

Procurement of products and services

EVN’s business activities as a whole and, above all, 
the investment focal points on network infrastructure, 
renewable generation and drinking water supplies 
require intensive cooperation with construction firms, 
plant, pipeline and cable line construction companies as 
well as suppliers of electro-technical equipment and 
components, pipes, transmission and cable lines, meters, 
hardware, software and work clothing. WTE serves as 
a general contractor and commissions subcontractors, 
in particular construction firms and suppliers of machin-
ery, electro-technical equipment and components.

The procurement volume at our main locations in 
Austria, Bulgaria and North Macedonia totalled 
EUR 1,193.1m in 2023/24 (previous year: EUR 1,337.6m). 
The entire process – from the EU announcement to 
the tender, offer stage and contract awards – was 
digital and led to a substantial improvement in 
transparency in our value chain.

Generation

Customers

Storage

Networks

Trade and supply

Environmental services business
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4. Preparation of a risk matrix 

for EVN’s value chain 

The systematic process for strategic supplier management 
supports the collection of the following information:

• ESG risk in the respective value chain by tier
• Identification of the tier(s) at risk including the 

involved risk category (E, S or G)
•  Analysis of the affected countries and the material 

risks in the affected countries 

The result of this detailed evaluation of products and 
suppliers is a matrix which permits the development of 
an optimal procurement procedure for every merchan-
dise group. A separate tool set provides the involved 
employees with all necessary information and templates, 
from the calculation of lifecycle costs and the definition 
of technical specifications to tender award criteria and 
the optimal processes for procurement procedures and 
due diligence.

In addition to conventional procurement processes, EVN 
also uses innovative models and actively supports suppli-
ers, for example, in obtaining the necessary certifica-
tions. So-called green tenders, which require compliance 
with specific sustainability criteria, are becoming more 
frequent.

The analysis in 2023/24 showed that most of the tier 1 
suppliers in EVN’s value chain are (large) wholesalers 
whose headquarters are generally located in the same 
countries as our respective subsidiaries. These business 
partners are therefore located primarily in Bulgaria, 
Germany, Croatia, North Macedonia and Austria. 
In 2023/24, 93.43% of our total procurement volume 
(in euros) was purchased from the EU, EEA respectively 
EFTA or Great Britain.

for example, are cleaning or other services. This 
 additional classification left 24 merchandise groups 
classified as being at risk.

3. Identification and evaluation of the business 

partners in these at-risk merchandise groups 

and the respective headquarters or production 

country (tier 1 and tier 2 to tier n)  

EVN also relies on the findings from relevant research 
reports or databases to determine the material risks 
in the respective countries. The information sources used 
for the risk analysis in 2023/24 include, for example, 
the following: 

• E = Environmental Performance Index  
(https://epi.yale.edu/epi-results/2022/component/epi)

• S = Global Rights Index  
(https://www.ituc-csi.org)

• G = Corruption Perception Index  
(https://www.transparency.org/en/cpi/2022)

The following research reports were also used (excerpt):

• “Potenzielle menschenrechtliche Risiken entlang der 
Liefer- und Wertschöpfungsketten“ ( Branchendialog 
Energiewirtschaft, 2023)

• “Umweltrisiken und -auswirkungen in globalen 
 Lieferketten deutscher Unternehmen – 
 Branchenstudie Elektronikindustrie“ (Umwelt-
bundesamt, 2023)

• “CSR Sector Risk Assessment” (Commissioned 
by the Minister for Foreign Trade and Development 
Cooperation and the Minister of Economic 
Affairs, 2014)

• “Leitfaden zum Lieferkettensorgfaltspflichten gesetz 
(LkSG)“ (Bundesverband der Energie- und Wasser-
wirtschaft e.  V., January 2024)

focal points – the analysis and evaluation of products, 
on the one hand, and of suppliers, on the other hand – 
as well as the connection of the resulting information 
are now available in an even more structured and 
detailed form. 

Strategic supplier management at EVN

We follow a risk-based approach to analyse and classify 
our value chain, which is based on two pillars: strategic 
supplier management and merchandise group manage-
ment. The correct identification, evaluation and manage-
ment of the material impacts, risks and opportunities 
related to our value chain are based on the following 
systematic process of our strategic supplier management: 

1. Identification of at-risk merchandise groups 

within the framework of EVN’s merchandise 

group managements 

We identified all the risks in our value chain that are 
associated with the merchandise groups directly related 
to our business activities. In 2023/24, we allocated the 
respective direct supplier (= tier 1) to the 312 merchan-
dise groups relevant for EVN. All products and services 
were aggregated into merchandise groups based on the 
standard European classification system for public pro-
curement (Common Procurement Vocabulary structure) 
and, among others, evaluated for their sustainability 
impact and/or potential sustainability risks. 44 merchan-
dise groups were identified as being at risk.

2. Reduction of merchandise groups directly 

related to EVN’s business activities 

Merchandise groups without a direct connection to 
EVN’s business activities were excluded. Included here, 

 activities in the EVN Group and depicts them transpar-
ently in a system. The principles and foundation of this 
system are summarised in a separate guideline.

Supply security and sustainability

The primary objective of our procurement strategy is to 
ensure the exact analysis and management of all procure-
ment flows to improve performance – from an economic 
as well as a sustainability viewpoint. At the same time, 
supplies of goods and services must always be available in 
sufficient quality and volumes for EVN’s ongoing opera-
tions and for the continuous expansion of our plants and 
networks to meet the Group’s service mission. Supply 
security and sustainability are among the most important 
motives behind the new strategic supplier management.

The economic distortions and interruptions in interna-
tional supply chains caused by the Covid-19 pandemic 
and intensified by the war in Ukraine as well as new and 
further expected regulations from supranational and 
national lawmakers, additional reporting requirements 
like the EU Taxonomy Regulation, CSRD and CSDDD, and 
the growing demands of sustainability oriented investors 
have been reflected in the strategic adaptation and, 
where necessary, the reorientation of our procurement 
management. EVN is thereby continuing a development 
that began a long time ago. In addition to conventional 
purchasing criteria – price, quality, volume, market environ-
ment and legal requirements – sustainability aspects 
have always been part of our procurement processes. 
They included the assessment of the ordered products 
as well as the selection of suppliers who were explicitly 
required to comply with environmentally compatible, 
ethical and social standards. The specific requirements 
are stated in the EVN Integrity Clause, which represents 
a fixed part of every procurement contract. These two 
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goals in connection with the impacts, risks and 
 opportunities for the value chain:

• Comprehensive use of a software solution to 
 support the identification of impacts, risks and 
opportunities in EVN’s value chain in 2024/25

• Preparation of a concept for an ESG training 
 organisation for the employees in EVN’s central 
 procurement units by 30 September 2025 to 
strengthen their ESG competence and the quality 
of sustainable  procurement

•  Detailed ESG tender requirements for the 
 merchandise groups with the highest ESG risks 
in each EVN core market by 30 June 2025 

•  Development of measures for the impacts, risks 
and opportunities ranked by the materiality and 
value chain analysis by 30 September 2025

•  Development and implementation of an 
ESG audit system for suppliers with a high ESG 
risk by 30 September 2025

•  Development of a concept for a branch-wide 
ESG procurement stakeholder programme by 
30  September 2026

 For information on the stakeholder group  

“workers in the value chain“ see page 102ff

 For information on EVN’s Integrity Clause, see  

www.evn.at/integrity-clause

• Economic efficiency
• Free and fair competition
• Equal treatment of all bidders
• Confidentiality during business transactions
• Transparency and documentation of results
• Protection of the environment and resources
• Social responsibility
• Compliance with human rights and 

 occupational safety
•  Sustainability in the supply chain

The EVN Integrity Clause defines the guidelines for 
 sustainable procurement and the duties and respon si-
bi lities of the business partners in this connection. As 
an integral part of every procurement activity, it is a 
binding requirement for all our business partners. Our 
investors, investment partners, contractors and stake-
holders can access the EVN Integrity Clause on our 
 website.

Any violations of the Integrity Clause identified during 
an active business relationship (e. g. during on-site 
audits) result in the implementation of appropriate 
measures which can range from requests to correct 
the deficiencies to cancellation of the contract.

In preparation for compliance with the CSRD and 
the related ESRS, we have defined the following 

Detailed supplier audits

All suppliers – existing as well as potential – are 
 evaluated in advance and, after that, regularly with 
a tool created by a reputed international rating provider 
based on defined ESG criteria. The criteria include 
greenhouse gas emissions, energy management, land 
use, biodiversity and waste management as well as 
community commitment, data protection, employee 
rights, ethical business practices, shareholders’ rights 
and transparency. Any negative media reports also flow 
into the evaluation. Compensatory measures are imple-
mented to deal with any identified risks. In 2023/24, 
12 such compensatory measures were implemented 
in accordance with the procedure defined by our 
 strategic supplier management.

This procedure is supplemented by the extensive 
self-declarations required from every EVN supplier as 
part of their on-boarding in the procurement portal, 
and as part of the ongoing contractual relationship. 
A special focus on ESG criteria and sustainability 
 measures are an integral part of these self-evaluations.

All our procurement activities place high value on 
a cooperative approach, fair business practices and an 
open dialogue. We work according to the following 
principles: 
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 ESRS 2 SBM-2 

Interests and views of stakeholders

EVN places high value on a regular, proactive and open 
dialogue with all stakeholders. The overriding principle 
in this context is to create and maintain an appropriate 
and equitable balance between the diverse concerns 
shared with us by our stakeholder groups. We are 
convinced that the social acceptance of our work is 
a basic requirement for EVN’s sustainable, long-term 
 success and positive perception by the public.

We therefore rely on an institutionalised exchange at 
all hierarchy levels and in formats tailored to the respec-
tive target groups. This communication takes place at 
regular scheduled meetings or as required. In this way, 
we want to ensure the structured and timely identifica-
tion and management of our stakeholders’ concerns.  

 

Super- 
visory  
Board

Competitors

Employees

Capital market

Customers

Investors
(institutional,

private)

Lenders
Analysts

Executive Board

Managerial
employees

 Managing directors

Government  
agencies

Politics

Science
Research

Civil society

Media
Local initiatives

NGOs

Associations
Industry associations

Works council

Interest  
groups

Business partners
Project 

neighbours

EVN’s stakeholders and the type of involvement

(Extract)
Regular 
surveys

Ongoing  
and regular 

 contact

Working groups, forums,
Annual General Meeting  

(1–2 times per year or more often)

Advisory boards,
expert committees

(1–2 times per year or more often)
Supervisory

Board

Employees + + + + +

Customers + + + + +

Business partners + + + + +

Civil society + + + + –

Media + + + – –

Capital marktet + + + + +

Various organisational processes ensure that the 
 Executive Board is informed of important feedback 
from stakeholders. The quarterly steering committee 
meetings, which cover all segments as well as sustain-
ability and public affairs, and the project steering 
 committees are used for this purpose. These committees 
include the Executive Board as well as management 
from the respective areas.

Due diligence audits based on ecological and social 
aspects are integrated in the early phase of construction 
projects. They cover internal decisions as well as project 
approval by the Executive Board or – for larger projects – 
approval by the Supervisory Board.

In addition to the continuous exchange with internal 
experts, our Executive Board and Supervisory Board can 
draw on several advisory boards in which external 

experts from various disciplines contribute their exper-
tise and outside perspectives on the ESG aspects of our 
activities. The high relevance of ESG issues and the 
strengthening of sustainability expertise is reflected in 
the inclusion of a sustainability expert in the Audit 
Committee of the Supervisory Board.

 For further information on the EVN Sustainability Advisory 

Board and the EVN Social Advisory Board, see page 17

We carried out an online survey during 2023 in prepara-
tion for the CSRD to identify and synchronise the 
 viewpoints of stakeholders with the material impacts. 
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 ESRS 2 

Management of 
impacts, risks and 
opportunities

• Identification: An ESG risk catalogue was prepared 
in accordance with ESRS requirements and the pre-
viously identified, sustainability-related risk positions. 
This catalogue is evaluated and updated annually 
and, together with the material impacts, risks and 
opportunities, is formally released by the ESG risk 
working committee.

• Assessment and analysis: Qualitative and quanti-
tative assessment of the various potential impacts, 
risks and opportunities by the responsible risk officers 
in the corporate and decentralised business units of 
the EVN Group.

 – Risks/opportunities: The assessment is struc-
tured by time horizon (short, medium and long 
term) based on a five-step scale for the dimen-
sions “probability of occurrence” and “impact on 
cash flow”. 

 – Impacts: The assessment is structured by time 
horizon (short, medium and long term) based on 
a five-step scale for the dimensions “probability 
of occurrence” and “degree of severity”. It also 
includes the following factors required by the 
CSRD: “scale”, “scope” and “irremediable charac-
ter of the impact”. Assessments concerning 
 possible negative impacts on human rights are 
also included. 

• Reporting: Discussion of the identified impacts, 
risks and opportunities by the ESG risk working 
 committee and subsequently by the Group Risk 
 Committee; if necessary, implementation of control 
measures; reporting to the Audit Committee; 
 presentation of the material impacts, risks and 
opportunities in EVN’s sustainability statement.

 ESRS 2 IRO-1 

Description of the processes to identify and 
assess material impacts, risks and opportunities 

The sustainability reports previously published by EVN 
were focused on the materiality analysis concept defined 
by the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) as a means of 
identifying and assessing material impacts, risks and 
opportunities. In consideration of the interests of various 
internal and external stakeholders, we identified and 
evaluated the topics (previously described as “areas of 
activity“) that have the greatest importance for our 
stakeholders and, at the same time, the greatest eco-
nomic, ecological and/or social impacts on our business 
activities. This structured process was repeated and 
updated in a three-year cycle.

In accordance with the requirements of the Sustainability 
and Diversity Improvement Act and the EU Taxonomy 
Regulation, we also carry out an annual risk inventory to 
identify potential risks and the related impacts of EVN’s 
business activities and business relations on environmen-
tal, social and employee-related issues, the observance 
of human rights and the fight against corruption. Also 
included here is an assessment of the resulting financial 
impact on the EVN Group. 

In preparation for mandatory application of the CSRD, 
we carried out a double materiality analysis for the 
 current reporting period based on ESRS requirements, 
updated our risk inventory and integrated it with double 
materiality requirements. The material topics were also 
aligned with the ESRS terminology, and the previously 

used company-specific definition of the “areas of 
 activity” was discontinued.

A clearly structured process was defined for the identifi-
cation and analysis of impacts, opportunities and risks 
and the development of suitable countermeasures. 
Through the involvement of the management and 
 Executive Board levels, EVN ensures that the results and 
findings from the risk inventory and the related double 
materiality analysis are presented and discussed by the 
ESG risk working group and, subsequently, by the 
Group Risk Committee.

The following sections provide detailed information on 
the identification and assessment of impacts, risks and 
opportunities in a sustainability context. 

 For additional information on risk management, 

see page 148ff

ESG risk management process

The primary objectives of the ESG risk management 
process are the targeted assessment of existing and 
potential impacts of EVN’s business activities on man-
kind and society (impact materiality) as well as the 
 identification and assessment of gross risks and oppor-
tunities (financial materiality), above all in a sustainability 
context. This identification takes place each year as part 
of the annual risk inventory by the centrally organised 
risk management with the support of the innovation 
and sustainability corporate function and EVN’s ESG 
organisation.

The identification and assessment of impacts, risks and 
opportunities generally reflects EVN’s risk management 
process and includes the following steps:  
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Further references

We do not only identify climate-related fluctuations in 
our earnings as part of our risk management, but also 
evaluate potential quantitative impacts during the plan-
ning process with sensitivity and scenario analyses. 
 Comparable issues also influence the selection of sce-
narios for the future development of energy and primary 
energy prices. This information forms the basis for dis-
cussions on climate change and its impacts on our busi-
ness activities at the management, Executive Board 
and Supervisory Board levels.

Damages caused by extreme weather events represent 
a threat to supply security. In a broader sustainability 
context, the risks in this area also include supply inter-
ruptions or physical dangers to people caused by ex -
plosions or accidents. In order to ensure trouble-free 
operations and the technical security of our power 
plants –  both of which are essential to protect reliable 
supplies – we conduct regular inspections and mainte-
nance work that also involves scheduled downtime. We 
measure and monitor actual interruptions in network 
electricity supplies with the System Average Interruption 
Frequency Index (SAIFI) – which shows the mean supply 
interruption – and the System Average Interruption 
Duration Index (SAIDI) – which shows the average 
 annualised duration of unplanned power interruptions.

In advance of the ESG risk inventory for 2023/24, we 
aligned the material impacts, risks and opportunities 
with the interests and viewpoints of EVN’s various 
 stakeholder groups and included the results in the ESG 
risk catalogue. This took place as part of an online 
 stakeholder survey that was carried out in 2023, also 
in connection with preparations for the CSRD.

 For additional information on stakeholder engagement,  

see page 30

Analysis of climate risks

EVN has conducted a standardised annual process since 
the 2021/22 financial year to analyse potential climate 
risks and their impact on its business model as part of 
its activities to implement the EU Taxonomy Regulation. 
Scenarios are used to identify and assess potential cli-
mate risks for the years up to 2100. Physical risks involve 
events and changes with direct climatic causes. One 
example of chronic climate risk is the expected, longterm 
increase in global warming. Higher temperatures can 
have a negative impact on EVN‘s plants. Acute risks, 
in contrast, include storms, heavy rainfall or flooding. 
All these factors must be included in the design of 
plants and infrastructure.

 For information on the climate risk analysis according to the 

EU Taxonomy Regulation, see page 45 

Occupational safety and accident prevention are also 
prominent issues in all our business units. We guarantee 
the required high level of safety, above all, through 
training and by raising employees’ awareness. In addition 
to legal requirements, we have developed an extensive 
set of internal rules, directives and guidelines. All work 
accidents in the EVN Group are recorded and analysed 
centrally by the occupational safety department.

Material impacts, risks and opportunities

The following table shows the material impacts, risks 
and opportunities connected with our business activities 
that were identified as part of the ESG risk management 
process in 2024. The classification follows the topics 
and sub-topics in the ESRS structure. Information on the 
management of the identified impacts and risks – for 
example, target definitions, policies and actions – can 
be found under the respective topics.
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E2 – Pollution

Air pollution

Impacts

(–) Emission of inorganic pollutants within or below emission 
thresholds according to Best Available Techniques (BAT), 
among others through waste incineration or wastewater 
treatment plants

(–) Emission of air pollutants through thermal energy 
 generation (e. g. SO2, NOX, heavy metals) or energy 
 consumption in the supply chain (e. g. NOX, dust, CO, SOX) 
depending on the energy carrier and/or fuel (e. g. gas, 
 biomass or a material mix in waste incineration),  
especially at critical locations (redevelopment areas)

Gross risks and 
opportunities

(–) Costs for necessary technical improvements and/or 
upgrades to equipment and infrastructure to meet stricter 
emission limits 

E3 – Water and marine resources

Water / water withdrawal

Impacts

(–) Reduction of groundwater through withdrawal 
for  drinking water supplies

Gross risks and 
opportunities

(–) Reduced availability of groundwater for drinking 
water supplies

Water / discharge of water

Impacts

(+) Return of water to ecosystems following wastewater 
 treatment

(+) Reduction of freshwater consumption through wastewater 
treatment for agricultural uses in water shortage areas 

E1 – Climate change

Climate change adaptation

Impacts 

(–) Greenhouse gas emissions (GHG) in the atmosphere 
caused by
 – the use of fossil and biogenic energy carriers 
for energy generation

 – the operation of distribution networks and electricity, 
natural gas and heat supplies

 – electricity and natural gas sales volumes 
to end  customers

(+) Increase in the share of renewable energies as a 
 contribution to the decarbonisation of the energy sector 
and the attainment of European and Austrian 
 climate goals

Climate change mitigation

Gross risks and 
opportunities

(–) High necessary investments in the expansion of the 
 electricity network due to
 – changes in energy consumption  
(e. g. e-mobility, use of heat pumps)

 – high peak loads
 – reversal of load flows caused by decentralised 
 generation, above all from photovoltaic equipment 
in households
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S1 – Own workforce

Working conditions

Impacts

(+) Positive impacts on employee motivation and health through secure 
 employment, stable and fair remuneration, social security and fair treatment, 
appropriate work-life balance and contributions to the reconciliation of 
 private and professional life

(–) Potential negative impacts through time-consuming shift work, inadequate 
work-life balance as well as injuries and damage to health from accidents or 
work-related illnesses

Gross risks and 
opportunities

(–) Reduced attractiveness as an employer due to an inadequate work-life 
 balance and inability to reconcile private and professional life; loss of 
 employees due to work accidents or impaired health

(+) Good positioning on the labour market due to attractive working conditions, 
e. g. flexible working time and part-time models 

Equal treatment and opportunities 

Impacts

(+) Increase in employees‘ motivation through gender-neutral equal opportuni-
ties, especially between men and women, support for diversity and inclusion, 
active knowledge transfer and strengthening of employees’ innovation and 
employability 

Gross risks and 
opportunities

(–) Reputation loss for EVN and dissatisfaction of employees through 
 discriminating unequal treatment, lack of inclusion or too low share of 
women; reduced attractiveness as an employer and lower productivity 
due to inadequate knowledge transfer and development opportunities

(+) Good positioning on the labour market, productivity and competitive 
 advantages through knowledge transfer, development opportunities and 
diversity

E5 – Circular economy

Resources inflows, including resource use

Impacts

(–) Resource consumption for the construction or  
expansion and maintenance of plants and network  
infrastructure (e. g. construction materials, metals,  
rare earths, IT equipment)

(+) Increased supply of secondary raw materials through 
 correct separation of (primary raw materials) waste

Gross risks and 
opportunities

(–) Increase in operating and investment costs caused  
by rising material prices

(–) Increase in costs caused by the rising demand for  
critical resources for the construction and expansion  
and maintenance of plants and network infrastructure 
(e. g. construction materials, metals, rare earths,  
IT equipment)

Waste

Impacts

(–) Incidence of hazardous and non-hazardous waste 
in  plant operations

E4 – Biodiversity and ecosystems

Direct causes of biodiversity loss/ climate change

Impacts

(–) Biodiversity loss as a result of climate change, 
where  EVN’s greenhouse gas emissions play a role

Direct causes of biodiversity loss /changes in land use,  
freshwater use and marine use

Impacts

(–) Land consumption and ground sealing through EVN’s 
business activities, e. g. the construction of network 
 infrastructure and energy generation plants (hydropower 
plants, wind parks, photovoltaic systems etc.)

Impacts on the state of species

Impacts

(–) Endangerment of natural habitats through the construction 
of network infrastructure and energy generation plants 
(hydropower plants, wind parks, photovoltaic systems etc.)

Gross risks and 
opportunities

(–) Cancellation of projects due to 
 – resistance from society or municipalities
 – NGO campaigns 
 – negative decisions on environmental impact  assessments 
to support species protection

(–) Limitations created by new or stricter legal requirements 
for species protection
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S4 – Consumers and end users

Information-related impacts for consumers and/or end user/data protection

Impacts

(–) Data misuse (e. g. following a cyberattack) as a potential danger 
for  customers‘ personal privacy

Information-related impacts for consumers and/or 
end users/freedom of expression

Impacts

(+) High accessibility and openness to dialogue by the company through 
low-barrier complaint mechanisms as well as active inclusion of and 
 communication with customers

Information-related impacts for consumers and/or 
end users/access to (quality) information

Impacts

(+) Reduction of energy consumption and improvement of consumption 
behaviour through awareness creation, advising to optimise energy 
 consumption and the use of smart technologies

Social inclusion of consumers and /or end users/non-discrimination;  
access to products and services

Impacts

(+) Social inclusion and protection of the quality of life through the fight 
against or prevention of energy poverty; safe energy supplies for all 
 customer groups independent of their economic situation

S3 – Affected communities

Communities’ economic, social and cultural rights

Impacts

(+) Protection of energy supplies for society and business 
as the provincial energy supplier (incl. peak load coverage, 
network stability maintenance and the prevention of 
 network power failures and blackouts)

(+) Provision of infrastructure (energy, drinking water and 
telecommunications) as an economic contribution by the 
provincial energy supplier

(+) Contribution to technological development in the 
area of renewable energies through realisation of 
key relevant projects

S2 – Workers in the value chain

Working conditions

Gross risks and 
opportunities

(–) Reputation loss, sanctions and/or supply chain 
 interruptions due to insufficient health and worker 
safety protection by business partners

Equal treatment and opportunities for all

Impacts

(+) Knowledge transfer for workers in the value chain and 
strengthening of their employability on the labour  market

Other work-related rights/child labour

Impacts

(–) Violation of human rights concerning 
child labour in the value chain 

Other work-related rights/forced labour

Impacts

(–) Violation of human rights concerning 
forced labour in the value chain
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 ESRS IRO-2 

Disclosure requirements in ESRS covered by the sustainability statement

The following table provides an overview of the ESRS disclosure requirements and the respective page references 
in this sustainability statement.

Disclosure requirements in ESRS

1. General Information

Page reference in the 
sustainability  statement

ESRS 2 – General disclosures

BP-1 General basis for preparation of sustainability statements 13

BP-2 Disclosures in relation to specific circumstances 14f

GOV-1 The role of the administrative, management and supervisory bodies 16f

GOV-3 Integration of sustainability-related performance in incentive schemes 18f

SBM-1 Strategy, business model and value chain 20ff

SBM-2 Interests and views of stakeholders 30, 87f, 102f, 107f, 112 

SBM-3 Material impacts, risks and opportunities and their interaction with strategy and business model 78, 88f, 103, 108, 113

IRO-1 Description of the processes to identify and assess material impacts, risks and opportunities 31ff, 64, 71, 74, 80, 83, 
88f, 103, 108, 113, 118

IRO-2 Disclosure requirements in ESRS covered by the undertaking’s sustainability statement 36ff 

G1 – Business conduct

Corporate culture

Impacts

(+) Contribution to a fair and sustainable economic system and a fair society 
through strict compliance with legal regulations and all binding guidelines 
and corporate instructions (in particular the EVN Code of Conduct and 
EVN’s fair tax policy)

(+) Transparency and openness to dialogue on corporate responsibility, 
above all towards stakeholders

Management of relationships with suppliers including payment practices

Impacts

(+) Support for social and ecological sustainability through a focus on 
 sustainability criteria in the selection of suppliers and support for  
suppliers‘ own sustainability initiatives

Corruption and bribery

Gross risks and 
opportunities

(–) Reputation loss and (financial) sanctions as a consequence of corruption
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Page reference in the 
sustainability statement

Disclosure requirements in ESRS

ESRS E4 – Biodiversity and ecosystems

E4-2 Policies related to biodiversity and ecosystems 80f

E4-3 Actions and resources related to biodiversity and ecosystems 81f

E4-4 Targets related to biodiversity and ecosystems 82

E4-5 Impact metrics related to biodiversity and ecosystem change 82

ESRS E5 – Resource use and circular economy

E5-1 Policies related to resource use and circular economy 83

E5-2 Actions and resources related to resource use and circular economy 83f

E5-4 Resource inflows 84f

E5-5 Resource outflows 85

2. Environmental information

 
Page reference in the 
sustainability statement

Disclosure requirements in Art. 8 of Regulation 2020 /852 (EU Taxonomy Regulation)

ESRS E1 – Climate change 

E1-1 Transition plan for climate change mitigation 62ff

E1-2 Policies related to climate change mitigation and adaptation 64f

E1-3 Actions and resources in relation to climate change policies 65ff

E1-4 Targets related to climate change mitigation and adaptation 67

E1-5 Energy consumption and mix 68

E1-6 Gross Scopes 1, 2, 3 and total GHG emissions 68ff

ESRS E2 – Pollution

E2-1 Policies related to pollution 71f

E2-2 Actions and resources related to pollution 72f

E2-3 Targets related to pollution 73

E2-4 Air, water and soil pollution 73

ESRS E3 – Water and marine resources

E3-1 Policies related to water and marine resources 75

E3-2 Actions and resources related to water and marine resources policies 75f

E3-3 Targets related to water and marine resources 76f

E3-4 Water consumption 77
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Page reference in the 
sustainability statement

ESRS S2 – Workers in the value chain

S2-1 Policies related to value chain workers 103f

S2-2 Processes for engaging with value chain workers about impacts 104

S2-3 Processes to remediate negative impacts and channels for value chain workers to raise concerns 104

S2-4 Taking action on material impacts on value chain workers, and approaches to managing 
material risks and pursuing material opportunities related to value chain workers, and 
effectiveness of those action

105f

S2-5 Targets related to managing material negative impacts, advancing positive impacts, and  
managing material risks and  opportunities

106

ESRS S3 – Affected communities

S3-1 Policies related to affected communities 108f

S3-2 Processes for engaging with affected communities about impacts 109

S3-3 Processes to remediate negative impacts and channels for affected communities to raise concerns 109

S3-4 Taking action on material impacts on affected communities, and approaches to mitigating 
material risks and pursuing material opportunities related to affected communities, and 
effectiveness of those actions

109f

Disclosure requirements in ESRS

3. Social information

Page reference in the 
sustainability statement

ESRS S1 – Own workforce

S1-1 Policies related to own workforce 89

S1-2 Processes for engaging with own workers and workers’ representatives about potential impacts 90

S1-3 Processes to remediate negative impacts and channels for own workers to raise concerns 90

S1-4 Taking action on material impacts on own workforce, and approaches to mitigating material risks 
and pursuing material opportunities related to own workforce, and effectiveness of those actions

90ff

S1-5 Targets related to managing material negative impacts, advancing positive impacts, 
and  managing material risks and opportunities

92

S1-6 Characteristics of the undertakings's employees 93

S1-7 Characteristics of non-employee workers in the undertakings's own workforce 93

S1-8 Collective bargaining coverage and social dialogue 93f

S1-9 Diversity metrics 94f

S1-10 Adequate wages 95f

S1-11 Social protection 96

S1-12 Persons with disabilities 96

S1-13 Training and skills development metrics 96f

S1-14 Health and safety metrics 97ff

S1-15 Work-life balance metrics 100f

S1-16 Compensation metrics (pay gap and total compensation) 101

S1-17 Incidents, complaints and severe human right impacts 101
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Page reference in the 
sustainability statement

ESRS S4 – Consumers and end-users

S4-1 Policies related to consumers and end-users 113f

S4-2 Processes for engaging with consumers and end-users about impacts 114

S4-3 Processes to remediate negative impacts and channels for consumers and end users to raise concerns 114

S4-4 Taking action on material impacts on consumers and end-users, and approaches to managing  
material risks and pursuing material opportunities related to consumers and end-users,  
and the effectiveness of those actions

114ff

3. Governance information
Page reference in the 
sustainability statement

ESRS G1 – Business conduct

G1-1 Corporate culture and business conduct policies 118f

G1-2 Management of relationships with suppliers 119f

G1-3 Prevention and detection of corruption or bribery 120f

G1-4 Confirmed incidents of corruption or bribery 121

G1-5 Political influence and lobbying activities 121f

Data points from other EU legal acts

Page reference in the 
 sustainability statement

ESRS 2 GOV-1 (Para. 21 (d)) Gender diversity in the administrative, management and  
supervisory bodies

16

ESRS 2 GOV-1 (Para. 21 (e)) Percentage of independent board members 16

ESRS 2 SBM-1 (Para. 40 (d) no. i) Involvement in activities related to fossil fuels 20ff

ESRS 2 SBM-1 (Para. 40 (d) no. iii) Involvement in activities related to controversial weapons n. a.

ESRS 2 SBM-1 (Para. 40 (d) no. iv) Involvement in activities related to cultivation and production of tobacco n. a.

ESRS E1-1 (Para. 14) Transition plan to achieve climate neutrality by 2050 –

ESRS E1-1 (Para. 16 (g)) Companies excluded from the Paris-aligned benchmarks 64

ESRS E1-4 (Para. 34) GHG emission reduction targets 62ff

ESRS E1-5 (Para. 38) Energy consumption from fossil fuels by source 67

ESRS E1-5 (Para. 37) Energy consumption and mix 67

ESRS E1-5 (Para. 40 to 43) Energy intensity associated with activities in high climate impact sectors –

ESRS E1-6 (Para. 44) GHG scope gross emissions 1, 2, 3 and total GHG emissions 69

ESRS E1-6 (Para. 53 to 55) Intensity of GHG gross emissions 69

ESRS E1-7 (Para. 56) GHG removals and CO2 certificates –

ESRS E1-9 (Para. 66) Risk position of the reference portfolio as regards
climate-related physical risks

–

ESRS E1-9 (Para. 66 (a)) Disaggregation of monetary amounts of assets at risk by acute and  
chronic physical risk

–

ESRS E1-9 (Para. 66 (c)) Location of significant assets at material physical risk –

ESRS E1-9 (Para. 67 (c)) Breakdown of the carrying value of real estate assets  
by energy-efficiency classes

–

ESRS E1-9 (Para. 69) Exposure of the portfolio to climate-related opportunities –

ESRS E2-4 (Para. 28) Amount of pollutants generated in the air, water and soil that are 
listed in Annex II of the E-PRTR Regulation (European Pollutant Release 
and Transfer Register) 

73

Disclosure requirements in ESRS
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Page reference in the 
sustainability statement

ESRS E3-1 (Para. 9) Water and marine resources 74ff

ESRS E3-1 (Para. 13) Special policy –

ESRS E3-1 (Para. 14) Sustainable oceans and seas n. a.

ESRS E3-4 (Para. 28 (c)) Total water recycled and reused 77

ESRS E3-4 (Para. 29) Total water consumption in own operations in m³/EURm of net revenue 77

ESRS 2 – SBM-3 – E4  
(Para. 16 (a) no . i)

Activities negatively affecting biodiversity sensitive areas 78f

ESRS 2 – SBM-3 – E4 (Para. 16 (b)) Land degradation, desertification or soil sealing 79

ESRS 2 – SBM-3 – E4 (Para. 16 (c)) Operations that affect threatened species 79

ESRS E4-2 (Para. 24 (b)) Practices or policies related to sustainable land use or agriculture 80f

ESRS E4-2 (Para. 24 (c)) Practices or policies related to sustainable oceans/seas n. a.

ESRS E4-2 (Para. 24 (d)) Policies to address deforestation –

ESRS E5-5 (Para. 37 (d)) Non-recycled waste 84

ESRS E5-5 (Para. 39) Hazardous and radioactive waste 84

ESRS 2 – SBM-3 – S1 (Para. 14 (f)) Risk of incidents of forced labour 89

ESRS 2 – SBM-3 – S1 (Para. 14 (g)) Risk of incidents of child labour 89

ESRS S1-1 (Para. 20) Human rights policy commitments 89

ESRS S1-1 (Para. 21) Due diligence policies related to issues addressed by fundamental 
 conventions 1 to 8 of the International Labour Organisation 

–

ESRS S1-1 (Para. 22) Policies and practices to address human trafficking –

ESRS S1-1 (Para. 23) Policy or management system for the prevention of workplace accidents 97ff

ESRS S1-3 (Para. 32 (c)) Processing of complaints 90

ESRS S1-14 (Para. 88 (b) and (c)) Number of fatalities and number and rate of work accidents 98

ESRS S1-14 (Para. 88 (e)) Number of days lost to work-related injuries, accidents, 
 fatalities or illnesses

98

ESRS S1-16 (Para. 97 (a)) Unadjusted gender pay gap 101

Page reference in the 
sustainability statement

Data points from other EU legal acts

ESRS S1-16 (Para. 97 (b)) Excessive remuneration of members of management 
and  supervisory bodies

101

ESRS S1-17 (Para. 103 (a)) Incidents of discrimination 101

ESRS S1-17 (Para. 104 (a)) Non-compliance with the UN Guiding Principles on Business 
and Human Rights and OECD Guidelines 

–

ESRS 2 – SBM-3 – S2 (Para. 11 (b)) Significant risk of child labour or forced labour in the value chain 103

ESRS S2-1 (Para. 17) Human rights policy commitments 103f

ESRS S2-1 (Para. 18) Policies in engaging with workers in the value chain 103f

ESRS S2-1 (Para. 19) Non-compliance with the UN Guiding Principles on Business 
and Human Rights and OECD Guidelines

–

ESRS S2-1 (Para. 19) Due diligence policies related to issues addressed by fundamental 
 conventions 1 to 8 of the International Labour Organisation

–

ESRS S2-4 (Para. 36) Problems and incidents involving human rights in the upstream 
or  downstream value chain 

105f

ESRS S3-1 (Para. 16) Human rights policy commitments 108f

ESRS S3-1 (Para.17) Non-compliance with the UN Guiding Principles on Business and 
Human Rights and the principles of ILO and OECD Guidelines

–

ESRS S3-4 (Para. 36) Problems and incidents involving human rights –

ESRS S4-1 (Para. 16) Policies related to consumers and end users 113f

ESRS S4-1 (Para. 17) Non-compliance with the UN Guiding Principles on Business 
and Human Rights and OECD Guidelines

–

ESRS S4-4 (Para. 35) Problems and incidents involving human rights –

ESRS G1-1 (Para. 10 (b)) United Nations Convention against Corruption 118

ESRS G1-1 (Para. 10 (d)) Protection of whistle-blowers 118f

ESRS G1-4 (Para. 24 (a)) Fines for violation of anti-corruptions and anti-bribery laws 121

ESRS G1-4 (Para. 24 (b)) Standards to combat corruption and bribery 120
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tion is provided through disclosures on the performance 
metrics in text and table form and in templates related 
to activities in the area of nuclear energy and fossil gas.

Identification and evaluation 
of economic activities

The first step involved the identification of the eco-
nomic activities carried out by the EVN Group. The basis 
for this identification was formed by the economic 
activities listed in the delegated acts of the European 
Commission concerning the six above-mentioned envi-
ronmental objectives and supplemented by Regulation 
(EC) No 1893/2006 of the European Parliament and the 
Council as of 20 December 2006 on the installation of 
the statistical system for economic sectors defined by 
NACE Revision 2 and the amendment of Regulation 
(EEC) No 3037/90 of the Council as well as certain other 
regulations of the EC for specific areas of the economic 

This section includes EVN’s reporting in accordance with 
Article 8 of the EU Taxonomy Regulation ((EU) 2020/852) 
in connection with the applicable delegated acts of the 
European Commission. The report includes a description 
of the methodology used for the identification, technical 
screening and assessment of the taxonomy alignment of 
the economic activities carried out by EVN in 2023/24 
concerning the six environmental objectives: climate 
change mitigation, climate change adaption, sustainable 
use and protection of water and marine resources, tran-
sition to a circular economy, pollution prevention and 
control, and protection and restoration of biodiversity 
and ecosystems. With regard to the four latter environ-
mental objectives, EVN decided to voluntarily report on 
taxonomy alignment for the 2022/2023 financial year. 

The content in this section also includes an allocation of 
EVN’s economic activities to the segment disclosures on 
measures to comply with social minimum protection 
together with a climate risk analysis. Additional informa-

activities listed in the statistics. For this purpose, 
 technical experts in the subsidiaries carried out 
 screenings based on the above regulations together 
with the  managing directors.

The focal points of EVN’s business activities are the 
generation of electricity and heat from renewable 
sources and the operation of distribution networks. 
Consequently, the economic activities in the EU Tax-
onomy related to these activities are of paramount 
importance for EVN with a view towards taxonomy 
reporting.

The table on page 43 lists all economic activities 
to which KPIs were allocated in 2023/24 and in the 
 previous financial year.

Reporting of taxonomy alignment

A second step involved the technical screening of 
the identified taxonomy-eligible economic activities – 
separated by environmental objectives – to determine 
whether taxonomy-aligned economic activities were 
involved. This applied to all economic activities that 
meet the requirements of Art. 3 of the EU Taxonomy 
Regulation.

With the exception of the economic activity water 
 supply (WTR 2.1), which is classified by Delegated 
 Regulation (EU) 2023/2486 under the environmental 
objective “ sustainable use and protection of water 
and marine resources” as one of the four other environ-
mental  objectives, the economic activities classified as 
 taxonomy-aligned were all allocated to the environmen-
tal objective “climate change mitigation” based on the 
technical screening. This prevents double counting in 
the assignment of the key performance indicators.

EU Taxonomy 
Regulation

For this purpose, technical and business experts in 
the respective Group companies reviewed the previ-
ously identified taxonomy-eligible economic activities 
based on the applicable technical screening criteria 
and  documented the findings in a transparent and 
comprehensible manner.

Assignment of EVN’s economic activities 
to the segments

The following section describes the economic activities 
by segment which were identified for the 2023/24 finan-
cial year together with the material aspects of KPI data 
collection in accordance with the EU Taxonomy Regula-
tion. To facilitate reading, references to the economic 
activities only include the number of the respective 
activity. The full designation of the economic activity can 
be found in the table on “Taxonomy-eligible economic 
activities”. EVN’s business objectives (”main business 
activities”) are frequently realised at geographically 
distant power plants and distribution network locations; 
supporting activities for these location-based regional 
business transactions are allocated to the main activities 
for reporting purposes.

Based on our evaluation, the Energy Segment carries out 
taxonomy-eligible economic activities in the areas of 
heat generation and distribution which can be assigned 
to the economic activities 4.1., 4.15., 4.16., 4.20., 4.24., 
4.30. and 4.31. according to the different fuels and 
technologies. The taxonomy-eligible economic activities 
classified under 4.1., 6.15., 6.16., 7.3., 7.4., 7.5., 7.6., 9.1. 
and 9.3. are also found in energy services. The turnover 
from trading included in this segment – which covers, 
above all, the marketing of EVN’s own electricity genera-
tion and natural gas trading – is not included in the eco-
nomic activities defined by the EU Taxonomy Regulation.

42

EVN Full Report 2023 / 24 Segment report Financial statementsManagement reportCorporate governanceNon-financial report



The Generation Segment includes electricity produc-
tion from the renewable energy sources water, wind 
and solar power, which are assigned to the economic 
activities 4.1., 4.3. and 4.5. This segment also includes 
heat generation from natural gas at the energy hub 
in Dürnrohr, which represents economic activity 4.31. 
Other identified economic activities in connection 
with heat generation are included in the Energy 
 Segment to prevent double counting.

The Networks Segment covers the network infra struc-
ture for electricity and for renewable and  low-carbon 
gases in Lower Austria, which represent the economic 
activities 4.9. and 4.14. Shared equipment that is nec-
essary for the infrastructure operated by Netz Nieder-
österreich is allocated 75% to the elec tricity  network 
and 25% to the natural gas network. The EU Taxonomy 
Regulation currently provides no  criteria for the eco-
nomic activities carried out by the Group companies 
kabelplus (telecommunications) and EVN Geoinfo 
 (geographic information systems).

The South East Europe Segment covers the network 
infrastructure for electricity in Bulgaria and North 
 Macedonia and for renewable and low-carbon gases 
in Croatia. This represents the economic activities 4.9. 
and 4.14. In contrast to the electricity meters installed 
in Austria, the meters in Bulgaria and North Macedonia 
do not meet the technical criteria of the EU Taxonomy 
Regulation at the present time. This segment also 
includes electricity and heat generation from natural 
gas (economic activities 4.30. and 4.31.) as well as 
heat supplies (economic activity 4.15.) in Bulgaria. 
 Electricity generation from renewable energy sources 
(solar power and hydropower) in North Macedonia 

represents economic activities 4.1. and 4.5. The energy 
trading which is also included in the South East Europe 
Segment does not represent an economic activity 
listed in the EU Taxonomy Regulation.

The Environment Segment includes drinking water 
 supplies and wastewater disposal in Lower Austria, 
which are allocated to the economic activities 5.1. and 
5.3. The international project business, which is man-
aged by WTE, is also part of this segment and includes 
the construction and operation of plants for drinking 
water supplies and wastewater disposal (economic 
 activities 2.1. and 5.3.) as well as the – non-taxonomy- 
eligible – thermal sewage sludge utilisation. Apart from 
drinking water supplies in the international project busi-
ness, which are allocated to the economic activity 2.1. 
and as such to the environmental objective “sustainable 
use and protection of water and marine resources”, all 
of EVN’s economic activities fall under the environmental 
objective “climate change mitigation”. 

Minimum safeguards as defined 
by Art. 18 EU Taxonomy Regulation

Compliance with the minimum (social) safeguards in this 
area was classified according to the set of rules defined 
by Art. 18 as well as the Final Report on Minimum Safe-
guards by the Platform on Sustainable Finance (Octo-
ber 2022) for the subject areas of human rights, workers’ 
rights and occupational safety, the prevention of corrup-
tion and fair competition, and tax policy. Compliance is 
ensured by the application of Group-wide established 
and relevant management approaches as well as organi-
sational rules (e. g. guidelines, instructions). Moreover, 

Taxonomy-eligible economic activities

2023/24 2022/23

2.1. Water supply  Yes  Yes

4.1. Electricity generation using solar photovoltaic technology  Yes  Yes

4.3. Electricity generation from wind power  Yes  Yes

4.5. Electricity generation from hydropower  Yes  Yes

4.9. Transmission and distribution of electricity  Yes  Yes

4.14. Transmission and distribution networks for renewable and low-carbon gases  Yes  Yes

4.15. District heating/cooling distribution  Yes  Yes

4.16. Installation and operation of electric heat pumps  Yes  Yes

4.20. Cogeneration of heat/cool and power from bioenergy  Yes  Yes

4.24. Production of heat/cool from bioenergy  Yes  Yes

4.30. High-efficiency cogeneration of heat/cool and power from fossil gaseous fuels  Yes  Yes

4.31. Production of heat/cool from fossil gaseous fuels in an efficient district heating  
 and cooling system

 Yes  Yes

5.1. Construction, extension and operation of water collection, treatment and  
 supply systems

 Yes  Yes

5.3. Construction, extension and operation of waste water collection and treatment  Yes  Yes

6.15. Infrastructure enabling low carbon road transport and public transport  Yes  Yes

6.16. Infrastructure enabling low carbon water transport  Yes  Yes

7.3. Installation, maintenance and repair of energy efficiency equipment  Yes  Yes

7.4. Installation, maintenance and repair of charging stations for electric vehicles in  
 buildings (and parking spaces attached to buildings) 

 Yes  Yes

7.5. Installation, maintenance and repair of instruments and devices for measuring,  
 regulating and controlling energy performance of buildings

 Yes  Yes

7.6. Installation, maintenance and repair of renewable energy technologies  Yes  Yes

9.1. Close to market research, development and innovation  Yes  Yes

9.3. Professional services related to energy performance of buildings  Yes  Yes
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In addition, EVN prepared a human rights policy in 2022, 
which was approved by the Executive Board. A human 
rights officer was also appointed and installed in the 
corporate compliance management department. Our 
activities on behalf of human rights are continuously 
updated and expanded. The findings from our participa-
tion in the Business and Human Rights Accelerator of 
the UN Global Compact in 2023/24 flowed into the 
roll-out of Group-wide information and training on the 
subject of human rights.

Risks related to non-compliance with human rights are 
identified and assessed throughout the Group as part 
of the annual risk inventory.

 For information on EVN’s human rights policy,  see  

www.evn.at/human-rights-policy 

Fair tax policy

Based on our high ethical standards, as defined particu-
larly in the EVN Code of Conduct, we have prepared a 
 binding tax strategy for the EVN Group. We consider it 
an obligation towards business, the environment and 
society to make a fair contribution to tax revenue in all 
countries where we conduct business operations. This 
commitment – together with the observance of all 
 relevant national and international tax laws and legal 
requirements – forms the basis for the following 
 premises of the EVN Group’s tax strategy:

• High compliance standards with regard to taxation, 
in particular the legally compliant, timely and 
 complete fulfilment of reporting, clarification, 
 submission and payment requirements 

processes and measures have been implemented in 
procurement to ensure that the principles and rules 
applicable to these areas in the EVN Group also apply 
to business partners and suppliers.

In agreement with the United Nations Guiding Principles 
on Business and Human Rights, the Declaration by the 
International Labour Organisation (ILO) on Fundamental 
Principles and Rights at Work, and the OECD Guidelines 
for Multinational Enterprises as well as the EVN Code of 
Conduct, the EVN human rights policy, the EVN mana-
gerial mission statement, the EVN sustainability guideline, 
the Group-wide policies for social minimum  standards 
and employees, the EVN values and all related country- 
specific legal regulations and guidelines, we treat all our 
employees equally regardless of their gender, age, ethnic 
or social origin or nationality, skin colour, sexual orienta-
tion, religion, ideology or any possible physical or mental 
disabilities. We expressly reject any discrimination of 
employees with equal professional and personal qualifi-
cations in hiring, training, personal development, 
employment conditions or compensation. 

Human rights and minimum social protection issues are 
dealt with as interdisciplinary subjects in the EVN Group 
and are the responsibility of different organisational units 
(in particular human resources, occupational safety, 
procurement and purchasing, and corporate compliance 
management).

For information on management approaches and organisational 

rules, see the following:  
 Workers‘ rights, page 87ff

 Occupational safety, page 97ff

 Prevention of corruption and fair competition, page 118ff

 Procurement, pages 28f and 102ff

Turnover

2023/24 2022/23

Turnover (= denominator of KPI) EURm 3,256.6 3,768.6

thereof taxonomy-aligned (= numerator of KPI) EURm 1,333.5 1,403.8

Turnover KPI % 40.9 37.2

CapEx

2023/24 2022/23

Additions to intangible assets, fixed assets and rights of use  
(= denominator of KPI)

EURm
762.8 722.6

thereof taxonomy-aligned (= numerator of KPI) EURm 677.6 634.3

CapEx KPI % 88.8 87.8

OpEx

2023/24 2022/23

OpEx (= denominator of KPI) EURm 79.2 70.5

thereof taxonomy-aligned (= numerator of KPI) EURm 59.3 53.1

OpEx KPI % 74.9 75.3
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and – subsequently – from taxonomy-aligned economic 
activities during the reporting year. As in the previous 
year, a large part of non-taxonomy-eligible net revenue 
(EUR 1,548.4m; previous year: EUR 1,828.0m) as defined 
by the EU Taxonomy Regulation was attributable to 
electricity trading. The revenue reported here was lower 
than the previous year due to the downward trend in 
wholesale electricity prices. Since this share of revenue 
is only included in the denominator, the reduction in 
trading revenue caused by the decline in electricity prices 
is a material driver for the improvement in this indictor. 
The share of non-taxonomy-aligned revenue was also 
reduced by the decline in revenue from the international 
project business due to the progress on the wastewater 
treatment plant project in Kuwait. 

The share of taxonomy-aligned net revenue generated by 
EVN equalled 40.9% in 2023/24 (previous year: 37.2%).

Key performance indicator related 
to capital expenditure (CapEx KPI)

This indicator shows the share of capital expenditure 
in taxonomy-eligible and – subsequently – taxonomy- 
aligned economic activities. 

The denominator represents the additions to intangible 
assets and property, plant and equipment recorded by 
the EVN Group during the reporting period in accord-
ance with IAS 38 (additions to intangible assets), IAS 16 
(additions to property, plant and equipment) and IFRS 16 
(additions to rights of use) (see the line item “additions” 
in the tables to notes 35. Intangible assets and 
36. Property, plant and equipment in the notes to 
the consolidated financial statements for 2023/24). 
 However, additions to property, plant and equipment 
connected with restoration obligations are not included. 

The approval procedures for new projects already 
include climate data such as the snow load, wind pres-
sure, temperatures in the surrounding area and the 
expected high-water situation. Safety loadings ensure 
that the plants are well equipped for climate changes 
today and also in the future. We are also preparing for 
climate change with innovative projects: The so-called 
thermal rating uses sensors and weather data to main-
tain and optimise the transmission capability of 110 kV 
high-voltage power lines, also under rising surrounding 
temperatures above the standard current carrying ca pac-
ity. 32 weather stations will be installed throughout 
Lower Austria for this purpose.

Key performance indicators for 
taxonomy-aligned economic activities

EVN defines the reportable metrics listed in Annex I of 
Delegated Regulation (EU) 2021/2178 as of 6 July 2021 
as follows:

Key performance indicator related 
to turnover (turnover KPl)

This indicator shows the share of turnover generated by 
taxonomy-eligible and – subsequently – taxonomy- aligned 
economic activities. 

The denominator represents the total net revenue gen-
erated by the EVN Group during the reporting period, 
which was calculated in accordance with the definition 
provided by IFRS 15 (see note 25. Revenue in the con-
solidated financial statements for 2023/24).

The numerator represents the part of total net revenue 
generated by the EVN Group from taxonomy-eligible 

expected long-term global warming. Higher tempera-
tures can have a negative effect on EVN’s plants and 
equipment – for example, when a wind turbine auto-
matically shuts down at a specific operating temperature 
or the capacity of an electric power line declines under 
extreme heat. In contrast, acute risks include storms, 
heavy rains and flooding. All these factors must be 
 considered in the design of plants and infrastructure.

The basis for the analysis of climate risks is formed by 
scenarios that were developed by Austrian and European 
authorities together with meteorological institutes. In 
interviews with technicians from the entire Group, the 
effects of these scenarios on EVN’s plants were evalu-
ated. New and adapted meteorological data are regularly 
included in the risk analyses. The data situation for the 
evaluation of chronic climate risks, in particular, is already 
particularly good, and increasingly better estimates for the 
development of extreme weather events are also possible.

Together with our subsidiary EVN Geoinfo, we created 
the foundation during the past financial year to support 
the query of climate data for different climate scenarios 
from the EU’s Copernicus database, specifically the 
Copernicus Climate Change Service (C3S). We are now 
in a position to obtain the latest climate model data for 
all our national and international activities by location 
or by climate zones for our networks. We plan to use this 
data not only to meet reporting requirements like the 
EU Taxonomy and CSRD but also for long-term planning 
and the optimisation of our business model.

Previous analyses show that EVN’s plants and infrastruc-
ture are well prepared for potential climate risks. The 
ongoing refinement of the analysis process based on 
an increasingly better data situation will also make it 
possible for EVN to securely fulfil its important supply 
mandate in the coming decades.

•  The exclusion of risks under financial criminal law, 
especially the risks arising from tax evasion or 
 reduction

•  Fair, constructive, cooperative and transparent 
 dialogue with the fiscal authorities

•  Proactive tax controls based on the evaluation 
of tax-relevant risks and tax risks through the 
 identification, analysis and assessment of these 
risks (documentation via risk control matrix)

•  The avoidance of aggressive tax planning, in 
 particular no use of artificial structures whose 
main purpose is tax reduction

Climate risk analysis

Against the backdrop of progressive global warming, 
EVN is working intensively to identify and analyse possi-
ble new climate risks and their impacts on its business 
model. We use the findings to meet expanded reporting 
requirements, for example by the EU Taxonomy Regula-
tion or, in the future, also the European Union’s Corpo-
rate Sustainability Reporting Directive. The results of 
these analyses also form the basis to prepare EVN’s 
plants and infrastructure for future climatic develop-
ments and to protect performance capability.

EVN carried out a standardised evaluation process on 
this subject for the first time in 2021/22. It was based on 
a methodology developed by a specially created EVN 
team and has since been successively refined. The pro-
cess reflects the requirements of the EU Taxonomy Regu-
lation and is embedded in EVN’s risk management. 
Potential climate risks for the years up to 2100 were 
identified and assessed.

A differentiation was made between chronic and 
acute risks: An example of a chronic climate risk is the 
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Key performance indicator related 
to operating expenditure (OpEx KPI)

This indicator shows the share of operating expenditure 
for taxonomy-eligible and – subsequently – taxonomy- 
aligned economic activities. 

In contrast to revenue and capital expenditure (CapEx), 
the denominator for operating expenditure cannot be 
allocated to specific positions in the IFRS consolidated 
financial statements. Annex I of the Delegated Regula-
tion (EU) 2021/2178 as of 6 July 2021 only permits the 
inclusion of certain expenses for reporting in accordance 
with the EU Taxonomy Regulation.

The denominator includes direct, non-capitalised costs 
related to research and development, building refurbish-
ment measures, short-term leasing, maintenance and 
repairs as well as all other direct expenditures connected 
with the daily maintenance of property, plant and equip-
ment by the company or by third parties.

The numerator equals the part of operating expenditure 
included in the denominator, which was spent by the 
EVN Group during the reporting period on taxonomy- 
eligible and – subsequently – taxonomy-aligned 
 economic activities.

The share of EVN’s taxonomy-aligned operating 
 expen diture (OpEx) equalled 74.9% in 2023/24 
 (previous year: 75.3%).

The EVN Group recorded no additions to investment 
property (IAS 40) during the reporting period.

The numerator equals the part of capital expenditure 
included in the denominator, which was spent by 
the EVN Group during the reporting period on 
taxonomy- eligible and – subsequently – taxonomy- 
aligned  economic activities.

The share of EVN’s taxonomy-aligned capital expendi-
ture (CapEx) equalled 88.8% in 2023/24 (previous year: 
87.8%). The increase resulted from a higher volume 
of taxonomy-aligned investments in the network infra-
structure, bioheat and drinking water supplies in 
Lower Austria.

A CapEx plan as defined in Annex I of Delegated 
 Regulation (EU) 2021/2178 was not prepared during 
the reporting period.
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Reporting on EU Taxonomy Regulation as of 30 September 2024 – detail turnover 1) 2)

Substantial contribution criteria DNSH criteria (“Does Not Significantly Harm“)

Economic activities Code(s)
Absolute
turnover

Propor-
tion of

turnover

Climate
change

miti-
gation

Climate
change

adaption

Water
and

marine
resources

Circular
economy Pollution

Biodiversity  
and  

ecosystems

Climate
change

miti-
gation

Climate
change

adaption

Water
and

marine
resources

Circular
economy

Pollution
prevention

Biodiversity  
and  

ecosystems

Minimum
safe-

guards

Proportion
of taxonomy-
aligned (A.1) 

or non- 
taxonomy-

eligi ble (A.2)
turnover,

FY 2022/23

Category
(enabling

activity)

Category
(transi-

tional
activity)

A. TAXONOMY-ELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES EURm % Y; N; N/EL Y; N; N/EL Y; N; N/EL Y; N; N/EL Y; N; N/EL Y; N; N/EL Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N % E T

A.1. Environmentally sustainable activities (taxonomy-aligned)

2.1. Water supply WTR 2.1 51.2 1.6 N/EL N/EL Y N/EL N/EL N/EL Y Y Y Y Y Y Y 1.0

4.1. Electricity generation using solar photovoltaic technology CCM 4.1 8.2 0.3 Y N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL Y Y Y Y Y Y Y 0.1

4.3. Electricity generation from wind power CCM 4.3 152.1 4.7 Y N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL Y Y Y Y Y Y Y 4.3

4.5. Electricity generation from hydropower CCM 4.5 97.7 3.0 Y N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL Y Y Y Y Y Y Y 3.3

4.9. Transmission and distribution of electricity CCM 4.9 641.0 19.7 Y N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL Y Y Y Y Y Y Y 18.0 E

4.14. Transmission and distribution networks for renewable and low-carbon gases CCM 4.14 88.2 2.7 Y N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL Y Y Y Y Y Y Y 2.7

4.15. District heating/cooling distribution CCM 4.15 188.1 5.8 Y N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL Y Y Y Y Y Y Y 5.0

4.20. Cogeneration of heat/cool and power from bioenergy CCM 4.20 7.9 0.2 Y N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL Y Y Y Y Y Y Y 0.4

4.24. Production of heat/cool from bioenergy CCM 4.24 6.4 0.2 Y N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL Y Y Y Y Y Y Y 0.1

5.1. Construction, extension and operation of water collection, 
treatment and supply systems

CCM 5.1
49.4 1.5 Y N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL Y Y Y Y Y Y Y 1.2

5.3. Construction, extension and operation of waste water collection 
and treatment

CCM 5.3
9.5 0.3 Y N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL Y Y Y Y Y Y Y 0.6

6.15. Infrastructure enabling low carbon road transport and public transport CCM 6.15 6.6 0.2 Y N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL Y Y Y Y Y Y Y 0.1 E

6.16. Infrastructure enabling low carbon water transport CCM 6.16 0.3 0.0 Y N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL Y Y Y Y Y Y Y 0.0 E

7.3. Installation, maintenance and repair of energy efficiency equipment CCM 7.3 16.5 0.5 Y N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL Y Y Y Y Y Y Y 0.3 E

7.4. Installation, maintenance and repair of charging stations for  
electric vehicles in buildings (and parking spaces attached to buildings)

CCM 7.4
0.8 0.0 Y N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL Y Y Y Y Y Y Y 0.0 E

7.5. Installation, maintenance and repair of instruments and devices for  
measuring, regulating and controlling energy performance of buildings

CCM 7.5
0.0 0.0 Y N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL Y Y Y Y Y Y Y 0.0 E

7.6 Installation, maintenance and repair of renewable energy technologies CCM 7.6 9.3 0.3 Y N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL Y Y Y Y Y Y Y 0.1 E

9.3. Professional services related to energy performance of buildings CCM 9.3 0.3 0.0 Y N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL Y Y Y Y Y Y Y 0.0 E

Turnover of environmentally sustainable activities (taxonomy-aligned) (A.1) 1,333.5 40.9 37.2

of which enabling 674.9 50.6 100.0 – – – – – Y Y Y Y Y Y Y 49.8 E

of which transitional – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – T

1) “0.0” means: small amount

2) “–” means: no value
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A.2. Taxonomy-eligible but not environmentally sustainable activities
(not taxonomy-aligned activities)

2.1. Water supply WTR 2.1 2.5 0.1 N/EL N/EL N N/EL N/EL N/EL  0.1 

4.3. Electricity generation from wind power CCM 4.3 3.7 0.1 N N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL  0.2 

4.5. Electricity generation from hydropower CCM 4.5 12.6 0.4 N N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL  0.7 

4.9. Transmission and distribution of electricity CCM 4.9 21.5 0.7 N N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL  0.8 

4.14. Transmission and distribution networks for renewable and low-carbon gases CCM 4.14 2.7 0.1 N N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL  0.1 

4.15. District heating/cooling distribution CCM 4.15 1.0 0.0 N N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL  0.3 

4.16. Installation and operation of electric heat pumps CCM 4.16 0.8 0.0 N N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL  0.0 

4.24. Production of heat/cool from bioenergy CCM 4.24 1.2 0.0 N N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL  0.0 

4.30. High-efficiency cogeneration of heat/cool and power from 
 fossil gaseous fuels

CCM 4.30
55.2 1.7 N N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL  1.9 

4.31. Production of heat/cool from fossil gaseous fuels in an efficient 
district heating and cooling system

CCM 4.31
31.0 1.0 N N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL  0.8 

5.1. Construction, extension and operation of water collection, 
treatment and supply systems

CCM 5.1
0.0 0.0 N N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL 0.0   

5.3. Construction, extension and operation of waste water collection 
and treatment

CCM 5.3
242.5 7.4 N N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL  9.5 

Turnover of taxonomy-eligible but not environmentally sustainable 
activities (not taxonomy-aligned activities) (A.2) 374.7 11.5  14.2 

TOTAL (A.1 + A.2) 1,708.2 52.5  51.5 

B. TAXONOMY-NON-ELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES

Turnover of taxonomy-non-eligible activities (B) 1,548.4 47.5

Total (A + B) 3,256.6 100.0

1) “0.0” means: small amount

2) “–” means: no value

Reporting on EU Taxonomy Regulation as of 30 September 2024 – detail turnover 1) 2)

Substantial contribution criteria DNSH criteria (“Does Not Significantly Harm“)

Economic activities Code(s)
Absolute
turnover

Propor-
tion of

turnover

Climate
change

miti-
gation

Climate
change

adaption

Water
and

marine
resources

Circular
economy Pollution

Biodiversity  
and  

ecosystems

Climate
change

miti-
gation

Climate
change

adaption

Water
and

marine
resources

Circular
economy

Pollution
prevention

Biodiversity  
and  

ecosystems

Minimum
safe-

guards

Proportion
of taxonomy-
aligned (A.1) 

or non- 
taxonomy-

eligi ble (A.2)
turnover,

FY 2022/23

Category
(enabling

activity)

Category
(transi-

tional
activity)

A. TAXONOMY-ELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES EURm % Y; N; N/EL Y; N; N/EL Y; N; N/EL Y; N; N/EL Y; N; N/EL Y; N; N/EL Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N % E T
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Reporting on EU Taxonomy Regulation as of 30 September 2024 – detail CapEx1) 2)

Substantial contribution criteria DNSH criteria (“Does Not Significantly Harm“)

Economic activities Code(s)
Absolute

CapEx

Propor-
tion of 
CapEx

Climate
change

miti-
gation

Climate
change

adaption

Water
and

marine
resources

Circular
economy Pollution

Biodiversity  
and  

ecosystems

Climate
change

miti-
gation

Climate
change

adaption

Water
and

marine
resources

Circular
economy

Pollution
prevention

Biodiversity  
and  

ecosystems

Minimum
safe-

guards

Proportion
of taxonomy-
aligned (A.1) 

or non- 
taxonomy-

eligi ble (A.2)
CapEx,

FY 2022/23

Category
(enabling

activity)

Category
(transi-

tional
activity)

A. TAXONOMY-ELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES EURm % Y; N; N/EL Y; N; N/EL Y; N; N/EL Y; N; N/EL Y; N; N/EL Y; N; N/EL Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N % E T

A.1. Environmentally sustainable activities (taxonomy-aligned)

4.1. Electricity generation using solar photovoltaic technology CCM 4.1 17.0 2.2 Y N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL Y Y Y Y Y Y Y 2.3

4.3. Electricity generation from wind power CCM 4.3 56.7 7.4 Y N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL Y Y Y Y Y Y Y 13.3

4.5. Electricity generation from hydropower CCM 4.5 2.1 0.3 Y N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL Y Y Y Y Y Y Y 0.1

4.9. Transmission and distribution of electricity CCM 4.9 455.6 59.7 Y N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL Y Y Y Y Y Y Y 54.6 E

4.14. Transmission and distribution networks for renewable and low-carbon gases CCM 4.14 42.5 5.6 Y N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL Y Y Y Y Y Y Y 6.7

4.15. District heating/cooling distribution CCM 4.15 36.5 4.8 Y N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL Y Y Y Y Y Y Y 3.6

4.20. Cogeneration of heat/cool and power from bioenergy CCM 4.20 13.6 1.8 Y N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL Y Y Y Y Y Y Y 2.5

4.24. Production of heat/cool from bioenergy CCM 4.24 12.3 1.6 Y N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL Y Y Y Y Y Y Y 1.8

5.1. Construction, extension and operation of water collection,  
treatment and supply systems

CCM 5.1
29.0 3.8 Y N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL Y Y Y Y Y Y Y 2.8

5.3 Construction, extension and operation of waste water collection  
and treatment

CCM 5.3
0.1 0.0 0.0

6.15. Infrastructure enabling low carbon road transport and public transport CCM 6.15 8.6 1.1 Y N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL Y Y Y Y Y Y Y 0.1 E

6.16 Infrastructure enabling low carbon water transport CCM 6.16 1.7 0.2 0.0 E

7.4. Installation, maintenance and repair of charging stations for electric 
vehicles in buildings (and parking spaces attached to buildings)

CCM 7.4
0.3 0.0 Y N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL Y Y Y Y Y Y Y 0.1 E

9.1. Close to market research, development and innovation CCM 9.1 1.6 0.2 Y N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL Y Y Y Y Y Y Y 0.0 E

CapEx of environmentally sustainable activities (taxonomy-aligned) (A.1) 677.6 88.8 87.8

of which enabling 467.8 69.0 100.0 – – – – – Y Y Y Y Y Y Y 62.4 E

of which transitional – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – T

1) “0.0” means: small amount

2) “–” means: no value
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A.2. Taxonomy-eligible but not environmentally sustainable activities
(not taxonomy-aligned activities)

4.1. Electricity generation using solar photovoltaic technology CCM 4.1 0.0 0.0 N N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL 0.0

4.3. Electricity generation from wind power CCM 4.3 0.0 0.0 N N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL 0.1

4.5. Electricity generation from hydropower CCM 4.5 2.1 0.3 N N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL 0.3

4.9. Transmission and distribution of electricity CCM 4.9 15.2 2.0 N N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL 1.4

4.14. Transmission and distribution networks for renewable and low-carbon gases CCM 4.14 0.0 0.0 N N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL 0.2

4.15. District heating/cooling distribution CCM 4.15 0.4 0.0 N N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL 0.1

4.20. Cogeneration of heat/cool and power from bioenergy CCM 4.20 0.2 0.0 N N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL 0.0

4.24. Production of heat/cool from bioenergy CCM 4.24 0.1 0.0 N N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL 0.1

4.30. High-efficiency cogeneration of heat/cool and power from 
fossil gaseous fuels

CCM 4.30
0.8 0.1 N N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL 0.0

4.31. Production of heat/cool from fossil gaseous fuels in an 
efficient district heating and cooling system

CCM 4.31
9.3 1.2 N N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL 1.8

5.3. Construction, extension and operation of waste water collection 
and treatment

CCM 5.3
0.0 0.0 N N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL 0.0

CapEx of taxonomy-eligible but not environmentally sustainable activities
(not taxonomy-aligned activities) (A.2) 28.1 3.7 4.1

TOTAL (A.1 + A.2) 705.7 92.5 91.9

  

B. TAXONOMY-NON-ELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES

CapEx of taxonomy-non-eligible activities (B) 57.1 7.5

Total (A + B) 762.8 100.0

1) “0.0” means: small amount

2) “–” means: no value

Reporting on EU Taxonomy Regulation as of 30 September 2024 – detail CapEx1) 2)

Substantial contribution criteria DNSH criteria (“Does Not Significantly Harm“)

Economic activities Code(s)
Absolute

CapEx

Propor-
tion of 
CapEx

Climate
change

miti-
gation

Climate
change

adaption

Water
and

marine
resources

Circular
economy Pollution

Biodiversity  
and  

ecosystems

Climate
change

miti-
gation

Climate
change

adaption

Water
and

marine
resources

Circular
economy

Pollution
prevention

Biodiversity  
and  

ecosystems

Minimum
safe-

guards

Proportion
of taxonomy-
aligned (A.1) 

or non- 
taxonomy-

eligi ble (A.2)
CapEx,

FY 2022/23

Category
(enabling

activity)

Category
(transi-

tional
activity)

A. TAXONOMY-ELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES EURm % Y; N; N/EL Y; N; N/EL Y; N; N/EL Y; N; N/EL Y; N; N/EL Y; N; N/EL Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N % E T
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Reporting on EU Taxonomy Regulation as of 30 September 2024 – detail OpEx1) 2)

Substantial contribution criteria DNSH criteria (“Does Not Significantly Harm“)

Economic activities Code(s)
Absolute

OpEx

Propor-
tion of 

OpEx

Climate
change

miti-
gation

Climate
change

adaption

Water
and

marine
resources

Circular
economy Pollution

Biodiversity  
and  

ecosystems

Climate
change

miti-
gation

Climate
change

adaption

Water
and

marine
resources

Circular
economy

Pollution
prevention

Biodiversity  
and  

ecosystems

Minimum
safe-

guards

Proportion
of taxonomy-
aligned (A.1) 

or non- 
taxonomy-

eligi ble (A.2)
OpEx,

FY 2022/23

Category
(enabling

activity)

Category
(transi-

tional
activity)

A. TAXONOMY-ELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES EURm % Y; N; N/EL Y; N; N/EL Y; N; N/EL Y; N; N/EL Y; N; N/EL Y; N; N/EL Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N % E T

A.1. Environmentally sustainable activities (taxonomy-aligned)

4.3. Electricity generation from wind power CCM 4.3 8.0 10.1 Y N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL Y Y Y Y Y Y Y 10.5

4.5. Electricity generation from hydropower CCM 4.5 4.2 5.4 Y N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL Y Y Y Y Y Y Y 5.1

4.9. Transmission and distribution of electricity CCM 4.9 25.4 32.0 Y N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL Y Y Y Y Y Y Y 32.2 E

4.14. Transmission and distribution networks for renewable and low-carbon gases CCM 4.14 6.4 8.1 Y N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL Y Y Y Y Y Y Y 8.1

4.15. District heating/cooling distribution CCM 4.15 2.8 3.5 Y N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL Y Y Y Y Y Y Y 2.6

4.20. Cogeneration of heat/cool and power from bioenergy CCM 4.20 1.2 1.5 Y N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL Y Y Y Y Y Y Y 1.3

4.24. Production of heat/cool from bioenergy CCM 4.24 1.2 1.6 Y N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL Y Y Y Y Y Y Y 2.3

5.1. Construction, extension and operation of water collection, treatment 
and supply systems

CCM 5.1
9.6 12.1 Y N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL Y Y Y Y Y Y Y 12.8

6.15. Infrastructure enabling low-carbon road transport and public transport CCM 6.15 0.5 0.6 Y N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL Y Y Y Y Y Y Y 0.2 E

9.1. Close to market research, development and innovation CCM 9.1 0.0 0.0 Y N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL Y Y Y Y Y Y Y 0.1 E

OpEx of environmentally sustainable activities (taxonomy-aligned) (A.1) 59.3 74.9 75.3

of which enabling 25.9 43.6 100.0 – – – – – Y Y Y Y Y Y Y 43.1 E

of which transitional – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – 0.0 T

1) “0.0” means: small amount

2) “–” means: no value
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A.2. Taxonomy-eligible but not environmentally sustainable activities
(not taxonomy-aligned activities)

4.3. Electricity generation from wind power CCM 4.3 0.1 0.1 N N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL 0.0

4.5. Electricity generation from hydropower CCM 4.5 0.6 0.8 N N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL 1.4

4.15. District heating/cooling distribution CCM 4.15 0.3 0.4 N N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL 0.3

4.16. Installation and operation of electric heat pumps CCM 4.16 0.0 0.0 N N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL 0.0

4.20. Cogeneration of heat/cool and power from bioenergy CCM 4.20 0.2 0.3 N N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL 0.3

4.24. Production of heat/cool from bioenergy CCM 4.24 0.3 0.4 N N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL 0.4

4.30. High-efficiency cogeneration of heat/cool and power from 
 fossil gaseous fuels

CCM 4.30
0.8 1.0 N N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL 0.2

4.31. Production of heat/cool from fossil gaseous fuels in an efficient district 
heating and cooling system

CCM 4.31
5.1 6.4 N N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL 7.5

5.3. Construction, extension and operation of waste water collection 
and treatment

CCM 5.3
0.1 0.1 N N N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL 0.0

OpEx of taxonomy-eligible but not environmentally sustainable activities
(not taxonomy-aligned activities) (A.2) 7.5 9.4 10.1

TOTAL (A.1 + A.2) 66.7 84.3 85.5

B. TAXONOMY-NON-ELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES

OpEx of taxonomy-non-eligible activities (B) 12.4 15.7

Total (A + B) 79.2 100.0

1) “0.0” means: small amount

2) “–” means: no value

Reporting on EU Taxonomy Regulation as of 30 September 2024 – detail OpEx1) 2)

Substantial contribution criteria DNSH criteria (“Does Not Significantly Harm“)

Economic activities Code(s)
Absolute

OpEx

Propor-
tion of 

OpEx

Climate
change

miti-
gation

Climate
change

adaption

Water
and

marine
resources

Circular
economy Pollution

Biodiversity  
and  

ecosystems

Climate
change

miti-
gation

Climate
change

adaption

Water
and

marine
resources

Circular
economy

Pollution
prevention

Biodiversity  
and  

ecosystems

Minimum
safe-

guards

Proportion
of taxonomy-
aligned (A.1) 

or non- 
taxonomy-

eligi ble (A.2)
OpEx,

FY 2022/23

Category
(enabling

activity)

Category
(transi-

tional
activity)

A. TAXONOMY-ELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES EURm % Y; N; N/EL Y; N; N/EL Y; N; N/EL Y; N; N/EL Y; N; N/EL Y; N; N/EL Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N % E T
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Proportion of revenue/total revenue

%
Taxonomy-aligned 

per objective
Taxonomy-eligible 

per objective

CCM (Climate change mitigation) 39.4 50.8

CCA ( Climate change adaption) 0.0 0.0

WTR (Water and marine resources) 1.6 1.6

CE ( Circular economy) 0.0 0.0

PPC ( Pollution prevention and control) 0.0 0.0

BIO ( Biodiversity and ecosystems) 0.0 0.0

Proportion of OpEx/total OpEx

%
Taxonomy-aligned 

per objective
Taxonomy-eligible 

per objective

CCM ( Climate change mitigation) 74.9 84.3

CCA ( Climate change adaption) 0.0 0.0

WTR ( Water and marine resources) 0.0 0.0

CE (Circular economy) 0.0 0.0

PPC (Pollution prevention and control) 0.0 0.0

BIO ( Biodiversity and ecosystems) 0.0 0.0

Proportion of CapEx/total CapEx

%
Taxonomy-aligned 

per objective
Taxonomy-eligible 

per objective

CCM ( Climate change mitigation) 88.8 92.5

CCA (Climate change adaption) 0.0 0.0

WTR (Water and marine resources) 0.0 0.0

CE ( Circular economy) 0.0 0.0

PPC ( Pollution prevention and control) 0.0 0.0

BIO ( Biodiversity and ecosystems) 0.0 0.0

Scope of taxonomy eligibility and alignment per environmental 
objective – disclosure covering year 2023/24
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Templates 1 to 5 for turnover  

(with respect to nuclear and fossil gas related activities)

Template 1 – Nuclear and fossil gas related activities

Nuclear energy related activities

1. The undertaking carries out, funds or has exposures to research, development, 
 demonstration and deployment of innovative electricity generation facilities that produce 
energy from nuclear processes with minimal waste from the fuel cycle.

No

2. The undertaking carries out, funds or has exposures to construction and safe operation 
of new nuclear installations to produce electricity or process heat, including for the 
 purposes of district heating or industrial processes such as hydrogen production, as well 
as their safety upgrades, using best available technologies.

No

3. The undertaking carries out, funds or has exposures to safe operation of existing nuclear 
installations that produce electricity or process heat, including for the purposes of district 
heating or industrial processes such as hydrogen production from nuclear energy, as well 
as their safety upgrades.

No

Fossil gas related activities

4. The undertaking carries out, funds or has exposures to construction or operation 
of electricity generation facilities that produce electricity using fossil gaseous fuels.

No

5. The undertaking carries out, funds or has exposures to construction, refurbishment, and 
operation of combined heat/cool and power generation facilities using fossil gaseous fuels.

Yes

6. The undertaking carries out, funds or has exposures to construction, refurbishment and 
operation of heat generation facilities that produce heat/cool using fossil gaseous fuels.

Yes

Template 2 – Taxonomy-aligned economic activities (denominator)

Amount and share (information in EURm and %)

CCM + CCA
Climate change

mitigation (CCM)
Climate change
adaption (CCA)

Row Economic activities EURm % EURm % EURm %

1. Amount and proportion of taxonomy-aligned economic activity 
referred to in Section 4.26 of Annexes I and II to Delegated 
Regulation 2021/2139 in the denominator of the turnover KPI – – – – – –

2. Amount and proportion of taxonomy-aligned economic activity 
referred to in Section 4.27 of Annexes I and II to Delegated 
Regulation 2021/2139 in the denominator of the turnover KPI – – – – – –

3. Amount and proportion of taxonomy-aligned economic activity 
referred to in Section 4.28 of Annexes I and II to Delegated 
Regulation 2021/2139 in the denominator of the turnover KPI – – – – – –

4. Amount and proportion of taxonomy-aligned economic activity 
referred to in Section 4.29 of Annexes I and II to Delegated 
Regulation 2021/2139 in the denominator of the turnover KPI – – – – – –

5. Amount and proportion of taxonomy-aligned economic activity 
referred to in Section 4.30 of Annexes I and II to Delegated 
Regulation 2021/2139 in the denominator of the turnover KPI – – – – – –

6. Amount and proportion of taxonomy-aligned economic activity 
referred to in Section 4.31 of Annexes I and II to Delegated 
Regulation 2021/2139 in the denominator of the turnover KPI – – – – – –

7. Amount and proportion of other taxonomy-aligned 

 economic activities not referred to in rows 1 to 6 above 

in the denominator of the turnover KPI 1,333.5 40.9 1,333.5 40.9 – –

8. Total turnover KPI 3,256.6 100.0 3,256.6 100.0 – –
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Template 3 – Taxonomy-aligned economic activities (numerator)

Amount and share (information in EURm and %)

CCM + CCA
Climate change

mitigation (CCM)
Climate change
adaption (CCA)

Row Economic activities EURm % EURm % EURm %

1. Amount and proportion of taxonomy-aligned economic activity 
referred to in Section 4.26 of Annexes I and II to Delegated 
Regulation 2021/2139 in the numerator of the turnover KPI – – – – – –

2. Amount and proportion of taxonomy-aligned economic activity 
referred to in Section 4.27 of Annexes I and II to Delegated 
Regulation 2021/2139 in the numerator of the turnover KPI – – – – – –

3. Amount and proportion of taxonomy-aligned economic activity 
referred to in Section 4.28 of Annexes I and II to Delegated 
Regulation 2021/2139 in the numerator of the turnover KPI – – – – – –

4. Amount and proportion of taxonomy-aligned economic activity 
referred to in Section 4.29 of Annexes I and II to Delegated 
Regulation 2021/2139 in the numerator of the turnover KPI – – – – – –

5. Amount and proportion of taxonomy-aligned economic activity 
referred to in Section 4.30 of Annexes I and II to Delegated 
Regulation 2021/2139 in the numerator of the turnover KPI – – – – – –

6. Amount and proportion of taxonomy-aligned economic activity 
referred to in Section 4.31 of Annexes I and II to Delegated 
Regulation 2021/2139 in the numerator of the turnover KPI – – – – – –

7. Amount and proportion of other taxonomy-aligned 

economic activities not referred to in rows 1 to 6 above 

in the numerator of the turnover KPI 1,333.5 100.0 1,333.5 100.0 – –

8. Total amount and proportion of taxonomy-aligned 

 economic activities in the numerator of the turnover KPI 1,333.5 100.0 1,333.5 100.0 – –

Template 4 – Taxonomy-eligible but not taxonomy-aligned economic activities

Amount and share (information in EURm and %)

CCM + CCA
Climate change

mitigation (CCM)
Climate change
adaption (CCA)

Row Economic activities EURm % EURm % EURm %

1. Amount and proportion of taxonomy-eligible but not 
 taxo nomy-aligned economic activity referred to in Section 4.26 
of Annexes I and II to Delegated Regulation 2021/2139 in the 
denominator of the turnover KPI – – – – – –

2. Amount and proportion of taxonomy-eligible but not 
 taxo nomy-aligned economic activity referred to in Section 4.27 
of Annexes I and II to Delegated Regulation 2021/2139 in the 
denominator of the turnover KPI – – – – – –

3. Amount and proportion of taxonomy-eligible but not 
 taxo nomy-aligned economic activity referred to in Section 4.28 
of Annexes I and II to Delegated Regulation 2021/2139 in the 
denominator of the turnover KPI – – – – – –

4. Amount and proportion of taxonomy-eligible but not 
 taxo nomy-aligned economic activity referred to in Section 4.29 
of Annexes I and II to Delegated Regulation 2021/2139 in the 
denominator of the turnover KPI – – – – – –

5. Amount and proportion of taxonomy-eligible but not 
 taxo nomy-aligned economic activity referred to in Section 4.30 
of Annexes I and II to Delegated Regulation 2021/2139 in the 
denominator of the turnover KPI 55.2 1.7 55.2 1.7 – –

6. Amount and proportion of taxonomy-eligible but not 
 taxo nomy-aligned economic activity referred to in Section 4.31 
of Annexes I and II to Delegated Regulation 2021/2139 in the 
denominator of the turnover KPI 31.0 1.0 31.0 1.0 – –

7. Amount and proportion of other taxonomy-eligible but not 

taxonomy-aligned economic activities not referred to in 

rows 1 to 6 above in the denominator of the turnover KPI 288.5 8.9 288.5 8.9 – –

8. Total amount and proportion of taxonomy-eligible but 

not taxonomy-aligned economic activities in the denomi-

nator of the turnover KPI 374.7 11.5 374.7 11.5 – –
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Templates 1 to 5 for CapEx  

(with respect to nuclear and fossil gas related activities)
Template 5 – Taxonomy-non-eligible economic activities

Row Economic activities EURm %

1. Amount and proportion of economic activity referred to in row 1 of Template 1 
that is  taxonomy-non-eligible in accordance with Section 4.26 of Annexes I and II 
to Delegated Regulation 2021/2139 in the denominator of the turnover KPI – –

2. Amount and proportion of economic activity referred to in row 2 of Template 1 
that is  taxonomy-non-eligible in accordance with Section 4.27 of Annexes I and II 
to Delegated Regulation 2021/2139 in the denominator of the turnover KPI – –

3. Amount and proportion of economic activity referred to in row 3 of Template 1 
that is  taxonomy-non-eligible in accordance with Section 4.28 of Annexes I and II 
to Delegated Regulation 2021/2139 in the denominator of the turnover KPI – –

4. Amount and proportion of economic activity referred to in row 4 of Template 1 
that is  taxonomy-non-eligible in accordance with Section 4.29 of Annexes I and II 
to Delegated Regulation 2021/2139 in the denominator of the turnover KPI – –

5. Amount and proportion of economic activity referred to in row 5 of Template 1 
that is  taxonomy-non-eligible in accordance with Section 4.30 of Annexes I and II 
to Delegated Regulation 2021/2139 in the denominator of the turnover KPI – –

6. Amount and proportion of economic activity referred to in row 6 of Template 1 
that is  taxonomy-non-eligible in accordance with Section 4.31 of Annexes I and II 
to Delegated Regulation 2021/2139 in the denominator of the turnover KPI – –

7. Amount and proportion of other taxonomy-non-eligible economic activities 

not referred to in rows 1 to 6 above in the denominator of the turnover KPI 1,548.4 47.5

8. Total amount and proportion of taxonomy-non-eligible economic activities 

in the denominator of the turnover KPI 1,548.4 47.5

Template 1 – Nuclear and fossil gas related activities

Nuclear energy related activities

1. The undertaking carries out, funds or has exposures to research, development, 
demonstration and deployment of innovative electricity generation facilities that 
 produce energy from nuclear processes with minimal waste from the fuel cycle.

No

2. The undertaking carries out, funds or has exposures to construction and safe operation 
of new nuclear installations to produce electricity or process heat, including for the 
 purposes of district heating or industrial processes such as hydrogen production, as well 
as their safety upgrades, using best available technologies.

No

3. The undertaking carries out, funds or has exposures to safe operation of existing 
nuclear installations that produce electricity or process heat, including for the purposes 
of district heating or industrial processes such as hydrogen production from nuclear 
energy, as well as their safety upgrades.

No

Fossil gas related activities

4. The undertaking carries out, funds or has exposures to construction or operation of 
electricity generation facilities that produce electricity using fossil gaseous fuels.

No

5. The undertaking carries out, funds or has exposures to construction, refurbishment, and 
operation of combined heat/cool and power generation facilities using fossil gaseous fuels.

Yes

6. The undertaking carries out, funds or has exposures to construction, refurbishment and 
operation of heat generation facilities that produce heat/cool using fossil gaseous fuels.

Yes
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Template 2 – Taxonomy-aligned economic activities (denominator)

Amount and share (information in EURm and %)

CCM + CCA
Climate change

mitigation (CCM)
Climate change
adaption (CCA)

Row Economic activities EURm % EURm % EURm %

1. Amount and proportion of taxonomy-aligned economic activity 
referred to in Section 4.26 of Annexes I and II to Delegated 
Regulation 2021/2139 in the denominator of the CapEx KPI – – – – – –

2. Amount and proportion of taxonomy-aligned economic activity 
referred to in Section 4.27 of Annexes I and II to Delegated 
Regulation 2021/2139 in the denominator of the CapEx KPI – – – – – –

3. Amount and proportion of taxonomy-aligned economic activity 
referred to in Section 4.28 of Annexes I and II to Delegated 
Regulation 2021/2139 in the denominator of the CapEx KPI – – – – – –

4. Amount and proportion of taxonomy-aligned economic activity 
referred to in Section 4.29 of Annexes I and II to Delegated 
Regulation 2021/2139 in the denominator of the CapEx KPI – – – – – –

5. Amount and proportion of taxonomy-aligned economic activity 
referred to in Section 4.30 of Annexes I and II to Delegated 
Regulation 2021/2139 in the denominator of the CapEx KPI – – – – – –

6. Amount and proportion of taxonomy-aligned economic activity 
referred to in Section 4.31 of Annexes I and II to Delegated 
Regulation 2021/2139 in the denominator of the CapEx KPI – – – – – –

7. Amount and proportion of other taxonomy-aligned 

 economic activities not referred to in rows 1 to 6 above 

in the denominator of the CapEx KPI 677.6 88.8 677.6 88.8 – –

8. Total CapEx KPI 762.8 100.0 762.8 100.0 – –

Template 3 – Taxonomy-aligned economic activities (numerator)

Amount and share (information in EURm and %)

CCM + CCA
Climate change

mitigation (CCM)
Climate change
adaption (CCA)

Row Economic activities EURm % EURm % EURm %

1. Amount and proportion of taxonomy-aligned economic activity 
referred to in Section 4.26 of Annexes I and II to Delegated 
Regulation 2021/2139 in the numerator of the CapEx KPI – – – – – –

2. Amount and proportion of taxonomy-aligned economic activity 
referred to in Section 4.27 of Annexes I and II to Delegated 
Regulation 2021/2139 in the numerator of the CapEx KPI – – – – – –

3. Amount and proportion of taxonomy-aligned economic activity 
referred to in Section 4.28 of Annexes I and II to Delegated 
Regulation 2021/2139 in the numerator of the CapEx KPI – – – – – –

4. Amount and proportion of taxonomy-aligned economic activity 
referred to in Section 4.29 of Annexes I and II to Delegated 
Regulation 2021/2139 in the numerator of the CapEx KPI – – – – – –

5. Amount and proportion of taxonomy-aligned economic activity 
referred to in Section 4.30 of Annexes I and II to Delegated 
Regulation 2021/2139 in the numerator of the CapEx KPI – – – – – –

6. Amount and proportion of taxonomy-aligned economic activity 
referred to in Section 4.31 of Annexes I and II to Delegated 
Regulation 2021/2139 in the numerator of the CapEx KPI – – – – – –

7. Amount and proportion of other taxonomy-aligned 

 economic activities not referred to in rows 1 to 6 above 

in the numerator of the CapEx KPI 677.6 100.0 677.6 100.0 – –

8. Total amount and proportion of taxonomy-aligned 

 economic activities in the numerator of the CapEx KPI 677.6 100.0 677.6 100.0 – –

57

EVN Full Report 2023 / 24 Segment report Financial statementsManagement reportCorporate governanceNon-financial report



Template 4 – Taxonomy-eligible but not taxonomy-aligned economic activities

Amount and share (information in EURm and %)

CCM + CCA
Climate change

mitigation (CCM)
Climate change
adaption (CCA)

Row Economic activities EURm % EURm % EURm %

1. Amount and proportion of taxonomy-eligible but not 
 tax onomy-aligned economic activity referred to in Section 
4.26 of Annexes I and II to Delegated Regulation 2021/2139 
in the denominator of the CapEx KPI – – – – – –

2. Amount and proportion of taxonomy-eligible but not 
 tax onomy-aligned economic activity referred to in Section 
4.27 of Annexes I and II to Delegated Regulation 2021/2139 
in the denominator of the CapEx KPI – – – – – –

3. Amount and proportion of taxonomy-eligible but not 
 tax onomy-aligned economic activity referred to in Section 
4.28 of Annexes I and II to Delegated Regulation 2021/2139 
in the denominator of the CapEx KPI – – – – – –

4. Amount and proportion of taxonomy-eligible but not 
 tax onomy-aligned economic activity referred to in Section 
4.29 of Annexes I and II to Delegated Regulation 2021/2139 
in the denominator of the CapEx KPI – – – – – –

5. Amount and proportion of taxonomy-eligible but not 
 tax onomy-aligned economic activity referred to in Section 
4.30 of Annexes I and II to Delegated Regulation 2021/2139 
in the denominator of the CapEx KPI 0.8 0.1 0.8 0.1 – –

6. Amount and proportion of taxonomy-eligible but not 
 tax onomy-aligned economic activity referred to in Section 
4.31 of Annexes I and II to Delegated Regulation 2021/2139 
in the denominator of the CapEx KPI 9.3 1.2 9.3 1.2 – –

7. Amount and proportion of other taxonomy-eligible but 

not taxonomy-aligned economic activities not referred to 

in rows 1 to 6 above in the denominator of the CapEx KPI 18.0 2.4 18.0 2.4 – –

8. Total amount and proportion of taxonomy-eligible but 

not taxonomy-aligned economic activities in the denomi-

nator of the CapEx KPI 28.1 3.7 28.1 3.7 – –

Template 5 – Taxonomy-non-eligible economic activities

Row Economic activities EURm %

1. Amount and proportion of economic activity referred to in row 1 of Template 1 that is 
 taxonomy-non-eligible in accordance with Section 4.26 of Annexes I and II to Delegated 
Regulation 2021/2139 in the denominator of the CapEx KPI – –

2. Amount and proportion of economic activity referred to in row 2 of Template 1 that is 
 taxonomy-non-eligible in accordance with Section 4.27 of Annexes I and II to Delegated 
Regulation 2021/2139 in the denominator of the CapEx KPI – –

3. Amount and proportion of economic activity referred to in row 3 of Template 1 that is 
 taxonomy-non-eligible in accordance with Section 4.28 of Annexes I and II to Delegated 
Regulation 2021/2139 in the denominator of the CapExKPI – –

4. Amount and proportion of economic activity referred to in row 4 of Template 1 that is 
 taxonomy-non-eligible in accordance with Section 4.29 of Annexes I and II to Delegated 
Regulation 2021/2139 in the denominator of the CapEx KPI – –

5. Amount and proportion of economic activity referred to in row 5 of Template 1 that is 
 taxonomy-non-eligible in accordance with Section 4.30 of Annexes I and II to Delegated 
Regulation 2021/2139 in the denominator of the CapEx KPI – –

6. Amount and proportion of economic activity referred to in row 6 of Template 1 that is 
 taxonomy-non-eligible in accordance with Section 4.31 of Annexes I and II to Delegated 
Regulation 2021/2139 in the denominator of the CapEx KPI – –

7. Amount and proportion of other taxonomy-non-eligible economic activities 

not referred to in rows 1 to 6 above in the denominator of the CapEx KPI 57.1 7.5

8. Total amount and proportion of taxonomy-non-eligible economic activities 

in the denominator of the CapEx KPI 57.1 7.5
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Templates 1 to 5 for OpEx  

(with respect to nuclear and fossil gas related activities)

Template 1 – Nuclear and fossil gas related activities

Nuclear energy related activities

1. The undertaking carries out, funds or has exposures to research, development, 
demonstration and deployment of innovative electricity generation facilities that 
 produce energy from nuclear processes with minimal waste from the fuel cycle.

No

2. The undertaking carries out, funds or has exposures to construction and safe operation 
of new nuclear installations to produce electricity or process heat, including for the 
 purposes of district heating or industrial processes such as hydrogen production, as well 
as their safety upgrades, using best available technologies.

No

3. The undertaking carries out, funds or has exposures to safe operation of existing 
nuclear installations that produce electricity or process heat, including for the purposes 
of district heating or industrial processes such as hydrogen production from nuclear 
energy, as well as their safety upgrades.

No

Fossil gas related activities

4. The undertaking carries out, funds or has exposures to construction or operation of 
electricity generation facilities that produce electricity using fossil gaseous fuels.

No

5. The undertaking carries out, funds or has exposures to construction, refurbishment, and 
operation of combined heat/cool and power generation facilities using fossil gaseous fuels.

Yes

6. The undertaking carries out, funds or has exposures to construction, refurbishment and 
operation of heat generation facilities that produce heat/cool using fossil gaseous fuels.

Yes

Template 2 – Taxonomy-aligned economic activities (denominator)

Amount and share (information in EURm and %)

CCM + CCA
Climate change

mitigation (CCM)
Climate change
adaption (CCA)

Row Economic activities EURm % EURm % EURm %

1. Amount and proportion of taxonomy-aligned economic activity 
referred to in Section 4.26 of Annexes I and II to Delegated 
Regulation 2021/2139 in the denominator of the OpEx KPI – – – – – –

2. Amount and proportion of taxonomy-aligned economic activity 
referred to in Section 4.27 of Annexes I and II to Delegated 
Regulation 2021/2139 in the denominator of the OpEx KPI – – – – – –

3. Amount and proportion of taxonomy-aligned economic activity 
referred to in Section 4.28 of Annexes I and II to Delegated 
Regulation 2021/2139 in the denominator of the OpEx KPI – – – – – –

4. Amount and proportion of taxonomy-aligned economic activity 
referred to in Section 4.29 of Annexes I and II to Delegated 
Regulation 2021/2139 in the denominator of the OpEx KPI – – – – – –

5. Amount and proportion of taxonomy-aligned economic activity 
referred to in Section 4.30 of Annexes I and II to Delegated 
Regulation 2021/2139 in the denominator of the OpEx KPI – – – – – –

6. Amount and proportion of taxonomy-aligned economic activity 
referred to in Section 4.31 of Annexes I and II to Delegated 
Regulation 2021/2139 in the denominator of the OpEx KPI – – – – – –

7. Amount and proportion of other taxonomy-aligned 

 economic activities not referred to in rows 1 to 6 above 

in the denominator of the OpEx KPI 59.3 74.9 59.3 74.9 – –

8. Total OpEx KPI 79.2 100.0 79.2 100.0 – –
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Template 3 – Taxonomy-aligned economic activities (numerator)

Amount and share (information in EURm and %)

CCM + CCA
Climate change

mitigation (CCM)
Climate change
adaption (CCA)

Row Economic activities EURm % EURm % EURm %

1. Amount and proportion of taxonomy-aligned economic activity 
referred to in Section 4.26 of Annexes I and II to Delegated 
Regulation 2021/2139 in the numerator of the OpEx KPI – – – – – –

2. Amount and proportion of taxonomy-aligned economic activity 
referred to in Section 4.27 of Annexes I and II to Delegated 
Regulation 2021/2139 in the numerator of the OpEx KPI – – – – – –

3. Amount and proportion of taxonomy-aligned economic activity 
referred to in Section 4.28 of Annexes I and II to Delegated 
Regulation 2021/2139 in the numerator of the OpEx KPI – – – – – –

4. Amount and proportion of taxonomy-aligned economic activity 
referred to in Section 4.29 of Annexes I and II to Delegated 
Regulation 2021/2139 in the numerator of the OpEx KPI – – – – – –

5. Amount and proportion of taxonomy-aligned economic activity 
referred to in Section 4.30 of Annexes I and II to Delegated 
Regulation 2021/2139 in the numerator of the OpEx KPI – – – – – –

6. Amount and proportion of taxonomy-aligned economic activity 
referred to in Section 4.31 of Annexes I and II to Delegated 
Regulation 2021/2139 in the numerator of the OpEx KPI – – – – – –

7.   Amount and proportion of other taxonomy-aligned 

 economic activities not referred to in rows 1 to 6 above 

in the numerator of the OpEx KPI 59.3 100.0 59.3 100.0 – –

8. Total amount and proportion of taxonomy-aligned 

 economic activities in the numerator of the OpEx KPI 59.3 100.0 59.3 100.0 – –

Template 4 – Taxonomy-eligible but not taxonomy-aligned economic activities

Amount and share (information in EURm and %)

CCM + CCA
Climate change

mitigation (CCM)
Climate change
adaption (CCA)

Row Economic activities EURm % EURm % EURm %

1. Amount and proportion of taxonomy-eligible but not 
 taxonomy-aligned economic activity referred to in Section 
4.26 of Annexes I and II to Delegated Regulation 2021/2139 
in the denominator of the OpEx KPI – – – – – –

2. Amount and proportion of taxonomy-eligible but not 
 taxonomy-aligned economic activity referred to in Section 
4.27 of Annexes I and II to Delegated Regulation 2021/2139 
in the denominator of the OpEx KPI – – – – – –

3. Amount and proportion of taxonomy-eligible but not 
 taxonomy-aligned economic activity referred to in Section 
4.28 of Annexes I and II to Delegated Regulation 2021/2139 
in the denominator of the OpEx KPI – – – – – –

4. Amount and proportion of taxonomy-eligible but not 
 taxonomy-aligned economic activity referred to in Section 
4.29 of Annexes I and II to Delegated Regulation 2021/2139 
in the denominator of the OpEx KPI – – – – – –

5. Amount and proportion of taxonomy-eligible but not 
 taxonomy-aligned economic activity referred to in Section 
4.30 of Annexes I and II to Delegated Regulation 2021/2139 
in the denominator of the OpEx KPI 0.8 1.0 0.8 1.0 – –

6. Amount and proportion of taxonomy-eligible but not 
 taxonomy-aligned economic activity referred to in Section 
4.31 of Annexes I and II to Delegated Regulation 2021/2139 
in the denominator of the OpEx KPI 5.1 6.4 5.1 6.4 – –

7. Amount and proportion of other taxonomy-eligible but 

not taxonomy-aligned economic activities not referred to 

in rows 1 to 6 above in the denominator of the OpEx KPI 1.6 2.0 1.6 2.0 – –

8. Total amount and proportion of taxonomy-eligible 

but not taxonomy-aligned economic activities in the 

denominator of the OpEx KPI 7.5 9.4 7.5 9.4 – –
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Template 5 – Taxonomy-non-eligible economic activities

Row Economic activities EURm %

1. Amount and proportion of economic activity referred to in row 1 of Template 1 that is
taxonomy-non-eligible in accordance with Section 4.26 of Annexes I and II to Delegated
Regulation 2021/2139 in the denominator of the OpEx KPI – –

2. Amount and proportion of economic activity referred to in row 2 of Template 1 that is
taxonomy-non-eligible in accordance with Section 4.27 of Annexes I and II to Delegated
Regulation 2021/2139 in the denominator of the OpEx KPI – –

3. Amount and proportion of economic activity referred to in row 3 of Template 1 that is
taxonomy-non-eligible in accordance with Section 4.28 of Annexes I and II to Delegated
Regulation 2021/2139 in the denominator of the OpEx KPI – –

4. Amount and proportion of economic activity referred to in row 4 of Template 1 that is
taxonomy-non-eligible in accordance with Section 4.29 of Annexes I and II to Delegated
Regulation 2021/2139 in the denominator of the OpEx KPI – –

5. Amount and proportion of economic activity referred to in row 5 of Template 1 that is
taxonomy-non-eligible in accordance with Section 4.30 of Annexes I and II to Delegated
Regulation 2021/2139 in the denominator of the OpEx KPI – –

6. Amount and proportion of economic activity referred to in row 6 of Template 1 that is
taxonomy-non-eligible in accordance with Section 4.31 of Annexes I and II to Delegated
Regulation 2021/2139 in the denominator of the OpEx KPI – –

7. Amount and proportion of other taxonomy-non-eligible economic activities 

not referred to in rows 1 to 6 above in the denominator of the OpEx KPI 12.4 15.7

8. Total amount and proportion of taxonomy-non-eligible economic activities 

in the denominator of the OpEx KPI 12.4 15.7
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 ESRS E1 

Climate change

Climate change and its impacts on humans and eco-
systems are among the greatest challenges of our time. 
Scientific studies and forecasts on species preservation, 
extreme weather events, and human health underscore 
the urgency of preventing each one-tenth of a degree 
of global warming and reducing CO2e emissions. The 
low CO2e-and CO2e-free generation of energy is an 
important lever to meet the politically defined climate 
goals set by the 1.5°C target in the Paris Agreement. As 
an energy provider, we can contribute to meeting these 
goals with our sustainability oriented management.

Climate change mitigation, energy efficiency and the 
circumspect use of natural resources have been deeply 
anchored in the EVN Group for many years. EVN‘s Strat-
egy 2030 is also significantly influenced by the current 
political and social  discourse surrounding the subject of 
climate change  mitigation and the related goals. The 
strategy reflects our commitment to make an active 
contribution to the reduction of greenhouse gas emis-
sions and the containment of global warming. It repre-
sents the basis for our ambitious and realistic goals and 

actions taken to reduce our emissions for the successful 
decarbonisation of our company and our value chain.

 ESRS 2 GOV-3 

Integration of sustainability-related  
performance in incentive schemes

Information on the integration of sustainability-related 
performance in incentive schemes can be found in 
ESRS 2 GOV-3.

 For information on ESRS 2 GOV-3, see page 18

 E1-1 

Transition plan for climate change mitigation

To reinforce our engagement on behalf of climate 
change mitigation through concrete actions, targets 
and projects, we developed the EVN Climate Initiative 
in 2021 in agreement with our corporate strategy. 

Material impacts

 – Emission of GHG emissions into 

the atmosphere

 + Contribution to decarbonisation of the 

energy sector and the attainment of 

climate goals

Material risks

 – High investments in the expansion 

of the electricity network 

Policies

 • Strategy 2030

 • EVN Climate Initiative

 • Policy for the management of greenhouse 

gas emissions and transition risks

 • Sustainability Advisory Board

 • Research and development activities

Actions and targets

 • Existing, science based goals for the 

reduction of CO2e emissions

 • Expansion of renewable generation 

capacity (wind power, photovoltaics)

 • Expansion of district heating networks

 • Increase in the share of renewable 

 energies in the product mix

 • Measures to increase energy efficiency

We joined the Science Based Target Initiative (SBTi) at 
the same time and, in doing so, committed to concrete, 
scientifically based goals to reduce our CO2e emissions. 
Based on the Greenhouse Gas Protocol, SBTi defines 
science based goals together with the participating 
companies to reduce their greenhouse gas emissions in 
accordance with the Paris Agreement.

Reduction of CO2e emissions

In light of our integrated business model and the 
 differences between our individual business areas, 
we formulated five reduction goals in 2021. The 
two intensity goals follow the SBTi sector approach 
for electricity producers:

• Intensity 1: Reduction of specific CO2e emissions 
from electricity-generating plants, incl. cogeneration 
units, (Scope 1) by 66%

• Intensity 2: Reduction of specific CO2e emissions 
from electricity-generating plants, incl. cogeneration 
units (Scope 1), and from electricity sales to end 
customers (Scope 3) by 65.1%

• Absolute 1: Reduction of absolute CO2e emissions 
from heat generation and thermal waste utilisation 
(Scope 1) and from network losses and own 
 consumption (Scope 2) by 37.5%

• Absolute 2: Reduction of absolute CO2e emissions 
from sales of natural gas to end customers (Scope 3) 
by 37.5%

• Absolute 3: Reduction of absolute CO2e emissions 
from natural gas network sales volumes (Scope 3) 
by 37.5% (in keeping with regulatory and legal 
framework conditions)

The CO2e emission reduction goals agreed with and 
verified by SBTi are based on the international climate 
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from our thermal waste utilisation plant in Dürnrohr 
(the latter based on SBTi requirements) are also included. 
The 2021/22 financial year represents the base year, 
and our plans call for target achievement by the end of 
the 2030/31 financial year.  

 The main drivers for this process are: 

• The continued strong expansion of our renewable 
generation capacity, especially for wind power and 
photovoltaics

• The continuous reduction of emissions from 
 electricity network losses in our South East Europe 
markets of Bulgaria and North Macedonia

• Expansion of the district heating networks to 
 supply additional customers with natural heat

• The substitution of renewable gas for natural gas 
in heat production

• The substitution of renewable gas for natural gas 
in gas supplies for our end customers

• Reduction of natural gas sales volumes to our 
end customers based on the conversion to alter-
native heating systems, e. g. heat pumps

• The substitution of renewable gas for natural gas 
in electricity production for the provision of 
 balancing energy (network reserve)

The individual measures derived from the emission 
reduction goals were integrated in plans for the involved 
areas and Group companies as part of short, medium 
and long-term corporate planning. Climate change miti-
gation and the transition plan developed in 2023/24 
represent important and integral components of EVN’s 
corporate strategy and, consequently, are also subject to 
continuous monitoring and progress controls.

 For descriptions of the individual measures,  

also see E1-3 on page 65ff

goal established in Paris, which calls for limiting global 
warming to substantially below 2°C. The basis for EVN’s 
reduction was formed by the respective values from the 
2018/19 financial year, and the defined goals were to 
be met by the 2033/34 financial year.

 For information on the EVN Climate Initiative,  

see www.evn.at/climate-initiative

Initial 1.5°C transition plan

We worked intensively to revise and refine our CO2e 
reduction goals in 2023/24 to align them with the 
1.5°C goal set by the Paris Agreement. The target paths 
were modelled in line with the first target definition in 
2021 based on the methodology defined by SBTi, which 
follows the Special Report on Global Warming of 1.5°C 
issued by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change 
(IPCC), and the Greenhouse Gas Protocol. Existing meas-
ures were reviewed and intensified where possible, and 
new goals were set. This formed the basis for the develop-
ment of an initial transition plan with concrete measures 
for the entire EVN Group. The plan was approved by the 
Executive Board during the reporting year and also pre-
sented to the Supervisory Board’s Audit Committee. 
Our initial 1.5°C transition plan is consistent with the 
Strategy 2030 approved by the EVN Executive Board 
and Super visory Board.

Our initial transition plan includes four targets to reduce 
our CO2e emissions. Two intensity goals are intended to 
reduce our specific CO2e emissions, while two other 
goals call for an absolute CO2e reduction. These goals 
involve emissions from electricity and heat generation; 
for Scope 2, in particular, emissions from electricity net-
work losses and from our natural gas network sales 
volumes. The CO2e emissions and biogenic emissions 

CO2e     emission 
reduction

      Revision of  

existing goals for

13595 MWp

       Photovoltaics

installed capacity until end of 2024, 

increase in yearly production to  

approximately 115 GWh

500500 MW

      Wind power around

installed capacity until end of 2024, 

increase in yearly production to approximately  

1.3 TWh

1.5°C goal
In accordance with

of the Paris Agreement

 2024/25
Submission of new goals 

 with SBTi planned for 

Committed
with SBTi

300300 MWp

and around

installed capacity until 2030, increase 

in yearly production to approximately  

400 GWh

770770 MW
installed capacity until 2030,

increase in yearly production to  

approximately 2.0 TWh

and around

Initial transition plan

Significant element:  
Expansion of renewable generation capacity

63

EVN Full Report 2023 / 24 Segment report Financial statementsManagement reportCorporate governanceNon-financial report



Our revised CO2e-emission reduction goals will be 
filed with SBTi in 2024/25 for external, scientific evalua-
tion und validation. The first step was taken in Novem-
ber 2024 with the submission of our commitment letter 
to SBTi. This commitment letter requires us to submit 
our new goals for CO2e reduction to SBTi within two 
years. As soon as SBTi has completed an external valida-
tion of these goals, we will publish additional details on 
the individual targets in our 1.5°C transition plan.

 For the SBTi commitment letter, also see  

www.evn.at/climate-initiative

Investments and financing

Capital expenditures in the EVN Group in accordance 
with the EU Taxonomy totalled EUR 762.8m in 2023/24. 
The share of the investments classified as ecologically 
sustainable under the EU  Taxonomy Regulation (CapEx) 
equalled 88.8 % of the total capital expenditures in the 
EVN Group.

 For information on the EU Taxonomy Regulation,  

see page 42ff

These investments are financed from current cash flow, 
on the one hand and with debt, on the other hand. 
In 2020, EVN issued a EUR 101m bond in the form of 
a private placement as part of the EVN Green Finance 
Framework. The framework defines the business activi-
ties for which these funds can be used and includes 
projects focused on the following: the expansion of 
renewable generation (including supporting invest-
ments in the electricity network infrastructure), energy 
 efficiency, the prevention of environmental pollution, 

clean transportation and the sustainable handling 
of drinking water and wastewater. 

A sustainability second party opinion by an independent, 
external expert evaluated EVN’s sustainability perfor-
mance together with the ecological and social impacts 
of the use of this financing. EVN is required to disclose 
and confirm the use of the funds consistent with the 
contract each year. The respective documents are avail-
able on EVN’s website. In addition, a green promissory 
note loan was issued in April 2020 and a green loan was 
arranged with the European Investment Bank (EIB) in 
June 2023 to finance various wind power projects. Both 
of these issues were subject to a detailed sustainability 
review. Also the terms of a credit line that provides 
reserve liquidity for the EVN Group are linked to condi-
tions and criteria for sustainable management.

 For information on EVN’s green financing, see  

www.evn.at/green_financing

EU Paris-aligned Benchmarks

Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2020/1818 
( Climate Benchmark Regulation) defines Paris-aligned 
EU Benchmarks for indexes that are used to evaluate 
financial instruments or contracts. These reference values 
are related to specific thresholds for the intensity of 
greenhouse gas emissions or absolute greenhouse gas 
volumes. The delegated regulation specifies that certain 
companies are excluded from these Paris-aligned refer-
ence values and, for example, may not be included in 
financial market portfolios that are intended to be Paris- 
aligned. The EVN Group is not excluded from these 
Paris-aligned EU reference values.

 ESRS 2 IRO-1 

Description of the processes to identify 
and assess material climate-related impacts, 
risks and opportunities

The EVN Group has identified positive and negative 
 material impacts, opportunities and risks related to 
 climate change mitigation. The use of fossil and biogenic 
energy carriers for energy generation, the operation of 
electricity, natural gas and heat distribution networks, 
and the sale of electricity and natural gas to end custom-
ers lead to the emission of greenhouse gases in the 
atmosphere. Alternatively, the increase in the share of 
renewable energies by EVN makes a valuable contribu-
tion to the decarbonisation of the energy sector and to 
the attainment of  Austrian and European climate goals. 
The required high investments in the expansion of the 
electricity network, in contrast, represent a risk for the 
EVN Group.

 For a description of the processes to identify and assess 

material climate-related impacts, risks and opportunities, 

see ESRS 2 IRO-1 on page 31ff

 E1-2 

Policies related to climate change mitigation 
and adaptation

Climate change mitigation and our commitment to 
the necessary protective measures are an integral part 
of all important corporate documents issued by the 
EVN Group:

Strategy 2030

Our future-oriented Strategy 2030 was developed during 
the 2019/20 financial year in a Group-wide process and 
in close coordination with the Supervisory Board. 
National and international guidelines like the European 
Green Deal and the Paris Agreement, which aim to drive 
the transformation to a CO2e-free energy system, are 
significantly changing the framework conditions for the 
energy sector. Our corporate strategy addresses these 
developments with an active contribution to reduce 
greenhouse gas emissions and, in doing so, contributes 
to the containment of global warming. Our efficiency 
improvements and innovation initiatives also play an 
important role here.

 For information on the Strategy 2030, see page 24ff

The EVN Climate Initiative

The EVN Climate Initiative, which is also part of our 
Strategy 2030, puts our decarbonisation goals in 
 concrete terms and bundles our measures to expand 
our renewable generation capacity – and thereby also 
supports our goals to reduce greenhouse gas emissions.

 For information on the EVN Climate Initiative, see  

www.evn.at/climate-initiative

The EVN Group’s sustainability guideline

The sustainability guideline issued by the EVN Group 
communicates our general commitment to climate 
change mitigation and forms the basis for all related 
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reduction of our thermal generation portfolio 
and our road to a renewable energy future include, 
among others:

• 2018: Significant capacity in our natural gas oper-
at ed power plants in Theiss and Korneuburg was 
decommissioned. Natural gas is now only used for 
 electricity generation in Austria by cogeneration 
and combined heat and power plants (18.5 MW), 
by the Theiss natural gas-fired power plant (470 MW 
as contractually guaranteed reserve capacity to 
 provide network support for the Austrian transmis-
sion network operator), and in Bulgaria (80 MW).

• 2019: Premature termination of our  
hard coal-fired power plant in Dürnrohr

• 2021: Termination of electricity generation 
from coal with the sale of our investment in 
the  Walsum 10 hard coal-fired power plant

We have constructed and commissioned various wind 
power and photovoltaic plants in recent years. These 
projects increased our installed renewable generation 
capacity by a total of 150 MW over the last three 
 financial years alone. As of 30 September 2024, our 
installed renewable capacity totalled 925 MW.

Expansion of renewable generation capacity 
for wind power and photovoltaics

We increased the total capacity of our renewable 
 generation plants by 85 MW to 925 MW in 2023/24. 
The following wind power and photovoltaic projects 
were completed and commissioned, respectively 
acquired during the reporting year:

 E1-3 

Actions and resources in relation to climate 
change policies

Environmental management and certifications

EVN has operated environmental management systems 
on a voluntary basis since 1995 that are connected with 
a commitment to improve environmental performance.

 For an overview of the European norms applied in the 

EVN Group, see ESRS 2 BP-2, page 14f

All our ISO-certified locations are subject to internal and 
external audits that include the preparation, implemen-
tation and monitoring of improvement programmes. 
Similar programmes are also developed for our EMAS- 
certified equipment as part of the annual audits that also 
cover the evaluation and implementation of the goals 
set in the previous financial year. Information and the 
latest environmental metrics for the audited locations are 
provided in the annual environmental declarations and 
are also available to the general public on the websites 
of our Group companies.

 Also see www.evn.at/waerme and 

www.evn.at/waermekraftwerke (German only)

Transformation of our generation portfolio

We have been working consistently and successfully on 
the transformation of our generation portfolio for many 
years and investing extensively in the expansion of our 
renewable generation capacity. Key milestones for the 

The EVN Sustainability Advisory Board

Our Executive Board is supported in a consultative 
capacity by the EVN Sustainability Advisory Board on 
key issues involving sustainable management in the 
areas of climate change mitigation and adaptation.

 Also see www.evn.at/sustainability-advisory-board

Research and development contributions to 
climate change mitigation

Research and development activities to support the 
sustainable reduction of CO2e emissions are an impor-
tant building block of our efforts to actively contribute 
to the attainment of the Paris climate goals. They also 
support the strategic evolution of our business model. 
In this sense, all our research and development activities 
are designed to support the realisation of the goals set 
by the EVN Climate Initiative. We want to support climate 
change mitigation and the gradual system transforma-
tion towards climate-neutral energy generation and, 
at the same time, safeguard supply security. This takes 
place within the framework of numerous innovative 
research and development projects – for example the 
Batterie STABIL battery storage project and the cross- 
regional research initiative Green Energy Lab which 
is supported by provincial energy providers and energy 
agencies.

 For research and development projects,  

also see page 147f

goals, our sustainability oriented management, and our 
active contribution to contain global warming.

 For information on the EVN Group’s sustainability  guideline, 

also see www.evn.at/sustainability_guideline

Policy for the management of greenhouse gas 
emissions and transition risks

We also issued a policy for the management of greenhouse 
gas emissions and transition risks during the 2023/24 
financial year. It is based on our commitment and our 
activities on behalf of climate change mitigation, climate 
change adaptation, energy efficiency and the use of 
renewable energies. One section defines the methodology 
for calculating greenhouse gas emissions in line with the 
internationally recognised standards established by the 
Greenhouse Gas Protocol. This document summarises the 
most important climate-related impacts, risks and oppor-
tunities of our business activities, establishes principles 
of conduct and action lines like the application of the 
mitigation hierarchy principle which calls for the reduction 
or at least minimisation of impacts, and the continuous 
monitoring of our greenhouse gas emissions. Other 
definitions covert the requirements for transparent and 
open communications with our stakeholders and regular 
training for our employees.

The sustainability guideline and the policy for the 
 management of greenhouse gas emissions and transition 
risks are binding guidelines for the entire EVN Group. 
They were approved by the Executive Board and pre-
sented to the Supervisory Board. Both documents are 
available to the general public on our website.

 For the policy for the management of greenhouse gas 

 emissions and transition risks, also see www.evn.at/policy_E1
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an increase over the already high share of over 90% 
recorded in the previous year. This was made possible by 
the availability of a sufficient volume of certificates of 
origin for electricity from hydropower and solar power. 
As in previous years, the certificates of origin – as well as 
the delivered electricity – originated entirely in Austria 
during 2023. 

This also represents the goal for the coming years. 
EVN will only develop electricity products that are 
 consistent with this natural approach: renewable, 
 CO2e-free in generation and with 100% certificates 
of origin from Austria.

 Also see www.evn.at/herkunft (German only)

Energy efficiency

We conduct an external energy audit every four years in 
accordance with the Austrian Federal Energy Efficiency 
Act and the EN 16247 European norm for energy audits. 
This external audit identifies the energy efficiency poten-
tial in buildings, processes and transport and defines 
measures for energy savings. The implementation of the 
related measures is reviewed in the next audit. 

EVN’s last external energy audit was carried out in 2019 
and identified savings opportunities of approximately 
0.7 GWh. This potential covers a range of individual 
measures – from the upgrading of our generation plants 
to meet the latest technical standards to the installation 
of photovoltaic plants at various locations and the thermal 
refurbishment of company buildings. The contract for 
the energy audit 2023 was awarded during the 2022/23 
financial year. The audit is currently in progress and 
will identify further savings opportunities, formulate 
new measures and evaluate the measures defined by the 

Expansion of district heating networks and 
renewable heat generation

EVN Wärme and its subsidiaries are responsible for 
 supplying our customers with process and space heating, 
steam, warm water and cooling. These companies oper-
ate three biomass combined heat and power plants as 
well as approximately 80 biomass district heating plants 
with a pipeline network that covers roughly 700 path 
kilometres. Biomass as a renewable energy carrier holds 
the potential for decarbonising the district heating sup-
plies in Lower Austria and supports the attainment of 
our 1.5°C transition plan.

The plants and pipeline network operated by EVN Wärme 
have undergone continuous upgrading and expansion 
for many years to provide customers with an increased 
supply of natural heat as an alternative to fossil heating 
systems. In 2023, EVN set an important milestone on 
this decarbonisation path through the commissioning of 
a biomass heating plant in Krems with a total output 
of up to 22 MWh. Expansion projects were also carried 
out at various existing plants and pipelines during the 
reporting year. The result was an increase of roughly 
50 GWh in the demand for natural heat by customers 
that was met by EVN Wärme.

The EVN plants with a biomass output of 20 MW or 
more use biomass that is certified as sustainable 
 according to the EU Directive on Renewable Energies.

Increase in the share of renewable energies in 
EVN’s product mix for end customers in Austria 

The entire volume of electricity sold by EVN to end 
 customers in Austria was generated CO2e-free for the 
first time in the 2023 calendar year. This represents 

The continuous expansion of our renewable generation 
portfolio will proceed during the coming years. The 
concrete projects in our target path include the expan-
sion of our installed wind power capacity to roughly 
500 MW by the end of 2024 and to over 600 MW by 
the end of 2027. In the photovoltaic area, we want to 
increase our installed capacity to nearly 100 MW by the 
end of 2024 and to over 200 MW by the end of 2027. 
The expansion targets set by our Strategy 2030 for the 
period up to 2030 call for 770 MW of wind and 300 MW 
for photovoltaics.

• Wind park in Altlichtenwarth-Grosskrut (12.4 MW)
• Wind park in Prottes (18 MW)
• Wind park in Sigless-Pöttelsdorf  

(repowering; 8.4 MW)
•  Photovoltaic plant in Dürnrohr (23.5 MWp)
•  Photovoltaic plant in Stip, North Macedonia 

(4.0 MWp)
•  Photovoltaic plant in Probisthip, North Macedonia 

(11.0 MWp)
•  Floating photovoltaic plant in Grafenwörth 

(12.2 MWp)

Electricity generation and 
 storage capacity1)

30.09.2024 30.09.2023 30.09.2022

MW % MW % MW %

Renewable energy 925 59.4 844 57.4 771 54.9

thereof hydropower2) 311 20.0 311 21.2 312 22.2

thereof wind power 477 30.7 447 30.5 407 29.0

thereof photovoltaics 93 6.0 42 2.8 14 1.0

thereof biomass 18 1.2 18 1.2 13 0.9

thereof other3) 26 1.7 26 1.8 26 1.9

Heat 623 40.0 623 42.5 630 45.0

thereof natural gas4) 576 37.0 576 39.3 583 41.6

thereof energy hub Dürnrohr5) 47 3.0 47 3.2 47 3.3

Battery storage 8 0.5 3 0.2 3 0.2

Total 1,556 100.0 1,470 100.0 1,404 100.0

1) Company-specific indicator

2) Includes purchasing rights from the Danube hydropower plants in Melk, Greifenstein and Freudenau and from investments in the 

 hydropower plants Nussdorf in Vienna and Ashta in Albania as well as in Verbund Innkraftwerke

3) Includes two sludge-fired combined heat and power plants in Moscow

4) Includes the Theiss power plant (net output of 485 MW, 470 MW of which are held under contract as reserve capacity)  

as well as co-generation and combined heat and power plants in Austria and Bulgaria

5) Includes the steam co-generation from thermal waste utilisation in Dürnrohr
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• Use of fossil primary energy carriers and biomass 
to generate electricity and heat by EVN

• Use of fossil primary energy carriers to 
heat  company buildings

• Use of fossil primary energy carriers for transport 
(fuel for EVN’s motor vehicles)

• Operation and maintenance of EVN’s 
natural  gas networks

• Fossil and biogenic share from operation of 
the  thermal waste utilisation plant in Dürnrohr

We calculate direct greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 1) 
based on the factors prescribed by the EU Emissions 
Trading Directive for the individual countries.  

of gross greenhouse gas emissions not only includes 
fully consolidated companies, as defined by ESRS 2 BP-1 
(scope of consolidation), but also companies over which 
the EVN Group exercises operational control.

 For details on this expanded reporting circle, also see 

ESRS 2 BP-1 (scope of consolidation), page 13

Scope 1 emissions

Scope 1 emissions represent the direct greenhouse gas 
emissions made by a company. At EVN, these emissions 
result from the following:

These measures make a continuous and valuable contri-
bution to the decarbonisation of our company and to 
the attainment of national and European climate goals 
and the sustainability goals of the United Nations, 
 especially “Climate Action”.

 E1-4 

Targets related to climate change mitigation 
and adaptation

In 2021, EVN set targets for the reduction of its 
CO2e emissions. 

 For details, see E1-1, page 62ff

 E1-5 

Energy consumption and mix

We regularly record and analyse the total energy consump-
tion by the EVN Group as well as our own consumption to 
identify and evaluate opportunities for savings and effi-
ciency improvements in order to develop the appropriate 
measures. Our aim is to make our plants as energy efficient 
as possible and to minimise the use of primary energy.

 E1-6 

Gross Scopes 1, 2, 3 and total GHG emissions

Our direct and indirect greenhouse gas emissions are 
recorded – and subsequently allocated to the individual 
categories (scopes) – in accordance with the standards 
set by the Greenhouse Gas Protocol (GHG Protocol) of 
the World Resources Institute (WRI). In line with the 
CSRD approach and the guidelines for the calculation of 
ESRS E1, the perimeter of application for the calculation 

previous energy audit. First analyses show that there is 
a potential for optimisation, above all in the use of waste 
heat in our combined heat and power plants.

Our continious activities also contain the creation of 
a greater awareness among our employees for energy- 
conserving behaviour. We want to reduce travel by 
our employees through the increased use of video 
 conferences and webinars, and e-vehicles are used for 
 business trips as far as possible.

As a responsible energy provider, we use a variety of 
initiatives to communicate the conscious use of energy 
to our customers. We carry out energy advising, offer 
the option to use bonus points as a financial incentive 
for the purchase of more energy efficient products 
(e. g. white goods) and provide energy savings tips on 
our website, in our service centres and as a supporting 
action at other information events.

Further measures

Our commitment to climate change mitigation is not 
limited to the above measures. The following initiatives 
and  strategic approaches are also part of our focus:

• Active participation in innovation, development 
and research projects

• Use of alternative drive vehicles, e. g. e-cars
• Increase in the share of renewable energies in 

EVN‘s product mix in all three core markets
• Construction of processing plants for the 

 production of biogas
• Support for the transformation of the natural 

gas networks to renewable gas and hydrogen
• Conversion of existing natural gas-driven 

 electricity generation plants to renewable gas

 E1-5 

Energy consumption and mix

2023/24 2022/23

Total energy consumption MWh 4,898,937 5,188,644

Share of fossil sources in total energy consumption % 48.2 54.3

Energy consumption from fossil sources MWh 2,359,181 2,818,876

Fuel consumption from crude oil and petroleum products MWh 67,757 72,671

Fuel consumption from natural gas MWh 1,332,153 1,769,478

Fuel consumption from other fossil sources MWh 770,419 794,448

Consumption of purchased or acquired electricity, heat, 
steam and cooling from fossil sources MWh 188,852 182,278

Share of renewable sources in total energy consumption % 51.8 45.7

Energy consumption from renewable sources MWh 2,539,755 2,369,769

Fuel consumption for renewable sources incl. biomass 
(also industrial and municipal waste of biological origin), 
biofuels, biogas, hydrogen from renewable sources MWh 2,395,858 2,226,440

Consumption of purchased or acquired electricity, heat, 
steam and cooling from renewable sources MWh 142,489 141,892

Consumption of self-generated, non-fuel renewable energy MWh 1,408 1,437
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ecoinvent beginning with the 2023/24 financial year 
(and retroactively for the 2022/23 and 2021/22 financial 
years). For North Macedonia and Bulgaria, country-spe-
cific emission factors based on national energy statistics 
and the resulting energy mix of the respective country 
were used. This adjustment was made to increase trans-
parency and provide a better overview of the rapidly 
changing energy market environment.

The market-based approach for our own energy 
 consumption in all countries is determined primarily by 
the respective supplier mix. If the mix is not known, 
CO2e factors from the Association of Issuing Bodies (AIB) 
are used in Austria, Bulgaria, Germany, Croatia, Slovenia 
and Cyprus. ecoinvent factors are used for the location- 
based approach in these countries. In North  Macedonia, 
country- specific emission factors are used for both 
approaches – similar to the calculation of network losses – 
due to the lack of market-based data. Location- based 
factors from the Electricity Map are used for both ap- 
proaches in Russia, also due to the lack of market-based 
data. The Electricity Map supports the calculation 
of CO2e emissions from a country’s actual electricity 
consumption.

Scope 3 emissions

Scope 3 emissions cover all indirect greenhouse gas 
emissions (apart from the emissions included under 
Scope 2) which result from the business activities of a 
company along its value chain and whose sources 
lie outside the company’s control. The GHG protocol 
defines 15 categories of activities to which these 
 emissions can be allocated. 

CO2e emissions are calculated with the standard heating 
value and standard emission factors from the national 
greenhouse gas inventories. If standard values are not 
available, the emissions are determined on the basis of 
fuel analyses. Other biogenic CO2 emissions are calcu-
lated separately according to a similar procedure, but are 
not included in Scope 1 emissions as required by the 
GHG Protocol methodology.

The absolute sum of the direct greenhouse gas emis-
sions (Scope 1) in 2023/24 equalled 792,949 tCO2e and 
was 11.5% below the comparable prior year value 
(895,598 tCO2e). This reduction resulted primarily from 
the lower use of the Theiss power plant to support 
network stability.

Scope 2 emissions

Scope 2 emissions are indirect greenhouse gas emissions 
from purchased energy. At EVN, these emissions result 
from the following:

• Network losses in EVN’s electricity network 
• Use of purchased fossil secondary energy carriers 

(for the own energy consumption of electricity, 
heat and cooling)

In accordance with the methodology prescribed by the 
GHG Protocol, we report our Scope 2 emissions accord-
ing to two approaches – namely a location- based and 
a market-based approach. 

The calculation of network losses for Austria under both 
approaches was based on the CO2e factor issued by 

 E1-5 

Energy generation by energy carrier

GWh 2023/24 2022/23

Total energy generation 6,221 6,177

Total electricity generation 3,352 3,367

Electricity generation from renewables 2,857 2,712

Wind power 1,168 824

Hydropower 942 1,263

Hydropower (at-equity)1) 407 382

Photovoltaics 82 43

Biomass 113 82

Biomass (at-equity)1) 14 11

Other (incl. thermal waste utilisation) 131 107

Electricity generation from non-renewables 495 655

Natural gas 287 468

Other (thermal waste utilisation) 208 187

Total heat generation 2,869 2,810

Heat generation from renewables 874 755

Biomass 874 755

Heat generation from non-renewables 1,995 2,055

Natural gas 734 794

Heating oil 14 19

Other (thermal waste utilisation, heat pumps) 1,247 1,242

%

Coverage ratio1) 19.6 16.4

Share of renewable energy in total generation1) 84.4 77.0

1) Company-specific indicator
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fuels are based on data provided by the Austrian 
Environ mental Agency.

Category 3.11 (natural gas sales to end customers): 
We use the CO2e factors from the national greenhouse 
gas inventory issued by the Austrian Federal Ministry 
for Climate Action, Environment, Energy, Mobility, 
 Innovation and Technology.

Category 3.15: The data (Scope 1 and 2 emissions as a 
proportion of the investment held) from the involved 
companies (Verbund, RAG, Zagrebačke otpadne vode, 
Burgenland Holding, Fernwärme Mariazellerland, 
 Bioenergie Steyr, Fernwärme St. Pölten, EVN KG, 

The greenhouse gas emissions in the individual Scope 3 
categories were calculated as follows beginning with the 
2023/24 financial year (and retroactively for the 2022/23 
and 2021/22 financial years):

Electricity sales volumes to end customers based on 
purchased electricity (Category 3.3): The calculation 
reflects the methodology used to determine the 
 emissions from network losses under Scope 2.

CO2e emissions arising in the upstream value chain 
through the consumption of primary energy carriers 
(Cate gory 3.3): The ecoinvent factors are used for 
all combustibles except for fuels. The factors for 

In line with the methodology prescribed by the GHG Pro-
tocol, we report our Scope 3 emissions according to the 
most commonly applied criterion – the share of the 
respective category of total emissions. We therefore 
only report the categories of our Scope 3 emissions that 
represent more than 5% of total Scope 3 emissions.

At EVN, Scope 3 emissions result from the following:

• Electricity sales to end customers and the share 
of CO2e emissions in the supply chain (upstream) 
which result from the primary energy carriers 
used by EVN (Category 3.3)

• Natural gas sales to end customers (Category 3.11)
• Investments (Category 3.15)

 E1-6 

Greenhouse gas emissions1)

tCO2e 2023/24 2022/23

Scope 1 – Direct GHG gross emissions – total 792,949 895,598

thereof from fully consolidated companies 792,724 895,403

thereof from joint ventures and unconsolidated subsidiaries (OC) 225 195

thereof from regulated emission trading systems (in %) 25.5 33.5

thereof from electricity generating plants2) 178,133 272,474

Scope 2 – Indirect GHG emissions (location-based) – total 957,859 1,101,095

thereof from fully consolidated companies 957,555 1,100,793

thereof from joint ventures and unconsolidated subsidiaries (OC) 304 303

Scope 2 – Indirect GHG emissions (market-based) – total 914,175 1,055,545

thereof from fully consolidated companies 913,710 1,055,309

thereof from joint ventures and unconsolidated subsidiaries (OC) 465 235

Scope 3 – Other indirect GHG emissions 6,169,244 7,505,859

thereof upstream – 3.3 Fuel and energy-related activities 
(not included in Scope 1 or Scope 2) 5,369,915 6,542,519

thereof downstream – 3.11 Use of sold products 21,977 24,168

thereof downstream – 3.15 Investments3) 771,352 939,172

Total greenhouse gas emissions by the EVN Group (location-based approach) 7,920,052 9,502,553

Total greenhouse gas emissions by the EVN Group (market-based approach) 7,876,368 9,457,002

1) In accordance with CSRD requirements, emissions are also included from companies over which the EVN Group exercises operational control.

2) Company-specific indicator

3) In accordance with CSRD requirements, part of reporting for the first time in 2023/24 

 E1-6 

Greenhouse gas intensity 

tCO2e/EURm 2023/24 2022/23 Change in %

Greenhouse gas emissions (location-based) per net revenue 2,411.1 2,504.8 –3.7

Greenhouse gas emissions (market-based) per net revenue 2,397.7 2,492,8 –3.8

 E1-6 

Reconciliation to financial reporting

EURm 2023/24 2022/23

Net revenue used to calculate greenhouse gas intensity 3,284.9 3,793.8

Net revenue (total of included companies over which 
EVN exercises operational control) 28.3 25.1

Total net revenue (as per consolidated financial statements) 3,256.6 3,768.7
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CO2 emission certificates

The CO2e emissions from ten of our plants for electricity 
and heat generation are covered by the EU Emissions 
Trading System due to their capacity. The gas-fired power 
plant in Theiss was under contract during the 2023/24 
financial year to provide the Austrian transmission net-
work operator with 470 MW of reserve capacity to man-
age shortages. CO2 emission certificates were, therefore, 
only required that year for electricity production at the 
gas-fired plant in Theiss to cover the volumes actually 
drawn by the Austrian transmission network operator to 
support network stability. We purchased all the required 
emission certificates as well as those required to cover 
heat production on the wholesale  market in accordance 
with the applicable regulations. 

In accordance with the EU Emissions Trading System, 
we required 239,485 CO2 emission certificates in the 
2023 calendar year – whereby 34.5% were allocated 
free of charge.

 EnergieAllianz) are transmitted to EVN. In accordance 
with ESRS requirements, our reporting also includes 
the proportional share of Scope 1 and 2 emissions from 
RAG (as a company on our value chain) as well as the 
respective investment-based share of Scope 3 emissions. 
The volume of emissions from EnergieAllianz are not yet 
included in reporting for the 2023/24 financial year.

All other Scope 3 categories: Data was also collected to 
serve as an assessment base for the evaluation of materi-
ality. Detailed calculations were carried out in 2023/24, 
especially for categories 3.1 and 3.2, to determine the 
amount of emissions. However, the analysis led to the 
designation of both categories as immaterial. Travel 
by EVN employees (Category 3.6) was excluded from 
reporting beginning with the 2023/24 financial year 
(and retroactively for the 2022/23 and 2021/22 financial 
years) because the related amounts are immaterial.
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 ESRS E2 

Pollution

We are aware of the impacts of our activities on the 
environment and take our responsibility for the protec-
tion of natural resources very seriously. EVN’s business 
activities – above all our thermal energy generation 
plants – carry an inherent risk of emissions into the air, 
water and soil that can have negative impacts on the 
environment and, in turn, on the local population. Avail-
able resources are therefore handled carefully with a 
view towards minimising consumption because we want 
to make our products and services as environmentally 
compatible as possible. We are committed to compliance 
with all relevant environmental laws, regulations and 
standards. Our goal is to not only fulfil but – wherever 
possible – to exceed these requirements.

 ESRS 2 IRO-1 

Description of the processes to identify and 
assess material pollution-related impacts,  
risks and opportunities

Material negative effects in the EVN Group were identified 
in connection with ESRS E2 (Pollution). The emission of 
inorganic pollutants and air pollutants – on the one hand, 
through thermal energy generation in our company and, 
on the other hand, through energy consumption in our 
supply chain – leads to air pollution. The costs for neces-
sary technical improvements and/or upgrades to equip-
ment and infrastructure to meet stricter emission limits 
represent an economic risk for the EVN Group.

The identification and collection of data on environ-
mentally relevant emissions in the air, water and soil for 
the 2023/24 financial year were based on an analysis 
of existing data and metrics as well as the collection of 
new data. Data on potential pollutants was collected in 
all areas of the EVN Group. The extent of the existing 
pollutants was evaluated in accordance with the Euro-
pean Pollutant Release and Transfer Register (E-PRTR), 
which establishes the relevant pollutant quantities and 
thresholds for the energy sector. If the defined thresh-
olds are or were exceeded, the related emissions are 
included in internal reporting. This is followed by the 
identification of the causes and evaluation of measures.

 E2-1 

Policies related to pollution

The subject of pollution and our commitment to appro-
priate protective measures represent an integral part of 
various corporate documents issued by the EVN Group.

The EVN Group’s sustainability guideline

The sustainability guideline issued by the EVN Group 
anchors our general commitment to management 
based on sustainability principles as well as our goal to 
minimise negative impacts on air, water and soil during 
our business activities and to use natural resources 
responsibly. These activities are accompanied by envi-
ronmentally compatible waste management and the 
preservation of natural habitats for flora and fauna in 
the areas surrounding our plants and projects. The 
production and distribution of energy include respect 
for the landscape through local network cabling and 
route optimisation. Our plants are built according to 
state-of-the-art environmental technologies, whereby 
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Material impacts

 – Emissions of inorganic pollutants within 

or below emission levels based on BAT

 – Emissions of pollutants into the air from 

thermal energy generation and the use of 

energy in the supply chain

Material risks

 – Costs for the technical upgrading or 

refurbishment of plants or infrastructure

Policies for the EVN Group

 • Sustainability guideline

 • Policy to prevent and reduce 

 environmental pollution

Actions and targets

 • ABC analysis

 • Current status of environmental 

 technology (BAT)

 • Environmental management and  

c ertifications

 • Goals for the reduction of CO2 emissions

 • Goals for the reduction of further 

 emissions into the air in preparation 

for 2024/25



The sustainability guideline and the policy to prevent 
and reduce pollution are binding documents for the entire 
EVN Group. They were approved by the Executive Board 
and presented to the Supervisory Board. Both documents 
are available to the general public on our website.

 For the policy to prevent and reduce pollution in the 

EVN Group, also see www.evn.at/policy_E2

 E2-2 

Actions and resources related to pollution

The impacts of our plants on the environment are 
 examined within the framework of regular measure-
ments and collection of evidence in the air and water.

ABC analysis

We analyse and evaluate the direct and indirect environ-
mental impacts of our power plants annually as part 
of an ABC analysis which covers the following aspects: 
air, water, wastewater, waste, soil, land usage, resource 
and energy consumption, noise, vibrations, radioactivity 
and biodiversity. This analysis examines the environmen-
tal impact of the plants and their environmental relevance 
under normal operations and during disruptions as well 
as opportunities for improvement. Through compliance 
with regulations and the related measures, we manage 
and work to minimise or continuously reduce the result-
ing negative impacts.

The most important direct environmental impacts of  
our thermal energy generation plants arise from the air 
pollutants NOX, dust, CO and SO2.

particular consideration is given to the modernisation 
of existing plants and new construction at previously 
used sites. Through the use of high-tech systems, 
we guarantee compliance with all legal regulations 
and official requirements. We are also committed to 
the continuous improvement of our  environmental 
performance.

 For the sustainability guideline, also see 

www.evn.at/sustainability-guideline

Policy to prevent and reduce pollution  
in the EVN Group

EVN issued a Group-wide policy in 2023/24 to prevent 
and reduce pollution. It is based on our commitment  
and activities to protect and prevent negative impacts  
on the environment. The policy serves as a binding 
guideline for our efforts to identify, assess and manage 
the material environmental impacts, risks and opportuni-
ties related to the air, water and soil. It summarises the 
material impacts, risks and opportunities of our business 
activities in connection with potential environmental 
pollution and defines the regulations and guidelines for 
the identification and recording of relevant pollutants. 
The following principles of conduct guide us and apply 
to all our business activities: continuous improvements  
to reduce  environmental impacts, continuous monitoring 
and management of our emissions, the application of 
the mitigation hierarchy principle to prevent or optimally 
minimise our emissions, and preventative measures. This 
policy confirms our commitment to the development  
of measures and goals for transparent and open com-
munications with our stakeholders and the creation of 
a greater awareness among our employees.

Current status of environmental  
technology (BAT)

The use of the best available technologies (BAT), for 
example modern burners and efficient flue gas cleaning 
equipment, helps us to minimise the influence of our 
plants on the environment through air emissions.

Air emission values can be improved, among others, 
through the revitalisation and replacement of existing 
boilers and e-filters as well as the conversion to   
low-NOX burners.

We rely on effective technical measures to prevent and 
reduce the noise from mechanical processes. Examples 
are the use of low-noise machines and aggregates as 
well as acoustic insulation.

Upgrading of SNCR plant  
(Selective Non-Catalytic Reduction)

The injection of reducing agents like ammoniac or urea 
into hot waste gas flows through the SNCR denitrifica-
tion process can convert NOX emissions into nitrogen 
and water.  

Expansion of Power2Heat

Power2Heat equipment links the electricity and district 
heating networks, similar to the principle used by an 
electric warm water boiler, to intelligently use surplus 
energy in a climate friendly manner. This will help to 
reduce the use of fossil fuels for district heat generation 
over the long term.

Biomonitoring with Welsh ryegrass

Various procedures of biomonitoring are able to register 
numerous air pollutants simultaneously. Cultures of 
Welsh ryegrass are used Europe-wide in a standardised 
process for heavy metal analyses.

To identify and record impacts on the environment caused 
by emission of pollutants of our activities, we engage 
certified institutions to measure these impacts at three 
locations. These analyses identify the burden caused by 
inorganic materials like lead, cadmium or zinc as well as 
polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, PCB and HCB.

Environmental management and certifications

EVN has operated environmental management systems 
on a voluntary basis since 1995 and has thereby commit-
ted itself to improve environmental performance.

 For an overview of the European norms applied in the 

EVN Group, see ESRS 2 BP-2, page 14f

All our ISO-certified locations are subject to internal and 
external audits that include the preparation, implemen-
tation and monitoring of improvement programmes. 
Similar programmes are also developed for our EMAS- 
certified equipment as part of the annual audits that also 
cover the evaluation and implementation of the goals 
set in the previous financial year. Information and the 
latest environmental metrics for the audited locations are 
provided in the annual environmental declarations and 
are also available to the general public on the websites 
of our Group companies.

 Also see www.evn.at/waerme and  

www.evn.at/waermekraftwerke
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 application for the calculation of emissions not 
only includes fully consolidated companies but also 
companies over which the EVN Group exercises 
operational control. The prior year values were 
adjusted to reflect this requirement and to improve 
comparability.  

 For details on this expanded reporting circle, also see 

ESRS 2 BP-1 (scope of consolidation), page 13

We review and analyse the potential impacts of each 
of the three categories – air, water and soil pollution – 
each year. Our business activities led us to identify air 
emissions, in particular, as material and to include these 
emissions in our reporting.

Our air emissions in the form of nitrogen oxide (NOX) 
exceed the E-PRTR prescribed threshold of 100,000 kg 
per year in thermal plants and in our waste utilisation 
plants.

 E2-3 

Targets related to pollution

Reduction of air pollutants

Based on a regular survey of indicators and the calcula-
tion of threshold values under E-PRTR, we have identified 
air emissions, in particular, as an area with a need for 
action. Air emissions arise as part of our own business 
activities – the generation of energy and thermal waste 
and sewage sludge utilisation – and also from the use 
of energy in our supply chain. We therefore plan to 
develop further reduction goals for our air emissions, 
especially nitrogen oxide, starting in 2024/25.

 E2-4 

Pollution of air, water and soil 

In line with the CSRD approach and the guidelines 
for the calculation of ESRS E2, the perimeter of 

 E2-4 

Significant emissions  
by the EVN Group1)

2023/24 2022/232)

in t
Total emissions by 

the EVN Group

Emissions as per 
ESRS standard 

(E-PRTR 
threshold value)3)

Total emissions by 
the EVN Group

Emissions as per 
ESRS standard 

(E-PRTR 
threshold value)3)

Emissions of air pollutants

Nitrogen oxide (NOx) 870 414 874 439

Dust (PM10) 36 – 41 –

Carbon monoxide (CO) 439 – 445 –

Sulphur dioxide (SO2) 80 – 75 –

1) In accordance with CSRD requirements, emissions are also included from companies over which the EVN Group exercises operational control.

2) Adjustment of the values from 2022/23 to reflect the requirements for the scope of consolidation in 2023/24.

3) Emissions from the plants that exceed the release thresholds specified in Annex II of the E-PRTR Regulation.
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We realise that sustainable and climate-neutral water 
management focused on the preservation of the natural 
water cycle is a key requirement for the protection of 
high-quality water reserves for future generations. As an 
energy and environmental services provider, EVN makes 
an important contribution to reaching the sustainability 
goal for “Clean water and sanitation“ set by the United 
Nations through its consequent, sustainability-oriented 
management.

 ESRS 2 IRO-1 

Description of the processes to identify and 
assess material water and marine resources- 
related impacts, risks and opportunities

The material water-related impacts, risks and opportuni-
ties related to our business activities were identified as 
part of the materiality analysis by way of a LEAP process 
(Locate,  Evaluate, Assess, Prepare).

This process involved a detailed screening of EVN’s 
plants as well as our water-related activities. It started 
with an analysis of our locations concerning water stress 
and water risk areas. The determination of water stress 
areas was based on the WRI Water Risk Atlas and the 
identification of water risk areas on the WWF Water 
Risk Filter. In the 2023/24 financial year, this analysis led 
to the identification of various EVN locations with 
water-relevant plants as water stress areas: in Bulgaria 
(one cogeneration plant), Germany (three plants for 
wastewater treatment and two plants for thermal 
 sewage sludge utilisation), Kuwait (one plant for waste-
water treatment), North Macedonia (13 hydropower 
plants and one plant each for wastewater treatment 
and  thermal sewage sludge utilisation), and Cyprus 
(three wastewater treatment plants).

The next phase involved an assessment of the impacts 
and dependencies. Physical, regulatory and reputation 
risks for the respective river basins, water-related 

 corporate metrics and the ENCORE tool were the main 
factors for this part of the analysis. ENCORE (Exploring 
Natural Capital Opportunities, Risks and Exposure) is 
a web-based tool that was developed to better under-
stand and visualise the impacts of environmental 
changes on the economy. It supports, in particular, the 
determination of dependencies and the interaction 
between our business activities/processes and nature. 
Based on a combined view of the individual geographi-
cal locations and their respective business activities, 
a priority ranking was prepared for our locations und 
business activities as regards water-related impacts, 
risks and opportunities. This ranking will be evaluated 
annually by an internal expert committee as part of the 
materiality analysis.

The analysis will be expanded in the coming years to also 
cover our upstream and downstream value chain.

 For ESRS 2 IRO-1: Description of the processes to identify and 

assess material risks and opportunities, also see page 31ff

For the EVN Group, this analysis identified material 
 positive and negative impacts as well as risks. The with-
drawal of water resources for drinking water supplies to 
our customers contributes to the reduction of ground-
water supplies in the involved areas. A demographical or 
climate-related increase in withdrawals and the resulting 
lower availability of groundwater represents a risk for 
the continuous and reliable supply of drinking water in 
constant high quality. Positive impacts result from our 
treatment plants which return purified, clean water into 
 existing ecosystems. This is highly relevant, above all, 
for areas with a water shortage.

As the vast majority of our water withdrawal is returned 
to the environment, water consumption by the 
EVN Group does not represent a material quantity. 

 ESRS E3 

Water and 
marine resources Material impacts

 – Reduction of groundwater through 

 withdrawal for drinking water supplies

 + Return of water to ecosystems following 

wastewater treatment

 + Reduction of freshwater consumption  

through wastewater treatment for 

 agricultural uses in water shortage areas

Material risks

 – Reduced availability of groundwater for 

drinking water supplies

Policies for the EVN Group

 • Strategy 2030

 • Sustainability guideline

 • Policy on sustainable water management

Material actions and goals

 • Wastewater treatment at own locations

 • Restorations of drinking water supply 

 pipelines

 • Construction of new cross-regional 

 transportation pipelines

 • Expansion of drinking water storage 

 possibilities and well fields

 • Improvement of the water quality  

through the construction of waste-

water  treatment plants
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Both the sustainability guideline and the policy on 
 sustainable water management are binding documents 
for the entire EVN Group. They were approved by the 
Executive Board and submitted to the Supervisory Board. 
Both documents are available to the general public on 
our website.

 For additional information on the prevention and reduction 

of environmental pollution, also see E2-2, page 72f

 For the policy on sustainable water management in the 

EVN Group, also see www.evn.at/policy_E3

 For the policy on the prevention and reduction of environ-

mental pollution, also see www.evn.at/policy_E2

 E3-2 

Actions and resources related to water resources

EVN uses the resource water for household purposes 
(e. g. in sanitary facilities) or as process water (e. g. in 
heat networks or for lubrication). We draw the required 
volumes from municipal drinking water supplies or from 
our own groundwater wells. The cooling water for our 
plant operations comes from surface water.

As mentioned above, water plays an important role for 
our company in another context – namely the supply of 
drinking water. Our subsidiary EVN Wasser is responsible 
for this business area in Lower Austria.

Drinking water supplies in the international project 
 business are managed by WTE. This company is active in 
the construction and operation of wastewater treatment 
and wastewater disposal plants. Since the focus of the 
EVN Group will be placed on the core energy business in 
the future, further strategic options are currently being 
evaluated for this business area.

water quality, the maintenance of an equilibrium 
between water supply and withdrawal, the prevention 
of pipeline losses, and the return of treated wastewater 
into the water cycle. The EVN locations that lie in water 
stress areas undergo additional analyses that serve as 
the basis for our measures to prevent negative impacts 
on the regional water balance.

 For the sustainability guideline, also see 

www.evn.at/sustainability-guideline

Policy on sustainable water management  
in the EVN Group

To make water management in the EVN Group even 
more sustainable, we issued a group-wide policy on this 
topic during the 2023/24 financial year. It defines the 
principles and action lines that form the basis to monitor, 
control and reduce our water consumption in order to 
preserve the natural water cycle. This policy underscores 
our commitment to continuous innovation and the 
improvement of environmental practices in our own 
business activities as well as our commitment to cooper-
ation with our stakeholders wherever possible. Continu-
ous water management in the EVN Group encompasses 
the definition of concrete goals and the related metrics 
together with regular monitoring and audits. The policy 
also includes our principles of conduct related to water 
consumption, supply security for drinking water, waste-
water treatment, water purification and energy genera-
tion from hydropower. With this policy, we commit to 
transparent and open communications with our stake-
holders and the creation of a greater awareness among 
our employees. Preventing and reducing the contamina-
tion of water resources is part of the guideline to prevent 
and reduce environmental pollution. 

Marine resources are generally identified as not material 
due to the geographic locations of the EVN Group. 
Consequently, all further information on this standard 
is related solely to water resources.

 E3-1 

Policies related to water resources

The topic water resources and our commitment to 
 protective measures are included in various important 
corporate documents issued by the EVN Group:

Strategy 2030

The Strategy 2030 was developed during the 2019/20 
financial year in a group-wide process and in close 
 coordination with the Supervisory Board. It defines 
drinking water supplies in Lower Austria as a material 
focal point. This also covers the development of new 
drinking water sources and the construction of natural 
filter plants to reduce the hardness of the water by 
 natural means as well as the expansion of infrastructure 
and cross-regional pipeline networks to consistently 
provide our customers with drinking water in sufficient 
quantities and constant quality.

 For the Strategy 2030, see page 24ff

Sustainability guideline of the EVN Group

The sustainability guideline of the EVN Group anchors 
our general commitment to sustainability-oriented man-
agement and, in turn, to sustainable, climate-neutral 
water management. Our focus is on the protection of 

The measures taken in 2023/24 to prevent or reduce our 
identified negative impacts on water resources and to 
protect these resources are not only limited to that 
reporting year. They generally involve projects or meas-
ures which are ongoing or cover a period of several 
years, for example: 

Wastewater treatment at our own locations

All of our material household wastewater is cleaned in 
municipal treatment plants before it is released into the 
surface water. The wastewater flows from our plants are 
tested for its quality in accordance with legal require-
ments and, after the necessary processing to prevent 
relevant adverse effects, are returned to the water cycle 
according to the applicable environmental norms. In the 
markets where we are active, direct discharge into the 
surface water is subject to legal regulations and con-
trolled by water legislation – which, for example, require 
standardised measurements at every discharge point. The 
water profile in the discharge zone is tested in accordance 
with the EU’s Water Framework Directive, which requires 
the determination of various parameters like the tempera-
ture, pH value, total nitrogen, copper and zinc. If the type 
or volume of the wastewater flows at one of our loca-
tions in Austria deviates from ordinary household waste-
water, we conclude a contract with a treatment plant 
operator based on the Indirect Discharge Regulation 
where a connection is available. These contracts include 
detailed rules for the allowed wastewater volume, the 
allowed material contents, and the required wastewater 
tests. We arrange for the regular analysis of our waste-
water flows by accredited testing laboratories and moni-
tor all municipal requirements for the discharge tempera-
ture of cooling water.
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 E3-3 

Targets related to water resources

Based on the analysis of our material impacts, risks and 
opportunities in connection with water resource, the 
EVN Group‘s related targets focus primarily on the key 
area of drinking water supplies for our customers. The 
areas in which we supply drinking water are not water 
risk areas and do not lie in regions with high water 
stress. Consequently, these targets do not represent 
legal requirements but were defined by EVN.

Ensuring constantly low water loss in the 
cross-regional drinking water supply network

In accordance with our principles for efficient water use, 
our goal is to keep the water loss in the cross-regional 
drinking water supply network at a constantly low level, 
specifically in the low single-digit percentage range. 
This target is met by the regular detection of leaks and 
appropriate repairs together with monitoring and con-
trols through continuous measurements.

Long-term guarantee of drinking water supply 
security for our customers

The drinking water supply business is dependent on 
the quantitative and qualitative availability of ground-
water. We rely on a range of continuous measures – 
see E3-2 on page 75f – to provide our customers with 
reliable supplies of drinking water in consistently good 
quality.

Improvement of the water quality through  
the construction of wastewater treatment 
plants

Our Group company WTE is also responsible for the 
construction and operation of wastewater treatment 
plants in the international project business which 
make a major contribution to the water quality in the 
 respective regions. The process water is used in part 
for irrigation in agricultural operations and, in that way, 
conserves groundwater resources. This is particularly 
relevant in water stress areas like Kuwait, Cyprus and 
Bahrain where WTE is also active. The sewage sludge 
resulting from the wastewater treatment is also utilised.

 For additional information on sewage sludge utilisation,  

see E5-2, page 83f

Revitalisation of the Petronell Au

EVN Wasser, the Donau-Auen National Park and viadonau 
have joined together in a project to revitalise a Danube 
riverbed system in Petronell. This project will implement 
ecological and water management improvements and 
support the expansion of the local well field. The increase 
of ancillary groundwater flows through the linkage of 
water routes is designed to improve the regional eco-
system and support the sustainable, long-term protection 
of water supplies for Austria’s Industrieviertel and parts 
of the Weinviertel region in Lower Austria.

 For additional information on the Petronell Au revitalisation 

project, also see www.evn.at/PetronellerAu (German only)

supplies for the entire Waldviertel region. The first section 
of construction was commissioned in 2022, the second 
section is supposed to be completed in spring 2025. Start 
of construction for the third and last section was initiated 
in summer 2024. The entire connecting pipeline is 
expected to be completed by the end of 2025.

Expansion of drinking water storage possibilities

Plans to manage consumption peaks include the 
 expansion of storage possibilities in existing elevated 
tanks or the construction of additional elevated tanks.

Expansion of existing and development of  
new well fields

To be prepared for future developments like population 
growth or climate change – and a related increase in 
the demand for water – we are working on numerous 
individual projects to expand existing or develop new 
well fields.

Construction of natural filter plants

EVN Wasser is constructing natural filter plants in its 
supply area to improve quality by reducing the hardness 
of the water through natural means without the addi-
tion of chemicals. The seventh plant of this type was 
commissioned during April 2024 in Obersulz. Until 2030 
the construction of two further plants is scheduled. 
Construction for one of these plants in Reisenberg has 
already commenced.

Restoration of drinking water supply pipelines

Measures to restore drinking water supply pipelines are 
implemented regularly in the local network areas and 
also in our cross-regional supply pipelines.

Regular measurements provide information on the 
 volume losses in the individual local networks. Any 
leaks are located and repaired to reduce the water 
loss. The success of these measures is verified by 
 subsequent measurements.

Water losses in the cross-regional transport pipeline 
network are controlled with the preparation of a 
monthly water balance, which compares the network 
feed-in volumes with the network output volumes at 
the transfer meters. An increase in water losses triggers 
countermeasures to keep these losses constantly low.

Construction of new cross-regional  
transportation pipelines

Through the planning and construction of transport 
pipelines, we create a balance between the different 
availability of regional water resources in Lower Austria 
and, at the same time, increase supply security to man-
age the possible failure of individual local resources. This 
allows us to guarantee the optimal distribution of drink-
ing water from our wells and elevated tanks – also when 
the demand for water increases and available ground water 
supplies are declining. One major project currently in pro-
gress involves the construction of a 60 km cross- regional 
transport pipeline from Krems to Zwettl. This connecting 
pipeline is intended to provide secure, long-term water 
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60 km of cross-regional transport pipelines from 
2024 to 2030.

The implementation of the related measures on which 
these targets are based is dependent on the receipt 
of the necessary official permits.

Until 2030 and consequently until 2035 the storage 
possibilities for drinking waters are to be increased 
by 5% respectivly 10% compared to 2024. Until 2035 
we also plan to expand four existing and develop 
one further well fields. The linkage of water routes 
will also be increased by the further expansion of 

 E3-4 

Water consumption1)

m m³ 2023/24

Water withdrawals total2) 140.0

thereof by source

Surface water 60.6

Groundwater3) 44.3

Third-party water 35.0

thereof from areas at water risk

Surface water –

Groundwater 0.6

Third-party water 26.1

Water discharges total2) 139.4

thereof by destination

Surface water 101.6

Water discharge to third parties (e. g. municipal wastewater treatment)3) 34.4

brought to seepage 3.4

thereof from areas at water risk

Surface water 26.0

municipal wastewater treatment 0.1

brought to seepage 0.4

1) Due to adjustment of methodology no report of prior year's values.

2) All of the water withdrawn and released is fresh water.

3) Also includes drinking water supplies by EVN Wasser

 E3-4 

Water consumption

Tsd. m3 2023/24

Total water consumption 554.6

Total water consumption in areas at water risk, including areas of high-water stress 172.9

Total water recycled and reused –

Total water stored 270.0

 E3-4 

Water intensity

m³/m EUR 2023/24

Total water consumption per net revenue 170.3

 E3-4 

Water consumption

All material flow rates for the water resources used in 
operations are based on measurements.

The calculation methodologies used to record water 
consumption were revised during the 2023/24 financial 
year in connection with preparations for CSRD report-

ing requirements. Therefore, individual water flows 
could be recorded in greater detail than in previous 
years. The retrospective adjustment of prior year values 
is not possible due to the change in methodology and, 
as a result, comparative values are not provided for 
the 2022/23 financial year. A direct comparison with 
prior year values is also not meaningful due to the 
adjustment of the scope of consolidation to reflect 
CSRD requirements.
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 ESRS E4 

Biodiversity and 
ecosystems

We are aware that our activities have an impact on 
 ecosystems and biodiversity and also realise that we are 
dependent on functioning and self-regulating ecosystem 
services. We therefore take our responsibility for the 
protection of natural resources very seriously and are 
committed to minimising the impact of all our business 
activities on nature. Our aim is to preserve and promote 
biodiversity and to integrate the vision of the United 
Nations for 2050 “Living in harmony with nature” in 
our management principles. We are committed to the 
protection of flora and fauna and the preservation of 
the natural habitats of animals and plants in the areas 
surrounding our plants and projects as well as the 
responsible realisation of construction projects and the 
careful operation of our plants. 

 ESRS 2 SBM-3 

Material impacts, risks and opportunities  
nd their interaction with strategy and  
business model 

In 2023/24, we analysed the potential negative 
impacts and dependencies of our business activities 
on areas with vulnerable biodiversity based on the 
LEAP approach. This process initially concentrated on 
the identification of EVN locations in various protected 
areas in Austria, Bulgaria, North Macedonia and 
 Germany. Our business activities were also evaluated 
with regard to potential negative impacts on biodiver-
sity. These potential impacts can be found in electricity 
generation from hydropower, wind power and photo-

voltaics, thermal energy generation, the transmission 
and distribution of electrical energy, and wastewater 
treatment.

  For a description of the processes to identify and  

assess the material impacts, risks and opportunities  

related to  biodiversity and ecosystems, see  

ESRS 2 IRO-1 on page 31ff

The analysis carried out in 2023/24 identified 60 loca-
tions where the interaction of location and business 
activities could have potential negative impacts on 
 biodiversity and ecosystems. The following table 
 provides an overview which is structured by business 
activity.

Material impacts

 – Loss of biodiversity as a result of climate change 

to which EVN’s GHG emissions contribute

 – Land use, ground sealing and threats to natural 

habitats through the construction of network 

infrastructure and energy generation plants

Material risks

 – Cancellation of projects due to social or municipal 

resistance or negative outcome of environmental 

impact assessments

 – Limitations resulting from new or increased legal 

regulations for species protection

Policies for the EVN Group

 • Sustainability guideline

 • Policy for the interaction with biodiversity  

and ecosystems in the EVN Group 

Material actions and goals

 • Construction of fish bypasses and adjustment of 

residual water volumes at hydropower plants

 • Reservoir monitoring at storage power plants

 • Creation of compensation areas

 • Deactivation of wind power plants at predefined 

environmental conditions for species protection

 • Semi-natural design of photovoltaic open area 

plants

 • Participation in and start of projects for bird 

protection
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 E4-5 

Biodiversity and ecosystems by business activity

Business activity Country Potential impact on biodiversity Potential dependence on ecosystem services Plants Nature reserves

Electricity generation from 

 hydropower

Austria • Freshwater ecosystems
• State of species

• Water cycle and water flows • 30 hydropower plants • Various Natura 2000 and landscape protection areas in Lower Austria
• Ötscher-Tormäuer nature park

North Macedonia • Freshwater ecosystems 
• State of species

• Water cycle and water flows • 2 small hydropower plants • Marka Canyon national nature reserve
• Shar Planina national park

Electricity generation from 

wind power

Austria • State of species • Wind flows • 1 wind park • Steinfeld bird sanctuary

Bulgaria • State of species • Wind flows • 1 wind park • Kaliakra bird sanctuary
• FFH area1) Kompleks Kaliakra
• Balchik nature reserve

Electricity generation from 

 photovoltaics

Bulgaria • Land-use changes
• Land connectivity

• Land geomorphology • 1 photovoltaic park • FFH area Grebenets

North Macedonia • Land-use changes
• Land connectivity

• Land geomorphology • 1 photovoltaic park • Mavrovo national nature reserve

Thermal energy generation Austria • Land-use changes 
• GHG emissions
• Environmental pollution

• Land geomorphology
• Water, flood and storm protection

• 8 district heating plants
• 1 heating plant

• Various FFH areas, bird sanctuaries and landscape protection areas  
in Lower Austria

• Wienerwald biosphere park

Transmission and distribution of 

 electrical energy

Austria • Land-use changes
• Land connectivity

• Land geomorphology
• Water, flood and storm protection

• 12 transformer stations
• Overhead power lines in the 

 distribution network2)

• Various FFH areas, bird sanctuaries and landscape protection areas  
in Lower Austria

Bulgaria • Land-use changes
• Land connectivity

• Land geomorphology
• Water, flood and storm protection

• Overhead power lines in the 
 distribution network 

• Various nature reserves

North Macedonia • Land-use changes
• Land connectivity

• Land geomorphology
• Water, flood and storm protection

• 1 transformer station
• Overhead power lines in the 

 distribution network2)

• Zastiten predel Gazi Baba national nature reserve

Wastewater treatment Germany • Land-use changes – • 2 wastewater treatment plants • Dahme-Heiresses landscape protection area
• Landscape protection area surrounding Windeck

1) FFH areas are special areas of conservation as defined by Directive 92/43/EEC (Fauna Flora Habitats Directive) in the individual member states of the European Union.

2) Overhead power lines are not located exclusively in the mentioned protected areas.
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 ESRS 2 IRO-1 

Description of processes to identify and assess 
material biodiversity and ecosystem-related 
impacts, risks, dependencies and opportunities

We use the LEAP approach (Locate, Evaluate, Assess, 
Prepare) to identify the material impacts and dependen-
cies of our locations on biodiversity und ecosystems as 
well as the related risks and opportunities. In 2023/24, 
we started a process to localise the EVN locations in 
biodiversity-sensitive areas. The data basis for defining 
these biodiversity-sensitive areas was provided by the 
World Database on Protected Areas (WDPA) issued 
monthly by the UN and IUCN (International Union for 
Conservation of Nature and Natural Resources). This 
database covers the following protected areas: 

• National nature reserves (landscape protection area)
• Natura 2000 (nature reserves within the European 

Union)
• Ramsar areas as defined by the Ramsar Convention 

(protection and sustainable use of wetlands)
• UNESCO World Heritage locations and areas

The geoinformation data for our locations was super-
imposed and evaluated with the WDPA data record. 
The result was a list of the locations in the EVN Group 
which are located within protected areas. 

In the next phase, we screened out business activities 
in 2023/24 together with external experts to identify 
material impacts, risks and opportunities. The Nature 
Capital Module tool developed by ENCORE was used for 
this purpose. It lists direct potential dependencies and 
the impacts of business activities on ecosystem services 
and natural assets. An individual assessment was then 

made in a workshop with internal stakeholders and on 
the basis of scientific studies. The following business 
activities in the EVN Group were identified as activities 
with material potential impacts on biodiversity:

• Energy generation in hydropower, wind power 
and photovoltaics plants

• Thermal energy generation
• Distribution and transmission of electricity via 

 overhead power lines
• Construction and operation of transformer stations
• Wastewater treatment

In a final step, the loss of biodiversity from greenhouse 
gas emissions was identified as a negative impact in 
the 2023/24 financial year. The use of land, ground 
sealing and the resulting loss of natural habitats through 
the construction of network infrastructure and energy 
generation plants also represents a negative impact. 
Risks for the EVN Group arise from social resistance to 
planned projects, negative approvals or an increase in 
legal requirements for the protection of species. 

This analysis will be carried out and evaluated annually in 
connection with the update of the materiality analysis.

Section ESRS 2 SBM-3 – Material impacts, risks and 
opportunities and their interaction with strategy and 
business model (page 78f) contains an overview of our 
locations in areas with vulnerable biodiversity. Appropri-
ate protective measures were defined and implemented 
for the construction and operation of these locations in 
line with the required actions, e. g. requirements arising 
from environmental impact assessments or legal regula-
tions. During the operation phase these measures are 
also subject to regular controls and internal reporting.

 E4-2 

Policies related to biodiversity and ecosystems 

The subject of biodiversity and ecosystems together 
with our commitment to ensure adequate protective 
measures can be found in various key documents issued 
by the EVN Group:

Sustainability guideline of the EVN Group

The sustainability guideline of the EVN Group anchors 
our general commitment to sustainably oriented 
 management and to the preservation, restoration and 
careful, sustainable use of biodiversity to protect eco-
systems for humans and animals. It gives priority to 
land recycling for new construction and our efforts to 
implement numerous initiatives and programmes for the 
protection of habitats and the preservation of endan-
gered species. Close cooperation with external experts 
from NGOs and public authorities help us to integrate 
requirements regarding biodiversity and ecosystems in 
the early design phase of our projects.

 For the sustainability guideline, also see  

www.evn.at/sustainability-guideline

Policy on the interaction with biodiversity and 
ecosystems in the EVN Group 

We issued a Group-wide policy in 2023/24 on the 
 interaction with biodiversity und ecosystems in the 
EVN Group. It covers climate change, environmental 
pollution and the use of land and freshwater as influenc-
ing factors and also addresses the state of species and 

ecosystems. The policy includes, among others, 
 principles of conduct for the mandatory inclusion of 
 biodiversity and the protection of ecosystems in all 
 internal decisions over projects, close cooperation with 
the responsible authorities and the procurement of 
 biomass from sustainable forestry operations. 

The enactment of the new policy marks the mandatory 
implementation of active biodiversity management 
throughout the EVN Group. It also includes the definition 
of goals and metrics for control and monitoring. Priority 
action lines for the protection of ecosystems and bio-
diversity define the Group’s requirements for the planning, 
construction and operation of plants. They apply, in 
particular, to our activities with material dependencies 
or effects on biodiversity, such as renewable energy 
generation, the expansion of network infrastructure and 
construction works. The policy also covers the active 
engagement with our stakeholders as well as open com-
munications and transparent reporting.

The sustainability guideline and the policy for the 
 interaction with biodiversity und ecosystems are binding 
for the entire EVN Group. They were approved by the 
Executive Board and submitted to the Supervisory Board. 
Both documents are available to the public on our 
 website.

 For the policy on the interaction with biodiversity and 

 ecosystems in the EVN Group, also see  

www.evn.at/policy_E4
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 E4-3 

Actions and resources related to biodiversity 
and ecosystems

Following is an excerpt of the list of measures we use 
to prevent or minimise potential negative impacts on 
bio diversity-sensitive areas at the material locations 
of the EVN Group as described under SBM-3 on 
page 79. 

Electricity generation from hydropower

• Construction of fish passes and adjustment of 

residual water volumes  
These measures were implemented on the basis of 
concrete requirements from the Austrian National 
Water Management Plan. They call for the creation 
of a passable watercourse through the construction 
of fish passes at specific river sections within a pre-
scribed period as well as sufficient residual water at 
diverted reaches. EVN is required to install four new 
fish passes at small hydropower plants operated 
by EVN Naturkraft in Austria by 2027 in accordance 
with the National Water Management Plan and must 
upgrade the fish passes at three other locations to 
meet the latest technical standards. The realisation 
of these projects is dependent on receipt of the 
necessary official permits.

• Reservoir monitoring at storage power plants  
Extensive annual biological, chemical and limnologi-
cal analyses of the EVN Naturkraft reservoirs support 
the continuous monitoring of parameters such as 
the pH value, water temperature, blue-green algae 
and oxygen saturation. 

• Participation in research projects  
For example, on sediment research and management, 
on fish protection and fish bypasses or the resettle-
ment of graylings in the central Kamp region

Electricity generation from wind power

• Creation of compensation areas  
For 20 of our wind parks (in operation or under 
construction), various types of wasteland, wetland 
or deadwood areas totalling over 200 hectares were 
created to serve as compensation for the loss of 
habitats. These areas are regionally connected with, 
but appropriately distant from the respective wind 
park. The target species include various birds, bats 
and gophers. The compensation areas will remain 
throughout the entire lifecycle of the wind parks. 
On-site inspections are carried out by external bio-
logists and ornithologists at officially required intervals 
to evaluate the suitability of the area and take stock 
of the species. The results and any new protective 
measures are recorded in a monitoring report. 

• Deactivation of plants at predefined 

 environmental conditions  
To minimise the risk of collisions for bats, certain 
wind turbines automatically shut down on certain 
days and at certain times at predefined wind 
speeds and air temperatures.

Electricity generation from photovoltaics

• Semi-natural design of photovoltaic open  

area plants 
Measures are implemented during the construction 
and operation of photovoltaic open area plants to 

minimise any impacts on biodiversity. They include, 
among others, the installation of special fences for 
small game, ecological construction supervision, 
management through grazing or mowing, the waiver 
of pesticides and fertilizers as well as the officially 
required planting with domestic seeds. Refuge and 
living areas for small mammals and reptiles are also 
created by installing piles of stones on the border 
areas.

Transmission and distribution of electrical energy

• Participation in the “Life Eurokite“ project 

(LIFE18NAT/AT/000048)  
This project represents a contribution to the imple-
mentation of the EU species action plan through the 
quantification and control of anthropogenic mortal-
ity in birds of prey. The participation in this project is 
interesting for EVN because it can help to identify 
problem zones for collision with overhead power lines. 
The findings are included in the planning and realisa-
tion of risky overhead power line cabling projects. 

• “Life safe grid for Burgas“ project  

(LIFE20NAT/BG/001234)  
This project was launched by our company, and 
EVN serves as the project coordinator. It involves 
the development of measures to protect birds in 
the wetlands in the region of the Burgas lakes in 
Bulgaria. Activities initially covered the collection of 
data on existing overhead power lines and a field 
study on the dangers of electric shocks and power 
line collisions for birds. The results were followed by 
various cabling projects for overhead power lines, 
securing procedures for power poles and the installa-
tion of further measures to divert birds in flight. In 
addition to improving the protection of species 

 diversity, these measures also help to reduce network 
disruptions and increase supply security for the local 
population. The project is currently in operation and 
runs to 2026. 

• Participation in the “Bearded Vulture Life“ 

project  
The goal of this project is the resettlement of 
bearded vultures and black vultures in Bulgaria and 
on the Balkans. Plans call for the implementation  
of measures to improve nesting conditions and the 
availability of food sources. EVN’s contribution to  
the project is the protection of exposed power poles 
to reduce fatalities through electric shocks. 

• Initiative to preserve the white stork population 

in Bulgaria and North Macedonia  
This initiative was started because white storks – 
a protected species – have increasingly started to 
nest on low-voltage power poles due to the chang-
ing environmental conditions. To prevent accidents 
and blackouts, and to reduce fire hazards for the 
nests, EVN has been installing metal nest platforms 
at an adequate distance to the electrical infrastruc-
ture in Bulgaria und North Macedonia since 2009. 
The project is accompanied by regular biomonitoring 
over the use of the nests and an annual report to the 
responsible authority.

 E4-4 

Targets related to biodiversity and ecosystems

• Improvement of ecological passage for 

 existing hydropower plants  
The National Water Management Plan calls for an 
improvement in the passage of bodes of water in 
Austria through the construction and adjustment of 
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fish passes as well as sufficient residual water at 
diverted reaches. We will therefore equip four weirs 
with new fish passes and upgrade the fish passes 
at three other locations to meet the latest technical 
standards. These measures will be planned and 
implemented in accordance with the applicable 
guidelines. The realisation of the projects is depend-
ent on receipt of the necessary official permits. 

• Improved protection against overhead  

power lines for birds  
To improve the protection of birds in biodiversity- 
sensitive areas, we plan to secure 271 km of over-
head power lines and install 2,000 bird diversion 
devices in Austria and Bulgaria by 2030. The imple-
mentation of these safeguards will be preceded 
by an analysis to identify the respective sensitive 
regions. In 2023/24, we secured over 100 km of 
overhead power lines and installed 440 bird 
 diversion devices.

 E4-5 

Impact metrics related to biodiversity and  
ecosystems change

The initial analysis in 2023/24 showed that the 
EVN Group had over 60 plants in protected areas with 
potential negative impacts on these areas. An overview 
of these locations is provided in the section ”ESRS 2 
 SBM-3“ on page 79. Further analyses of locations near 
protected areas and the size of these areas are currently 
in progress.
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 E5 

Resource use 
and circular economy 
EVN’s understanding of values and setting of goals for  
environmental aspects explicitly include the responsible  
use of resources and environmentally compatible  
waste management.

 ESRS 2 IRO-1 

With reference to ESRS E5 (resource use and circular 
economy), the ESG risk management process in the 
EVN Group identified material positive and negative 
impacts as well as risks. The plants and products 
required for EVN’s business activities lead to the con-
sumption of resources and raw materials included in 
components. The related cost increases result in higher 
investment, maintenance and repair expenditures. 
EVN can counter this development with the clean 
 separation of (primary raw materials) waste and the 
resulting larger supply of secondary raw materials. 
EVN’s plants produce hazardous and non- hazardous 
waste, which is correctly treated and disposed.

 For a description of the processes to identify and assess the 

material impacts, risks and opportunities, see page 31ff

 E5-1 

Policies related to resource use and circular 
economy

Our commitment to the responsible and sustainable 
use of resources and to a circular economy is included 
in all important documents issued by the EVN Group. 
They define our claim and our Group-wide binding 
 policies on these subjects. 

The EVN Code of Conduct and the EVN sustainability 
guideline anchor our claim to minimise the use of 
resources as best as possible and to maximise their 
 efficient use. Consequently, we manage material and 
supply flows to give priority to the reuse, recycling or 
other usage of these items. We are also optimising 
our waste management system towards alignment with 
the circular economy.

A separate Group policy on the management of 
resources and waste was issued in 2023/24. It estab-
lishes the previously mentioned overriding goals and also 
defines concrete rules, among others and where techni-
cally possible, for the substitution of secondary (recycled) 
resources for primary raw materials. The policy also calls 
for the optimisation of our waste management systems 
towards the circular economy. In all phases of our plants – 
construction, operation and dismantling – we work to 
minimise the impacts on the environment. This implies 
that sustainability criteria are also included and evaluated 
during the procurement process.

The sustainability guideline and the policy for the 
 management of greenhouse gas emissions and transition 
risks are binding documents for the entire EVN Group. 
They were approved by the Executive Board and submit-
ted to the Supervisory Board. Both documents are avail-
able to the public on our website.

 E5-2 

Actions and resources related to resource use 
and circular economy

Application of circular economy-related  
business practices

We recycle products and components internally, as far 
as technically possible and economically reasonable. 
Refurbishment processes have already been defined for 
certain product groups, including electricity, natural gas, 
heat and water meters, distribution transformers and 
modems. 

The thermal sewage sludge utilisation plants in operation 
or under construction by EVN (mono-incineration) 
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• Thermal energy generation plants: all plants/plant 
components, materials and supplies required for 
the operation of existing equipment and for their 
new construction 

• Energy carriers: natural gas, heating oil, fuels, 
 biomass, waste

 support the recovery of phosphorus from the incineration 
ash. This process should help to retain a scarce raw 
 material in the resource cycle. At the same time, mono -
incineration plays an important role in the elimination of 
organic and inorganic pollutants from the water cycle. 
Most of these pollutants are oxidised by the high temper-
atures reached during thermal utilisation. The resulting 
volatile combustion products then go through flue gas 
cleaning and are permanently removed from the cycle.

Optimisation of waste management in  
agreement with the waste hierarchy

Our tenders for the disposal of biomass ash provide 
incentives for the disposal companies to exhaust the 
available utilisation options as far as possible. The goal 
is to utilise the biomass ash as completely as possible, 
as far as permitted by the ash quality.

 E5-4 

Resource inflows

EVN’s business activities as a whole and, above all, 
the investment focal points on network infrastructure, 
renewable generation and drinking water supplies 
require intensive cooperation with construction firms, 
plant, pipeline and cable line construction companies as 
well as suppliers of electro-technical equipment and 
components, pipes, transmission and cable lines, meters, 
hardware, software and work clothing.

These resource inflows can be allocated to the following 
areas: 

• Renewable energy technologies: wind power plants, 
hydropower plants, photovoltaics, biomass plants

 E5-4 

Use of materials and other supplies – 
used in energy generation, drinking water 
preparation, wastewater treatment,  
waste utilisation plants1)

2023/24 2022/232)

Limestone t 5,600 5,302

Lime hydrate t 502 581

Ammonia t 3 1

Ammonia water t 1,494 1,539

Demineralised water m3 189,205 180,610

Lubricating oils t 35 27

Hydrochloric acid t 373 246

Sodium hydroxide t 178 146

Dosing media t 9 7

Rock salt t 225 136

Precipitants t 414 629

Flocculating agents t 317 471

1) The materials and supplies used were calculated on the basis of 

 procurement and inventory amounts.

2) Adjustment of the values from 2022/23 to reflect the scope of  

consolidation in 2023/24.

 E5-5 

Waste

2023/24 2022/231)

Waste quantities total t 198,954 296,906

Non-hazardous waste t 180,528 280,294

thereof diverted to recovery operations t 40,377 218,522

thereof directed to preparations for recycling t 34 –

thereof directed to recycling t 15,013 33,120

thereof directed to other uses t 25,329 185,401

thereof directed to disposal t 140,152 61,772

thereof directed to incineration t 7,569 2,157

thereof directed to landfilling t 129,724 59,152

thereof directed to other disposal operations t 2,859 462

Hazardous waste t 18,425 16,612

thereof diverted to recovery operations t 2,448 877

thereof directed to preparations for recycling t – –

thereof directed to recycling t 417 805

thereof directed to other uses t 2,031 72

thereof directed to disposal t 15,977 15,735

thereof directed to landfilling t 14,657 14,172

thereof directed to incineration t 667 639

thereof directed to other disposal t 653 924

Total quantity of non-recycled waste t 183,524 262,981

Percentage of non-recycled waste % 92.2 88.6

1) Adjustment of the values from 2022/23 to reflect the scope of consolidation in 2023/24.

• Network infrastructure: all plants and equipment 
required for the operation of electricity, natural gas, 
heat, internet and telecommunications networks 
including, for example, cables, pipes, electrical and 
electronic equipment, materials and supplies

• Drinking water supplies and wastewater disposal: 
all plants and equipment, materials and supplies 
required for the operation of existing drinking water 
preparation and wastewater treatment plants and 
for the new construction of such plants 
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Methodology for data collection on waste 
quantities and the calculation of recovery and 
disposal paths

The waste quantities reported for 2023/24 represent 
waste that was transferred directly to an authorised 
disposal company. These reported quantities do not 
include the waste arising from construction works or 
maintenance which is disposed directly by the contract-
ing company. 

The reported waste quantities broken down by 
 hazardous and non-hazardous waste result from the 
disposal confirmations provided by the respective 
 disposal companies. 

The calculation of the recovery and disposal paths were 
based on information provided by the disposal compa-
nies, where available. In other cases, country-specific, 
publicly available data was used or an estimate was 
made based on technical and branch knowledge.

Critical raw materials and rare earths are found, above 
all, in wind power plants, photovoltaics, information 
and communication technology products and network 
infrastructure. Most of these products are delivered in 
packaging materials made of plastics, cardboard or 
wood.

 E5-5 

Resource outflows

A large part of our non-hazardous waste consists of slag 
and ash from our waste utilisation plants, biomass ash, 
sewage sludge, excavated soil, metals, electrical and 
electronic equipment and components, plastics, cables 
and transformers. Our hazardous waste consists mainly 
of flue ash and dust from our waste utilisation plants, 
used oil and impregnated wood poles. This waste arises 
in connection with our business activities. Our down-
stream value chain does not generate any significant 
volumes of waste.
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Material risks

 • Inadequate working conditions  

(e. g. unsatisfactory work-life balance; 

work accidents, health impairments)

 • Discriminating unequal treatment  

(e. g. lack of inclusion, too low share 

of women)

Material opportunities

 • Attractive working conditions  

(e. g. flexible working times and  

part-time models)

 • Good positioning on the labour  

market

Material positive impacts

 • Positive working conditions  

(e. g. stable jobs, fair remuneration, 

favourable work-life balance)

 • Equal opportunities and  

equality (especially between  

men and women, support for  

diversity and inclusion)

 ESRS S1 

Own workforce

We see it as our responsibility to react promptly to 
 current changes on the labour market and to create an 
optimal working environment for our employees that 
allows them to feel well, develop and share collective 
success. A healthy balance between leisure and work 
is becoming increasingly important for many people, 
while the lack of specialists across all sectors is making 
it more difficult to hire and retain qualified employees. 
Summarised under the motto “More sustainable. More 
digital. More efficient.”, new technologies and digital 
equipment, mobile work and flexible working time 
models as well as the smart design of working areas 
in our offices help to optimise our approach to 
 cooperation and improve our internal information 
and communication flows.

 ESRS 2 SBM-2 

Disclosure requirement – interests and  
views of stakeholders

Our employees’ concerns and the inclusion of their 
 interests and viewpoints are important to us. We there-
fore invite our workforce in Austria to take part in our 
so-called mood barometer by completing an anonymised 
online questionnaire every quarter. The questions cover, 
among others, satisfaction, commitment, stress and 
personal resources as well as management quality and 
cooperation with other departments. The results of this 
externally guided survey are then discussed during 
department and team meetings. The current mood in 
a team or department can be quickly identified and any 

Material negative impacts

 • Stressful working conditions  

(e. g. time-intensive shift work,  

lack of work-life balance,  

injuries or damage to health  

from accidents or work-related  

illnesses)

Policies

 • Group policy on employees

 • Manual on minimum social standards

 • EVN human rights policy

 • EVN Code of Conduct

 • EVN managerial mission statement 

 • EVN values

 • EVN mood barometer 

 • Feedback and orientation sessions

Responsibilities

 • Group function “human resources“  

which reports to the CEO

87

EVN Full Report 2023 / 24 Segment report Financial statementsManagement reportCorporate governanceNon-financial report



necessary measures can be taken without delay. The 
regularly high response rates give management a simple, 
informative tool to monitor the stress level in their team 
and to address any problems early on through discus-
sions, seminars or workshops. 

A further important metric for employee satisfaction is 
the length of service with the company, which remained 
high at 14.7 years in 2023/24 (previous year: 15.5 years).

1) Total number of employees in Austria: 2,910 (women: 585, men: 2,325)

2) Total number of employees in Bulgaria: 2,308 (women: 611, men: 1,697)

1) Total number of employees in Austria: 3,112 (women: 652, men: 2,460)

2) Total number of employees in Bulgaria: 2,328 (women: 624, men: 1,704)

 ESRS 2 SBM-2 

Feedback and orientation discussions

% and number

We also carry out annual feedback and orientation 
 discussions with our employees in Austria and Bulgaria 
to collect structured, reciprocal responses on work 
behaviour and quality and to define concrete goals for 
employees as part of individual development plans. In 
North Macedonia, these discussions will be updated 
and rolled out again in 2024/25.

The interests and viewpoints of our employees are also 
part of the regular dialogue with working and safety 
committees, which also include representatives of the 
works council or unions. Representatives of our works 
council also take part in the Supervisory Board and 
 Sustainability Advisory Board meetings. The exercise of 
co-determination rights by our apprentices on the works 
council are ensured through elected youth representa-
tives. The South East European subsidiaries are members 

of a European works council, which holds regular 
 meetings and serves as a platform for communication 
and exchange for EVN employees in Austria, Bulgaria 
and North Macedonia. The issues addressed by the 
European works council range from occupational safety 
and employee benefits to transnational initiatives in 
culture and sport.

 For further information on the social dialogue with employee 

representatives, see S1-8, page 93f

 ESRS 2 SBM-3 

Disclosure requirement – material impacts,  
risks and opportunities

The materiality analysis carried out in 2023/24 identified 
potential material impacts, risks and opportunities for 
the stakeholder group “own workforce“ related to work-
ing conditions, equal treatment and equal opportunities. 

The material risks include:

• Reduced attractiveness as an employer due to 
 unfavourable working conditions and lack of 
a  work-life balance

• Loss of reputation and employee dissatisfaction 
due to unequal treatment, e. g. concerning 
 remuneration, human resources development and 
advancement 

• Revenue declines, respectively cost increases due 
to insufficient or lack of human resources 
 development and advancement or dissatisfied 
 customers

   Women

   Men

   Women

   Men

FO discussions
in Bulgaria2)

FO discussions
in Austria1)

2022/23 2023/24

88.7%
(542)

75.0%
(439)

98.8%
(1,677)

57.7%
(1,342)

96.1% (2,219)

61.2% (1,781)

FO discussions
in Bulgaria2)

92.6%
(578)

67.3%
(439)

99.5%
(1,696)

72.4%
(1,780)

97.7% (2,274)

FO discussions
in Austria1) 71.3% (2,219)
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• Occupational safety and health protection: 
As a responsible employer, we offer an attractive, 
stable working environment with fair working 
 conditions and appropriate compensation. We also 
undertake all necessary measures to support the 
health and ensure the protection of our employees.

 For the EVN human rights policy, see  

www.evn.at/human-rights-policy

 For the EVN Code of Conduct, see  

www.evn.at/code-of-conduct 

 For the EVN values, see   

www.evn.at/own-workforce 

 For the Group policy on employees, see  

www.evn.at/policy_S1 

 For the EVN sustainability guideline, see  

www.evn.at/sustainability-guideline

The following fundamental principles and principles 
of conduct influence the corporate culture of the 
EVN Group:
 
• Compliance: We are committed to compliance with 

all relevant legal regulations and standards as well as 
all internal guidelines and processes. Wherever possi-
ble, we want to exceed the mandatory requirements.

• Diversity and equal opportunities: We are 
 committed to a diverse working environment, support 
diversity and equal opportunity and implement 
measures to prevent discrimination and protect 
 vulnerable employee groups. EVN, as an employer, 
is expressly committed to the prohibition of any 
form of forced labour, human trafficking and modern 
slavery. Furthermore, we do not tolerate any form 
of child labour.

• Continuous communication: A wide range of 
communication channels helps us to guarantee 
respectful communications and a  continuous dialogue 
with our employees and with directly and indirectly 
involved stakeholder groups. This allows us to 
 integrate their needs and expectations in ongoing 
feedback processes.

• Human resources development and advance-

ment: Our employees receive regular training, and 
we offer numerous options for coaching and con-
tinuing education to help them react to the steadily 
changing demands of the working world and offer 
access to a variety of career paths.

• Work-life balance: We provide wide-ranging 
measures and offers to support our employees in 
harmonising their professional and personal life.

 For the identification of material impacts, risks and 

 opportunities, see section ESRS 2 IRO-1 on page 31ff.

 S1-1 

Policies related to own workforce

In agreement with the United Nations Guiding Principles 
on Business and Human Rights, the Declaration by the 
Internation Labour Organisation (ILO) on Fundamental 
Principles and Rights at Work, and the OECD Guidelines 
for Multinational Enterprises as well as the EVN Code of 
Conduct, the EVN human rights policy, the EVN manage-
rial mission statement, the EVN sustainability guideline, 
the Group-wide policies for social minimum  standards 
and employees, the EVN values and all related country- 
specific legal regulations and guidelines, we treat all 
our employee equally regardless of their gender, age, 
ethnic or social origin or nationality, skin colour, sexual 
orientation, religion, ideology or any possible physical 
or mental disabilities. We expressly reject any discrimina-
tion of employees with equal professional and personal 
qualifications in hiring, training, human resources 
 development, employment conditions or compensation. 
The compensation for all our employees is based on 
the applicable collective agreement or their respective 
responsibilities and qualifications. We ensure that all 
applicable legal requirements are met and, where possi-
ble, exceeded.

EVN has issued documents covering our corporate and 
management culture which are binding for the entire 
Group and define our policies, principles and guidelines 
for daily interaction. We apply these standards equally 
in all countries where we are active. In this connection, 
we have also defined three EVN values: ensure, encour-
age and enable. 

Opportunities arising in connection with the own 
 workforce are:

• Increased attractiveness as an employer due to 
 support for attractive and flexible working 
 conditions (e. g. concerning human resources 
 development and advancement, work-life 
 balance etc.)

• Competitive advantages through employee diversity

The potential impacts of our business activities on our 
employees can be summarised as follows: 

Potential negative impacts:

• Negative impact on employees‘ health and 
 well-being, and/or lack of a work-life balance 
due to, for example, necessary shift work or    
work- related overload

• Work-related accidents with temporary or  
permanent damage to health or fatalities 

Potential positive impacts:

• Support for employees‘ motivation and well-being 
through attractive and flexible working conditions 
(e. g. influenced by secure employment with a stable 
and adequate income, working time models that 
facilitate the harmonisation of professional and 
private life, or a social dialogue in the form of an 
occupational social partnership)

• Equal treatment and equal opportunities, above 
all concerning compensation, human resources 
development and advancement based on discrimi-
nation-free treatment – independent of age,  
gender, ethnic or social origin, sexual orientation, 
religion, ideology or possible disability
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regular information on these low-barrier communication 
channels, possible applications and the underlying 
 principles of the whistle-blowing procedure.

 S1-4 

Actions on material impacts on own workforce, 
and approaches to mitigating material risks and 
pursuing material opportunities related to own 
workforce, and effectiveness of those actions

We are aware of the risks and potential (negative) 
impacts of our business activities on our employees. 
The risks include the loss of highly qualified employees, 
absence due to work accidents, communication prob-
lems, cultural barriers, or the conscious or unconscious 
incorrect presentation of transactions or items in the 
annual financial statements. We want to counter these 
risks by creating an attractive working environment, 
implementing safety and health measures, promoting 
flexible working time models, installing an internal 
 control system, and offering training programmes and 
events for employees to support the exchange of 
 information and networking.

Another measure is the ongoing dialogue with members 
of the works councils and employee representatives. 
Roughly 90% of all employees in our Group (especially in 
Austria, Bulgaria and North Macedonia) are represented 
by works councils or unions, and their remuneration is 
protected by collective bargaining agreements, tariffs or 
legal minimum wage regulations. 

Transparency is an integral part of our major business 
decisions in line with our managerial mission statement, 
all applicable legal regulations and the Universal Declara-

 S1-2, S1-3 

Processes for engaging with own workers  
and workers’ representatives about  
potential (negative) impacts; processes to  
remediate negative impacts and channels  
for own workers to raise concerns

In addition to the above-mentioned instruments to 
 integrate the interests and viewpoints of our employees, 
e. g. the feedback and orientation sessions, the mood 
barometer and direct communication with the employee 
representatives or the staff in our human resources 
department, the whistle-blowing system is available to 
all our employees. 

Internal and external persons can access a confidential 
and anonymous whistle-blowing procedure which per-
mits the reporting of (presumed) compliance violations. 
Concerns over unethical or illegal conduct that had, or 
could also have, a negative impact on employees can 
be reported easily in person, by telephone, over specific 
compliance e-mail addresses or over a whistle-blower 
system hosted by an external service provider. These 
options are available throughout the Group and in EVN’s 
main languages. The whistle-blowing procedure was 
designed to ensure the complete, objective and efficient 
clarification of reported violations of the EVN Code 
of Conduct, also concerning the stakeholder category 
employees.

We process all anonymous reports. A separate Group 
policy regulates, in particular, the procedures and pre-
cautions to protect the whistle-blower from reprisals. 
The protection of confidentiality has high priority, also 
as regards the person(s) involved in a report. Training 
and communication measures provide employees with 

 S1-6 

Number of employees by gender 

Number 30.09.2024 30.09.2023

Women 1,929 1,825

Men 6,077 5,897

Total number of employees 8,006 7,722

 S1-6 

Number of employees by region

Number 30.09.2024 30.09.2023

Austria 3,112 2,910

thereof women 652 585

thereof men 2,460 2,325

Bulgaria 2,328 2,308

thereof women 624 611

thereof men 1,704 1,697

North Macedonia 1,949 1,875

thereof women 490 459

thereof men 1,459 1,416

Germany1) 461 475

thereof women 123 124

thereof men 338 351

Other countries2) 156 147

thereof women 40 42

thereof men 116 105

Total number of employees 8,006 7,722

1) WTE Hecklingen and WTE Essen (incl. international operations) 

2) Employees in the natural gas business in Croatia and in the international project business in Slovenia, Poland, Kuwait and Russia.  

The sale of the two sludge-fired combined heat and power plants in Moscow closed on 31 October 2024.  

They represented the last remaining activities by the EVN Group in Russia. 
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 discussion and also provides its members with informa-
tion on various topics, e. g. annual wage increases, work 
clothing or working conditions, outside these meetings. 
The main meetings covering wage increases generally 
take place on two or three occasions in the middle of 
the calendar year. A meeting with employee represen-
tatives is also organised every year. The commission 
 meetings include the head of human resources, the legal 
department and the Executive Board and, depending 
on the subject, experts from the involved departments.

We have also taken steps in North Macedonia to make 
the working environment for our employees as positive 
as possible. Every organisational unit has a designated 
employee representative who is in continuous contact 
with the head of that unit. There is regular communica-

tion of Human Rights. The employee representatives – 
in addition to EVN AG, many other companies in our 
Group also have these types of designated representa-
tives – are informed of important business decisions 
on a regular and timely basis and/or are involved in the 
decision processes. This approach applies to strategic 
decisions as well as changes and adjustments involving 
the workforce. We provide our employees and employee 
representatives with information about operational 
changes at regularly scheduled meetings and always 
comply with the legally required notification periods.

In Bulgaria, a commission for social cooperation was 
established to deal with problems between employees 
and the improvement of the working environment. 
It holds regular meetings depending on the need for 

 S1-6 

Employees by type of contract, classified by region 

Austria Bulgaria North Macedonia Germany1) Other countries2) Total

Number 30.09.2024 30.09.2023 30.09.2024 30.09.2023 30.09.2024 30.09.2023 30.09.2024 30.09.2023 30.09.2024 30.09.2023 30.09.2024 30.09.2023

Permanent employees3) 2,526 – 2,306 – 1,703 – 345 – 156 – 7,036 –

Temporary employees3) 586 – 22 – 246 – 116 – – – 970 –

Employees with non-guaranteed hours3) – – – – – – – – – – – –

Full-time employees 2,790 2,631 2,320 2,298 1,842 1,758 418 441 154 146 7,524 7,274

Part-time employees 322 279 8 10 107 117 43 34 2 8 482 448

Total number of employees 3,112 2,910 2,328 2,308 1,949 1,875 461 475 156 154 8,006 7,722

1) WTE Hecklingen and WTE Essen (incl. international operations) 

2) Employees in the natural gas business in Croatia and in the international project business in Slovenia, Poland, Kuwait and Russia.  

The sale of the two sludge-fired combined heat and power plants in Moscow closed on 31 October 2024. They represented the last remaining activities by the EVN Group in Russia. 

3) A detailed classification by type of contract is only available beginning with the 2023/24 financial year.

 S1-6 

Employees by type of contract, classified by gender  

Female Male Total

Number 30.09.2024 30.09.2023 30.09.2024 30.09.2023 30.09.2024 30.09.2023

Permanent employees1) 1,676 – 5,360 – 7,036 –

Temporary employees1) 253 – 717 – 970 –

Employees with  
non-guaranteed hours1) – – – – – –

Full-time employees 1,584 1,494 5,940 5,780 7,524 7,274

Part-time employees 345 331 137 117 482 448

Total number of employees 1,929 1,825 6,077 5,897 8,006 7,722

1) A detailed classification by type of contract is only available beginning with the 2023/24 financial year.
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tion between the union and representatives of the 
human resources department and between the head 
of human resources and management. Employees in 
 Croatia can also contact an ombudsperson to discuss 
their concerns. 

 Further information on the social dialogue can be found 

under S1-8 on page 93f

 Measures to prevent work accidents are explained under 

S1-14 on page 97ff

 Measures to support the harmonisation of professional and 

private life can be found under S1-15 on page 100f  

 S1-5 

Targets related to managing material negative 
impacts, advancing positive impacts, and 
 managing material risks and opportunities

Our goals for sustainable human resources management 
are based on our corporate vision and strategy, but 
also reflect key aspects from the materiality analysis. 
This ensures that we remain in agreement with our 
 long-term ambitions. Based on the observation of the 
environment and our efforts to position EVN as an 
attractive employer, we determine how we want to be 
perceived as a company. Comparisons with other com-
panies help us keep pace with the times, learn from 
good practices, continuously monitor our competitive 
position on the labour market and make any necessary 
adjustments. We can then set relevant and realistic 
goals to strengthen our position on the market.

Regular HR Days and various coordination meetings 
provide an ideal platform for synchronising goals in 
the Group, understanding the different framework 
 conditions and coordinating activities. The inclusion 
of employee  representatives and/or employees is an 

 important part of this process. Coordination with 
employee representatives takes place, on the one hand, 
regularly at the country level and, on the other hand, 
at the Group level within the framework of the European 
works council. Representatives of the works council 
also sit on the Supervisory Board and the Sustainability 
 Advisory Board, which ensures consideration of our 
employees’ interests at all levels of the Group. As part of 
our preparations for implementation of the CSRD, we 
are working to define further concrete quantitative and 
qualitative goals to minimise any material negative 

impacts of our activities on our workforce, to advance 
positive impacts and to manage material risks and 
opportunities.

 S1-6 

Characteristics of own employees

Our company’s international market presence is also 
reflected in our workforce: It includes people from differ-
ent nations, cultures and generations who come from 

 S1-6 

Employee fluctuation – persons leaving1)

Total
30.09.2024

Total
30.09.2023Austria Bulgaria North Macedonia Germany2) Other countries3)

Number 30.09.2024 30.09.2023 30.09.2024 30.09.2023 30.09.2024 30.09.2023 30.09.2024 30.09.2023 30.09.2024 30.09.2023 Nominal %4) Nominal %4)

< 30 years 25 19 24 21 19 25 7 2 – 4 75 0.9 71 0.9

thereof women 8 7 6 9 10 6 1 – – 1 25 0.3 23 0.3

thereof men 17 12 18 12 9 19 6 2 – 3 50 0.6 48 0.6

30–50 years 52 44 68 51 34 58 26 23 5 17 185 2.3 193 2.5

thereof women 14 9 26 36 8 22 3 6 3 6 54 0.7 79 1.0

thereof men 38 35 42 15 26 36 23 17 2 11 131 1.6 114 1.5

>50 years 8 12 24 21 16 11 13 7 3 2 64 0.8 53 0.7

thereof women 4 3 7 6 1 3 4 1 1 – 17 0.2 13 0.2

thereof men 4 9 17 15 15 8 9 6 2 2 47 0.6 40 0.5

Total 85 75 116 93 69 94 46 32 8 23 324 4.0 317 4.1

thereof women 26 19 39 51 19 31 8 7 4 7 96 1.2 115 1.5

thereof men 59 56 77 42 50 63 38 25 4 16 228 2.8 202 2.6

1) The table does not include intragroup transfers, retirements or trainees entering and leaving the company.

2) WTE Hecklingen and WTE Essen (incl. international operations)

3) Employees in the natural gas business in Croatia and in the international project business in Slovenia, Poland, Kuwait and Russia.  

The sale of the two sludge-fired combined heat and power plants in Moscow closed on 31 October 2024. They represented the last remaining activities by the EVN Group in Russia. 

4) In relation to the total workforce of 8,006 employees as of 30 September 2024 and 7,722 employees as of 30 September 2023

more than 50 countries, above all from Austria, Bulgaria 
and North Macedonia. We are committed to the hiring 
and advancement of regional employees because this 
improves our understanding of the special characteristics 
of the local culture and increases the economic benefits of 
our business activities. We therefore ensure that as many 
employees and managers1) as possible in our markets come 
from the respective regions. The share of local managers 
averaged roughly 68% in 2023/24. In particular, the 
strengthening of local management capacity represents 
an important aspect of our human resources strategy. 
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 S1-7 

Non-employee workers classified by region and contract type 

Austria Bulgaria North Macedonia Germany1) Other countriesNumber as of 30.09.2024 Total

Leasing personnel 73 – – – – 73

Freelance workers 68 – – – – 68

Trainees 163 46 222 5 – 436

Total number of non-employee workers 304 46 222 5 – 577

1) WTE Hecklingen and WTE Essen (incl. international operations)

Fixed-term employment contracts are common in Austria 
and North Macedonia for new hires and generally cover 
a period of one year, the employment relationship then 
becomes permanent if the evaluation is positive. In 
 Bulgaria, fixed-term employment contracts are mostly 
used for parental leave coverage, as part of projects or 
for trainees. Our subsidiary WTE generally has a high 
share of fixed-term employment contracts due to the 
project business.
1) Managers: All members of management (Executive Board and managing 

directors) in the fully consolidated companies 

 Information on our personnel expenses can be found 

in the consolidated financial statements for 2023/24, 

note 28.  Personnel expenses, page 196f.

 S1-7 

Characteristics of non-employee workers  
in the own workforce

Our workforce included our own staff as well as 
577 non-employee workers in 2023/24. This group 
includes leased employees, freelancers and trainees.

As of 30 September 2024, 73 leased employees 
( previous year: 88 persons), representing 0.9% 
( previous year: 1.1%) of our total workforce, also 
worked for the EVN Group. We use personnel 
 leasing for the following reasons:  

• As integration leasing (a preliminary step to  
a conventional employment relationship)

• For tasks and projects covering a limited time
• To handle peak work 
 

We use freelancers for the following reasons: 
 
• As a preliminary step to a conventional employment 

relationship (integration)
• For tasks and projects covering a limited time
• To handle peak work
• As opportunities for students to gain initial work 

 experience on a flexible basis

The share of schoolchildren and students who complete 
a fixed-term traineeship with EVN as part of their 
 educational programmes – primarily during the summer 
months – equalled roughly 5.4% of all employees 
in 2023/24 (previous year: 4.3%). 

 S1-8 

Collective bargaining coverage 
 and social  dialogue

Roughly 99% of our employees in Austria and Bulgaria 
are represented by works councils or unions, and their 
remuneration is protected by collective bargaining 
agreements, tariffs or legal minimum wage regulations. 
In our core market North Macedonia, which is not a 
member of the EEA, nearly 93% of our employees are 
also represented by works councils. The employee 
 representatives in Austria, Bulgaria and North Macedonia 
are regularly involved in the respective collective nego-
tiations. In total, roughly 90% of all employees in our 
Group are supported by workers representatives.

The remuneration scheme for roughly 92% of our 
employees is based on the collective bargaining agree-
ments that apply to the primary business location, i. e. 
Austria, Bulgaria or North Macedonia. The remuneration 
of leased employees reflects the compensation paid to 
comparable employees for similar activities based on 
collective bargaining agreements or legal regulations. 
The majority of our employees in Austria are covered by 
the current collective agreement for salaried employees 
in electricity companies.

Transparency is an integral part of our major business 
decisions, and our actions are based on our managerial 
mission statement, all applicable legal regulations and 
the Universal Declaration of Human Rights. The employee 
representatives – in addition to EVN AG, other companies 
in our Group also have these types of designated repre-
sentatives – are informed of important business decisions 
on a regular and timely basis or are involved in the 
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 decision processes. This approach applies to strategic 
decisions as well as changes and adjustments involving 
employees.

We provide our employees and employee representatives 
with information at regularly scheduled meetings and, 
in the event of operational changes, always comply with 
the legally required notification periods. One of our 
central concerns when confronted with social or eco-
nomic challenges has been to develop and implement 
the necessary restructuring measures in a socially accept-
able manner and in agreement with the trade unions 
and/or works council. We intend to follow this procedure 
in the future. This productive dialogue with employee 
representatives forms the basis for socially acceptable 
solutions for the involved employees through their inter-
nal reassignment or additional training and transfer to 
other EVN units as far as possible. A particular focus of 
discussions in 2023/24 was the planned sale process 
for WTE.

Employee representation takes different forms – 
 depending on national laws and the composition and 
activities of local employees – and also reflects the 
 international focus, activities and locations of our Group. 
We work closely and continuously with all official 
 bodies which represent employees.

The activities of the works council on behalf of 
 employees focused on the following issues in 2023/24: 

• Preparation of a company agreement to protect 
employee data in connection with data collection 
via software applications and IT programmes

• Development of new models to support long-term 
employee retention, among others through the 
creation of possibilities for company childcare on 
a daily basis by daycare staff

• Participation in the development of models for 
age-appropriate workplaces

• Support for measures to advance workplace health 
promotion, in particular prevention

• Start of a dialogue with various departments and 
Group companies, in particular to improve communi-
cations over customers’ concerns and to ensure the 
development of measures for improvement 

 S1-9 

Diversity metrics

The EVN Group is committed to offering equal 
 opportunities to all its employees. We are convinced 
that diversified teams produce better results and are 
more effective and innovative than single-gender 
groups. The percentage of women in EVN’s workforce 
equalled 24.1% in 2023/24 (previous year: 23.6%), and 
roughly 12.5% of the positions for managing directors 
and authorised officers were filled by women. The  
Women@EVN programme is designed to achieve the 
greatest possible diversity at the upper management 
level and gradually increase the percentage of women in 
management positions. Numerous initiatives have been 
introduced to create a framework that enables women 
to assume qualified positions in specialised areas and 
at the management level in line with their inclinations 
and skills. Preparations started in 2023/24 to develop 
a diversity strategy for EVN. The first step was a survey 
of 450 randomly selected employees whose responses 
helped us to determine our position on DEI (diversity, 
equity, inclusion). The next step will concentrate on 
workshops to develop the strategy together with repre-
sentatives from all areas of the company in Austria.

14 women currently serve as project managers (project 
manager career path) in the EVN Group. The percentage 
of young women in the corporate management devel-
opment programme has always been higher than the 

Collective bargaining coverage and social dialogue

Coverage rate as of 
30.09.2024

Collective bargaining coverage 
employees (EEA)

Collective bargaining coverage 
employees (non-EEA countries)

Social dialogue 
representatives at the workplace

0–19% Germany, Poland Kuwait, Russia Germany, Croatia, Poland, Slovenia, 
Russia, Kuwait

20–39% – – –

40–59% – – –

60–79% – – – 

80–100% Austria, Bulgaria, 
Slovenia, Croatia

North Macedonia Austria, Bulgaria, North Macedonia

current share of women in EVN’s workforce. EVN has 
long pursued measures that are designed to support 
women’s work-life balance. The many examples include 
flexible working time models, individualised support for 
women returning after maternity leave, daycare during 
school holidays, information events for staff members 
on parental leave as well as a comprehensive pro-
gramme of vocational and professional education which 
is also open to all employees on parental leave. These 
measures are supplemented by a range of home office 
work options. EVN’s objective for the medium term is to 
increase the share of women to a level that mirrors their 
current educational levels in the applicable professional 
groups.

The Austrian Equal Opportunity Act requires companies 
with more than 150 employees to submit a biannual 
remuneration report (§ 11a of the Equal Opportunity 
Act). All companies in the EVN Group with a workforce 
above this legally defined threshold prepared the 
required report and submitted it to the Central Works 
Council. 

The diversity concept approved by the Nominating 
 Committee of the Supervisory Board for appointments 
to the Executive and Supervisory Board of EVN AG also 
defines equal opportunity as the underlying principle 
for all corporate management and supervisory bodies. 
EVN’s Executive Board was expanded as of 1 Septem-
ber 2024 to include a third member, and a female 
 member of this corporate body was appointed CFO.

Elections to the Supervisory Board are intended to 
 create a balanced mix between professional qualifica-
tions, personal credentials and diversity. A special focus 
is placed on diversity with regard to the representation 
of both genders, a balanced age structure and the inter-
nationality of the members. The Supervisory Board – 
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involved employee representatives. In countries with-
out a collective bargaining agreement, national legal 
 regulations, for example concerning the minimum 
 salary, are observed and/or used as a reference point 
for adequate compensation. Various external sources 
are also used for this process, for example the compara-
tive  website www.wageindicator.org. This helps us to 
ensure that the remuneration of our employees without 
a collective bargaining agreement reflects comparable 
agreements or the legal minimum standard.

 S1-11 

Social protection

Country-specific legal regulations and international 
guidelines like the Universal Declaration of Human Rights 
and EVN‘s Code of Conduct form the framework for 
engagement with our employees.

We want to ensure that all women and men directly 
employed in our Group companies are protected against 
the loss of income due to challenging life situations. In 
accordance with national legal regulations, all employees 

as a whole and in the individual committees – has the 
necessary expertise required by the company, especially 
in the business, legal and technical fields. Attention 
was given to creating and maintaining a balance 
between continuity and change. 
 

 S1-10 

Adequate wages

Adequate and fair remuneration for all employees is an 
important issue for us. The most important underlying 
principle is compliance with all relevant legislation and 
tariff agreements. Our salaries are competitive, aligned 
with the market and reflect the position and expertise 
of the respective employees.

Our employees’ compensation is based on the applic-
able collective bargaining agreements and the specific 
responsibilities and qualifications. The salary scheme for 
roughly 92% of our employees is focused on collective 
bargaining agreements that apply to our main business 
locations in Austria, Bulgaria and North Macedonia 
and were developed during negotiations that regularly 

 S1-9 

Diversity indicators

Austria Bulgaria North Macedonia Germany1) Other countries2) Total

Number 30.09.2024 30.09.2023 30.09.2024 30.09.2023 30.09.2024 30.09.2023 30.09.2024 30.09.2023 30.09.2024 30.09.2023 30.09.2024 30.09.2023

Total number of new hires 359 309 183 166 189 133 22 48 47 28 800 684

thereof women (number) 104 72 60 55 56 48 13 13 5 2 238 190

thereof women (%) 29.0 23.3 32.8 33.1 29.6 36.1 59.1 27.1 11.1 8.0 29.8 27.8

1) WTE Hecklingen and WTE Essen (incl. international operations)

2) Employees in the natural gas business in Croatia and in the international project business in Slovenia, Poland, Kuwait and Russia.  

The sale of the two sludge-fired combined heat and power plants in Moscow closed on 31 October 2024. They represented the last remaining activities by the EVN Group in Russia.

Up to
30 years

31 to 50 years

More than
50 years

796 867

1,035 1,128

3,880 4,069

2,807 2,809

2,871 1,071

2,230 2,212

239 261

1,009 2,998

577 597

  Women: 1,929

  Men: 6,077

Total:  8,006

  Women: 1,825

  Men: 5,897

Total:  7,722

30.09.2023 30.09.2024

 S1-9 

Age structure of employees

Number
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 S1-13 

Training and skills development metrics

The current labour shortage and lack of specialists has 
increased the importance of targeted, individual and 
efficient human resources development. Our employees’ 
high qualifications represent a strategic asset and an 
important element for protecting our company’s sustain-
able success. Consequently, preserving and increasing 
our employees’ high level of expertise are a central 
 element of our human resources management. 

Training and development opportunities

Our extensive training and professional development 
programmes in Austria, Bulgaria and North Macedonia 
are organised by the local EVN Academies. In Austria, the 
EVN Academy holds roughly 200 events each year and 
coordinates more than 70 different training plans for 
electricity, natural gas, heat and water for apprentices 
and young technicians, and recertification courses for 
experienced specialists. These training plans cover courses 
on various technical subjects as well as content on per-
sonal development. Standardised processes and quality 

held by the EVN Group but is a defined contribution  
scheme in which the amount of the future pension 
is derived from the employer and employee contribu-
tions up to the retirement date. EVN’s contribution 
in 2023/24 equalled at least 2% of each eligible 
 employee’s monthly gross remuneration. Contributions 
by employees are voluntary, whereby 35.8% of the 
workforce in Austria took advantage of this offer 
 during the reporting year.

We also introduced voluntary pension insurance for all 
our full-time and part-time employees in Bulgaria.

 S1-12 

Persons with disabilities

In line with our commitment to equal treatment and 
opportunities, we support the integration of people with 
disabilities. We employed 131 persons from this group 
in 2023/24 (previous year: 129 persons), who represent 
1.6% (previous year: 1.7%) of our total workforce. The 
definition of the term “persons with disabilities“ for the 
calculation of the metric is based on the respective 
national laws. 

Employee benefits

Many of the EVN Group companies also offer numerous 
voluntary benefits independent of employees’ gender, 
age, ethnic or social origin or nationality, skin colour, 
sexual orientation, religion, ideology, physical or mental 
disabilities. 

Supplementary health insurance 

We offer supplementary health insurance at favourable 
conditions as a voluntary benefit for our employees in 
Austria, Bulgaria and Russia. Framework agreements 
with selected insurance providers in the individual coun-
tries ensure optimal medical care for all participants.

Pension benefits

All EVN employees are covered by statutory pension 
insurance. As a supplement, our Austrian employees 
with permanent contracts are entitled to participate 
in a private, fund-based pension programme after 
a  one-year waiting period. The pension fund is not 

are protected under public programmes or by services 
we offer and enjoy social protection against the loss of 
income due to the following life events: 

• Illness
• Loss of employment  

(starting at the time of company affiliation)
• Work accidents and occupational disability 
• Parental leave 
• Retirement
 
Employees in Kuwait and Bahrain are excluded from 
this coverage because they only enjoy social protection 
in the event of illness according to local regulations.

Many of our employees not only work for the 
 company, but also make valuable contributions to 
 society through their volunteer work in organisations 
like the Red Cross or the local fire brigade. In total, 
468 employees are currently active volunteers in these 
types of aid organisations. We support this commit-
ment as an employer by excusing employees from work 
for up to 50% of the invested time in the event of an 
operation.

 S1-12 

Employees with disabilities

2023/24 2022/23

Total Number 131 129

Share of total workforce in % 1.6 1.7

thereof women Number 93 90

thereof men Number 38 39
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 S1-14 

Health and safety metrics 

Accidents not only endanger our employees‘ well-being, 
but they can also lead to long downtime and influence 
personal lives. In addition, material damages can inter-
rupt supplies for our customers. Protecting the safety and 
health of the men and women who work for EVN and 
our efforts in the interest of occupational safety and the 
prevention of accidents are therefore a central element of 
our corporate culture. In addition to the requirements 
defined by European and national law – which have our 
full compliance – binding regulations for all corporate 
units are described in the following documents: 

• EVN Code of Conduct
• EVN human rights policy
• EVN internal principles: Group policy on  

occupational safety
• EVN internal directives and guidelines for the 

 identification of safety risks and the definition of 
corresponding countermeasures

Organisation of occupational safety 
in the EVN Group

Our Group policy for occupational safety defines the 
basis for our exacting standards in the area of worker 
protection. With extensive training, regular evaluations 
and high-quality equipment, we offer a level of worker 
protection that exceeds legal requirements. The over-
riding goal is to prevent accidents, and we try to provide 
our employees with the necessary orientation through 
defined processes and instructions for technology, 
organisation and people. Extensive safety and health 
documentation is available to all employees and 

an accompanying programme that includes an informal 
get-together with the Executive Board provide sufficient 
opportunities for advanced technical training and the 
exchange of experience with colleagues from the entire 
Group.

The mandatory in-service training programme for 
 current managers covers various courses and coaching 
with a focus on self-competence and the EVN manage-
rial mission statement, but also deals with issues like 
labour law, occupational safety and worker protection.

In Austria, we focus primarily on e-learning courses, 
informal morning coffee meetings or smart lectures as 
the learning forms of the future. 

well as support for double and multiple qualifications. 
We also encourage our apprentices to complete 
 internships in other countries through our “Let‘s Walz” 
programme. Most of these young people remain as 
employees after completing their apprenticeships.

There are no legal regulations in South East Europe for 
dual training, but we are working to establish a similar 
EVN structure in these countries. We have already 
 established cooperation programmes with several 
schools and training institutions in Bulgaria and North 
Macedonia. These EVN initiatives are not only popular 
locally but have also received international recognition 
because they meet a direct need on the labour market 
with their job-related training and help to combat 
 unemployment among young people in these countries.

The EVN Academy also offers specially designed 
 programmes for the development of future managers. 
Examples include the summer university “EVN SUN”, 
which is held each year in cooperation with the Danube 
University Krems, and an in-service training programme 
for managers. At EVN SUN, workshops and seminars 
on current topics like the changing working world and 

management are included in the design of every new 
training programme, and the content preparation is 
always coordinated with the respective specialist depart-
ment. At the end of every course, the participants receive 
a questionnaire to provide their feedback on the quality 
of the programme. Opportunities for improvement are 
then incorporated in the training design.

Not least due to a general increase in the average age 
of our employees (43.7 years; previous year: 43.9 years), 
we are placing high priority on the development of 
future specialists and managers. The need for qualified 
personnel is rising as many of our qualified employees 
retire, and we are working to address the situation 
with specifically designed training programmes and 
measures to support the transfer of know-how 
between older and younger generations.

Apprentice training has also always had high priority 
for EVN. As of 30 September 2024, we employed 
82 apprentices ( previous year: 77). In Austria, we offer 
the traditional dual programme of theoretical vocational 
school education and practical on-the-job experience 
together with supplementary courses and seminars as 

 S1-13 

Training and educational measures

2023/24 2022/23

Total expenses EURm 3.6 2.5

Expenses per employee EUR 450.6 326.7

Training and education time per employee hours 22.71) 29.6

1) The decline in the training and education time per employee resulted from a change in the database in Bulgaria.
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Measures to prevent work-related accidents 

We rely on extensive information and instructions for 
our employees on all health and safety issues to prevent 
accidents. The basis for regular instructions is formed 
by a safety manual issued by the industry association 
Oesterreichs Energie that addresses the special working 
conditions in the energy sector. We have also issued 

regulate subsequent reporting to the corporate  
safety service which analyses the incident and arranges 
for any necessary measures. We also encourage  
our  employees to report near-miss accidents and  
potentially dangerous situations and emphasise  
the  importance of this reporting for prevention.

Most of these accidents led to skin injuries, bruises 
or ligament lesions. The body parts most at risk are 
the upper extremities like arms, hands and fingers, 
 followed by the legs and feet.

All work accidents involving our own employees and 
leased personnel are first recorded and handled by 
the respective organisational unit. Internal guidelines 

intended to support independent actions, while 
 helping managers function as role models.

The recording of identified risks and incidents as well as 
the monitoring of implemented measures are based on 
the requirements of an occupational safety system con-
sistent with ISO 45001. Several subsidiaries in Bulgaria 
and Germany are also certified under this standard. We 
not only record actual accidents but also “near-miss” 
incidents and potentially dangerous situations.

EVN has designated specially trained prevention staff at 
the headquarters and in the Group companies for occu-
pational safety and for fire protection, health and first 
aid. Frequent contacts between the safety officers in the 
individual companies and the headquarters ensure that 
risks and the related preventive measures flow into all 
health and safety documents. The first contact for safety- 
related concerns is the responsible safety officer who has 
the necessary technical expertise for the specific work 
process as well as occupational safety know-how. More-
over, all EVN employees and leased personnel are repre-
sented by safety officers in working committees that 
monitor and discuss the workplace safety programmes. 
Representatives of our works council are also involved in 
all workplace, health and safety issues.

Types of work-related accidents 

Most of the accidents in the EVN Group during the past 
year occurred in connection with the following activities:  

• Movement of persons 
• Handling of objects

The most frequent work accidents involve tripping, 
stumbling and twisted ankles, followed by cuts.  

 S1-14 

Accident and lost days statistics
2023/24 2022/231)

Total Employees 
Non-employed  

workers Total

Number of employees2) 7,886 7,809 77 7,688

Number of hours worked3) 13,407,050.00 13,275,583.33 131,466.67 13,069,104

Number of fatalities caused by work-related injuries – – – –

Rate of fatalities caused by work-related injuries4) – – – –

Number of high-consequence work-related injuries5) 1 1 – 1

Rate of high-consequence work-related injuries4) 0.1 0.1 – 0.1

Number of recordable work-related injuries6) 90 89 1 62

Rate of recordable work-related injuries (LTIF)4) 6.7 6.7 7.6 4.7

Number of work-related accidents7) 95 94 1 64

Number of sick leave days8) 2,501 2,497 4 1,885

Number of fatalities non-employed workers 1 – – –

Number of work accidents non-employed workers 1 – – –

Number of sick leave days /employee 9.6 – – 11

1) Employees incl. leasing personnel (average headcount for the year); in 2022/23 no differentiation was made between employed and non-employed workers

2) Employees (average headcount for the year) classified by employee workers (own employees) and non-employee workers (leasing personnel) 

3) Based on an average number of 1,700 hours worked per employee and year

4) Based on 1,000,000 hours worked

5) Work-related accidents that result in more than six months of sick leave, excl. fatalities

6) Work accidents (excl. commuting accidents) that result in fatalities, lost working days, work restrictions, medical treatment, unconsciousness or diagnosed severe injuries 

7) All work-related accidents, excl. commuting accidents

8) All sick leave days after work-related accidents, excl. commuting accidents
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that exceeds legal requirements. In Austria, two occupa-
tional health physicians are available to answer questions 
on maintaining and improving workplace health and 
assist employees within and beyond the framework of 
labour protection laws. The many related measures 
include, among others: 

• Medical check-ups 
• Vaccinations 
• Eye and hearing tests 
• Preventive medicine 
• First aid courses 
• Psychological counselling 
• Coaching 
• Tips on healthy nutrition 
• Special offerings for employees  

who are exposed to particular risks 

EVN is not active in countries which have an increased 
risk of contagious diseases or working conditions that 
could permanently endanger employees’ health. How-
ever, Group guidelines are in force at all subsidiaries to 
deal with emergencies – for example, the “EVN  Pandemic 
Prevention” which formed a valuable basis for the first 
measures after the outbreak of  Covid-19 in March 2020. 
Most of the safety measures related to Covid-19 have 
since been cancelled, but the continuous communica-
tion of behavioural and hygiene rules remains in effect.

In addition to company-sponsored measures, the 
EVN culture and sports club offers all employees a wide 
range of activities, e. g. jogging, hiking or ball sports. 
Many of these activities also have a special focus on 
health protection.

Occupational safety in the project business

Health and occupational safety also have high priority 
for WTE, our subsidiary responsible for the interna-
tional project business. The underlying principle is the 
EVN Group’s clear commitment to preserve and protect 
human rights. WTE carries special responsibility in this 
respect and, in its role as a general contractor for plant 
construction, is required to comply with the applicable 
standards for the protection of the health and safety of 
the persons involved in its projects (including subcon-
tractors’ employees). A health and safety manager is 
designated for each project to monitor compliance with 
these standards and provide regular reports to the 
respective customer. The occupational safety and health 
management system used by WTE is certified under 
ISO 45001:2018.

Our wastewater treatment plant project in Kuwait is 
required to comply with extremely strict requirements 
for the protection of all involved employees – not least 
due to the prevailing climatic conditions as well as for 
cultural reasons. WTE must guarantee and monitor 
compliance with these standards – also at the subcon-
tractor level – through the implementation of appropri-
ate measures and rules. The health and safety manager 
is also responsible for regular reporting on this project. 
Compliance with the applicable standards is also moni-
tored by the financing banks and their consultants, 
and frequent unannounced controls by the responsible 
ministries and authorities are customary practice in 
Kuwait.

Corporate healthcare

We also live up to our responsibility for our employees’ 
health by offering extensive occupational medical care 

• Articles in the employee newsletter and Intranet 
on various aspects of occupational safety

• The award of an annual “Oscar for Occupational 
Safety” to the departments and organisational units 
with an accident-free year 

Examples of the regular training and targeted aware-
ness-raising measures in the area of occupational safety 
include the seminars on “Work safety – electricity”, 
“Working with voltage”, “Construction of high- and 
low-voltage overhead lines: the safety-related aspects 
of power line construction” and “Safe operations with 
chainsaws” as well as specific instructions on access 
authorisations. These courses provide the involved 
employees with a mix of theoretical and practical train-
ing on the safety aspects of their day-to-day work. The 
training offering and content are coordinated regularly 
with the involved departments and adapted or expanded 
where necessary. In Bulgaria, we also organise voluntary 
training on various aspects of occupational safety for 
the employees of third-party firms that work in our 
 operating areas.

Managers contribute to these issues through training 
courses and safety meetings, and their role in occupa-
tional safety is continuously growing. The routine 
 purchase of state-of-the-art protective clothing and 
equipment as well as modern tools, including multi- 
meters to measure gas concentration, supplement the 
preventive measures in the specific working environ-
ments. In addition, occupational safety is a standard 
element of the team and department meetings held 
by the local safety officers.

manuals for specific areas such as hydropower plants 
and wind power or photovoltaic equipment. These 
 documents are routinely updated and represent a 
required part of the initial instructions for new employ-
ees (on  initial hiring or transfer to another work area). 
Detailed instructions are also given to third parties 
 working within our operational areas, which include 
specific information on the special dangers connected 
with EVN’s equipment. The instructions on worker 
 protection include general  information and behaviour- 
and  activity-related directions for the employee’s 
 individual workplace or area of responsibility. The 
 following points are also covered: 
 
• Names and functions of the responsible safety 

expert, safety officer, fire safety officer and fire 
 protection officer

• Safety symbols used on-site, colour coding, 
 auxiliary equipment as well as its meaning and use

• Fire safety regulations
• Any special dangers connected with the workplace 

and their prevention or avoidance (e. g. handling of 
machinery or behaviour near electrical equipment) 

• Safety, rescue and fire protection equipment 
(e. g. fire extinguishers or first aid kits)

EVN’s corporate occupational safety team relies on a 
variety of actions to create a targeted and sustainable 
awareness for security issues among the workforce and 
to prevent accidents. Direct prevention measures and 
initiatives to avoid falls and similar accidents include, 
for example, the personal mobility measurement and 
encouragement for employees to exercise regularly. 
Other measures include:

• E-learning modules and video clips on working 
 procedures and the handling of equipment

• Specialist seminars
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become attractive to an increasing number of fathers. 
Parental leave in Austria covers a possible leave of 
absence up to the 36th month after the child’s birth and 
exceeds current legal regulations, while this option is 
used less frequently in South Eastern Europe. We main-
tain direct contact with our employees during the entire 
leave period and, in doing so, facilitate their return to 
work. Nearly all mothers and fathers return to EVN after 
this time. Employees on parental leave are invited to 
special information events and can take advantage of 
our extensive training programme. An online platform 
which we operate together with an external partner 
company, provides a wide range of information on 
parental leave, childcare and the return to work.

All our employees in Austria, Bulgaria, North Macedonia 
and Germany are entitled to vacation for family reasons. 
In Austria, we use a reintegration part-time model in 
special cases, for example to facilitate employees’ gradual 
return to work after a long illness. Our employees can 
also opt for a semi-retirement model to gradually reduce 
their working hours prior to retirement. In the 2023/24 
financial year 430 employees (112 of whom were women 
and 318 men) took carer's leave in Austria. 

Our employees can also take advantage of educational 
leave and part-time work during this time. Appropriate 
requests are generally accepted after a review of the 
operational possibilities and interests by the employer, 
subject to certain framework conditions. Nine employees 
in Austria were on educational leave in 2023/24.

As further support, we also offer the following options: 

• Daycare at our location in Maria Enzersdorf  
(currently as a pilot project)

• Supervised children’s programme for several weeks 
during the summer vacation 

• In-house childcare in connection with a daycare 
centre (only at WTE) 

Our employees in Austria, Germany, Bulgaria and North 
Macedonia are legally entitled to parental leave after 
the birth of a child, in our Austrian companies this is 
extended by the so-called “papa month” which has 

Our employees in many areas have the freedom to 
define their working hours unless operational require-
ments like shift work call for different solutions. This 
independence is based on a flexitime model without 
core times, which allows for substantial freedom. Various 
part-time models and models for mobile work which, 
for example, combine field and mobile work on the 
same day help our employees to organise their profes-
sional and family obligations. The models for mobile 
working provide for a framework of up to 1,280 hours 
per year, in which our employees can work at a location 
of their choice. A total of 3,684 employees, or 46%, 
elected to use a mobile working model in 2023/24.

 S1-15 

Work-life balance metrics

A further central concern is to help our employees 
achieve a balance between their working and family life. 
By signing the “charter on the new compatibility between 
parents and business” in 2011 – an initiative of the 
 province and economic chamber of Lower Austria – 
we underscored our commitment to a parent-oriented 
human resources policy.

 S1-15 

Parental leave 2023/24

Number Austria Bulgaria North Macedonia Germany1) Other countries2)

Employees electing parental leave 88 37 27 5 –

thereof women 44 35 26 5 –

thereof men 44 2 1 – –

1) WTE Hecklingen and WTE Essen (incl. international operations)

2) Employees in the natural gas business in Croatia and in the international project business in Slovenia, Poland, Kuwait and Russia.  

The sale of the two sludge-fired combined heat and power plants in Moscow closed on 31 October 2024. They represented the last remaining activities by the EVN Group in Russia. 

 S1-15 

Parental leave 2022/23

Number Austria Bulgaria North Macedonia

Employees electing parental leave 61 45 24

thereof women 43 45 24

thereof men 18 – –
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 S1-17 

Incidents, complaints and  
severe human rights impacts

There was one report of a gender discrimination incident 
in 2023/24 that was classified as material, but an internal 
investigation did not result in confirmation. One further 
report, which was received anonymously, did not meet 
the necessary criteria for an internal investigation. The 
whistle-blowers were informed of these decisions over 
the bilaterial communication platform in the whistle- 
blower system. In addition, one case of discrimination 
was reported to and processed by the responsible 
human resources department.

Highest annual total remuneration in  
relation to the median total remuneration  
of all employees

The ratio between the annual total remuneration of 
the highest paid person in the Group and the median 
of all employees equalled roughly 34.1:1 for EVN 
in 2023/24. 

Country-specific ratios were also calculated to address 
the differences in purchasing power and wage levels in 
our individual core markets and are presented in the 
table below:

 S1-16 

Ratio of median compensation  
to the highest total annual compensation 
by core market

Country 2023/24

Austria 10.3:1

Bulgaria 7.9:1

North Macedonia 9.4:1

A comparison of the remuneration of all salaried 
 workers in Austria resulted in a gender pay gap of 
16.5% in 2023/24. EVN’s gender-specific remunera-
tion difference in Austria is primarily attributable to 
the branch, which is currently dominated by men. To 
increase the share of women in the EVN Group and 
to support career planning, above all for highly quali-
fied women, a variety of programmes and initiatives 
have been in operation in Austria, Bulgaria and North 
Macedonia for many years. Their objective is to increase 
the percentage of women over the medium term to 
a level that mirrors the current educational levels in the 
 applicable professional group. We thereby also want 
to increase the number of female managers and, at 
the same time, create the basis for a continuous increase 
in their  number. EVN also consciously supports manage-
ment positions on a part-time basis.

 S1-16 

Gender pay gap in  Austria

% 2023/24

Gender pay gap 16.5

Our measures to support the work-life balance have 
produced the first successful results. These activities 
include, among others, flexible working time models, 
home office, individual support for re-entry after 
 parental leave, childcare during vacations, information 
events for employees on parental leave, and an exten-
sive training and educational programme that is also 
open to employees on leave. 

 S1-16 

Remuneration metrics  
(pay gap and total compensation)

We are committed to fair, equitable and, above all, 
 gender-neutral remuneration. This belief is anchored in 
our manual on sustainable human resources management 
and in the Group policy on employees. The latter defines 
the principles and procedures for the assessment and 
management of the material impacts, risks and opportu-
nities on employees arising from our activities. Our 
employees’ compensation is independent of gender and 
based on the specific responsibilities and qualifications.

In preparation for the implementation of the CSRD, 
we carried out an analysis of EVN’s gender pay gap in 
Austria as a first step. The determination and calculation 
of the gender pay gap for the entire EVN Group is still 
in progress and scheduled for completion in 2024/25. 
We are planning to develop country-specific metrics to 
address the differences in purchasing power between 
our individual core markets. The calculation of the 
 gender pay gap is based on the number of employees 
(full-time equivalent) and the average remuneration 
per employee. Remuneration includes all wages/salaries 
and other related components for the reporting period 
which are not one-off.

The Austrian Equal Opportunity Act requires companies 
with more than 150 employees to submit a biannual 
remuneration report on the compensation paid to 
women and men (§ 11a of the Equal Opportunity Act). 
All companies in the EVN Group with a workforce above 
this legally defined threshold prepared the required 
report and submitted it to the Central Works Council.
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 ESRS S2 

Workers in the 
value chain

EVN is committed to the sustainable orientation of all 
procurement processes in order to make a positive 
 contribution to the realisation of the European Green 
Deal. This approach also reflects the Sustainable Devel-
opment Goals (SDGs) of the United Nations (UN) (espe-
cially SDG 12: Responsible consumption & production). 
EVN was certified as a Level 2 sustainable procurement 
organisation across national borders by the German 
Federal Association of Materials Management, Purchas-
ing and Logistics (“Bundesverband Materialwirtschaft, 
Einkauf und Logistik e. V.”, BME). 

 ESRS 2 SBM-2 

Disclosure requirement – interests and views of 
stakeholders

Our strategic supplier management includes regular 
active exchanges with our business partners. In addition 
to a digital e-procurement platform, hearings and on-site 
visits, EVN’s whistle-blower system is available to the 
stakeholder group “workers in value chain“. It facilitates 
direct contact, also anonymously, with the responsible 
EVN officers. The gradual expansion of appropriate com-

Material risks

 • Working conditions: reputation loss, 

sanctions and/or supply chain disruptions 

due to inadequate occupational health 

and safety protection by business 

 partners

Material positive impacts

 • Equal treatment and equal opportunities 

for all: knowledge transfer for workers in 

the value chain and strengthening of 

their employability on the labour market

Material negative impacts

 • Other work-related rights/child labour: 

violations of human rights related to  

child labour along the value chain

 • Other work-related rights/forced labour: 

violations of human rights related to 

forced labour along the value chain

Policies and engagement

 • Group policy on “workers in the value 

chain“

 • Strategic supplier management

 • EVN Integrity Clause

Targets

 • Preparation of a policy for an ESG  

training organisation for employees in 

EVN‘s central procurement units  

by 30 September 2025 to strengthen  

ESG expertise 

 • Detailed ESG tender requirements  

by 30 June 2025 for the merchandise 

groups with the highest ESG risk

 • Development of measures by  

30 September 2025 for the impacts,  

risks and opportunities ranked  

according to the materiality and  

value chain analysis 

Responsibilities

 • Group function “procurement and  

purchasing“ which reports to the CFO
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Data on our Tier 1 suppliers is supplemented by actual 
sub-supplier data (Tier 2 suppliers) to the extent this 
information is available. If the data situation is incom-
plete, we make assumptions on the basis of research 
papers and databases. This procedure outlines the value 
chain from the Tier 1 suppliers to Tier n suppliers to 
permit the identification of any impacts and risks for the 
stakeholder group “workers in the value chain“.

The further classification of workers in our value chain 
also includes the types of activities performed in produc-
tion or the provision of services and the related risks. For 
example: The issues examined also cover the possible 
use of atypical working models by a branch assigned to 
a particular merchandise group (e. g. zero-hour con-
tracts, workers without identity documents or migrant 
workers) or possible differences in the treatment of 
employees according to gender, race or other factors. 

Based on this structured analysis, workers in the value 
chain can be classified as follows:

• Workers at the company’s location who are not part 
of the own workforce

• Workers at companies in the upstream value chain
• Workers at companies in the downstream value 

chain 
• Workers who are particularly vulnerable due to 

 inherent characteristics or special circumstances, 
above all
 – Women and girls
 – Young workers
 – Workers with migration status or different ethnic 

affiliation
 – Workers with a non-heterosexual orientation

munication channels, e. g. the dialogue with suppliers‘ 
works councils or employee representatives, is planned 
and should subsequently support the integration of 
results in our strategic supplier management. The con-
cerns of workers in the value chain can then become 
part of EVN’s double materiality analysis.

 ESRS 2 SBM-3 

Disclosure requirement – material impacts,  
risks and opportunities

We follow a risk-based, Group-wide approach to analyse 
our value chain and to classify the involved stakeholder 
group “workers in the value chain“. It is based on two 
pillars: strategic supplier management and merchandise 
group management. The resulting systematic process 
permits the adequate identification, assessment and 
management of the material impacts, risks and oppor-
tunities connected with these interested parties – 
 especially as regards compliance with human rights.

 For detailed information on EVN‘s value chain analysis 

( strategic supplier management, merchandise group 

 management), see page 27ff.

Tier 1 suppliers in EVN‘s value chain are generally whole-
sellers, whose headquarters are generally located within 
the national borders of our subsidiaries. Most of these 
business partners are therefore located in Bulgaria,  Ger - 
many, Croatia, North Macedonia and Austria. In 2023/24, 
93.43% of our total procurement volume (in euros) origi-
nated in the EU, EEA respectively EFTA or Great Britain. 
These countries can be assumed to have fundamentally 
high legal minimum standards for workers’ rights.

The analysis carried out in 2023/24 to evaluate the 
 material impacts, risks and opportunities related to the 
stakeholder group “workers in the value chain“ identi-
fied potential material (negative) impacts and risks in the 
following areas:

• Workplace health and safety
• Increase in diversity and reduction of gender-specific 

discrimination
• Prevention of child labour, forced labour and slavery
• Reduction of environmentally related human rights 

risks

Any identified risks or negative impacts to the workers in 
the value chain are evaluated and discussed with the 
involved suppliers. Our goal here is to develop and agree 
on remedial or improvement measures with the business 
partners in the event of irregularities. As a final step, the 
termination of the business relationship is also possible.

 For information on the material impacts, risks and opportu-

nities, also see section ESRS 2 IRO-1 on page 31ff.

 S2-1 

Policies related to workers in the value chain

EVN‘s strategic supplier management, which is based  
on the two pillars of supplier management and merchan-
dise group management, was implemented throughout 
the Group in alignment with the EU Taxonomy Regula-
tion. Supplier management ensures that all suppliers are 
screened by external service providers for potential risks 
(e. g. in the areas of sustainability, social minimum stand-
ards or compliance). Merchandise group management 

involves the annual assessment of the risks related to the 
criteria “market“, “ESG“, “legal“ and “supply security“ for 
all merchandise groups and subsequent mapping accord-
ing to a merchandise group score. These two pillars form 
the basis for our procurement strategies. 

The EVN Group has developed and implemented guide-
lines, principles and procedures, among others, to meet 
and, wherever possible, exceed legal regulations and the 
requirements of international frameworks. 

The following frameworks are a fixed part of our funda-
mental principles:

• United Nations Universal Declaration of Human 
Rights

• International Bill of Human Rights
• Declaration on Fundamental Rights and Principles at 

Work of the International Labour Organisation
• Guiding Principles of the United Nations for Business 

and Human Rights

The cornerstones of our strategy in connection with 
workers in the value chain are the Group policy for 
“workers in the value chain“, the EVN integrity clause as 
a fixed component of every procurement contract, and 
our human rights policy. They form the foundation for 
the following principles of conduct which apply to all 
procurement activities at EVN:
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• Compliance: Guaranteed compliance with legal 
requirements and the guidelines defined by interna-
tional frameworks

• Responsibility: Creation and strengthening of 
awareness for all employees on the importance of 
minimising the impacts and risks for workers in the 
value chain as part of his or her activities 

• Continuous improvement and active 

 management: Implementation of a continuous 
improvement process 

• Transparency: Active communication and 
 cooperation with business partners to increase 
and protect transparency in the value chain 

• Risk-based analysis: Risk-based approach for the 
analysis of the (negative) impacts, risks and oppor-
tunities for workers in the value chain based on 
EVN’s Group-wide strategic supplier management

To ensure compliance with all these requirements and 
measures, our contracts with suppliers include, among 
others, clauses that call for audits and, as an ultima ratio, 
the termination of a business relationship.

 For the Group policy on “workers in the value chain“, see 

www.evn.at/policies_S2 

 For EVN’s integrity clause, see www.evn.at/integrity-clause

 For EVN’s human rights policy, see  

www.evn.at/human-rights-policy

 S2-2, S2-3 

Processes for engaging with workers in the 
value chain about impacts; processes to 
 mitigate negative impacts and channels to  
raise concerns

At present, the stakeholder group “workers in the value 
chain“ has access to our whistle-blower system, which 
makes it possible to contact EVN, also anonymously. The 
gradual expansion of appropriate communication chan-
nels, e. g. the dialogue with suppliers‘ works councils or 
employee representatives, is planned and should subse-
quently support the integration of results in our strategic 
supplier management. The concerns of workers in the 
value chain can then become part of EVN’s double mate-
riality analysis.

The responsibilities and authorisations are clearly regu-
lated in Group-wide instructions for procurement and 
assigned to the corporate function procurement and 
purchasing. These instructions, together with the sus-
tainable procurement manual, define the organisation 
and design of sustainable procurement as well as the 
coordination of appropriate measures and ensure the 
inclusion of the interests of the stakeholder group 
“workers in the value chain“. 

EVN’s guidelines, principles and procedures are designed 
to meet and, wherever possible, exceed legal regulations 
and the requirements of international frameworks – and, 
above all, ensure compliance with human rights. Our 
integrity clause is therefore a fixed part of every procure-
ment contract, and we require our business partners to 
comply with the following principles:

• Labour rights are to be respected and followed in 
accordance with national laws, international labour 
standards and human rights agreements.

• Safe and healthy working conditions must be 
 guaranteed for employees in our value chain, just 
the same as measures to prevent accidents, injuries 
and work-related illnesses.

• The rights of employees to the freedom of associa-
tion, collective bargaining and wage agreements 
must be respected. Efforts to found and join unions 
should be supported.

EVN also requires its business partners to prevent forced 
labour, child labour, discrimination and (sexual) harass-
ment at the workplace and to take active steps to prevent 
and combat these practices.

Violations reported over the whistle-blowing system are 
documented anonymously to permit follow-up and the 
implementation of appropriate measures. Mandatory 
feedback to the whistle-blower ensures that the channel 
is efficient: Within three months after receipt of the 
report, the whistle-blower must be informed of the 
follow-up measures taken or planned, or the reasons for 
declining further action.

EVN also relies on the findings from relevant research 
reports or databases to determine the material risks for 
workers in the value chain in the respective countries. 
The information sources used for the risk analysis in 
2023/24 include, for example, the following.

• E = Environmental Performance Index  
(https://epi.yale.edu/epi-results/2022/component/epi)

• S = Global Rights Index  
(https://www.ituc-csi.org)

• G = Corruption Perception Index  
(https://www.transparency.org/en/cpi/2022)

The following research reports were also used (excerpt, 
partly only available in German): 

• “Potenzielle menschenrechtliche Risiken entlang der 
Liefer- und Wertschöpfungsketten“ (Branchendialog 
Energiewirtschaft, 2023)

• “Umweltrisiken und -auswirkungen in globalen 
 Lieferketten deutscher Unternehmen Branchenstudie 
Elektronikindustrie“ (Umweltbundesamt, 2023)

• “CSR Sector Risk Assessment” (Commissioned by the 
Minister for Foreign Trade and Development Cooper-
ation and the Minister of Economic Affairs, 2014)

• “Leitfaden zum Lieferkettensorgfaltspflichten gesetz 
(LkSG)“ (Bundesverband der Energie- und Wasser-
wirtschaft e. V., January 2024)

 S2-4 

Taking action on material impacts and 
approaches to manage material risks and 
 pursue material opportunities in connection 
with workers in the value chain, and the 
 effectiveness of these actions and approaches

In accordance with the procedures defined by the EVN 
Group’s strategic supplier management, 12 compensa-
tory measures were introduced in 2023/24. The process 
to identify, assess and manage material impacts, risks 
and opportunities includes the evaluation of any recog-
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were subject to a detailed analysis. It covered 
an in-depth screening of the business partners with 
the help of various sources, e. g. external ratings, 
digital platforms, research contracts, hearings and/or 
on-site audits as well as the joint development of 
measures. The main issues included an increase in 
diversity and the reduction of gender-specific dis-
crimination as well as the improvement of occupa-
tional safety and health. The screening for two 
 suppliers was completed in September 2024, and 
the third screening is scheduled for conclusion in 
November 2024.

• Software solutions for risk analysis and 

 monitoring: A software solution was purchased 
and installed in 2023/24 to support the detailed 
analysis and monitoring of the impacts, risks and 
opportunities in EVN’s value chain. 

 – EVN requires its business partners to respect the 
rights of employees to the freedom of association, 
collective bargaining and wage agreements and 
to support efforts to found and join unions.

• Prevention of child labour, forced labour and 

slavery

 – EVN requires its business partners to prevent 
forced labour, child labour, discrimination and 
harassment at the workplace and to undertake 
active measures to prevent and combat such 
practices.

• Reduction of environment-related human 

rights risks 

 – EVN supports positive social and economic 
 developments in the areas where it purchases 
goods or services.

 – EVN always strives to use the best available 
 technologies and proven procedures during the 
construction, operation and decommissioning 
of plants.

Examples of the measures implemented in 2023/24 to 
realise these principles are described in the following:
 
• Supplier roundtable: EVN Macedonia held its first 

supplier roundtable on 10 June 2024 to present 
 strategic supplier management to non-EU suppliers 
and explain the upcoming requirements of the new 
EU CSRD, CSDDD and CBAM norms. This format also 
provided new insights into the challenges facing 
suppliers.

• Cascading supplier analysis: In Austria, the first 
cascading supplier analysis took place beginning in 
July 2024. The three top suppliers from the procure-
ment areas “services“, “construction“ and “supplies“ 

 transactions were already qualified as ESG procurement 
in 2023/24, among others due to sustainability oriented 
contract clauses and best bidder criteria. 

The impact and risk analysis carried out during the 
reporting year led to the formulation of the following 
principles: 

• Increase in diversity and reduction of 

 gender-specific discrimination

 – EVN requires gender equality and diversity in its 
value chain and is committed to the fight against 
discrimination based on gender, sexual orienta-
tion, ethnic origin, religion, age or other personal 
characteristics.

 – EVN aims to achieve a balanced representation 
of women and men in its value chain in all areas 
and supports measures for the advancement of 
women in management positions and the elimi-
nation of gender-specific wage differences.

 – EVN requires its business partners to create an 
inclusive working environment that respects and 
promotes employee diversity and to ensure that 
all employees have the same opportunities and 
possibilities independent of their gender or 
other personal characteristics.

• Increase in occupational health and safety 

 – EVN requires its business partners to respect and 
comply with labour laws as defined by national 
legislation, international labour standards and 
human rights agreements.

 – EVN requires its business partners to guarantee 
safe and healthy working conditions for employees 
in EVN’s value chain and to undertake  measures to 
prevent accidents, injuries and  work- related 
illnesses.

nised risks or negative impacts on the stakeholder group 
“workers in the value chain“ and subsequent discussion 
with the involved suppliers. Our goal is to develop and 
agree on remedial or improvement measures for any 
deficiencies in a dialogue with the business partners. 

As a general objective, we want to discuss and manage 
all identified and urgent risks. The focus, however, is on 
the issues where the greatest influence is possible and 
where negative impacts and risks can be most effectively 
reduced or prevented. The determination of these focus 
issues is based on several factors: the relationship 
between EVN and the originator of the impact, risk or 
opportunity, the severity of the risk or impact, and 
EVN’s possibilities for direct influence. This is reflected 
in the following procedures:

• Step 1: Evaluation of the following criteria 
 – Potential influence of the company on the  

supplier or involved link in the value chain
 – Severity or degree, scope and irreversibility  

of the damage or risk or opportunity
 – Probability of occurrence

• Step 2: Weighting of the above criteria  
(one-third each)

EVN also takes preventive steps before all procurement 
procedures. They include, among others, the definition 
of appropriate minimum criteria for the tender docu-
ments in the form of our mandatory integrity clause. 
With these criteria, we can manage our procurement 
activities and meet or sustainability goals. All our procure-
ment transactions currently reflect the Group-wide 
requirements for sustainable procurement. We strength-
ened these criteria in preparation for the mandatory 
application of CSRD and created an internal criteria list 
for ESG procurement. One-fifth of all procurement 
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Medium term

• Development of a policy for a branch-wide 
ESG  procurement stakeholder programme by 
30  September 2026

• Development of pilot system to evaluate and 
strengthen the inclusion of perspectives from 
 workers in the value chain for sustainable 
 procurement by 31 December 2025

 S2-5 

Targets related to managing material impacts, 
advancing positive impacts and managing 
material risks and opportunities

As part of our preparations for meeting CSRD require-
ments and the related ESRS, we are following the goals 
listed below in connection with the impacts, risks and 
opportunities for the stakeholder group “workers in the 
value chain“: 

Short term
 
• Comprehensive use of a software solution to support 

the determination of impacts, risks and opportunities 
in EVN’s value chain in 2024/25

• Preparation of a policy for an ESG training organisa-
tion for employees in EVN’s central procurement 
units by 30 September 2025 to strengthen their ESG 
competence and thereby the quality of sustainable 
procurement

• Detailed ESG tender requirements for the merchan-
dise groups in each core market with the highest ESG 
risk by 30 June 2025

• Development of measures by 30 September 2025 for 
impacts, risks and opportunities ranked according to 
the materiality and value chain analysis

• Development and implementation of an ESG audit 
system for suppliers with high ESG risk by 30 Sep-
tember 2025
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 ESRS S3 

Affected communities

We view the social acceptance of our work as a basic 
requirement for EVN’s sustainable, long-term success 
and positive perception by the public. In all decisions, 
we create and maintain an appropriate and equitable 
balance between the diverse concerns shared with us 
by our various stakeholder groups.

 ESRS 2 SBM-2 

Disclosure requirement –  
interests and views of stakeholders

We are committed to a proactive, respectful and 
 constructive dialogue with all communities affected 

by our business activities. The resulting insights  provide 
a viable basis for our decisions. In addition to the 
EVN Code of Conduct, this commitment is also anchored 
in our Group policy “engagement with affected commu-
nities“ as an important management principle. Affected 
communities can encompass a wide variety of groups or 
individuals and include, in particular, the following for 
EVN:

• Municipalities: Included here are urban or 
rural communities, respectively cities or villages 
that are, or could be, directly affected by our 
 business activities.

• Neighbouring residents: These are individuals 
who live or organisations which operate near our 
plants or projects and could possibly be directly 
affected by our activities.

• Citizens‘ initiatives: These are organised groups 
with concerns over concrete projects.

• Non-governmental organisations (NGOs): NGOs 
can be active at the local, national and/or interna-
tional level on a variety of issues that are relevant for 
our business practices, e. g. environmental protec-
tion, human rights or social justice.

• Cultural and social minorities: These groups can 
have special concerns or needs due to their cultural, 
ethnic, religious or social identity.

Material positive impacts

 • Economic, social and cultural rights of 

communities 

 – Protection of energy supplies for 

society and business as the provincial 

energy provider (incl. coverage of 

consumption peaks, protection of 

network stability and prevention of 

network disruptions and blackouts)

 – Provision of infrastructure (energy, 

drinking water and telecommunica-

tions) as the economic contribution 

by the provincial energy supplier

 – Contribution to technological 

 development in the area of renew-

able energies through the realisation 

of related projects 

Policies

 • Group policy “engagement with affected 

communities“

 • EVN Code of Conduct

 • EVN human rights policy

Social engagement

 • Proactive project communications

 • EVN social fund

 • EVN energy assistance fund 

 • EVN energy advising

 • EVN school and daycare service

EVN’s stakeholders and the type of involvement

(Extract) Survey

Ongoing  
and regular 

 contact

Working group, forum,
Annual General Meeting  

(1–2 times per year or more often)

Advisory boards,
expert committees

(1–2 times per year or more often)
Supervisory

Board

Employees + + + + +

Customers + + + + +

Business partners + + + + +

Civil society + + + + –

Media + + + – –

Capital markets + + + + +
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• Protection of energy supplies for society and 
 business as the provincial energy provider (including 
coverage of consumption peaks, protection of 
 network stability and prevention of network 
 disruptions and blackouts)

• Provision of infrastructure (energy, drinking water 
and telecommunications) as the economic contribu-
tion by the provincial energy supplier

• Contribution to technological development in the 
area of renewable energies through the realisation 
of related projects

 For additional information on the material impacts, risks and 

opportunities, also see section ESRS 2 IRO-1 on page 31ff

 S3-1 

Policies related to affected communities

In addition to the Group policy on engagement with 
affected communities, the EVN Code of Conduct and 
the EVN human rights policy, our Strategy 2030 – which 
is illustrated by the motto “More sustainable. More digi-
tal. More efficient.” – defines rules of conduct for inter-
action with affected communities. We are committed to 
making an active contribution to reducing greenhouse 
gas emissions and thereby containing climate warming. 
The EVN Climate Initiative "EVN for the climate" was 
developed in 2020/21 and the key goals – for example, 
the decarbonisation targets coordinated with the Sci-
ence Based Targets initiative – were closely aligned with 
EVN’s strategy. Additional staff was added to the project 
communication and climate dialogue team, and an 
extensive training concept was launched under the title 
“Project Communication 2.0” to support infrastructure 
project managers. “EVN for the climate” established the 
content-related foundation for presentations to political 
decision-makers and information events for infrastruc-

 For the EVN Code of Conduct, see  

www.evn.at/code-of-conduct 

 For information on active memberships, also see  

www.evn.at/memberships

 ESRS 2 SBM-3 

Disclosure requirement – material impacts,  
risks and opportunities

We are aware of the impacts of our activities on our 
stakeholders and take our responsibility for the commu-
nities affected by our activities very seriously. In addition 
to documents on our fundamental principles and con-
duct, we issued a Group policy on engagement with 
affected communities in 2023/24. It serves as a guideline 
for our efforts to identify, assess and manage the mate-
rial impacts, risks and opportunities related to the 
above-mentioned persons and interest groups. This 
policy also defines the principles and processes that form 
the basis to involve affected communities in our business 
processes. Our goal is to not only fulfil but – wherever 
possible – to exceed legal requirements. We are commit-
ted to continuously optimise the cooperation with 
directly and indirectly involved interest groups in line 
with the EVN Code of Conduct, the EVN human rights 
policy and all related legal regulations and policies.

Our double materiality analysis in 2023/24 identified, 
in particular, the communities near our projects and 
power plants as groups of persons that could be nega-
tively impacted by our business activities. The analysis 
also showed that the actual material impacts of our 
engagement are positive for these communities, espe-
cially due to their economic, social and cultural rights.

The analysed positive impacts on affected communities 
can be summarised as follows:

• Professional, structured and proactive 
 communications with all local stakeholders

• Support for municipalities in their communica-
tions and mediation in conflict situations

The information activities for our various projects are 
carried out in close coordination and cooperation with 
the respective project managers and other responsible 
persons. Local stakeholders can, of course, contact 
EVN at any time to discuss their concerns. In addition 
to direct contact with the project managers or project 
communication team via dialog@evn.at, this is also 
possible over the EVN service telephone or via e-mail 
to info@evn.at.

Engaging with stakeholders

We play an important role in the functioning of public 
life and the economy through the operation of our infra-
structure and our wide-ranging services. In order to 
meet these commitments as best as possible, we main-
tain voluntary or legally required memberships with 
numerous national and international organisations and 
interest groups. Examples of these memberships are 
Oesterreichs Energie and Eurelectric as industry associa-
tions. In the social and ecological context we are mem-
bers, among others, of the UN Global Compact and 
respACT. The activities related to these memberships 
take place in agreement with our Code of Conduct. In 
accordance with legal regulations, EVN is also listed in 
the Austrian lobbying and interest group register and 
the transparency register of the European Union.

 For information on the inclusion of the interests and  

views of affected communities, also see section ESRS 2 

SBM-2 on page 30

Our open approach to communications includes regular 
stakeholder surveys as well as direct contacts, for exam-
ple at trade fairs, information events or tours with the 
EVN Info bus, which creates the basis for mutual under-
standing. The same applies to the communication activi-
ties connected with specific projects. This is an important 
factor for the joint development of alternative solutions 
to projects that involve conflicting interests. Other posi-
tive effects include greater planning security and quality 
as well as more intensive and professional interaction 
with neighbouring residents and local initiatives. The 
experience with previous projects also plays an important 
role here. Ecological and social aspects are included in 
the development of all our projects and the related due 
diligence audits from the very beginning. These audits 
are carried out before the start of every project and form 
the basis for the Executive Board’s decision processes 
and, for certain large-scale projects, the necessary Super-
visory Board approval.

Our stakeholder dialogue is primarily intended to support 
the following goals: 

• High acceptance by all stakeholders
• Support for the feasibility of projects
• Positive perception of the company and  

its activities
• Reduction of risks and prevention of  

damage to EVN’s reputation

Communications with the people who are directly 
affected by a project planned by EVN are based on the 
following principles:

• Early identification of the expectations and  
requirements 

• Transparent and comprehensive project information
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 S3-4 

Taking action on material impacts, and 
approaches to mitigating material risks and 
pursuing material opportunities related to 
affected communities, and effectiveness of 
those actions and approaches

EVN uses the following measures, above all for project 
communication and social engagement:

Project communication

The public is taking an increasingly critical view of the 
projects required to meet our mandate for energy 
 generation, networks and drinking water supplies. This 
leads, in turn, to rising demands on successful project 
communications. To address these trends, we created 
the “project communication and climate dialogue” 
team and developed a special training programme to 
strengthen project managers’ communicative and 
 strategic skills. The training content covers managing 
difficult situations and the conflicts which can arise in 
connection with infrastructure projects. It gives partici-
pants the skills to carry out open communications with 
relevant stakeholders like NGOs and citizens‘ initiatives 
and solve conflicts at an early point in time. In this 
way, we reinforce project communications and conflict 
 management in the involved Group companies. We want 
to strengthen the confidence of and acceptance by the 
involved stakeholders and support the successful realisa-
tion of our projects. At the same time, we want to 
ensure the greatest possible satisfaction for the people 
affected by our projects. 

 S3-2, S3-3 

Processes for engaging with affected 
 communities about potential (negative) 
impacts; processes to remediate negative 
impacts and channels for affected  
communities to raise concerns

Ecological and social aspects are included in the 
 development of all our projects and the related due 
diligence audits from the very beginning. This involves 
the analysis of the communities affected by a project 
or construction work as well as adequate preparations 
for the necessary project communication. Close coordi-
nation and cooperation with the project managers and 
other responsible persons are important issues. Local 
stakeholders can, of course, contact EVN at any time 
to discuss their concerns. In addition to direct contact 
with the project managers or project communication 
team via dialog@evn.at, this is also possible over the 
EVN service telephone or via e-mail to info@evn.at.

EVN’s whistle-blower system is also available to involved 
persons, communities or groups of persons who want 
to contact EVN anonymously with their  concerns or 
interests. Concerns over unethical or illegal conduct, 
above all in connection with negative impacts on 
affected communities, can be reported easily in  person, 
by telephone, over specific compliance email addresses 
or over a whistle-blower system hosted by an external 
service provider. These options are available throughout 
the Group and in the main languages of the EVN Group. 
The whistle-blowing procedure was designed to ensure 
the complete, objective and efficient clarification of 
reported violations of the EVN Code of Conduct.

In this connection, we have defined the following action 
lines (selection): 
 
• Competence development: We conduct training 

and workshops to strengthen the awareness for 
and understanding of the rights and interests of 
affected communities. 

• Fostering partnerships: We build partnerships 
with local organisations and NGOs and cultivate 
these partnerships to better understand and support 
the needs and interests of affected communities. 

• Social investments: We make social investments 
and carry out joint development projects that have 
a positive impact on affected communities. 

• Environmental impact assessments: We arrange 
for environmental impact assessments to identify 
and minimise potential negative impacts on affected 
communities.

• Monitoring and evaluation: We monitor and eval-
uate the impacts of our business activities on affected 
communities to identify and prevent potential nega-
tive effects at an early stage and to support positive 
impacts. 

• Complaint mechanisms: We install low-barrier, 
effective complaint mechanisms to record and address 
the concerns and complaints of affected communities.

 For the Group Policy “engagement with affected 

 communities“, see www.evn.at/policy_S3

 For the EVN Code of Conduct see  

www.evn.at/code-of-conduct

 For the EVN human rights policy, see  

www.evn.at/human-rights-policy  

ture projects and explains that our project planning is 
sustainable and reasonable.

Our engagement with affected communities is based on 
the following principles of conduct, which apply to all 
our business activities:

• Responsibility: All employees are responsible for 
conducting a respectful, transparent dialogue on an 
equal basis with affected communities. 

• Compliance: We are committed to compliance  
with all relevant legal regulations and standards. 
Wherever possible, we work to exceed mandatory 
requirements. 

• Internal policies: We are committed to compliance 
with all internal policies and processes concerning 
our cooperation with affected communities. 

• Active management: We document our activities 
for the involvement of affected communities and 
improve these activities in the event of deficiencies. 

• Continuous improvement: Our goal is to continu-
ously improve our practices and find innovative 
 solutions to ensure the fair involvement of affected 
communities.
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• EVN Social Fund: The EVN Social Fund, which has 
an annual endowment of roughly EUR 150,000, 
supports institutions in Lower Austria that work with 
children and adolescents. Decisions on the projects 
to be sponsored are taken by an expert committee 
that meets twice each year. The recommendations 
for the use of funds are made unanimously to the 
Executive Board based on a predefined criteria cata-
logue. In 2023/24, this fund supported 22 projects 
with a total of EUR 132,500. 

 Also see www.evn.at/social-fund (German only)

• evn collection: The evn collection was founded in 
1995. It is a selection of international, contemporary 
art that is curated by well-known experts on the 
EVN Art Advisory Board. Our corporate collection is 
designed to create a platform for a critical confronta-
tion with the visual arts and is directed not only to 
our employees and their families but also to art 
enthusiasts outside the company.

 Also see www.evn-sammlung.at (German only) 

• kabelplus school programme: Our kabelplus 
subsidiary also holds school workshops on the safe 
use of digital media, actions to deal with fake news, 
and the identification of false information. Modules 
on subjects like “online actions & energy consump-
tion”, “fake news”, “safe Internet” and “netiquette 
and cyber bullying” are designed to increase the 
awareness and responsibility of young people in using 
their digital space. kabelplus also offers training 
sessions on basic digital skills for the 60+ generation. 
The initiative “safe Internet use” for senior citizens 
provides the necessary fundamentals for secure first 
steps with the Internet and cell phones.

 Also see www.kabelplus.at/onlinesicher (German only)

 

• EVN Junior Ranger Programme: External experts 
provide young people with theoretical and practical 
knowledge on a variety of subjects ranging from 
hydrobiology, flora and fauna in water meadows, 
river ecology and fisheries as well as nature and river 
conservation. The programme is generally held at and 
around the Erlaufklause Reservoir, which is located 
near one of our hydropower plants in Lower Austria.

• Bonus points for a good cause: In the EVN Bonus 
World, our customers can take advantage of various 
offers to use the bonus points they collect with their 
energy purchases or the use of other EVN services. 
Bonus points can be used as financial compensation 
through the payment of the customers’ bills or as a 
contribution to various charitable projects.

Social engagement

We place great value on our regional roots in all 
 countries where we are active. We promote and support 
activities and initiatives – by our employees as well as 
third parties – in the areas of art, culture, social issues 
and sport – on both a material and immaterial basis. This 
includes a corporate culture that is open to dialogue, 
inside as well as outside our company. Consequently, 
we also participate in numerous social and cultural 
 initiatives outside the scope of our operating business to 
address these general issues. The focal points of our 
social commitment also include the education of children 
and young people as well as improving the quality of 
life for people in challenging situations.

Following are several examples of our activities in the 
social context: 

• EVN School Service: One focal point of our 
youth and school platform involves the transfer of 
knowledge on the careful use of energy, energy 
efficiency and energy savings. The EVN School 
 Service was established for this purpose in Lower 
Austria, Bulgaria and North Macedonia to organise 
projects, lectures and competitions for children and 
young people. We spent a total of TEUR 606.7 in 
our three core markets during 2023/24 (previous 
year: TEUR 603.3) to finance these activities, above 
all for the purchase and preparation of learning and 
teaching materials as well as experiment kits.

 Also see www.young.evn.at (German only)
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Material positive impacts

 • High availability and openness to 

 dialogue by the company through 

 low- barrier possibilities to report com-

plaints and the active inclusion of 

and communication with customers

 • Reduction of energy consumption and 

improvement of consumption behaviour 

through awareness creation, advising 

to optimise energy consumption and the 

use of smart technologies

 • Non-discrimination; access to products 

and services

 • Protection for the quality of life through 

the fight against and prevention of 

energy poverty; safe energy supplies for 

all customer groups independent of their 

economic situation 

Material negative impacts

 • Data misuse (e. g. following a cy ber-

attack) as a potential danger for personal 

privacy

 ESRS S4 

Consumers and 
end customers
Reliable supplies of elementary services for our custom-
ers are our top priority. We also want to stay as close as 
possible to our customers, whom we work to assist as 
quickly, easily and individually as possible.

Policies and engagement

 • Group policy “engagement with 

 customers“

 • EVN customer promise and EVN  

 customer charter

 • EVN Code of Conduct

 • High standards for information  

security (certification under ISO 27001), 

cyber security and data protection

 • Certification of EVN customer service 

under ISO 18295-1

 • Support for vulnerable customer groups

 • Wide-ranging measures in the area of 

customer health and safety

Responsibilities

 • Corporate function ”customer relations“ 

which reports to the CEO
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The last event of this type was held in autumn 2024 and 
addressed specific issues and the challenges faced in 
daily activities and formed the basis for the development 
of Group-wide measures to increase customer satisfac-
tion. These quality assurance measures are reinforced by 
high priority on training for our customer relations 
team – increasingly also through digital e-learning for-
mats. An intensive, three-week training cycle for new 
employees makes these men and women fit for cus-
tomer contacts as quickly as possible and is followed by 
a further three months with continuous support. Sub-
sequently, regular in-depth instructions take place. The 
content of the training programmes not only covers 
conduct principles for dealing with customers but also 
includes measures to improve the psychological 
 resilience of our employees.

For customers whose first language is not their respec-
tive national language, we offer advising services in 
their native language. That allows us to address the 
individual needs of our customers when our assistance 
is needed. The great diversity of our team – which 
includes numerous colleagues with different native 
languages – makes this possible.

We are also increasingly relying on digitalisation to 
meet the steadily growing demands of our customers. 
Artificial intelligence (AI) and intelligent process auto-
mation play a decisive role in this context. One example 
of the latter is the so-called Robotic Process Automation 
(RPA) which frequently helps us to master repetitive 
tasks. We also gained our first experience with auto-
mated, voice-supported responses to standard ques-
tions and the AI-supported processing of e-mails. The 
digitalisation of our “Meine EVN” service portal is 
 continuing to improve transparency and provide more 

 ESRS 2 SBM-2 

Disclosure requirement – interests and  
views of stakeholders

Extensive know-how is required for our services and 
advising because our product and service portfolio is just 
as diverse as our customers’ concerns. These concerns 
range from basic issues – like the registration and cancel-
lation of services, assistance with tariffs or questions on 
invoices – to special requests for energy advising or in 
connection with the sale of energy-efficient services and 
products. We define customer satisfaction, on the one 
hand, through products and services that meet individual 
needs and are transparently invoiced. On the other hand, 
customer satisfaction is also a result of high service qual-
ity, target group-oriented communication, and assistance 
for our customers on issues involving the efficient use of 
energy. In these key areas, our goal is to create and 
maintain a fair and highly professional partnership with 
our customers in all our markets.

In addition to conventional communication channels 
such as telephone conversations, e-mails, digital inquiries 
over our “Meine EVN” service portal or customer visits, 
active complaint management is also an important 
 priority. We systematically document and evaluate all 
reports from dissatisfied customers and analyse them in 
detail to develop specific measures for improvement. 
This structured quality assurance cycle makes an impor-
tant contribution to continuously improving the quality 
of our services and our complaint management.

To continuously improve the performance at our cus-
tomer interfaces, our annual customer service week 
gives our staffs from Austria, Bulgaria, North Macedonia 
and Croatia an opportunity to share their experiences. 

detailed information for digital-savvy customers. They 
can use this service to query their invoiced consump-
tion, tariff details and information on bonus points or 
the status of energy subsidies. Various activities can also 
be managed in self- service around the clock from this 
web portal, ranging from a simple tariff change to the 
adjustment of payment settings and digital requests for 
contract forms to handle the feed-in of electricity from 
photovoltaic equipment. Netz Niederösterreich has also 
introduced various online services for its customers. 
Digital options on the website (www.netz-noe.at) now 
make standard processes such as the application for a 
network connection much easier. Customers can then 
follow the progress of their inquiries online, record the 
meter readings and much more.

To take into account the interests, concerns and points of 
view of our customers, EVN installed a Customer Advi-
sory Board in 2011. This advisory board, which serves as 
a platform for elected customer representatives to dis-
cuss their needs and concerns with management and 
experts, was relaunched in a new digital format during 
2022/23. Customers interested in providing feedback can 
register voluntarily online under https://mein-feedback.
at/. The goal of the relaunch was to create a large group 
who will be asked online and  onsite – quickly, flexibly 
and easily – to express their opinions on current and 
future products and services. Bulgaria has established 
two separate customer advisory boards – one for heat 
and one for electricity – which consist of fixed members. 
They meet twice each year with representatives of EVN 
to discuss customer issues.

For issues requiring a more in-depth dialogue with our 
customers, we also use the EVN info bus. The accompa-
nying information campaign in spring 2023 helped us to 

personally inform our customers of the replacement of 
the previous Klassik tariff and the options for changing 
to a new tariff. Our staff visited a total of 469 communi-
ties in Lower Austria over a period of eight weeks as part 
of this campaign. In previous years, the EVN info bus 
also successfully supported our information campaigns in 
autumn 2022 and during the spring and summer 2024. 
The current schedules and locations for our popular EVN 
info bus are always available on our website.

Our customer service in Austria, Bulgaria and North 
Macedonia registered over 4.5m customer contacts in 
2023/24 (previous year: 4.3m), whereby the telephone 
was the most frequently used communication channel. 

 For information on digital customer feedback at EVN, see  

www.mein-feedback.at (German only) 

 For information on the EVN info bus, see  

www.evn.at/home/evn-infotour (German only)
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• Continuous improvement: We optimise our pro-
cesses to ensure continuous engagement with cus-
tomers.  

• Inclusion of customers: We integrate customers  
in an ongoing feedback process for the quality assur-
ance of our service performance.  

• Awareness creation: We promote an awareness 
among our managers and employees for the material 
risks related to our customers and train our special-
ists to minimise these risks.  

In summer 2024, we reinforced our promise to custom-
ers by issuing a customer charter under the motto “fair-
ness and transparency: our promise to our customers“.  
It covers our commitment to understand and meet our 
customers’ needs, expectations and concerns. The con-
tent of the charter is reviewed and updated on a regular 
basis, which ensures that we meet the needs and expec-
tations of our customers as best as possible and at all 
times.

Transparent electricity labelling

Another important element of our customer orientation 
is transparent product labelling. In accordance with legal 
electricity labelling requirements, we disclose all informa-
tion on the electricity delivered to our customers in 
Austria: the geographical origin of the energy, composi-
tion by primary energy carriers and the environmental 
impact of its generation. We have made a voluntary, 
long-standing commitment to use no nuclear-generated 
electricity in our Austrian electricity products. The elec-
tricity we deliver in Austria originates entirely from certi-

established low-barrier possibilities to obtain information 
or file complaints and, in this way, actively include our 
customers.

Further positive impacts are created by our awareness 
efforts to support the reduction and optimisation of 
energy consumption and improve consumer behaviour. 
The support for and inclusion of vulnerable customer 
groups is also an important concern. Our social engage-
ment is also designed to improve the quality of life for 
people in challenging situations, for example through 
measures to combat energy poverty.

 For additional information on the material impacts, risks  

and opportunities, also see the section on ESRS 2 IRO-1 on 

page 31ff

 S4-1 

Policies related to consumers

Within the framework of the above-mentioned Group 
policy on the engagement with our customers and the 
EVN Code of Conduct, EVN is committed to the follow-
ing principles of conduct: 

• Management of impacts on customers: We 
include all potential positive and negative impacts on 
customers in our internal decision processes and the 
analysis of long-term risks.  

• Regular survey of impacts, risks and opportu-

nities: We identify, quantify and assess the impacts, 
risks and opportunities of our activities and locations 
on customers and implement measures to minimise 
the negative impacts on vulnerable customer groups.  

 ESRS 2 SBM-3 

Disclosure requirement – material impacts, risks 
and opportunities

We are aware of the impacts of our activities on custom-
ers and take our responsibility for their protection very 
seriously. This conviction is underscored, in particular, by 
our Group policy on the “engagement with customers” 
which serves as a guideline for our efforts to identify, 
assess and manage the material impacts, risks and 
opportunities related to customers. It defines the princi-
ples and processes that form the basis to monitor, con-
trol and/or reduce negative impacts on our customer 
stakeholder group. We ensure that we always meet legal 
requirements. This policy underscores our commitment 
to continuously improve our business practices through 
constant innovation and, in doing so, support the posi-
tive impacts of our products and services as well as our 
technical progress on consumers and end users. This 
commitment also reflects the Sustainable Development 
Goals (SDGs) of the United Nations (UN), which we have 
supported for many years.

The double materiality analysis in 2023/24 identified 
material negative impacts of our business activities on 
our customers. They are related primarily to data pro-
tection. The misuse of data, for example following a 
cyberattack, carries a material potential danger for our 
customers’ personal privacy and data.

Positive impacts are related, above all, to the freedom of 
opinion, access to high-quality information and social 
inclusion. The latter covers, among others, non-discrimi-
nation and the access to products and services. It docu-
ments our long-standing efforts to be easily accessible 
for and to seek a dialogue with our customers. We have 

Our promise to customers 

 • We are committed to understanding and meeting the 

needs, expectations and concerns of our customers. This 

charter underscores our promise and defines the princi-

ples for our actions. 

 • We want to offer our customers sustainable supply and 

price security. 

 • Through proactive energy procurement, we offer our 

customers optimal price and supply security. 

 • We communicate price changes quickly in line with the 

respective tariff. 

 • In line with the competitive orientation and capabilities 

on the energy markets, we aim to provide cost-effective, 

safe, environmentally compatible and efficient services. 

 • We safeguard energy supplies above and beyond legal 

requirements. For example: We purchase and store 

natural gas for our customers‘ heating requirements 

before the winter starts. 

 • The electricity sold to our household customers is gener-

ated entirely from renewable energies. 

 • We support the use of alternatives to fossil gas, e. g. 

biogas and biomass. 

 • We are increasing the use of renewable energies for heat 

supplies. 

 • We provide drinking water supplies in top quality, also in 

more distant regions. 

 • Our energy advising is focused on the needs of our 

customers. 

 • For our customers‘ photovoltaic equipment, we offer 

attractive feed-in options. 

 • We accept our social responsibility and actively cooper-

ate with relief organisations. For this purpose, we have 

established an energy assistance fund with an annual 

budget of EUR 3m. 
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Detailed information on measures to prevent potential 
negative impacts can be found under S4-4.

 For the inclusion of the interests and viewpoints of our 

 customers, also see the section on ESRS 2 SBM-2 on page 30

 S4-4 

Targets related to managing material impacts 
on customers and policies to manage  
material risks and opportunities in connection 
with customers and the effectiveness of  
these actions

In connection with the double materiality analysis 
in 2023/24, we identified material potential negative 
impacts of our business activities on our customers. 
They primarily concern information-related effects con-
nected with the protection of our customers’ data. The 
misuse of data, for example following a cyberattack, 
can represent a material potential danger for our cus-
tomers’ data and personal privacy.

Information security, cybersecurity and  
data protection

When we speak about supply security, we not only 
mean the generally visible generation and distribution 
infrastructure like power plants, wind parks, pipeline 
networks or transformer stations. No less important are 
the processes and measures in the background which 
ensure that electricity, natural gas, heat, water and our 
telecommunication services are reliably available around 

 S4-2, S4-3 

Processes for engaging with consumers to  
raise potential (negative) concerns;  
processes to mitigate negative impacts and  
channels to raise concerns

As described above, our customers can use the following 
communication channels to express their concerns and/
or raise issues:

• Telephone
• E-mail
• Digital inquiries over the “Meine EVN" service portal
• Feedback platform “Mein Feedback“
• Personal visits
• Complaint management 
• Customer Advisory Board
• Whistle-blower system

The whistle-blowing system makes it possible to contact 
EVN, also anonymously. Internal and external persons 
have access to a confidential and anonymous whistle- 
blowing procedure, which permits the reporting of 
(presumed) compliance violations. Concerns over uneth-
ical or illegal conduct, especially involving negative 
impacts for our customers, can be reported easily in 
person, by telephone, over specific compliance e-mail 
addresses or over a whistle-blower system hosted by an 
external service provider. These options are available 
throughout the Group and in the main languages of the 
EVN Group. The whistle-blowing system was designed 
to ensure the complete, objective and efficient clarifica-
tion of reported violations of the EVN Code of Conduct 
and the related category “customers”.

In Austria, we also evaluate our customers’ satisfaction 
with various aspects of their business relations with EVN 
based on a customer loyalty index which was specially 
designed to meet our requirements. The underlying 
indicators are used for the monthly monitoring and 
measurement of customer loyalty, while the index allows 
us to swiftly identify and react to changes in customer 
behaviour. 

Our customer service is certified under ISO 18295-1. 
The necessary review covers procedures and processes in 
customer service as well as the training concept for the 
customer relations team. The extensive ISO requirements 
were met in all areas and confirm the high quality of our 
customer service and compliance with all applicable legal 
regulations.

 For the Group policy “engagement with customers“,  

see www.evn.at/policy_S4 

 For the EVN customer charter, see  

www.evn.at/fairness (Germany only) 

 For the EVN Code of Conduct, see  

www.evn.at/code-of-conduct

 For information on product labelling, also see 

www.evn.at/herkunft (Germany only)

fied Austrian, renewable sources. The generation is 
therefore completely CO2-free and certified accordingly. 
In Bulgaria, electricity in the regulated market segments 
must be purchased from the state-owned energy sup-
plier NEK. This company does not label its generation or 
offer any product options, and our Bulgarian sales com-
pany therefore has no influence over the composition of 
the delivered electricity. The situation in North Macedonia 
is similar: Our sales subsidiary in this country is also legally 
required to purchase electricity for its customers in regu-
lated markets from the state-owned electricity company 
ESM and, therefore, cannot influence the composition of 
the delivered electricity. The sales companies in these 
two countries are not required to label their electricity.

Quality and customer satisfaction as top priority

We regularly commission independent, external surveys 
to analyse and evaluate the quality of our customer 
service and customer satisfaction in our three core 
markets. This shows us the effectiveness of our engage-
ment on behalf of our customers. The results of the 
monthly survey data and analyses are compared with 
the preceding period to follow the development of 
customer satisfaction and evaluate the relevant business 
transactions. The results provide valuable feedback on 
opportunities for improvement and, in a next step, are 
evaluated by the involved departments. This information 
flows into the definition of concrete approaches for 
improvement measures.
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and therefore also in all our markets, through data 
protection officers. They are responsible for strict com-
pliance with all data protection requirements and for 
creating an awareness for the importance of this subject 
among employees in their respective areas. A data 
protection manual provides detailed instructions for 
specific applications, for example the processing of data 
privacy requests and/or the deletion of information. The 
procedures for dealing with data protection incidents 
are also described. Similar to the Group’s ISMS, the data 
protection management system is regularly evaluated 
and updated. The issue of data protection is also exam-
ined annually as part of EVN’s risk inventory. A separate 
e-mail address is avail able for direct contact with EVN’s 
data protection officer: datenschutz@evn.at.

Support for vulnerable customer groups

EVN’s values also include a clear commitment to social 
responsibility because energy supplies must not only be 
reliable but also affordable. We realise that the increase 
in energy prices has created an enormous burden for 
financially weak households and have therefore intensi-
fied our efforts and initiatives to support customer 
groups with special needs. Our staffs in customer rela-
tions and the service centres are specially trained and 
informed to deal with these concerns. Over various chan-
nels (personal contacts, telephone and online), they offer 
individual assistance on issues ranging from energy sav-
ing tips to the management of payment difficulties and 
maintain active contact with our customers. We also 
provide energy saving tips on our website, through per-
sonal contacts in our service centres and as part of our 
info bus campaigns. Since the assistance for vulnerable 

identified by detailed protection requirements analyses 
are reviewed on an ongoing basis and improved when-
ever necessary. In this way, EVN ensures that its Informa-
tion Security Management Systems (ISMS) are always 
state-of-the-art.

The respective ISMS at EVN (corporate function IT), 
Netz Niederösterreich and EVN Wärmekraftwerke is also 
certified under ISO 27001. Preparations are currently in 
progress to certify other areas, including subsidiaries in 
Bulgaria und North Macedonia. We will then be well 
prepared for the routine NIS audits. The revision of the 
European NIS Directive (NIS2) expands the regulation’s 
scope of application, which means additional areas of 
the EVN Group will be covered by NIS2. In view of these 
upcoming requirements, we are working to bundle and 
even better coordinate security issues in the EVN Group.

EVN also sets the highest standards for the protection 
of personal data and business information. This basic 
approach has always been firmly anchored in our com-
pany and is reflected in the EVN Code of Conduct. 
Information security generally focuses on the smooth 
functioning of daily supply activities, while data protec-
tion is specifically directed to protecting the very per-
sonal rights of customers, employees and suppliers. 
Legal regulations also set high standards for this area, 
for example the EU General Data Protection Regulation 
(GDPR) and the Austrian Data Protection Act. In addi-
tion to the many technical protection measures and 
access restrictions described above, EVN relies on a 
comprehensive data protection management system 
that precisely defines responsibilities, roles and pro-
cesses in the company. The data protection manage-
ment system is broadly anchored in the organisation, 

At EVN, we use a multi-step protection concept to pro-
actively protect our infrastructure and minimise possible 
areas of attack. The overall system security is thereby 
not dependent on the effectiveness of a single factor 
because we use several measures in combination. It is, 
however, just as important to only allow access to neces-
sary information and to limit authorisations for critical 
systems to the absolute necessary minimum, in other 
words, based on the need-to-know and least privilege 
principles. The new Tec Centre at EVN headquarters has 
increased the level of security for particularly sensitive 
areas, e. g. the system operators responsible for EVN’s 
entire energy supplies, the cyber defence centre and the 
computing centre. The Tec Centre provides secure space 
for activities to support the supply functions. It is physi-
cally separated from the other corporate areas, shielded 
by structural measures and uses special access codes.  
It has been in full operation since July 2023 and is 
equipped with an uninterruptible power supply and 
modern fire-fighting equipment.

Cyberattacks can, however, never be completely pre-
vented and, consequently, reactive precautions are 
required. The cyber defence centre at EVN was installed 
to detect anomalies and identify a potential attack as 
early as possible. Reaction plans are in place and 
describe the necessary steps to repel an attack. We also 
simulate and train these types of situations on a regular 
basis. In Austria, we work closely with the Austrian 
Energy CERT (Computer Emergency Response Team) and 
internationally with EE-ISAC (European Energy – Infor-
mation Sharing & Analysis Centre) and ENCS (European 
Network for Cybersecurity) and are also in frequent 
contact with authorities like the Federal Ministry of 
Internal Affairs. The protective and detection measures 

the clock. Consequently, information security, cybersecu-
rity and data protection also play a central role.

Not only the failure of hardware, i. e. all types of operat-
ing equipment, can have wide-ranging consequences for 
supplies. The software – e. g. the controls for all systems 
and processes – must run smoothly if EVN wants to fulfil 
its supply mission without interruption. For this to be the 
case, all systems as well as the processed – and often 
highly sensitive – information and data must be strictly 
protected. EVN has implemented a bundle of measures 
to meet these goals. The status of system and data secu-
rity is also monitored continuously to quickly identify and 
realise opportunities for improvement.

This monitoring is required by legal regulations, on the 
one hand through the Network and Information Security 
Act with its extensive requirements for the protection of 
critical infrastructure – i. e. for electricity generation and 
the transport of electricity, natural gas and water. On the 
other hand, the Data Protection Act defines strict rules 
for the processing of personal data – at EVN, this con-
sists primarily of customer and employee data. The back-
ground in both cases is formed by legal requirements set 
by the European Union. Both areas are subject to strict 
requirements on technical access barriers for the equip-
ment and IT systems and also on organisations and 
processes to ensure that the information and data can 
only be seen by persons with a justified need for their 
work.

Especially in times when companies in the critical infra-
structure are increasingly the focus of cybercriminals, a 
high security level for all critical IT and OT systems (OT: 
Operational Technology) becomes even more important. 
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An emergency call centre is on duty around the clock, 
seven days a week, to handle disruptions and break-
downs. In addition to the fastest possible damage repair 
and restoration of supplies with our products, our 
employees take the necessary steps immediately on their 
arrival at the damage location to protect any involved 
persons. The emergency staff receive regular training, 
while duty personnel take part in annual training courses 
and all employees attend annual security training.

We have prepared comprehensive plans to deal with 
crises, emergencies and other contingencies and devel-
oped training programmes for major segments of our 
business, especially for vulnerable areas that also affect 
the population and the environment. Crisis situations are 
simulated regularly at all EVN locations. In addition, 
internal and external exercises and training sessions on 
crisis management are regularly held in Lower Austria. 
Crisis management systems have also been installed at 
our operations in Bulgaria and North Macedonia.

 Also see www.evn.at/customer-safety and  

www.evn.at/crisis-management 

To provide help in particular hardship cases, we estab-
lished an energy assistance fund in autumn 2022 with 
an annual endowment of EUR 3m. It provides affected 
households with professional energy advising, equip-
ment replacement or bridge financing for energy 
invoices. The distributions from this fund are handled 
by social institutions. 

Customer health and safety

We minimise the potential negative effects from our 
products on the health and safety of the public and our 
customers through careful, responsible actions along 
our entire value chain. The protection of our customers 
has top priority, above all with regard to energy supplies 
and network operations. Examples of the numerous 
measures and concepts in this area, among others, are:  

• Information (e. g. on our website) on the early 
 identification of damages to power lines and 
 equipment as well as safety rules if there is a  
smell of gas 

• Extensive occupational safety measures
• Replacement and/or maintenance investments to 

prevent technical defects and potential hazards 
• Protection and prevention concepts (especially for 

equipment in the electrical voltage range)
• Continuous inspection of natural gas networks and 

location of any leaky spots 
• Regular inspection of all natural gas equipment 

(based on the Natural Gas Safety Act)
• Ongoing control of equipment and safety measures

customers is dependent on their specific needs, the 
current market situation and social programmes in the 
specific markets, responsibility for the implementation 
of concrete initiatives lies with the individual Group 
companies.

In Austria, measures such as our cooperation with the 
Caritas and Diakonie social service organisations, the 
debt counselling service in Lower Austria and the Lower 
Austrian poverty network have proven successful for 
many years. Projects concentrate, among others, on 
measures to improve energy efficiency and on cost- 
cutting opportunities that often lead to significant 
 savings. We have had very good experience with pro-
grammes based on the “train the trainer” principle, 
which prepare social counsellors to conduct advising 
discussions (e. g. on subjects such as energy savings, 
potential sub sidies for heating costs etc.), and we also 
accompany the counsellors in their work with people 
threatened by poverty.

Our regular contacts with the above organisations make 
it easier to coordinate individually targeted measures for 
socially disadvantaged customers. The related measures 
involve individual agreements for payment deferrals or 
instalment payments as well as solutions developed 
together with aid organisations and social service pro-
viders. In justified individual cases, we are particularly 
accommodating to our customers’ problems and work 
with them early on to find solutions. The termination of 
contracts, for example, is something we see as an abso-
lute last resort and we do everything to avoid such steps 
wherever possible. As in the previous year, we waived 
the suspension of electricity, natural gas and heat 
 services for our household customers from 1 Decem-
ber 2023 to 31 March 2024.
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EVN has always been committed to ethical and honest 
behaviour, as is demonstrated by its values and the Code 
of Conduct. This section describes the policies estab-
lished by the Executive Board – in agreement with the 
Supervisory Board – for corporate management and a 
corporate culture that underscore this claim. Moreover, 
the ESG risk management process for ESRS G1 (govern-
ance) that was carried out in 2024 identified the material 
risk for EVN as a potential case of corruption that could 
lead to a loss of reputation and to (financial) sanctions. 

 For information on the ESG risk management process 

and on the material impacts, risks and opportunities,  

see page 31ff

 G1-1 

Governance structure and composition

Our vision, mission and corporate values together with 
our Group-wide binding documents on conduct and our 
operational rules form the EVN values that create the 
foundation for our entrepreneurial activities. These values 
not only cover all principles and rules for the conduct of 
our employees, suppliers and business partners, but also 
flow into our corporate strategy. 

Demanding principles in the sense of high responsibility 
for our daily supply and disposal responsibilities apply to 
the activities and management of our Group. Full compli-
ance with fundamental ethical principles and all legal 
requirements is a matter of course. As a member of the 
UN Global Compact, we are also expressly committed 
to compliance with the global principles of ethical eco-
nomic activities.

Corporate culture

At EVN, we place particular importance on ethical  
and legally compliant behaviour by all our employees, 
business partners and suppliers. To guarantee full 
 support for this commitment, we have implemented 
a series of compliance guidelines and measures that 
apply throughout the EVN Group. The starting point is 
the EVN Code of Conduct with its ten subject areas. It 
is based on the EVN values and regulates, among others, 
the aspects of our business activities in the areas of 
human rights, governance, corporate ethics, the preven-
tion of corruption, data protection, confidentiality and 
competitive behaviour, occupational safety and accident 
prevention as well as climate and environmental pro-
tection. Full compliance and strict observance of the 
EVN Code of Conduct represent Group-wide binding 
guidelines for our behaviour. The Code of Conduct is 
supplemented by additional guidelines for specific target 
groups such as employees or suppliers and for specific 
issues such as the prevention of corruption or competi-
tion regulations.

The rules in our Code of Conduct are based on a diverse 
group of principles and policies that were adapted to 
meet our company’s characteristics and requirements. 
They range from national laws and international regu-
lations, such as the OECD and UN Global Compact 
guidelines and agreements, to the policy statements and 
principles issued by the International Labour Organisa-
tion (ILO) as well as internal organisational directives and 
corporate principles that go beyond legal requirements. 
Reliability, transparency, trust and quality in our inter-
action with internal and external partners are the central 
guidelines. The EVN Code of Conduct was issued in 
German, English and the languages of our foreign sub-

sidiaries. It is also available to the general public on our 
website together with our human rights policy. Inter-
ested business partners can obtain detailed information 
on our compliance management at any time.

 For EVN’s integrity clause for suppliers, see page 27ff

 Also see www.evn.at/code-of-conduct and  

www.evn.at/human-rights-policy

EVN has had a separate compliance management system 
(CMS) since 2012 which is managed by the Chief Compli-
ance Officer (CCO). It defines a standardised framework 
for the entire Group, which supports the honest and 
legally compliant behaviour of our employees in their 
everyday business activities. The CMS is built on three 
main elements:

• Prevention through the creation of awareness 
and training 

• Identification of compliance risk areas and 
 violations of the Code of Conduct 

• Reaction through information and improvement 
as well as the introduction of any necessary 
measures

Whistle-blowing procedure

Internal and external persons have access to a confiden-
tial and anonymous whistle-blowing procedure, which 
permits the reporting of (presumed) compliance viola-
tions. Concerns over unethical or illegal conduct can 
be reported easily in person, by telephone, over specific 
compliance email addresses or over a whistle-blower 
system hosted by an external service provider. These 
options are available throughout the Group and in the 

 G1 
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We follow a risk-based approach throughout the Group 
to analyse our value chain(s) and the workers in the 
involved companies and to also determine and address 
any potential – above all, human rights – risks. As part 
of our supplier management, we query the ratings from 
internationally recognised rating agencies and risk moni-
toring platforms, collect self-declarations and carry out 
hearings and on-site audits to identify the risks associated 
with our direct suppliers and their direct sub-suppliers.

Identified risks are evaluated, and we then agree on 
corrective or improvement measures together with the 
involved supplier. To ensure compliance with all our 
requirements and the implementation of the agreed 
measures, our supplier contracts include clauses that 
permit audits or, as an ultima ratio, the termination of 
the business relationship. We also require our suppliers 
to comply with social minimum standards. This takes 
place through our supplier code of conduct, the 
so-called EVN integrity clause.

EVN is committed to the sustainable orientation of all 
procurement processes in order to make a positive 
 contribution to the realisation of the European Green 
Deal. This approach also reflects the Sustainable Devel-
opment Goals (SDGs) of the United Nations (UN) (espe-
cially SDG 12: Responsible consumption & production). 
As a pioneer for sustainable procurement, EVN was 
certified as a Level 2 sustainable procurement organisa-
tion across national borders by the German Federal 
Association of Materials Management, Purchasing and 
Logistics (“Bundesverband Materialwirtschaft, Einkauf 
und Logistik e.V.”, BME).

We are aware of the impacts of our procurement activi-
ties on the environment and society and are committed 
to the protection of natural resources and workers in our 

 G1-2 

Management of relationships with suppliers

Fair dealings with suppliers and business partners are 
anchored in the EVN Code of Conduct. Payment terms 
vary by country, whereby the maximum term of 30 days 
is generally not exceeded. Individual, shorter payment 
terms can also be agreed with smaller and mid-sized 
companies (SMEs) according to a recommendation 
issued by the EU Commission. Our standard procedure 
includes weekly payments that cover all invoices due 
in the previous week. This SAP-supported workflow 
prevents late payments.  

The procurement of energy (natural gas and electricity) 
is based on customary branch conditions. In Austria, for 
example, long-term bilateral supply contracts or futures 
contracts are designed in accordance with the industry 
standard (EFET), which calls for fixed payment on the 
20th of the following month. For swap transactions, this 
is normally the fifth working day of the following month.

The financial settlement for futures contracts concluded 
on the energy exchanges takes place daily and is based 
on the market price (at the respective daily rates). Pay-
ments for short-term physical deliveries (SPOT transac-
tions) over energy exchanges are made on a daily basis.

Our strategic supplier management ensures that all legal 
requirements and directives in the relevant international 
frameworks are met (among others, the UN Guiding 
Principles on Human Rights, International Bill of Rights 
(Universal Declaration of Human Rights), Declaration on 
Fundamental Rights and Principles at Work der Interna-
tional Labour Organisation incl. Core Conventions, OECD 
Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises) and, wherever 
possible, exceeded. 

or other negative consequences. This also include the 
protection of external persons from social disadvan-
tages. Another central protection measure involves 
 confidentiality for the identity of the reporting person. 

Training and communication measures provide employ-
ees with regular information on these low-barrier com-
munication channels, possible applications and the 
underlying principles of the whistleblowing procedure.

 For information on the whistle-blowing procedure, also see 

www.evn.at/whistleblowing

Exposed business areas

The compliance risk analyses carried out as part of 
 corporate compliance management together with 
the operating areas identifies business areas and pro-
cedures with a high or very high risk potential. These 
 estimates are based on external as well as internal 
 criteria (e. g. precedents of compliance violations in 
certain branches or countries or the design of business 
processes, including control mechanisms at EVN). The 
results of this specific risk assessment are ranked in 
a next step according to a four-stage scale. We then 
enter business trans actions with a high or very high 
risk probability of risk occurrence in a risk control 
matrix and define specific process controls.

The results of this evaluation at EVN indicate that 
areas with frequent contacts to public authorities, 
businesses that involve intense competition and 
 extensive procurement, and the international project 
business are particularly exposed to corruption. We 
therefore offer special training for the employees 
working in these areas.

main languages of the EVN Group. The whistle-blowing 
procedure was designed to ensure the complete, objec-
tive and efficient clarification of reported violations 
of the EVN Code of Conduct. The staff responsible for 
compliance issues always investigates all reports – also 
the reports submitted anonymously – quickly, inde-
pendently and objectively. These investigations are 
 con fidential and follow a standardised procedure. The 
individual steps, findings and relevant documentation 
is stored in separate software which is protected from 
unapproved access by a strict authorisation process.

The Chief Compliance Officer and a deputy report 
directly and solely to the Executive Board and exercise 
their functions independently. The Chief Compliance 
Officer may not carry out any other duties or functions 
in the EVN Group, and all investigations are therefore 
independent of the persons involved in the situation, 
including management. The Chief Compliance Officer 
reports several times each year to the full Executive 
Board and to the Audit Committee of the Supervisory 
Board.

The Austrian Whistle-blower Protection Act took effect 
in August 2023 and replaces Directive (EU) 2019/1937 
(Whistle-blower Directive) in Austrian law. It forms the 
legal basis to provide the best possible protection for 
whistle-blowers and to permit the reporting of compli-
ance violations in a confidential environment. We also 
apply the corresponding national laws in Germany, 
 Bulgaria and Croatia. Contacts with and the protection 
of whistle-blowers are also legally regulated in the 
non-EU member state of North Macedonia.

A separate Group guideline regulates, in particular, the 
procedure for handling reported concerns and pre-
cautions to protect the whistle-blower from reprisals 

119

EVN Full Report 2023 / 24 Segment report Financial statementsManagement reportCorporate governanceNon-financial report



value chain. Each year, the material impacts, risks and 
opportunities related to workers in our value chain are 
identified, assessed and managed. Our strategic supplier 
management defines the principles and processes that 
form the basis to monitor, control and/or reduce actual 
or potential impacts and risks.  

We have conducted an annual survey with our top sup-
pliers on sustainability in the supplier chain since 2021. 
It is designed to create an awareness for current issues in 
sustainable procurement and supports our efforts to 
gain an insight into previously implemented measures 
and actions by our suppliers.  

 For sustainable procurement see page 27ff

 G1-3 

Prevention and detection of corruption 
and bribery

Prevention of corruption

The prevention of corruption is deeply anchored in EVN‘s 
value catalogue and, accordingly, is one of the ten topics 
in the EVN Code of Conduct. We are decisively opposed 
to all types of corruption and define this term very 
broadly. It expressly includes and prohibits the following 
advantages for our employees and related third parties 
as a corruption offense:

• Illegal payments (e. g. bribes, kickback payments, 
fictitious services, false classification/account 
 assignment)

• Acceptance or granting of any form of gratuities 
(e. g. gifts, invitations, benefits not reflecting arm’s 
length, immaterial advantages like awards and 
patronage)

Compliance training

All new employees must complete the Group-wide man-
datory compliance training programme on the EVN Code 
of Conduct, which consists of the following modules:

• Compliance basics 
• Compliance e-learning
• Compliance update 
• Compliance fresh up
• Refresher courses and special training 

The training concept is regularly supplemented by accom-
panying communication measures. This guarantees that 
all employees in the EVN Group interact regularly with 
the issue of compliance and ensures that the subjects in 
the EVN Code of Conduct are repeated annually. Training 
is focused, above all, on the following aspects:

• Human rights, equal treatment and 
 anti-discrimination 

• Corporate ethics
• Prevention of corruption
• Competitive behaviour

These training programmes are also mandatory for all 
managers, and we offer separate complementary 
 formats as needed. The course content and methods 
are adapted to meet regional requirements in order to 
optimally reach the respective target groups in their 
native language. External workers can also take part in 
these courses.

The modules in this intensive learning path have a high 
degree of interaction and practical orientation. The 
in-house training, webinars and e-learning modules 
combine self-study units with knowledge checks and 
the opportunity for collaborative work on case studies. 

An exception to the above are the acceptance or grant-
ing of small mementoes that reflect local or national 
practices in the course of dutifully settled transaction. 

Apart from our restrictive internal catalogue of rules and 
values, all EVN employees and corporate bodies must 
comply with the strict Austrian laws for public officials. 
Corruption law is intended, among others, to prevent 
public officials from misusing their position to create an 
advantage for themselves or for third parties.

A comprehensive set of preventive measures – including 
internal behavioural guidelines and specific training 
programmes – has been implemented to create a greater 
awareness for the prevention of corruption among our 
employees. In addition, the following measures and 
control mechanisms are designed to prevent the viola-
tion of legal requirements and our company-specific 
compliance guidelines:

• Anchoring of the principles for dual control and the 
separation of functions to ensure agreement with all 
compliance rules in our business activities (especially 
activities involving frequent contacts with suppliers, 
customers and public officials in connection with 
procurement, tenders, approvals, expert opinions, 
research and subsidy issues, real estate matters and 
recruiting)

• Strict automated, system-supported procedures for 
the approval, invoicing and documentation of 
expenses incurred in connection with business trips, 
invitations etc.

• Provisions in employment contracts to prevent 
 conflicts of interest under labour law (e. g. require-
ment to report and obtain approval for secondary 
employment activities from the human resources 
department)

• Defining the treatment of potential conflicts 
of  interest in procurement transactions

• Integrity review of business partners 
•  Strict criteria, rules and procedures in connection 

with the commissioning, execution and invoicing 
of consulting, brokerage and lobbying services

•  Group guidelines on sponsoring and donations 
(requirements, rules, procedures)

Monitoring, prevention and detection

In addition to regular reviews by CCM, compliance risks 
are also surveyed as part of the annual risk inventory 
since compliance violations – including allegations or 
incidents of corruption – represent a risk factor from the 
viewpoint of EVN’s risk management. Our internal audit 
department also reviews compliance with all rules and 
regulations during its audit work. The results of these 
reviews are communicated to management, the Execu-
tive Board and the Audit Committee of the Supervisory 
Board.

Important starting points are found in the whistle-blow-
ing procedure and also in the reviews by internal audit. 
They can contribute to the detection of allegations or 
incidents of corruption or other violations of the EVN 
Code of Conduct.

 For information on reviews by internal audit,  

see pages 148 and 153
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Our responsibility towards the public in connection 
with our regional roots is also anchored in our mission 
statement as one of our values. Sponsoring by EVN is, 
 therefore, only permitted for legal entities with domestic 
headquarters or for persons from the areas of art, 
 culture, social issues and sports with a focus on Lower 
Austria or a region where EVN or a subsidiary is active. 
The formal requirement is the conclusion of a sponsoring 
contract, and the sponsoring must be connected with 
a defined (return) service.

Outside the scope of our operating business, we parti-
cipate in numerous social and cultural initiatives that 
address our general concerns. We place particular 
emphasis on customer orientation and the identification 
of basic social, economic and demographic trends, 
above all in relation to the current changes in our work-
ing world. Other aspects of our social commitment 
involve the education of children and young people 
(EVN School Service) as well as improving the quality of 
life for people in challenging situations. The EVN Social 
Fund, which has an annual endowment of roughly 
EUR 150,000, supports institutions in Lower Austria that 
work with children and adolescents. Decisions on the 
projects to be sponsored are taken by an expert commit-
tee that meets twice each year. The recommendations 
for the use of funds are made unanimously to the Execu-
tive Board based on a predefined criteria catalogue. 
In 2023/24, this fund supported 22 projects with a 
total of EUR 132,500.

 Also see www.young.evn.at and www.evn.at/social-fund 

(German only)

 G1-4 

Confirmed incidents of corruption or bribery

We received nine reports on allegations of suspected 
corruption in 2023/24. The internal investigations con-
firmed the reported violations in two cases. They were 
not the subject of legal proceedings and, in both cases, 
led to the termination of the employment relationship 
for the involved employees. Internal and external meas-
ures were taken to prevent similar incidents in the future. 
In four of the reported cases, the investigations were 
still in progress as of 30 September 2024. No contracts 
with business partners were terminated in 2023/24.

 G1-5 

Political influence and lobbying activities

Clear rules for sponsoring and social 
 engagement

A separate business directive regulates sponsoring in 
the EVN Group and is designed to minimise the related 
potential compliance risks. At EVN, any form of sponsor-
ing – here, we understand this to mean the provision 
of money or monetary advantages by EVN to support 
persons, groups and organisations – for political parties, 
campaigning parties and their related organisations as 
well as parliamentary clubs is excluded. No financial 
gifts – neither in the form of donations, loans, sponsor-
ing, advance payments for services nor the purchase 
of tickets for fundraising events – were made on behalf 
of political parties.

In addition to this extensive training programme, 
CCM also relies on alternative communication channels 
(e. g. the Intranet or EVN’s employee newsletter) and on 
knowledge transfer from managers who are closely 
 integrated in the strengthening and further development 
of our ethical principles as well as our compliance 
 principles and rules. 

The compliance update module and refresher courses 
include case studies that are tailored to the employees’ 
individual area of responsibility. That makes it possible to 
train for the specific challenges involved in the correct 
application of the EVN Code of Conduct, for example in 
connection with the prevention of corruption. The mem-
bers of the Supervisory Board also receive regular infor-
mation on compliance issues.

Participation in mandatory compliance training  
(As at 30.9.2024; also includes companies that are not fully consolidated)

Number

Austria

International

project business

North Macedonia

43 (100.0%)

1,816 (95.0%)

Bulgaria

67 (99.0%)

483 (92.0%)

2,210 (97.0%)

95 (100.0%)

2,812 (92.0%)

54 (100.0%)

  Executive Board members and managers

  Employees
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Memberships in interest groups 

Our wide-ranging business activities play an important 
role in the functioning of public life and the economy. 
In order to meet these commitments as best as possible 
and in the interest of our stakeholders, we are a mem-
ber, on a voluntary or legally required basis, of numerous 
national and international organisations and interest 
groups. Examples of these memberships are Oesterreichs 
Energie and Eurelectric as industry associations as well 
as the UN Global Compact and respACT as social and 
ecological initiatives. The activities related to these mem-
berships take place in agreement with the rules of con-
duct defined by our compliance management system

In accordance with legal regulations, EVN is also listed 
in the Austrian lobbying and interest group register and 
the transparency register of the European Union.

 For information on active memberships, also see  

www.evn.at/memberships

Stefan Szyszkowitz Alexandra Wittmann Stefan Stallinger 

CEO and Spokesman  CFO and Member  CTO and Member  
of the Executive Board  of the Executive Board  of the Executive Board   
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To the members of the Management 
and the Supervisory Board of EVN AG, 
Maria Enzersdorf

Report on the independent assurance 
of the non-financial reporting in 
 accordance with  Section 267a of the 
 Austrian Commercial Code (UGB)

The subsequent independent assurance report in the 
English language is a translation provided for informa-
tional purposes only. The German text of the signed 
assurance report, which refers to the German version 
of the consolidated non-financial statement 2023/24, 
is the only legally binding version. This English translation 
has no legal effect. More specifically, it cannot be used 
for interpreting the German version of the independent 
assurance report.

We have performed a limited assurance engagement of 
the consolidated non-financial statement (hereinafter 
“sustainability statement”) pursuant to the Austrian 
Sustainability and Diversity Improvement Act (hereinafter 
“NaDiVeG”) and in accordance with Section 267a UGB 
of EVN AG (hereinafter “Company”), Maria Enzersdorf, 
for the financial year 2023/24.

Summary judgement

On the basis of our audit procedures and the evidence 
we have obtained, nothing has come to our attention 
that would cause us to believe that the sustainability 
statement for the financial year 2023/24 of the Company 
is not prepared, in all material aspects, in accordance 
with the requirements of the NaDiVeG (Section 267a UGB) 
and Article 8 of the EU Taxonomy Regulation 

((EU) 2020/852) in conjunction with the applicable 
 Delegated Acts of the European Commission.

Responsibility of the statutory representatives

It is the statutory representatives of the Company who 
are responsible for the proper compilation of the sustain-
ability statement in accordance with the requirements of 
the NaDiVeG (Section 267a UGB) and Article 8 of the 
EUTaxonomy Regulation ((EU) 2020/852) in conjunction 
with the applicable delegated acts of the European 
Commission.

The responsibility of the statutory representatives includes 
the selection and application of the appropriate methods 
to prepare the sustainability report (in particular, the 
selection of the material topics) as well as making assump-

tions and estimates for individual sustainability disclo-
sures that are reasonable under specific circumstances. 
Furthermore, the responsibility of the statutory repre-
sentatives includes designing, implementing and main-
taining systems, processes and internal controls relevant 
to the preparation of the sustainability statement that is 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error. The responsibility also includes the selection 
and application of appropriate methods in the context of 
the application of Article 8 of the EU Taxonomy Regula-
tion ((EU) 2020/852) in conjunction with the applicable 
Delegated Acts of the European Commission.

Auditor’s responsibility

We have been engaged with providing a judgement, 
based on our audit procedures and on the evidence we 
have obtained, as to whether anything has come to our 
attention that would cause us to believe that the sus-
tainability statement of the company as at 30.9.2024 
does not comply in any material respect to the statutory 
provisions of the NaDiVeG (Section 267a UGB) and Arti-
cle 8 of the EU Taxonomy Regulation ((EU) 2020/852) in 
conjunction with the applicable Delegated Acts of the 
European Commission.

Mr. Gerhard Posautz, Certified Auditor, is responsible for 
the proper performance of the assignment.

We have performed our audit in accordance with the 
professional principles in force in Austria relating to 
general-assurance engagements (KFS/PG 13) and the 
International Standard on Assurance Engagements 
(ISAE 3000 (Revised)) applicable to such engagements. 
In this respect, we have to comply with our professional 
obligations, including the provisions on independence, 
and are bound to plan and carry out our assignment 

Independent assurance 
on the non-financial reporting
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The information audited as part of the audit of the 
 consolidated financial statements was checked for 
 correct adoption (no substantive audit).

Restriction on use and liability

As our report is prepared exclusively at the client’s request 
and in the client’s interest, there exists no basis for third 
parties to place any reliance on its content. It therefore 
provides no grounds for third-party claims arising from it. 
We consent to the publication of our assurance report 
together with the sustainability statement.

Conditions of the engagement

Our engagement was performed on the basis of the 
audit agreement concluded with the Company, which is 
based on the AAB appended to this report. The AAB 
are also valid against third parties.

Vienna, 27.11.2024

BDO Assurance GmbH
Wirtschaftsprüfungs- und Steuerberatungsgesellschaft

Gerhard Posautz  

Certified Auditor   

Johannes Waltersam

Certified Auditor

• Assessment of the local data collection, validation 
and reporting processes and the reliability of the 
reported data through a process and sample analysis 
by the North Macedonian company EVN Macedonia 
AD. The interviews with employees were conducted 
by means of an on-site visit to the headquarters in 
Skopje, North Macedonia;

• Assessment of whether the requirements according 
to NaDiVeG (Section 267a UGB) were adequately 
addressed;

• Assessment of whether the requirements of Article 8 
of the EU Taxonomy Regulation ((EU) 2020/852) in 
conjunction with the applicable Delegated Acts of 
the European Commission have been adequately 
addressed;

• Assessment of the overall presentation of the 
 disclosures by critically reviewing the sustainability 
statement;

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
summary judgement.

The subject-matter of the engagement does not consist 
of performing either an audit or an audit-related review 
of the financial statements. Neither are the detection and 
investigation of fraudulent acts, such as misappropriation 
or other acts of defalcation or administrative offences, 
nor an assessment of the effectiveness and efficiency of 
the Management a part of that subject-matter.

In addition, the audit of forward-looking statements, 
statements from external documentation sources and 
expert opinions as well as references to further reporting 
by the Company are not the subject of our engagement. 

with regard to the principle of materiality in such a 
 manner as allows us to deliver our judgement with 
 limited assurance.

In a limited-assurance engagement, the audit procedures 
undertaken are less extensive than in a reasonable-assur-
ance engagement, and therefore a lesser degree of 
assurance is obtained.

The choice of audit procedures is at the due discretion 
of the auditor and included in particular the following 
activities:

• Interviewing employees responsible for the material-
ity analysis at group level to gain an understanding 
of the process for identifying material sustainability 
topics and corresponding reporting boundaries;

• Risk assessment, including a media analysis, of rele-
vant information about the company's sustainability 
performance in the reporting period;

• Assessment of the design and implementation of 
systems and processes for the collection, processing 
and monitoring of disclosures on environmental, 
social and employee matters, respect for human 
rights and anti-corruption and bribery, including the 
consolidation of data;

• Interviewing employees at group level who are 
responsible for the identification, consolidation and 
implementation of internal control procedures relat-
ing to disclosures on concepts, risks, due diligence 
processes, results and performance indicators;

• Review of selected internal and external documents 
to determine whether qualitative and quantitative 
information is supported by sufficient evidence and 
presented in an accurate and consistent manner;
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Board with regular, timely and comprehensive reports on 
all relevant aspects of business development. Key issues 
included the risk position and risk management of EVN 
and its key Group companies, the inclusion of sustainabil-
ity aspects, and the opportunities and risks related to the 
environment, social issues and corporate governance for 
the development and implementation of the corporate 
strategy. This reporting, in particular, allowed the Super-
visory Board to continuously supervise and support the 
Executive Board’s management activities. The control 
functions exercised by the Supervisory Board within the 
framework of open discussions with the Executive Board 
did not lead to any objections. Recommendations by the 
Supervisory Board were taken up by the Executive Board. 
Moreover, the Executive Board submitted the trans-
actions requiring approval to the Supervisory Board for 
its decision.

Austrian Corporate Governance Code

EVN, as a listed company, is committed to compliance 
with the Austrian Corporate Governance Code. EVN 
complies in full with the Code in the January 2023 
 version. EVN complies with all C-Rules, with two excep-
tions that are explained in the consolidated corporate 
governance report.

Consolidated corporate governance report 

Schönherr Rechtsanwälte GmbH audited the consoli-
dated corporate governance report for 2023/24, which 
was prepared by EVN in accordance with C-Rule 62 of 
the Austrian Corporate Governance Code and § 96 of 
the Austrian Stock Corporation Act, and reported to the 
Executive Board, the Audit Committee and the Super-
visory Board on their work. In a meeting on 16 Decem-

onomy Regulation reached an impressive 88.8% in 
2023/24 and confirms that EVN is on the right track 
with its strategy with respect to sustainability. In this 
context, the Supervisory Board welcomes the intended 
alignment of the current CO2e reduction goals with 
the 1.5°C goal of the Paris Climate Agreement. 

The management and employees of EVN must now 
direct their full energy and expertise to strengthening 
the Group’s position and optimally utilising the avail-
able growth opportunities – during the transformation 
of the energy system with its many challenges.

Fulfilment of duties

The Supervisory Board actively monitored and supported 
EVN’s strategic steps as part of its designated responsibil-
ities and authorisations. Four plenary meetings and nine 
committee meetings were held during the reporting year, 
in which the Supervisory Board fulfilled the tasks and 
duties required by legal regulations and the company’s 
bylaws. The Executive Board provided the Supervisory 

Ladies and Gentlemen,

EVN is working consistently on the implementation of 
its Strategy 2030 and is well on the way to meeting its 
expansion goals for the renewable business by 2030. 
In this connection, the Supervisory Board expressly 
supports management’s intended increase in the 
investment programme to roughly EUR 900m per year. 
The protection of supply security and the operation 
of a steadily reliable infrastructure for electricity, gas, 
heat, water and telecommunications are among EVN’s 
central responsibilities and goals, not only from the 
viewpoint of stakeholders but also as an integral part 
of the Group’s commitment. This is true, above all, in 
view of the current challenges for distribution network 
operations that are connected with the transformation 
to a renewable energy system. 

The political and social goals for the reduction of 
 climate-damaging greenhouse gases have been accom-
panied for years by new legal and regulatory measures, 
also for reporting. The share of investments (CapEx) 
classified as ecologically sustainable under the EU Tax-

ber 2024, the Supervisory Board examined the consoli-
dated corporate governance report as required by § 96 
of the Austrian Stock Corporation Act and in accordance 
with Opinion 22 published by the Austrian Financial 
Reporting Advisory Committee. This analysis was based 
on a report issued by the Audit Committee on 5 Decem-
ber 2024 and did not lead to any objections.

Remuneration policy and report

The 95th Annual General Meeting of EVN on 1 Febru-
ary 2024 approved the revised principles of remuneration 
for the members of the Executive Board and  Supervisory 
Board of EVN. They have been applied retroactively since 
1 October 2023. On this basis, the Executive Board and 
Supervisory Board prepared a remuneration report for 
the 2023/24 financial year in accordance with §§ 78c and 
98a of the Austrian Stock Corporation Act which will be 
presented to the 96th Annual General Meeting for voting.

Annual financial statements and  
consolidated financial statements

BDO Assurance GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungs- und 
 Steuerberatungsgesellschaft was appointed to audit 
the annual financial statements for the financial year 
from 1 October 2023 to 30 September 2024. This firm 
examined the annual financial statements of EVN as of 
30 September 2024, which were prepared in accordance 
with Austrian accounting regulations, and the manage-
ment report submitted by the Executive Board. BDO 
presented a written audit report on the audit and issued 
an unqualified opinion.

The Supervisory Board received and reviewed the 
 auditor’s report. In accordance with § 92 of the 

Report of the 
Supervisory Board
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 Austrian Stock Corporation Act, the Audit Committee 
reported to the Supervisory Board on the results of 
the audit and its effects on financial reporting as well 
as the additional report prepared by the auditor based 
on the requirements of Art. 11 of Regulation (EU) 
No. 537/2014 on the statutory audit of public-interest 
entities.

Following a detailed analysis and discussions by the 
Audit Committee and the Supervisory Board, the Super-
visory Board approved the following documents that 
were submitted by the Executive Board: the annual 
financial statements as of 30 September 2024 together 
with the notes, the management report including the 
non-financial statement, and the consolidated corpo-
rate governance report as well as the recommendation 
for the use of profits. The annual financial statements 
as of 30 September 2024 were thereby approved in 
accordance with § 96 (4) of the Austrian Stock Corpo-
ration Act.

The consolidated financial statements were prepared 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) and, together with the management 
report, also audited by BDO Assurance GmbH Wirt-
schaftsprüfungs- und Steuerberatungsgesellschaft, 
which issued an unqualified opinion. The Audit Commit-
tee reviewed the consolidated financial statements 
together with the management report and consolidated 
non-financial report and reported on its activities to 
the Supervisory Board, which subsequently approved 
these documents.

BDO Assurance GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungs- und Steuer-
beratungsgesellschaft was responsible for an audit with 
limited assurance of the consolidated non-financial 
report for the 2023/24 financial year in agreement with 
the requirements of the Austrian Sustainability and 
Diversity Improvement Act and § 267a of the Austrian 
Commercial Code, and Article 8 of the EU Taxonomy 
Directive (2020/852) in connection with the applicable 
delegated acts of the European Commission.

In conclusion, the Supervisory Board would like to 
thank the Executive Board and all employees of the 
EVN Group for their performance and commitment 
during the 2023/24 financial year. Our special thanks 
are also directed to EVN’s shareholders, customers 
and partners for their trust in the company.

This report to the Annual General Meeting was 
 unan imously approved by the Supervisory Board.

Maria Enzersdorf, 16 December 2024

On behalf of the Supervisory Board

Reinhard Wolf
Chairman
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Vienna Stock Exchange and included in EVN’s scope of 
consolidation. The corporate governance report pre-
pared and published by this company is available under 
www.buho.at/corporate-governance-bericht.

The ACGC rules are divided into three categories:1)

• The legal requirements (L-Rules) are based on binding 
regulations which must be observed by all Austrian 
listed companies.

• The C-Rules (Comply or Explain) should be observed; 
any deviations must be explained and justified.

• The R-Rules (Recommendations) represent recom-
mendations and do not require the disclosure or 
justification of deviations.

The Executive Board and Supervisory Board formally 
declare that EVN complies with all C-Rules of the ACGC, 
irrespective of the following deviations and explanations.

Deviations from C-Rules

EVN does not fully comply with the following C-Rules of 
the ACGC:

C-Rule 16: EVN does not comply with this rule, which 
requires the management board to have a chairperson. 
The Executive Board has had three members since 
1  September 2024, whereby the Supervisory Board has 
designated one member of the Executive Board, as in 
the past, to serve as the spokesperson of the Executive 
Board. The appointment as spokesperson of the Execu-
tive Board is not limited in time and follows the term of 
the respective mandate.

C-Rule 45: The provision that prohibits Supervisory 
Board members from holding corporate functions in a 

Commitment to the Austrian  
Corporate Governance Code 
 
Introduction

The Executive Board and Supervisory Board of EVN 
are committed to the principles of good corporate 
 governance and, in this way, meet the expectations of 
national and international investors for responsible, 
transparent and sustainable management and control. 
EVN is committed to comply with the ACGC in the 
 January 2023 version (since 1 March 2023). The ACGC 
is available under www.corporate-governance.at.

Burgenland Holding Aktiengesellschaft is a stock 
 corporation under Austrian law, which is listed on the 

Consolidated 
corporate 
governance report

Basic principles

EVN AG (EVN) is an Austrian stock corporation whose 
shares are traded on the Vienna Stock Exchange. Corpo-
rate governance is therefore based on Austrian law – in 
particular, the Stock Corporation Act and capital market 
laws, legal regulations governing co-determination by 
employees and the company by-laws, as well as the 
Austrian Corporate Governance Code (ACGC) and the 
rules of procedure for the company’s corporate bodies.

In agreement with § 243c of the Austrian Commercial 
Code and the applicable provisions of the ACGC, the 
company prepares a consolidated corporate governance 
report each year as of 30 September which is available 
under www.evn.at/Corporate-Governance-Report.

competing company is observed by all members of the 
Supervisory Board with one exception.
1) In order to improve readability, the rules in the following section are 

 presented without reference to the ACGC.

Supervisory Board member Peter Weinelt serves as the 
managing director of Wiener Stadtwerke GmbH which, 
in particular through its subsidiaries, competes in part 
with subsidiaries of EVN. The representation of major 
shareholders on the company’s Supervisory Board has 
proven to be advantageous. This deviation applies to the 
entire term of the involved Supervisory Board member’s 
appointment. The chairperson of the Supervisory Board, 
Reinhard Wolf, is the chairman of the executive board of 
RWA Raiffeisen Ware Austria Aktiengesellschaft and a 
member of the management board of BayWa AG, both 
of which have specific business relations through subsidi-
aries with the EVN Group. The decision to elect these 
Supervisory Board members was taken by the Annual 
General Meeting. The proposal for their nomination was 
approved by the Supervisory Board based on a recom-
mendation by the Nominating Committee. EVN‘s corpo-
rate governance and continued practice by the Super-
visory Board ensure that potential conflicts of interest are 
clarified in advance of voting on related issues and 
legally compliant procedures are guaranteed.
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Working procedures

The Executive Board of EVN must have a minimum of 
two members. If the Supervisory Board does not appoint 
a chairperson or spokesperson for the Executive Board, 
the members are entitled to designate their own spokes-
person. The Executive Board is responsible for managing 
the company to support its business activities and con-
tinued success in the interests of shareholders, employ-
ees and the general public. The work of the Executive 
Board is based on legal requirements, in particular stock 
corporation, stock exchange and commercial laws, the 
by-laws and the rules of procedure for the Executive 
Board that were approved by the Supervisory Board as 
well as the ACGC.

Irrespective of the Executive Board’s overall responsibil-
ity, the Supervisory Board establishes and assigns spe-
cific areas of responsibility to the individual Executive 
Board members based on the given requirements. 
 Certain transactions are reserved for joint discussions 
and decision- making by the full Executive Board.

The responsibilities of the Executive Board members are 
listed in the table on the following page.

The full Executive Board is responsible for the corporate 
function internal auditing, which reports to Alexandra 
Wittmann for organisational reasons.

Members of the Executive Board as of 30 September 2024

Year of birth
Date of initial 
 appointment

End of the current term  
of office

Stefan Szyszkowitz
(CEO and Spokesman of the Executive Board)

1964 20 January 2011 19 January 2026

Stefan Stallinger 
(CTO)

1975 1 April 2024 31 March 2029

Alexandra Wittmann
(CFO)

1970 1 September 2024 31 August 2029

Member of the Executive Board (resigned)

Franz Mittermayer 1958 1 October 2017 31 March 2024

Executive Board

Composition

The Executive Board consisted of three members as  
of 30 September 2024. The retirement of Franz 
 Mittermayer on 31 March 2024 was  followed by the 
Supervisory Board’s appointment of two new Execu - 
tive Board members: Stefan Stallinger as Chief Tech-
nology Officer (CTO) as of 1 April 2024 and Alexandra 
 Wittmann as Chief Financial Officer (CFO) as of 
1  Septem  ber 2024. The mandate of Stefan Szyszkowitz, 
who serves as Chief Executive Officer (CEO), remains in 
effect.

Moreover, the Executive Board is required to obtain the 
prior consent of the Supervisory Board for business 
transactions that require this approval based on legal 
regulations or a previous Supervisory Board resolution. 
The rules of procedure for the Executive Board and the 
Supervisory Board contain a detailed list of such cases.

Organisational regulations require the Executive Board to 
report to the Supervisory Board. These reporting stand-
ards also apply to the Supervisory Board committees. 
The reporting obligations of the Executive Board include 
quarterly reports on the development of business in the 
Group and information on matters of importance relat-
ing to major Group subsidiaries.
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Responsibilities and supervisory board mandates of the Executive Board members

Period Areas of responsibility Supervisory board mandates in material, consolidated companies1)

Supervisory board mandates in other companies  
not  included in the consolidated financial statements 
(C-Rule 16)

1 October 2023 up to 31 March 2024

Stefan Szyszkowitz
(Spokesman of the Executive Board)

Segments: Energy, South East Europe
Corporate functions: Controlling, customer relations, finance, accounting, 
general secretary and investment management, legal and public affairs, 
information and communications, human resources

Burgenland Holding Aktiengesellschaft, chairman of the supervisory board
EVN Macedonia AD, chairman of the supervisory board
RAG Austria AG, chairman of the supervisory board
Netz Niederösterreich GmbH, vice-chairman of the supervisory board
Burgenland Energie AG, vice-chairman of the supervisory board

Wiener Börse AG, member of the supervisory 
board
Verbund AG, member of the supervisory board

Franz Mittermayer Segment: Generation, Networks and Environment
Corporate functions: Information technology, procurement and 
 purchasing, safety and infrastructure, and internal auditing

Netz Niederösterreich GmbH, chairman of the supervisory board
Burgenland Holding Aktiengesellschaft, vice-chairman of the supervisory board  
(up to 15 March 2024)
Burgenland Energie AG, member of the supervisory board 
RAG Austria AG, member of the supervisory board

1 April up to 31 August 2024

Stefan Szyszkowitz
(CEO and Spokesman of the Executive Board)

See above See above See above

Stefan Stallinger
(CTO and Member of the Executive Board)

Segments: Generation, Networks and Environment
Corporate functions: Information technology, procurement and 
 purchasing, safety and infrastructure, and internal auditing

Netz Niederösterreich GmbH, chairman of the supervisory board
Burgenland Holding Aktiengesellschaft, vice-chairman of the supervisory board
Burgenland Energie AG, member of the supervisory board 
RAG Austria AG, member of the supervisory board

1 up to 30 September 2024

Stefan Szyszkowitz
(CEO and Spokesman of the Executive Board)

Segments: Energy and All Other Segments (formerly the responsibility  
of the full Executive Board)
Corporate functions: Customer relations, general secretary and 
 compliance (formerly general secretary and investment management), 
communications and marketing (formerly information and  
communications), human resources, and legal and public affairs

Burgenland Holding Aktiengesellschaft, chairman of the supervisory board
EVN Macedonia AD, chairman of the supervisory board (up to 9 September 2024) and 
vice-chairman of the supervisory board (since 10 September 2024)
RAG Austria AG, chairman of the supervisory board
Netz Niederösterreich GmbH, vice-chairman of the supervisory board
Burgenland Energie AG, vice-chairman of the supervisory board

See above

Alexandra Wittmann
(CFO and Member of the Executive Board)

Segments: South East Europe
Corporate functions: Procurement and purchasing, controlling and 
 investor relations (formerly controlling), finance and risk management 
(formerly finance), internal auditing and accounting

EVN Macedonia AD, chairwoman of the supervisory board (since 10 September 2024)
Netz Niederösterreich GmbH, vice-chairwoman of the supervisory board
EVN HOME DOO Skopje, member of the supervisory board (since 3 October 2024)2)

Stefan Stallinger
(CTO and Member of the Executive Board)

Segments: Generation, Networks and Environment
Corporate functions: Information technology, safety and infrastructure  
as well as the organisational unit responsible for innovation and 
 sustainability that is now also recognised as a corporate function

See above

1) In addition to the supervisory board functions, the Executive Board manages significant subsidiaries based on quarterly reporting by segment.

2) For the sake of completeness, already included in this report
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Supervisory Board

Composition

As of 30 September 2024, the Supervisory Board of 
EVN AG had ten shareholder representatives elected by 
the Annual General Meeting and five members dele-
gated by the works council. The shareholder representa-
tives were elected by the 92nd Annual General Meeting 
on 21 January 2021, respectively by the 33rd Extraordi-
nary General Meeting on 19 June 2023 for a term of 
office extending to the Annual General Meeting which 
will vote on the release from liability for the 2024/25 
financial year.

The composition of the Supervisory Board reflects a 
balance between the professional and personal qualifica-
tions of the members as well as a balance of technical 
and specialist expertise. Diversity with regard to the 
representation of both genders, the age structure and 
internationality is also taken into account.

There was one change in the composition of the Super-
visory Board during the reporting year: Irene Pinczolitsch 
was delegated as of 2 April 2024 to succeed Friedrich 
Bußlehner, who resigned as an employee representative 
as of 1 April 2024.

 For the members of the Supervisory Board, see page 131f

Independence

The Supervisory Board established the following criteria 
for the independence of the members of the Supervisory 
Board of EVN AG based on the general clause defined by 
C-Rule 53:

A member of the Supervisory Board is considered to be 
independent when he/she has no business or personal 
relations with the company or its management board 
that could lead to a material conflict of interest and is 
therefore capable of influencing the member’s behav-
iour. The following criteria form the basis for evaluating 
the independence of the members of the Supervisory 
Board of EVN AG who are elected by the Annual General 
Meeting:

1. The Supervisory Board member may not have served 
as a member of the Executive Board or a top execu-
tive of EVN or any of its subsidiaries during the past 
five years.

2. The Supervisory Board member may not maintain, or 
in the previous year did not maintain, any business 
relations with EVN or a subsidiary of EVN that are 
considered material for that member. This also 
applies to business relations with companies in which 
the Supervisory Board member holds a significant 
economic interest but does not cover appointments 
to corporate bodies within the EVN Group. The 
approval of individual transactions by the Supervisory 
Board in accordance with L-Rule 48 does not auto-
matically lead to qualification as not independent. 

3. The Supervisory Board member may not have acted 
as an auditor of EVN or owned a share in or worked 
as an employee of the auditing company during the 
past three years. 

4. The Supervisory Board member may not serve on the 
management board of another company in which a 
member of the Executive Board of EVN is a member 
of the Supervisory Board. 

5. The Supervisory Board member may not serve on 
the Supervisory Board for more than 15 years. This 
does not apply to Supervisory Board members who 
hold an investment in the company as shareholders 
or who represent the interests of such shareholders.

6. The Supervisory Board member may not be closely 
related (i. e. direct offspring, spouse, life partner, 
parent, uncle, aunt, brother, sister, niece, nephew) to 
a member of the Executive Board or to persons who 
hold one of the above-mentioned positions.

In accordance with C-Rule 54, companies with a free 
float of more than 20% are required to have at least one 
of the supervisory board members elected by the gen-
eral meeting or delegated by shareholders in accordance 
with the by-laws who is independent pursuant to 
C-Rule 53 and who is not a shareholder with a stake of 
more than 10% or who represents such a shareholder’s 
interests. In the case of companies with a free float of 
over 50%, at least two members of the Supervisory 
Board must meet these criteria. EVN has a free float of 
20.6% (incl. 0.9% treasury shares). Nine elected mem-
bers (90%) of the Supervisory Board are considered 
independent according to C-Rule 53 and six members 
(60%) according to C-Rule 54.

Contracts requiring the approval of the Super-

visory Board (L-Rule 48 and C-Rule 49): EVN con-
cluded a contract for the combined delivery of energy 
and certificates of origin for 21 MW of baseload from 
Verbund Energy 4 Business GmbH to EVN for the years 
from 2026 to 2028. Since Supervisory Board member 
Peter Weinelt is a member of the supervisory board of 
Verbund AG, the approval of EVN’s Supervisory Board 
was obtained prior to the conclusion of the contract. 
Peter Weinelt was not involved in voting on this issue.

No contracts were concluded with members of the 
Supervisory Board which committed these persons to the 
performance of a service outside of their activities on  
the Supervisory Board for the company or a subsidiary in 
exchange for remuneration exceeding minor value. 
Moreover, no contracts were concluded with companies 

in which a member of the Supervisory Board has a 
 considerable economic interest.

Working procedure

The Supervisory Board is headed by a chairman and  
two vice chairmen. The rules of procedure for the Execu-
tive Board and Supervisory Board include a catalogue of 
transactions which require the Supervisory Board’s 
approval. 

Communications between the Executive Board and the 
Supervisory Board take place at the meetings of the 
Supervisory Board and its committees and in writing, as 
required. In addition, the Executive Board and the chair-
man of the Supervisory Board maintain regular contact 
on issues that fall under the responsibility of the Super-
visory Board. In particular, this includes the preparation 
of meetings.

Four plenary meetings were held by the Supervisory 
Board during the reporting year, at which its members 
fulfilled their tasks and duties. The Supervisory Board 
monitored the activities of the Executive Board, accepted 
its reports and, in addition to the annually recurring cycle 
of resolutions on the annual financial statements and 
budget, dealt with a number of issues which required 
Supervisory Board approval. Specific resolutions covered 
issues involving the Executive Board, an increase in the 
EVN Energy Assistance Fund, the refinancing/extension 
of the syndicated revolving credit facility, customer ser-
vice initiatives, the coverage of collateral requirements for 
EVN and EVN KG in connection with the EAA electricity 
balance group, external financing for the EVN Group, the 
flood crisis in September 2024, the appointment of a 

Continued on page 133 •
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Members of the Supervisory Board as of 30 September 2024 (including resigned members)

Shareholder representatives Date of initial 
appointment1) Supervisory board or comparable functions in Austrian or  foreign listed companies2)

Independence
C-Rule 533)

Independence
C-Rule 544) Diversity factors5)

Reinhard Wolf 
President and Chairman

19.06.2023 Chairman of the management board of RWA Raiffeisen Ware Austria AG and RWA Raiffeisen Ware Austria Handel und Vermögens-
verwaltung eGen; member of the management board of BayWa AG, chairman of the supervisory board of „UNSER LAGERHAUS“  
Warenhandelsgesellschaft m.b.H and Raiffeisen-Lagerhaus GmbH; member of the supervisory board of BayWa r.e. AG and  
Cefetra Group B.V; member of the management board and  deputy chairman of RAIFFEISEN-HOLDING NIEDERÖSTERREICH-WIEN  
registrierte Genossenschaft mit beschränkter Haftung

Yes Yes Male, born 1960, Austria

Jochen Danninger  
1st Vice-Chairman

19.06.2023 Representative of the State Parliament of Lower Austria; managing chairman of a parliamentary group; chairman of the  
supervisory board of  ecoplus.Niederösterreichs Wirtschaftsagentur GmbH and Breitband Holding GmbH

Yes No Male, born 1975, Austria

Willi Stiowicek
2nd Vice-Chairman

15.01.2009 Member of the supervisory board of NÖ.Regional.GmbH No No Male, born 1956, Austria

Georg Bartmann 21.01.2021   Head of the finance department and financial group in the provincial government of Lower Austria; managing director of NÖ Landes- 
Beteiligungsholding GmbH, NÖ Holding GmbH, NÖ BET GmbH and NÖ Immobilien Holding GmbH; chairman of the supervisory board of 
Land  Niederösterreich Finanz- und Beteiligungsmanagement GmbH; vice-chairman of the supervisory board of EBG MedAustron and  
N.vest. Unternehmensfinanzierungen des Landes Niederösterreich GmbH; member of the supervisory board of NÖ Landesgesundheitsagentur; 
government commissioner for Hypo NOE Landesbank für Niederösterreich und Wien AG

Yes No Male, born 1965, Austria

Gustav Dressler 21.01.2021 Member of the supervisory board of METAGRO Edelstahltechnik AG; member of the management board of Caressa Privatstiftung Yes Yes Male, born 1954, Austria

Philipp Gruber 21.01.2016 Member of the Wiener Neustadt town council; director of the provincial parliament club of the Lower Austrian People’s Party;  
chairman of the management board of Business Messen Wiener Neustadt Genossenschaft für Wirtschaftsförderung registrierte  
 Genossenschaft mit beschränkter Haftung

Yes Yes Male, born 1979, Austria

Maria Patek 21.01.2021 Head of the forestry and sustainability section in the Federal Ministry of Agriculture, Regions and Tourism (up to 31.07.2023) Yes Yes Female, born 1958, Austria

Angela Stransky 16.01.2014 Authorised officer of ecoplus.Niederösterreichs Wirtschaftsagentur GmbH (up to 31.12.2023); managing director of Breitband Holding GmbH  
(up to 31.12.2023); member of the supervisory board of riz up Niederösterreichs Gründeragentur GmbH (up to 31.12.2023)

Yes Yes Female, born 1960, Austria

Peter Weinelt 21.01.2021 Director general of WIENER STADTWERKE GmbH; managing director of WIENER STADTWERKE Planvermögen GmbH;  
chairman of the  supervisory board of WIEN ENERGIE GmbH and WIENER NETZE GmbH; member of the supervisory board of Verbund AG,  
Burgenland  Holding Aktiengesellschaft and Wiener Gesundheitsverbund

Yes No Male, born 1966, Austria

Veronika Wüster 19.06.2023 Managing director of Verband Österreichischer Entsorgungsbetriebe; member of the management board of Junge Industrie Niederösterreich /
Burgenland

Yes Yes Female, born 1985, Austria

1) The terms of office of the Supervisory Board members elected by the Annual General Meeting expire at the end of the Annual General Meeting that will vote on their release from liability for the 2024/25 financial year.

2) Including other material functions

3) The majority of the Supervisory Board members elected by the Annual General Meeting or delegated pursuant to the by-laws are independent of the company and its Executive Board.

4) Companies with a free float of more than 20% are required to have at least one of the supervisory board members elected by the general meeting or delegated by shareholders pursuant to the by-laws  

who is independent pursuant to C-Rule 53 and who is not a shareholder with a stake of more than 10% or who represents such a shareholder’s interests.

5) Gender, year of birth and citizenship
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Members of the Supervisory Board as of 30 September 2024 (including resigned members)

Employee representatives Date of initial 
appointment1) Supervisory board or comparable functions in Austrian or  foreign listed companies2)

Independence
C-Rule 533)

Independence
C-Rule 544) Diversity factors5)

Paul Hofer 01.04.2007 Chairman of the European works council of the EVN Group; chairman of the central works council of the EVN Group n. a. n. a. Male, born 1960, Austria

Uwe Mitter 14.05.2019 Chairman of the central works council of Netz Niederösterreich GmbH; member of the supervisory board of Netz Niederösterreich 
GmbH; vice-chairman of the central works council of the EVN Group; member of the supervisory board of VBV-Pensionskasse 
Aktiengesellschaft

n. a. n. a. Male, born 1971, Austria

Irene Pugl 14.05.2019 Chairwoman of the works council of EVN Business Service GmbH; vice-chairwoman of the central works council of the EVN Group n. a. n. a. Female, born 1975, Austria

Monika Fraißl 01.07.2013 Vice-chairwoman of the central works council of Netz  Niederösterreich GmbH (headquarters) n. a. n. a. Female, born 1973, Austria

Irene Pinczolitsch 02.04.2024 Member of the works council of Netz  Niederösterreich GmbH n. a. n. a. Female, born 1965, Austria

Employee representatives  
(resigned) Date of initial 

appointment1) Supervisory board or comparable functions in Austrian or  foreign listed companies2)

Independence
C-Rule 533)

Independence
C-Rule 544) Diversity factors5)

Friedrich Bußlehner (up to 01.04.2024) 01.01.2016 Member of the supervisory board of Netz Niederösterreich GmbH n. a. n. a. Male, born 1962, Austria

1) The terms of office of the Supervisory Board members elected by the Annual General Meeting expire at the end of the Annual General Meeting that will vote on their release from liability for the 2024/25 financial year.

2) Including other material functions

3) The majority of the Supervisory Board members elected by the Annual General Meeting or delegated pursuant to the by-laws are independent of the company and its Executive Board.

4) Companies with a free float of more than 20% are required to have at least one of the supervisory board members elected by the general meeting or delegated by shareholders pursuant to the by-laws  

who is independent pursuant to C-Rule 53 and who is not a shareholder with a stake of more than 10% or who represents such a shareholder’s interests.

5) Gender, year of birth and citizenship
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accordance with the applicable rules of the ACGC. Each 
year it prepares a draft report on remuneration policy for 
the Executive Board members and evaluates this remu-
neration policy at least every fourth year. It also makes a 
recommendation for remuneration policy to the full 
Supervisory Board if this is considered necessary.

In cases where the Remuneration Committee makes use 
of a consultant, it must ensure that this person and any 
other persons active with him/her in a network (§ 271b 
of the Austrian Commercial Code) have not advised the 
Executive Board or one of its members on remuneration 
issues or served as an advisor during the past two years.

The Remuneration Committee met four times in 2023/24. 
Resolutions focused, above all, on the conclusion of 
employment contracts for members of the Executive 
Board, the definition of targets for the variable remuner-
ation of the Executive Board and the determination of 
the respective target attainment, the preparation of a 
report on the remuneration of the members of EVN’s 
Executive Board and Supervisory Board, the conclusion of 
contracts with Franz Mittermayer, and the appointment 
of BDO Assurance GmbH to review the calculation of the 
variable remuneration components.

possible conflict of interest on the Supervisory Board but 
not in the Working Committee.

The Working Committee of the Supervisory Board met 
twice during the 2023/24 financial year. Resolutions 
focused, in particular, on heat supplies by EVN Wärme 
and the conclusion of a medium-term supply contract 
with VERBUND Energy 4 Business GmbH. In addition, a 
resolution in writing was passed for the project “con-
struction of a biomass heating plant in St. Pölten and the 
upgrading of an existing gas-combined heat and power 
plant”.

Remuneration Committee
Function

Reinhard Wolf Chairman; remuneration expert

Jochen Danninger Vice-Chairman

Willi Stiowicek Member

Georg Bartmann Member

The Remuneration Committee includes the chairman of 
the Supervisory Board, who also serves as chairman of 
this committee, the two vice-chairmen and, if necessary, 
a further member with knowledge and experience relat-
ing to remuneration policy. Most of the committee mem-
bers are independent members of the Supervisory Board.

This committee is responsible for all matters concerning 
the relationships between the company and the mem-
bers of the Executive Board, in cases where the full 
Supervisory Board is not responsible under law. In par-
ticular, the Remuneration Committee is responsible for 
the negotiation, content, conclusion, implementation 
and, if appropriate, termination of the employment con-
tracts with the members of the Executive Board in 

Committees

The Supervisory Board fulfils its responsibilities as a joint 
decision-making body in cases where individual issues 
are not delegated to its committees. These committees 
are responsible for preparing negotiations and resolu-
tions, monitoring the implementation of the Supervisory 
Board’s decisions and taking decisions on issues dele-
gated by the Supervisory Board. In accordance with the 
requirements of the Austrian Stock Corporation Act, the 
ACGC and its rules of procedure, the Supervisory Board 
has established a Working Committee, a Remuneration 
Committee, a Nominating Committee and an Audit 
Committee.

Working Committee
Function

Reinhard Wolf Chairman

Jochen Danninger Vice-Chairman

Willi Stiowicek Member

Georg Bartmann Member

Paul Hofer Employee representative

Uwe Mitter Employee representative

The Working Committee includes the chairman of the 
Supervisory Board, the two vice-chairmen and any 
elected members as well as the employee representa-
tives delegated in accordance with § 110 (4) of the 
 Austrian Labour Constitutional Act. 

This committee is responsible for all tasks assigned by 
the full Supervisory Board and, in certain urgent cases, is 
authorised to approve specific business transactions on 
behalf of the Supervisory Board. It is also responsible for 
all other issues where there are reasons to assume a 

replacement to the EVN Sustainability Advisory Board, 
EVN Wärmekraftwerke: construction of a large battery 
storage facility on the grounds of the Theiss energy hub, 
and EVN Naturkraft: release of funds for the Gnaden-
dorf wind park.

In addition to the formal meetings, the members of the 
Supervisory Board were able to attend elective events for 
training and information on procurement and risk strate-
gies in the EVN Group against the backdrop of changing 
framework conditions and on EVN’s investment initiative.

The average attendance at Supervisory Board meetings 
equalled 93.33% in 2023/24. No member was absent 
from more than half the Supervisory Board meetings 
during the past financial year. Participation in the elective 
events reflected a similar level.

Evaluation of the Supervisory Board‘s activities

In accordance with C-Rule 36, the Supervisory Board 
carried out a self-evaluation of its activities in 2023/24. 
This assessment was based on an extensive written 
questionnaire which was answered by the members of 
the Supervisory Board. The results of the evaluation  
were discussed in a plenary meeting.

The Supervisory Board dealt with potential conflicts of 
interest on the part of its members and took appropriate 
steps. 

• Continued from page 130
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agement at EVN (Rule 83 ACGC). The Audit Committee 
also acknowledged the report on the provision of 
non-audit services by the auditor and on legal regula-
tions. A status report on WTE Wassertechnik was also 
received as was a report on the evaluation of transac-
tions carried out during the course of normal business 
activities and at ordinary market conditions (§ 95a (6) of 
the Austrian Stock Corporation Act). In the form of a 
circular resolution, advance approval was provided for 
non-audit  services by the auditor.

Measures to support women  
and diversity concept1)

1) § 243c (2) no. 2 and (3) of the Austrian Commercial Code

The EVN Group is committed to offering equal opportu-
nities to all its employees. The company is convinced that 
diversified teams produce better results and are more 
effective and innovative than single-gender groups.

The percentage of women in EVN’s workforce equalled 
24.1% in 2023/24, and roughly 12.5% of the positions 
for managing directors and authorised officers were filled 
by women. The Women@EVN programme is designed 
to achieve the greatest possible diversity at the upper 
management level and gradually increase the percentage 
of women in management positions. Numerous initia-
tives have been introduced to create a framework that 
enables women to assume qualified positions in special-
ised areas and at the management level in line with their 
inclinations and skills.

Activities to meet this goal include a project that was 
started during the reporting year to develop a diversity 
strategy for EVN in Austria. The basis was formed by a 
survey of 450 employees (random selection), whose 
responses will help to determine EVN’s position with 

proposal for the distribution of profits, the manage-
ment report, the corporate governance report and 
the non-financial report (§ 243b of the Austrian 
Commercial Code) as well as submitting a report on 
the results of this review to the Supervisory Board;

• if necessary, examining the consolidated financial 
statements, the Group management report, the con-
solidated corporate governance report and the con-
solidated non-financial report (§ 267a of the  Austrian 
Commercial Code) as well as submitting a report on 
the results of this review to the Supervisory Board;

• selecting an auditor for the annual and consolidated 
financial statements, taking the appropriateness of 
the fee into consideration, as well as preparing a 
proposal for the Supervisory Board on this selection; 
moreover, Art. 16 of Regulation (EU) No. 537/2014 
on the statutory audit of public interest entities must 
be observed.

The Audit Committee includes a financial expert as 
required by law, as well as a sustainability expert. Based 
on their professional experience, in particular their, for 
the most part, many years on the Supervisory Board, all 
members of the Audit Committee are familiar with the 
sector in which the company  operates.

The Audit Committee met twice during the 2023/24 
financial year and dealt with all its assigned responsibili-
ties, above all with preparations for the resolution on 
the consolidated financial statements and annual finan-
cial statements as of 30 September 2023, including the 
related reports, the recommendation for the use of 
profits and the internal control, audit, risk and compli-
ance management systems. A recommendation was also 
made for the appointment of an auditor for the annual 
and consolidated financial statements for the 2023/24 
financial year together with the audit of the consolidated 
non- financial report and the functionality of risk man-

Audit Committee
Function

Georg Bartmann Chairman, financial expert

Reinhard Wolf Vice-Chairman

Jochen Danninger Member

Willi Stiowicek Member

Maria Patek Member, sustainability expert

Paul Hofer Employee representative

Uwe Mitter Employee representative

Monika Fraissl Employee representative

The responsibilities of the Audit Committee  
are as follows:

• monitoring the accounting process and issuing rec-
ommendations or suggestions to ensure its reliability;

• monitoring the effectiveness of the company‘s internal 
control, internal audit and risk management systems;

• monitoring the audit of the annual and consolidated 
financial statements, including the results and 
 conclusions indicated in the reports by the Auditor 
 Oversight Commission;

• verifying and monitoring the independence of the 
auditor of the annual financial statements (and 
 consolidated financial statements), in particular with 
regard to additional services provided for the audited 
company; moreover, Art. 5 (5) of Regulation (EU) 
No. 537/2014 on the statutory audit of public inter-
est entities must be observed;

• reporting on the results of the audit to the Super-
visory Board, explaining how the audit contributed 
to the reliability of financial reporting and explaining 
the role of the Audit Committee in this procedure;

• reviewing the annual financial statements and pre-
paring the required authorisation, reviewing the 

Nominating Committee
Function

Reinhard Wolf Chairman

Jochen Danninger Vice-Chairman

Willi Stiowicek Member

Georg Bartmann Member

Paul Hofer Employee representative

Uwe Mitter Employee representative

The Nominating Committee includes the chairman of 
the Supervisory Board and three elected members, 
as well as the employee representatives delegated in 
accordance with § 110 (4) of the Austrian Labour 
 Constitutional Act. 

This committee prepares the tender for appointments to 
the Executive Board in accordance with the Austrian law 
governing appointments, reviews applications and man-
ages the application process. It can engage consultants 
for support with and evaluation of the applications. The 
Nominating Committee submits recommendations to 
the Supervisory Board for appointments to upcoming 
vacant or newly created positions on the Executive Board 
and deals with issues involving succession planning. It 
can also make recommendations for appointments to 
upcoming vacant or newly created positions on the 
Supervisory Board. The Nominating Committee meets 
as needed.

The Nominating Committee met once in 2023/24, during 
which discussions focused on the ranking of candidates 
for appointment to the EVN Executive Board following 
the respective hearings and the preparation of a recom-
mendation to the Supervisory Board. This process was 
accompanied by a consultant. 
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the Audit Committee and the Supervisory Board on its 
review. This report on compliance with the ACGC can be 
found under www.investor.evn.at. The evaluation 
showed that EVN complied with the C-Rules of the ACGC 
in 2023/24 with two justified exceptions.

a specified minimum number of supervisory board mem-
bers and employees. At the present time, EVN is required 
to meet the 30% quota for the Supervisory Board in total.

The members of the Supervisory Board range in age 
from 38 to 69 years, and the average age is 56.9 years.

External evaluation

In accordance with C-Rule 62, compliance with the 
C-Rules of the ACGC must be evaluated at least every 
three years by an external institution and the results 
of this evaluation must be included in the corporate 
 governance report. 

Furthermore, the Supervisory Board is required by § 96 
of the Austrian Stock Corporation Act to inform the 
Annual General Meeting whether, and if so, which sec-
tions of the consolidated corporate governance report 
were examined and indicate whether the final results of 
this examination provided any grounds for material 
objections. The Audit Committee is required by § 92 (4a) 
no. 4 lit. g of the Austrian Stock Corporation Act to 
review the consolidated corporate governance report in 
advance and to issue a report on its review to the full 
Supervisory Board. In order to optimally meet these 
requirements, EVN commissioned Schönherr Rechtsan-
wälte GmbH to evaluate the consolidated corporate 
governance report for 2023/24, including compliance 
with the C-Rules of the ACGC.

Schönherr Rechtsanwälte GmbH evaluated EVN‘s consol-
idated corporate governance report for 2023/24 in 
agreement with C-Rule 62 and § 96 of the Austrian Stock 
Corporation Act and reported to the Executive Board, 

defines equal opportunity as the underlying principle 
for all corporate management and supervisory bodies.

The Executive Board was expanded to three members as 
of 1 September 2024 with the appointment of a woman 
as Chief Financial Officer.

Elections to the Supervisory Board are intended to create 
a balanced mix between the professional qualifications 
and expertise of the members as well as a balance of 
technical and personal credentials. Special focus is placed 
on diversity with regard to the representation of both 
genders, a balanced age structure and the international-
ity of the members.

EVN‘s Supervisory Board – as a whole and in the individ-
ual committees – has the necessary expertise required 
by the company, especially in the business, legal and 
technical fields. Attention was given to creating and 
maintaining a balance between continuity and change.

EVN‘s Supervisory Board included five women up to 
1 April 2024: three shareholder representatives and two 
employee representatives. Since 2 April 2024, EVN‘s 
Supervisory Board has included six women: three share-
holder representatives and three employee represen-
tatives.

The percentage of women serving on the Supervisory 
Board equalled 40% as of 30 September 2024. The current 
composition of EVN’s Supervisory Board meets the require-
ments of the Austrian Equality Act for Men and Women on 
Supervisory Boards with regard to the number of share-
holder representatives and the number of employee repre-
sentatives. This law calls for a ratio of 30% for both gen-
ders on the supervisory boards of listed corporations with 

regard to diversity, equity and inclusion. The next steps 
will include workshops to develop the strategy with the 
participation of representatives from all areas of the 
company in Austria.

14 women currently serve as project managers (project 
manager career path) in the EVN Group. The percentage 
of young women in the corporate management develop-
ment programme has always been higher than the cur-
rent share of women in EVN’s workforce. 

EVN has long pursued measures that are designed to 
support women’s work-life balance. Examples of these 
measures are flexible working time models, individual-
ised support for women returning after maternity leave, 
day care during school holidays, information events for 
staff members on parental leave as well as a comprehen-
sive programme of vocational and professional education 
which is also open to all employees on parental leave. 
These measures are supplemented by a range of home 
office work options. EVN’s objective for the medium 
term is to increase the share of women to a level that 
mirrors their current educational levels in the applicable 
professional groups.

The Austrian Equal Opportunity Act requires companies 
with a workforce above a certain threshold to submit a 
biannual remuneration report (§ 11a of the Equal Oppor-
tunity Act). All companies in the EVN Group with a 
workforce above the legally defined threshold prepared 
the required report and submitted it to the Central 
Works Council. 

The diversity concept approved by the Nominating 
 Committee of the Supervisory Board for appointments 
to the Executive and Supervisory Board of EVN AG also 
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Changes after the balance sheet date

No reportable changes occurred between the balance 
sheet date on 30 September 2024 and the preparation 
of this consolidated corporate governance report.

Maria Enzersdorf, 27 November 2024

EVN AG
The Executive Board

Stefan Szyszkowitz Alexandra Wittmann Stefan Stallinger 

CEO and Spokesman  CFO and Member  CTO and Member  
of the Executive Board  of the Executive Board  of the Executive Board   
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ments in plants that generate electricity from renewable 
and non-fossil sources. These subsidies will take the 
form of price support via so-called bilateral difference 
agreements (contracts for difference) which are 
designed to counter an increase in market prices for 
customers. The European energy policy basically 
changes the role of customers by transforming them 
from pure consumers into active market participants 
who produce and trade electricity. Increased information 
requirements for network operators on available con-
nection capacity should also improve the quality of 
European network expansion planning. The so-called 
hydrogen and gas decarbonisation package will facilitate 
the controlled conversion to hydrogen by creating uni-
form (regulatory) framework conditions for the construc-
tion of hydrogen infrastructure (networks and storage) 
and standardise the related planning across Europe.

The policy guidelines set by the European Commission 
for the new legislative period include, among others, 
the strengthening of the EU’s competitive position as 
a priority. The Green Deal and the related goals and 
measures will also be continued.

Austria

The directives for the energy sector which were recently 
approved at the EU level must still be implemented 
into national law in Austria. This will be a task for the 
new federal government, which can build on a draft of 
the Electricity Industry Act (“Elektrizitätswirtschafts-
gesetz”, ElWG) prepared by the previous government as 
a replacement for the existing Electricity Industry and 
Organisation Act (“Elektrizitätswirtschafts- und organi-
sationsgesetz”, ElWOG).

A federal act was passed in June 2024 to alleviate 
 crisis effects and improve market conditions in the 
event of market-dominating energy providers. The act 
is  provisional and will expire on 31 December 2027.

Despite the market distortions triggered by the war in 
Ukraine, the EU accepted the single market and merit 
order as material and efficient pricing mechanisms after 
extensive consultations with energy experts. The reform 
packages for the European electricity market also include 
measures to prevent and/or contain price peaks. These 
measures will now flow into Austrian law and the na-
tional market design. The goal is to ensure more stable 
price development for end customers, also in Austria, 
without extreme distortions. However, energy providers 
still see a need for more precise and legally secure con-
sumer protection regulations concerning pricing and 
cancellation possibilities. 

Wide-ranging discussions in Austria have focused on 
the extent of Russian gas imports and possible measures 
to diversify procurement sources as well as the potential 
consequences for national gas supplies from the possible 
failure to extend the gas transit contract between Russia 
and Ukraine beyond 31 December 2024. Against this 
background, the Austrian Parliament passed several legal 
amendments in June 2024 to require gas supply compa-
nies that draw at least 25% of their volumes from Russia 
or unknown sources to prepare supply security concepts. 
The requirement to maintain a strategic gas reserve was 
also extended to 2027.

The planned Renewable Gas Act was not passed due to 
a lack of the required two-thirds majority in the Austrian 
Parliament. From the viewpoint of the energy sector, 
a minimum quota for green gas in connection with 
penalty payments would have led to a situation where 
the market price would be defined by the penalty.

Energy policy environment

Energy and climate policy

European Union

The European Green Deal, the central project of the 
European Commission, covered the EU’s legislative 
period from 2019 to 2024 and defined an important 
energy policy focus for its institutions. The goals to make 
Europe the first climate-neutral continent by 2050 and 
to substantially reduce greenhouse gas emissions by 
2030 have therefore had a significant influence on the 
European energy sector legislation in recent years. The 
crisis triggered by the war in Ukraine and its influence on 
energy prices and the European economy also had an 
impact on energy policy decisions beginning in 2022. 

One of the most important goals was, and still is, to 
contain the negative effects of extreme price fluctua-
tions on the EU market and, in turn, on consumers.

The EU’s extensive legislative packages for the energy 
 sector were approved in the final version during 
spring 2024. The reforms for the electricity market 
design led to the amendment of the EU’s Single 
 Electricity Market Directive and Single Electricity Market 
Regulation. Amendments were also made to the  Single 
Gas Market Directive and Regulation, which establish 
a framework for future hydrogen energy economy.

The major reforms in this legislative package make it 
easier for customers to participate in the electricity 
market – both as part of and outside energy communi-
ties. In addition, subsidies are now possible for invest-

Management report
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Federal Act on the Energy Crisis Contribution 
for Electricity

To implement an EU regulation on temporary emergency 
intervention measures that was issued in autumn 2022, 
Austria passed the Federal Act on the Energy Crisis Con-
tribution for Electricity for the period from 1 Decem-
ber 2022 to 31 December 2023. The law was subse-
quent ly extended beyond the original expiration date to 
31 December 2024. The primary goal of the EU regula-
tion and the related national laws was to present a tem-
porary answer to the massive distortions on the inter-
national energy markets and the resulting effect on the 
European society and economy. Specifically, Austria 
introduced a levy on surplus revenues from electricity 
generation based on thresholds for wholesale electricity 
prices and the inclusion of eligible  investments in 
renewable energies and energy efficiency measures.

Regulatory environment

Austria

The operation of the distribution networks and network 
infrastructure for electricity and natural gas in Lower 
Austria is the responsibility of EVN’s group company 
Netz Niederösterreich. All investments and expenditures 
by this company to ensure the continuous operations of 
the network infrastructure are remunerated through 
network tariffs which are set by the E-Control Commis-
sion each year in accordance with the Austrian regula-
tory method.

Key parameters for the determination of the network 
tariffs include the interest-bearing capital base (regula-
tory asset base) of the network operator and the 
weighted average cost of capital. Also included is an 
incentive in the form of productivity factors, which serve 
as cost reduction targets for the respective company and 
also include inflationary adjustments. E-Control sets the 
weighted average cost of capital and cost reduction 
targets for an entire regulatory period, which equals five 
years in Austria. The current period for the natural gas 
and electricity distribution network began on 1 Janu-
ary 2023, respectively 1 January 2024. Here, the regula-
tory authority differentiated for the first time between 
the efficiency of the various network operators and 
between existing and new equipment in order to create 
incentives for further investments and efficiency improve-
ments. This benefits network operators with higher 
productivity in industry comparison and provides a 
slightly higher return on the capital base for new invest-
ments. EVN’s network company has received a very 
positive evaluation from the regulatory authority for 
its productivity in peer-group benchmarking. 

The annual determination of network tariffs by E-Control 
includes, among others, the volume-based differences 
between planned and actual revenue in previous periods. 
National accounting rules require the correction of these 
differences during the same period and the recognition 
of an appropriate accrual to a regulatory account. In 
contrast, IFRS currently do not provide for the recogni-
tion of a regulatory account. The annual offset of the 
differences through network tariffs therefore leads to 
revenue and earnings fluctuations in EVN’s consolidated 
financial statements. The IASB is currently working on a 
standard to permit the recognition of these differences. 

Bulgaria

The delivery of electricity to industrial and commercial 
customers in Bulgaria is liberalised, and EVN Trading SEE 
serves as a supplier in this market segment. Household 
customers remain in the regulated market and are sup-
plied by EVN Bulgaria EC, which also acts as a “supplier 
of last resort” for customers who do not select another 
supplier or cannot receive electricity from their chosen 
supplier through no fault of their own. In view of the 
current energy policy debate in Bulgaria, it can be 
assumed that the transfer of household customers to 
the liberalised market will be postponed at least to 
 January 2026. Energy sales to customers in the regu-
lated market segments and the procurement of the 
corresponding volumes are based on regulated prices.

A new three-year regulatory period for the electricity 
network in Bulgaria began on 1 July 2024. The regula-
tory method defines a revenue cap which covers recog-
nised operating expenses, amortisation and depreciation 
as well as an adequate return on the regulatory asset 
base. The applied method also includes the projected 
network distribution volumes as well as an annually 
defined investment factor for planned future invest-
ments. EP Yug is responsible for the operation of the 
electricity distribution networks in EVN’s Bulgarian 
 supply area.

The Bulgarian regulatory authority set new energy tariffs 
for the regulated market segments as of 1 July 2024. 
Electricity prices for household customers in EVN’s supply 
area were increased by 1.9% on average (previous year: 
average increase of 3.8%).

North Macedonia

EVN operates through various companies in North 
 Macedonia: Network operations in the regulated market 
segment are the responsibility of Elektrodistribucija 
DOOEL, while customers in the liberalised market seg-
ment receive deliveries from the supply company EVN 
Macedonia Elektrosnabduvanje DOOEL. EVN Macedonia 
Elektrani DOOEL serves as a production company. Since 
1 July 2019, EVN Home DOO has supplied electricity to 
all households and small businesses in the regulated 
market segments based on a license as the “supplier of 
universal service” and also serves as a “supplier of last 
resort” for customers who do not select another supplier 
or cannot receive electricity from their chosen supplier 
through no fault of their own. EVN Home’s license for 
the regulated market segment was extended for a further 
five years in spring 2024.

The regulated electricity prices for the household 
 customers supplied by EVN Home DOO are currently 
classified in four consumption-based categories. As of 
1 January 2024, the average prices for all four categories 
were raised by 1.6% (1 July 2023: increase of 8.7% to 
14.4% based on the category). The regulated electricity 
procurement price for EVN Home DOO was set at 
EUR 57.0 per MWh (previous year: EUR 56.0 per MWh). 
Network tariffs were raised by 13.4%, and a base fee of 
200 denars (roughly EUR 3.3) per month was introduced 
independent of consumption.

A new three-year regulation period for the North Mace-
donian electricity network began on 1 January 2024 
and froze recognised operating expenses, investments 
and network losses. Similar to the framework in Bulgaria, 
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implementation of urgently needed structural reforms 
(e. g. in the justice system). Other pending issues include 
the fight against corruption and the current lack of spe-
cialists. The inflation rate in Bulgaria is declining but still 
somewhat higher than in the eurozone. Price stability 
within the ECB’s requirements is, not least, a major crite-
rion for the planned introduction of the euro as the 
Bulgarian currency at the end of 2025. In a final step, the 
Bulgarian parliament must set a concrete date for acces-
sion to the eurozone. Forecasts indicate that the 1.8% 
increase in the Bulgarian GDP in 2023 should be fol-
lowed by further growth of 2.1% to 2.4% in 2024 and 
2.5% to 3.1% in 2025.

Economic growth in Croatia has slowed recently but 
remains solid and is among the highest among the 
EU member states. The main driver for this development 

comparison and was recently reflected in a downward 
revision of GDP expectations to –0.6% for the 2024 
calendar year. An improvement in consumer sentiment 
and stronger foreign demand, supported by the expected 
recovery of industrial activity in the eurozone, should 
help the domestic economy to regain momentum. This 
more optimistic picture is reflected in forecasts for mod-
erate growth of 0.8% to 1.1% in 2025.

Bulgaria has recently faced the seventh in a series of 
elections in only three years due to the inability to form 
a stable majority in parliament. There are, however, 
hopes that a new and stable government will be able to 
start the many planned infrastructure projects and draw 
the EU subsidies on time. That would accelerate projects 
such as the expansion of the motorways and electricity 
networks. A stable government is also necessary for the 

General business environment

The global economy has generated only moderate 
growth to date in 2024. The USA has outpaced the 
eurozone, with Germany and Austria again at the lower 
end of the scale. Production in the emerging countries 
was reserved, and the pace of expansion has slowed 
notably, above all in China. Current forecasts are con-
nected with a significant downward risk. Any escalation 
of geopolitical tensions, for example in the Near East or 
Ukraine, would destabilise global trade and reverse the 
recent downward inflationary spiral. That, in turn, would 
weaken the development of real incomes and reduce the 
speed of monetary policy easing. Global trade has also 
been increasingly burdened by protectionist tendencies, 
as is illustrated by the high customs duties imposed by 
the USA and European Union on Chinese electric cars. 
The counteractions threatened by China would limit the 
international exchange of goods and have a strong neg-
ative impact on global economic momentum. Growth in 
the eurozone is projected to equal approximately 0.8% 
in 2024 and range from 1.2% to 1.3% in 2025.

The Austrian economy remained in recession with a 
further decline in economic output during the first half 
of 2024. The 1.0% GDP reduction in 2023 was followed 
by continued weakness in the industrial and construction 
sectors in 2024, and consumption has failed to gain 
speed despite the substantial growth in real incomes. 
The loss of competitiveness resulting from the increasing 
cost basis has also had a negative effect on the Austrian 
export sector. These developments have caused the 
Austrian economy to fall notably behind in European 

the regulatory method for the electricity network in 
North Macedonia defines a revenue cap which covers 
recognised operating expenses, amortisation and 
depreciation as well as an adequate return on the 
 regulatory asset base.

Croatia

The liberalisation of the Croatian natural gas market for 
household customers was nearly complete in 2022. The 
market for commercial and industrial customers has been 
liberalised since 2012 and is characterised by increasing 
competition among the natural gas suppliers active in 
the country. The new LNG terminal near the island of Krk 
was commissioned on 1 January 2021 and has further 
diversified the country’s natural gas supplies. 

The capacity of the LNG terminal is currently undergoing 
expansion from 2.3 bn m³ per year to a transfer volume 
of 6.2 bn m³ per year by the end of 2026. The through-
put capacity from the LNG terminal to the high-pressure 
pipelines leading to Slovenia and Hungary is also being 
increased. These projects will broaden diversification 
and increase the performance of Croatian energy sup-
plies and strengthen supply security in the country. They 
should also help to further consolidate the volatility on 
the national natural gas market.

The Croatian government has taken various steps to hold 
energy prices for household and industrial customers as 
low as possible. Examples include a VAT reduction and 
the distribution of vouchers for energy costs.

GDP growth

2025f 2024e 2023 2022 2021

EU-281) 2) 5) 1.2 to 1.3 0.7 to 0.8 0.4 3.3 6.2

Austria1) 2) 3) 5) 0.8 to 1.1 –0.6 –1.0 5.3 4.8

Bulgaria1) 2) 4) 5) 2.5 to 3.1 2.1 to 2.4 1.8 3.9 7.7

Croatia1) 2) 4) 5) 2.8 to 3.3 3.0 to 3.6 3.1 7.0 13.0

North Macedonia1) 4) 5) 2.6 to 3.6 2.0 to 2.5 1.0 2.2 4.5

1) Source: “European Economic Forecast, Autumn 2024“, EU Commission, November 2024

2) Source: “Herbst-Prognose der österreichischen Wirtschaft 2024–2025“, IHS, October 2024

3) Source: “Prognose für 2024 und 2025: Rezession in Österreich hält sich hartnäckig“, WIFO, October 2024

4) Source: “Global Economic Prospects“, World Bank, June 2024 

5) Source: “World Economic Outlook“, International Monetary Fund, October 2024
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Both water and wind flows were very positive through-
out the entire reporting year. The generation coefficients 
for wind were slightly below the long-term average in 
Austria and Bulgaria. That represents a sound improve-
ment over the previous year in Austria and a slight de -
terioration in Bulgaria. The generation coefficients for 
water also improved substantially in Austria and 
 Germany, but remained below the high previous year 
in North Macedonia. 

Primary energy and energy prices continued to decline 
during 2023/24. With interim adjustments, the aver-
age EEX price for natural gas dropped from EUR 56.4 
per MWh to EUR 33.9 per MWh. The prices of CO2 emis-
sion certificates were lower year-on-year as a result of 
general economic conditions: With an average of 
EUR 69.1 per tonne in 2023/24, they were roughly 
18.0% below the EUR 84.2 per tonne recorded in the 
previous financial year. 

These developments also had an impact on the 
 market prices for electricity, which again declined 
 significantly during the reporting year. The spot 
 market prices for base load and peak load electricity 
averaged EUR 75.2 per MWh and EUR 85.5 per MWh, 
respectively (previous year: EUR 134.4 per MWh and 
EUR 154.8 per MWh). Due to the steadily increasing 
share of renewable generation capacity in the energy 
system, price developments during the year are now 
also significantly influenced by seasonal effects.

Energy sector environment

EVN’s energy business is significantly influenced by ex -
ternal factors. The weather and current market prices, 
in particular, have an effect on sales to household 
 customers. Mild temperatures and energy savings in 
reaction to higher prices can weaken the demand for 
electricity, natural gas and heat. Market prices and, 
as a result, EVN’s procurement costs are dependent to 
a significant degree on the geopolitical climate. Demand 
by industrial customers has a different base and is primar-
ily influenced by economic developments. Changes in 
customers’ behaviour have also played an increasingly 
important role in recent years through the appearance 
of more and more so-called prosumers. The relevant 
factors for energy generation include wind and water 
flows as well as solar radiation.

The weather in EVN’s three core markets was again 
characterised by milder temperatures during the 2023/24 
financial year. The heating degree total – which defines 
the temperature-related demand for energy – was clearly 
below the previous year as well as the long-term average 
in Austria, Bulgaria and North Macedonia. In Bulgaria, it 
only reached 70.1 percentage points of the mean value.

The cooling degree total, which measures the tempera-
ture-related demand for cooling energy, rose substan-
tially above the already high prior year levels in all three 
core markets during 2023/24. In North Macedonia, it 
was more than twice as high as the long-term average 
at 205.0  percentage points.

Economic growth in North Macedonia is currently impaired 
by a sharp drop in exports. Above all, the ongoing reces-
sion in Germany, one of the country’s most important 
export markets in the eurozone, represents a negative 
factor. Positive contributions were, however, recently 
made by a robust influx of foreign direct investment and 
strong real wage increases, which have led to an improve-
ment in private and public sector consumption. Spending 
has also been supported by the decline in inflation to the 
European Union level. After a moderate growth rate of 
1.0% in 2023, forecasts point to a GDP increase of 2.0% 
to 2.5% in 2024 and 2.6% to 3.6% in 2025.

is private household consumption, which benefits from 
a robust labour market, declining jobless statistics and 
an increase in employment. Solid results from the tour-
ism sector and the related positive effects apparently 
also play an important role in consumers‘ above-average 
optimism in a long-term comparison. The accompanying 
steady and strong increase in gross fixed capital invest-
ments is  evidently linked to the growth in the construc-
tion sector, which is also supported by EU funds. This 
outlook points toward continuation of the 3.1% growth 
in 2023 with a further increase of 3.0% to 3.6% in 2024 
and 2.8% to 3.3% in 2025.

Energy sector environment – indicators

2023/24 2022/23

Heating-related energy demand1) %

Austria 87.6 98.7

Bulgaria 70.1 77.7

North Macedonia 78.8 86.1

Cooling-related energy demand1) %

Austria 143.4 101.2

Bulgaria 143.0 120.2

North Macedonia 205.0 131.0

Primary energy and CO2 emission certificates

Crude oil – Brent  EUR/bbl 77.9 78.8

Natural gas – THE2)  EUR/MWh 33.9 56.4

CO2 emission certificates  EUR/t 69.1 84.2

Electricity – EPEX spot market3) 

Base load  EUR/MWh 75.2 134.4

Peak load  EUR/MWh 85.5 154.8

1) Calculated based on the heating degree total respectively cooling degree total; the basis (100%) corresponds to 

the adjusted long-term average for the respective countries.

2) Trading Hub Europe (THE) – European Energy Exchange (stock exchange price for natural gas)

3) EPEX Spot – European Power Exchange
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 • Equity accounted energy supply company 
EVN KG negatively affected by valuation effects

 • Significantly higher dividend of EUR 182.1m 
from Verbund AG for the 2023 financial year 
 (previous year: EUR 158.0m)

 • Group net result slightly above outlook, but below 
the historically high previous year as predicted 

Results of operations

Revenue recorded by the EVN Group declined by 
13.6% to EUR 3,256.6m in 2023/24. 

This development resulted primarily from the down-
ward trend in wholesale prices for electricity and 
 natural gas in all three EVN core markets and from 
the resulting valuation effects from hedges. The price- 
related revenue decline in renewable production was 
offset in part by an increase in generation volumes. 
Other factors included the reduced use of the Theiss 
power plant for network stabilisation and a weath-
er-related decrease in heat sales volumes as well as 
lower network tariffs in Bulgaria which offset the 
overcompensation for the costs of network loss 
 coverage in the previous year in accordance with 
the regulation methodology. Revenue in the inter-
national project business was also lower following 
the completion of the wastewater treatment plant in 
Kuwait. In contrast, Netz Niederösterreich was able 
to offset the revenue effects from declining natural 
gas network sales volumes with higher network 
 tariffs for electricity in Lower Austria.

The revenue generated by EVN outside Austria amounted 
to EUR 1,716.2m (previous year: EUR 1,991.2m). As a 
share of Group revenue, it remained nearly unchanged 
at 52.7% (previous year: 52.8%).

Business development

The scope of consolidation and changes in comparison 
with the previous year are explained in the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements. Effects from initial 
consolidations and deconsolidations are of minor signifi-
cance for the development of the consolidated state-
ment of operations and the consolidated statement of 
financial position.

 See page 174ff

The notes to the consolidated financial statements also 
include an analysis of the potential effects of climate 
change, the war in Ukraine and the macroeconomic 
environment on the recoverability of assets in accord-
ance with IAS 36 and IFRS 9 and explain further uncer-
tainty in discretionary assessments.

 See page 174ff

Statement of operations

Highlights 2023/24

 • Revenue –13.6%, EBITDA –8.0%,  
Group net result –11.0%

 • Revenue from electricity generation and the 
South East Europe Segment was reduced by a 
 substantial decline in spot and forward prices 
(despite an increase in renewable production); 
 a corresponding decrease was also recorded 
 in  the cost of energy purchases from third parties 
and primary energy expenses in all markets

 • EBIT in South East Europe again exceeds the outlook 
due to a decline in the costs for network losses

Revenue by region

EURm 

EBITDA by region

EURm 

2021/22

2,004.8

1,483.6

573.7

4,062.2

South East
Europe

Austria

Central
and Eastern
Europe

2023/242022/23

1,333.0

1,497.1

1,540.4

1,777.4

383.2494.1

3,256.6

3,768.7

South East
Europe

Austria

Central
and Eastern
Europe

201.3

241.7

150.1

574.2
570.9556.5
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which amounted to EUR –162.3m (previous year: 
EUR –240.3m). Two valuation effects were the main 
reasons for this development: the impairment of 
EUR 39.7m to natural gas inventories previously pur-
chased as a strategic reserve and the addition to provi-
sions for the impending repayment of previous price 
increases which were based on disputed contract terms. 
Challenging framework conditions – above all intensified 
competition combined with customers’ energy savings 
measures and supplies from private photovoltaic equip-
ment – also reduced electricity and natural gas sales 
volumes and made planning for sales volumes more dif-
ficult. In contrast, a higher earnings contribution was 
received from Burgenland Energie (EUR 48.3m; previous 
year: EUR 31.0m) as a result of favourable generation 
conditions for renewable energy and structural prepara-
tions (change of consolidation method for a subsidiary 
of Burgenland Energie) for the further expansion of 
renewable generation. An additional positive effect 
was the further revaluation of EUR 16.8m to the Ashta 
hydropower plant (previous year: EUR 11.1m). The share 
of results from equity accounted investees amounted 
to EUR 30.8m (previous year: EUR –67.6m).

Based on these developments, EBITDA recorded by EVN 
declined by 8.0% year-on-year to EUR 799.4m.

The higher pace of investments led to an increase of 
3.5% in scheduled depreciation and amortisation to 
EUR 348.3m. Impairment losses of EUR –24.9m were 
recorded in 2023/24 (previous year: EUR –3.9m) and 
primarily involved the EVN heating plants (EUR –18.5m, 
previous year: EUR –3.9m), EVN Naturkraft (EUR –2.4m, 
previous year: EUR 0.0) and the energy services 
(EUR –1.7m, previous year: EUR 0.0). Impairment tests 
of the district heating plants led, in total, to negative 
effects of EUR –2.2m (previous year: EUR –4.1m). 

Other operating income was nearly stable in 2023/24 
at EUR 127.3m. 

In line with the development of revenue, declining 
wholesale prices for electricity and natural gas also led 
to a reduction in the cost of electricity purchases from 
third parties and primary energy expenses in South East 
Europe and in electricity and heat generation. In addi-
tion, Netz Niederösterreich recorded a decline in the 
costs for network losses and upstream network costs. 
The cost of electricity purchases from third parties and 
primary energy expenses fell by a total of 18.7% to 
EUR 1,362.8m in 2023/24.

The cost of materials and services declined by 14.6% 
to EUR 565.8m corresponding to the development of 
revenue in the international project business. 

Personnel expenses rose by 13.1% year-on-year to 
EUR 473.9m. The primary reasons were adjustments 
required by collective bargaining agreements and an 
increase in the average workforce to 7,568 (previous 
year: 7,255 employees).

Other operating expenses were 5.3% higher year-on-
year at EUR 212.8m. They include an impairment loss of 
EUR 22.5m which was recognised to a receivable in the 
international project business during the first quarter 
of 2023/24 following a court of arbitration judgment. 
This position also includes the energy crisis contribution 
levy for electricity generation which, however, was lower 
than the previous year due to the development of mar-
ket prices and an increased investment allowance.

The share of results from equity accounted investees with 
operational nature was again influenced by a negative 
contribution from the energy supply company EVN KG, 
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of the Verbund share led to a decline in other invest-
ments (EUR 74.50 as of 30 September 2024 versus 
EUR 77.05 as of 30 September 2023). Non-current assets 
rose by 3.4% to a total of EUR 9,699.7m.

In contrast, current assets fell by 24.8% during the 
reporting year to EUR 1,213.8m. The main underlying 
factors included reductions in trade receivables, receiv-
ables due from EVN KG resulting from the liquidity 
 settlement with the EVN Group, and receivables from 
hedges. Price and volume effects were responsible for 
a decline in the carrying amount of natural gas supplies, 
and investments in cash funds were lower than the 
previous year.

EVN’s equity rose by 4.1% to EUR 6,730.6m in 2023/24 
based on the result recorded for the reporting period 
and despite the dividend of EUR 1.14 per share (including 
a special dividend of EUR 0.62 per share) for the 2022/23 
financial year. The increase was reduced by valuation 
effects which were recorded directly in equity without 
recognition to profit or loss and which were mainly 
responsible for the decline in Group net result in the 
previous year. These effects described above increased 
equity by EUR 506.9m (previous year: reduction of 
EUR –737.1m). The equity ratio equalled 61.7% as of 
30 September 2024 (30 September 2023: 58.8%).

Non-current liabilities declined by 2.3% to EUR 2,958.6m. 
The main reasons included reclassifications from non- 
current to current financial liabilities and the reduction 
of non-current tax liabilities in line with the lower valu-
ation of the Verbund share. Contrary factors were the 
increase in construction costs and network subsidies 
that followed the rising investments in the network and 
heating business.

In the previous year, there was a revaluation of 
 EUR  1.6m to EVN Wasser. 

EBIT for the EVN Group amounted to EUR 426.2m 
in 2023/24 (previous year: EUR 528.5m). 

Financial results totalled EUR 135.3m (previous year: 
EUR 127.6m) and resulted chiefly from a higher dividend 
from Verbund AG for the 2023 financial year. The posi-
tive trend was weakened, among others, by foreign 
exchange movements, an increase in interest expense 
and valuation effects related to the two combined 
heat and power plants in Moscow. 

The result before income tax declined by 14.4% to 
EUR 561.6m. After the deduction of EUR 33.5m in income 
tax expense (previous year: EUR 74.0m) and the earnings 
attributable to non-controlling interests, Group net result 
for the 2023/24 financial year was 11.0% lower year-on-
year at EUR 471.7m.

Statement of financial position

Asset and financial position

EVN’s balance sheet total was a slight 0.7% lower year-
on-year at EUR 10,913.6m as of 30 September 2024.

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 
increased substantially due to the high level of invest-
ments and were only reduced slightly by impairment 
losses of EUR 25.2m. Positive valuation effects – in 
 particular to Burgenland Energie and the Ashta hydro-
power plant in Albania – increased the carrying amount 
of equity accounted investees, while the development 

Condensed consolidated statement 
of operations

2023/24
EURm

2022/23
EURm

+/– 2021/22
EURmNominal %

Revenue 3,256.6 3,768.7 –512.0 –13.6 4,062.2

Other operating income 127.3 127.5 –0.2 –0.2 109.5

Electricity purchases and primary energy expenses –1,362.8 –1,675.5 312.7 18.7 –2,278.2

Cost of materials and services –565.8 –662.7 96.9 14.6 –707.1

Personnel expenses –473.9 –419.2 –54.7 –13.1 –372.2

Other operating expenses –212.8 –202.2 –10.6 –5.3 –158.4

Share of results from equity accounted
investees with operational nature 30.8 –67.6 98.4 – 98.9

EBITDA 799.4 869.0 –69.6 –8.0 754.8

Depreciation and amortisation –348.3 –336.5 –11.8 –3.5 –318.0

Effects from impairment tests –24.9 –3.9 –21.0 – –105.2

Results from operating activities (EBIT) 426.2 528.5 –102.3 –19.4 331.6

Financial results 135.3 127.6 7.7 6.0 –30.5

Result before income tax 561.6 656.2 –94.6 –14.4 301.2

Income tax –33.5 –74.0 40.6 54.8 –64.0

Result for the period 528.1 582.1 –54.0 –9.3 237.1

thereof result attributable to EVN AG share holders 
(Group net result) 471.7 529.7 –58.0 –11.0 209.6

thereof result attributable to non-controlling 
interests 56.4 52.4 4.0 7.6 27.5

Earnings per share in EUR1) 2.65 2.97 –0.3 –11.0 1.18

1)  There is no difference between basic and diluted earnings per share.
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employed equals equity plus interest-bearing loans 
or assets minus non-interest- bearing liabilities. The 
consistent calculation of the value contribution is 
ensured by excluding the market value of the invest-
ment in Verbund AG from capital employed and the 
dividend from Verbund AG from OpROCE.

The WACC – including EVN’s specific company and 
 country risks – was set at 5.0% for the purpose of 
 corporate management. The operating return on capi-
tal employed (OpROCE) equalled 7.0% for the reporting 
year (previous year: 7.7%). The economic value added 
(EVA®) generated in 2023/24 totalled EUR 111.2m and 
shows the value created during the reporting year. 
Due to the decline in earnings, EVA® was below the 
prior year value of EUR 159.4m.

Current liabilities were 18.5% lower at EUR 1,224.4m. 
Declines were recorded, in particular, under current 
financial liabilities, tax liabilities and liabilities from 
hedges as of 30 September 2024 but were contrasted 
by an increase in trade payables.

Value analysis

EVN manages the Group according to the value crea-
tion concept and uses the economic value added 
method (EVA®) for this purpose. EVA® is calculated by 
multiplying the difference between operating return 
on capital employed (OpROCE) and the average cost of 
capital after tax (weighted average cost of capital, 
WACC) with average capital employed. Capital 

Condensed consolidated  
statement of financial position

30.09.2024
EURm

30.09.2023
EURm

+/– 30.09.2022
 EURmNominal %

Assets

Non-current assets

Intangible assets and property, 
plant and equipment 4,925.1 4,496.9 428.1 9.5 4,071.3

Investments in equity accounted investees 
and other investments 4,586.1 4,658.8 –72.7 –1.6 6,422.0

Other non-current assets 188.5 225.2 –36.6 –16.3 218.7

9,699.7 9,380.9 318.8 3.4 10,712.0

Current assets 1,213.8 1,615.1 –401.2 –24.8 1,718.5

Total assets 10,913.6 10,996.0 –82.4 –0.7 12,430.5

Equity and liabilities

Equity

Issued capital and reserves attributable 
to shareholders of EVN AG 6,414.8 6,165.4 249.4 4.0 7,047.8

Non-controlling interests 315.7 298.9 16.8 5.6 273.3

6,730.6 6,464.3 266.2 4.1 7,321.1

Non-current liabilities

Non-current loans and borrowings 987.8 1,103.5 –115.6 –10.5 1,150.8

Deferred tax liabilities and non-current 
provisions 1,160.9 1,153.7 7.2 0.6 1,463.0

Deferred income from network subsidies 
and other non-current liabilities 809.9 772.3 37.5 4.9 769.0

2,958.6 3,029.4 –70.8 –2.3 3,382.8

Current liabilities

Current loans and borrowings 126.1 343.2 –217.1 –63.3 377.4

Other current liabilities 1,098.3 1,159.0 –60.7 –5.2 1,349.1

1,224.4 1,502.2 –277.8 –18.5 1,726.5

Total equity and liabilities 10,913.6 10,996.0 –82.4 –0.7 12,430.5

Value analysis

2023/24 2022/23
+/–

% 2021/22

Average equity EURm 6,597.5 6,892.7 –4.3 6,932.7

WACC after income tax1) 2)  % 5.0 5.0 0.0 5.0

Operating ROCE (OpROCE)1) 3)  % 7.0 7.7 –0.7 5.5

Average capital employed3) EURm 5,672.0 5,998.9 –5.4 5,683.2

Net operating profit after tax (NOPAT)3) EURm 394.8 459.4 –14.0 313.4

EVA® EURm 111.2 159.4 –30.2 29.3

1) Changes reported in percentage points

2) The WACC given is used for the purpose of corporate management. 

3) Adjusted for impairment losses and one-off effects. The market value of the investment in Verbund AG  

is not included in capital employed in order to consistently determine the value contribution.
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In order to safeguard financial flexibility, EVN AG holds 
additional contractually agreed bilateral credit com-
mitments of EUR 315.0m. The credit lines represent a 
combined total of EUR 815.0m. There were no draw-
downs as of 30 September 2024 and these facilities 
were therefore available in full.

Statement of cash flows

Gross cash flow was 10.8% lower than the previous year 
at EUR 982.2m in 2023/24. In addition to the drop in 
earnings, the correction of non-cash earnings compo-
nents was a main factor for the decline. It was offset in 
part, however, by higher dividends from equity accounted 
companies and from Verbund AG. A contrasting positive 

Liquidity position

EVN’s net debt, including non-current employee-related 
provisions, amounted to EUR 1,129.3m as of 30 Septem-
ber 2024 (previous year: EUR 1,364.3m). The gearing 
ratio declined from 21.1% to 16.8%.

The syndicated credit line of EUR 400m was refinanced 
prematurely at the end of April 2024 and replaced by a 
new syndicated credit facility of EUR 500m. This revolv-
ing credit agreement was concluded with a consortium 
of 12 banks and again serves as a strategic liquidity 
reserve. It has a term of five years, plus two one-year 
extension options, and is a so-called sustainability-linked 
credit line with conditions that are also tied to the fulfil-
ment of specific sustainability criteria.

Capital structure indicators

30.09.2024
EURm

30.09.2023
EURm

+/– 30.09.2022
EURmNominal %

Non-current loans and borrowings and leasing liabilities 1,058.1 1,174.8 –116.7 –9.9 1,206.1

Current loans and borrowings1) 134.6 302.0 –167.4 –55.4 128.8

Cash and cash equivalents –78.8 –20.2 –58.6 – –36.9

Non-current and current securities –250.5 –337.5 87.0 25.8 –285.6

Non-current and current loans receivable –30.3 –29.5 –0.9 –3.0 –29.4

Financial net debt 833.1 1,089.7 –256.6 –23.5 983.1

Net debt 1,129.3 1,364.3 –235.0 –17.2 1,245.1

Equity 6,730.6 6,464.3 266.2 4.1 7,321.1

Gearing (%)2) 16.8 21.1 –4.3 –4.3 17.0

1) Excluding bank overdrafts contained in cash and cash equivalents 

2) Changes reported in percentage points

Gearing16.8%

21.1%
17.0%

Net debt1,129.3

1,364.3

1,245.1

Net debt and gearing

EURm and %

30.09.2022 30.09.202430.09.2023

 For additional information on 

the composition and terms of 

non-current financial liabilities, 

see page 211f
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effect resulted from the correction of the higher sched-
uled depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses 
recorded in the previous year and non-cash earnings 
components in financial results.

A substantial year-on-year reduction in the capital 
 commitment for the liquidity settlement with EVN KG 
and in receivables from hedging provided noticeable 

Condensed consolidated statement 
of cash flows

2023/24
EURm

2022/23
EURm

+/– 2021/22
EURmNominal %

Result before income tax 561.6 656.2 –94.6 –14.4 301.2

Non-cash items 420.6 444.5 –23.9 –5.4 433.2

Gross cash flow 982.2 1,100.7 –118.5 –10.8 734.3

Changes in current and non-current balance 
sheet items 218.8 –109.5 328.3 – –556.7

Income tax paid –34.3 –48.9 14.6 29.9 –26.6

Net cash flow from operating activities 1,166.7 942.4 224.3 23.8 151.0

Changes in intangible assets and property, 
plant and equipment incl. deferred income from 
 network subsidies –642.6 –570.4 –72.3 –12.7 –477.4

Changes in financial assets and other 
 non-current assets –11.2 –333.6 322.4 96.6 –50.7

Changes in current securities 106.6 –25.1 131.7 – 191.5

Net cash flow from investing activities –547.2 –929.0 381.8 41.1 –336.7

Net cash flow from financing activities –545.7 1.6 –547.3 – 115.8

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 73.8 14.9 58.9 – –69.8

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning 

of the period 20.2 36.9 –16.7 –45.3 122.3

Currency translation differences on cash 
and cash equivalents –15.2 –31.7 16.4 51.9 –15.5

Cash and cash equivalents at the end 

of the period 78.8 20.2 58.6 – 36.9

Investment priorities1)

2023/24
EURm

2022/23
EURm

+/– 2021/22
EURmNominal %

Energy 87.1 61.5 25.6 41.6 41.7

Generation 86.2 117.2 –31.0 –26.5 56.0

thereof renewable energy Lower Austria 74.0 100.9 –26.9 –26.7 43.1

thereof thermal power plants 9.6 15.5 –5.9 –38.0 10.3

Networks 399.8 356.0 43.8 12.3 334.3

thereof electricity networks 329.1 277.9 51.2 18.4 267.4

thereof natural gas networks 41.5 48.7 –7.2 –14.8 43.3

thereof internet and telecommunications networks 29.2 29.5 –0.3 –1.0 25.3

South East Europe 147.2 135.5 11.6 8.6 110.0

Environment 30.3 22.0 8.2 37.3 19.9

thereof cross-regional supply pipelines and local 
networks for drinking water 29.1 19.9 9.2 46.0 18.8

All Other Segments 2.5 1.8 0.7 39.9 2.1

Total 753.0 694.1 58.9 8.5 564.0

1)  After consolidation

relief for working capital and supported an improvement 
in  operating cash flow to EUR 1,166.7m (previous year: 
EUR 942.4m).

Cash flow from investing activities amounted to 
EUR –547.2m (previous year: EUR –929.0m). Invest  ments 
continued to increase, but the previous year also includ ed 
a capital injection provided by EVN to EVN KG. 

In  addition, the investments in cash funds included under 
current financial investments declined in year-on-year 
comparison.

Cash flow from financing activities totalled EUR –545.7m 
(previous year: EUR 1.6m). It included the scheduled 
repayment of financial liabilities as well as the dividend 
payments to the shareholders of EVN AG and to 
non-controlling interests.

Cash flow totalled EUR 73.8m in 2023/24 (previous year: 
EUR 14.9m), and cash and cash equivalents equalled 
EUR 78.8m as of 30 September 2024 (previous year: 
EUR 20.2m). EVN also had contractually committed, 
undrawn credit lines of EUR 815.0m at its disposal at 

the end of the reporting period to service potential 
short-term financing requirements.

Investments

Capital expenditure increased as forecasted and rose 
to EUR 753.0m in 2023/24 (previous year: EUR 694.1m). 
EVN’s investment focal points remained unchanged 
on the network infrastructure, renewable generation, 
natural heat and drinking water. 

Investments in the Energy Segment included the 
 construction of a new biomass combined heat and 
power plant in St. Pölten and, above all, equipment 
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strengthen the company’s competitive position. 
The overriding criterion for all projects is to provide 
a concrete benefit for customers.

In 2023/24, EVN spent approximately EUR 6.6m 
( previous year: approximately EUR 4.0m) on innovation, 
research and development projects. Public subsidies 
were received for these projects and represent a  subsidy 
quota of 1.2%.

An important focal point for EVN’s innovation activities 
are storage solutions that will allow surplus renewable 
production to be used in periods with lower energy 

In line with its corporate strategy, EVN also sets focal 
points for its investments in the Environment Seg-
ment – namely the improvement of supply security 
and the quality of drinking water in Lower Austria. 
The focus here, in particular, is on the expansion of 
cross-regional supply pipelines.

Innovation, research and development

EVN’s innovation, research and development activities 
are directed primarily to projects that safeguard supply 
security, protect the environment and resources, and 

hand, to drive the conversion to a climate-neutral energy 
system. Continuous network expansion at all voltage 
levels together with the construction and/or expansion 
of transformer stations and substations represent the 
basic requirements to feed the growing electricity pro-
duction from renewable sources into the energy system. 
Other investments in this segment were related to the 
kabelplus telecommunication network.

EVN’s investments in the South East Europe Segment 
involved network investments to guarantee supply secu-
rity, among others, through the construction of further 
large-scale photovoltaic plants in North Macedonia.

and network expansion projects in the heating busi-
ness. The expansion of the e-charging infrastructure is 
the responsibility of the energy services business and 
is assigned to this segment.

In the Generation Segment, investments focused on 
the construction of further wind parks and large-scale 
 photovoltaic systems in Lower Austria to support the 
attainment of expansion goals by 2030.

The further increase in investments in this segment 
underscores the enormous demand for actions, on the 
one hand, to protect supply security and, on the other 

All Other Segments
Environment
South East Europe

Energy
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Networks

0.3
4.0

19.5

11.6

53.1

11.4

0.5
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19.5
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16.9

0.4
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Risk management

Definition of risk

The EVN Group defines risk as the potential deviation 
from planned corporate targets and objectives.

Risk management process

The primary goal of risk management is to protect 
 current and future earnings and cash flows through the 
active identification and control of risk. As part of this 
process, a centrally organised corporate risk management 
department provides the decentralised risk managers 
with effective methods and tools for identifying and 
assessing risks. The responsible business units communi-
cate their risk exposures to corporate risk management, 
which defines suitable actions to minimise these risks. 
The necessary actions are then implemented by the indi-
vidual business units. The corporate risk management 
department is also responsible for analysing EVN’s risk 
exposure. The risks related to sustainability, climate and 
compliance issues are identified annually and managed 
by specialised organisational units and/or processes 
in agreement with central risk management. EVN’s risk 
management process includes the following steps:

• Identification: The survey and/or revision of risks 
based on the latest risk inventory (review of risk 
inventory) and the identification of new risk positions 
and appropriate risk management countermeasures 

• Assessment and analysis: The qualitative and 
quantitative evaluation of the identified risks; 
the aggregation of risks from different points of 
view; and the modelling of earnings and cash 
flow distributions 

generation from renewable sources. A solution must 
still be found, particularly from a seasonal viewpoint, to 
support the transformation to a climate-neutral energy 
system. Electricity generation from wind power and 
photovoltaics now frequently exceeds demand during 
the summer half-year due to the expansion of capacity, 
but low water, wind and sun periods in Central Europe – 
above all during the winter half-year – can create chal-
lenging situations for supply security. In light of these 
developments, EVN is working, for example as a project 
partner with RAG, on a pilot plant that will use solar 
energy to operate an electrolyser. The resulting green 
hydrogen will be stored in an idle RAG natural gas storage 
facility and can be used during the winter to generate 
emission-free electricity and heat. Test operations at this 
plant started in summer 2024 under the direction of EVN. 
In other projects, EVN is evaluating the possibility to use 
surplus production from renewable sources for sector 
integration purposes or for the substitution of thermal 
generation. One example is the pilot hybrid storage facil-
ity in Theiss, which combines heat storage equipment 
with a 5 MW storage battery and photovoltaics.

Other EVN research projects involve innovative approaches 
to increasingly utilise flexibilities from various customers 
and smaller electricity producers to adjust the demand 
for energy over time in a manner that prevents demand 
peaks and makes it possible to cover requirements with 
the available renewable energy. The Green the Flex 
project, for example, has set a goal to combine the 
flexibility potential of 3,000 private customers into a 
so-called virtual power plant. Other contributions in this 
area were made by CyberGrid, a company acquired by 
EVN in 2022. It offers special IT solutions for the flexi-
bility management of electricity networks and various 
individual projects (e. g. for the bi-directional charging 
of e-vehicles) within the framework of the Green Energy 

Lab, an interdisciplinary innovation laboratory. Together 
with CyberGrid, a battery project also started during 
2024 in areas close to photovoltaic, wind and hydro-
power plants. Its objective is to optimally coordinate 
the capacity of network and generation equipment.

In the area of e-mobility, EVN is a participant in the 
Car2Flex project. It covers three e-mobility use groups: 
private users, e-vehicle fleets (e. g. in companies), and 
e-car sharing for multi-family houses. The central issue 
is how to best integrate the rising share of electromobility 
in accordance with the mobility needs of the respective 
groups. Car2Flex is also designed to create new econom ic 
incentives, for example solutions that increase the cus-
tomer’s use of electricity from photo voltaics through 
interim storage in vehicle batteries. This optimised, flexi-
ble battery usage can increase the share of renewable 
generation and use and, in doing so, reduce costs.

Network operations are confronted with enormous 
 challenges from the expansion of renewable generation 
and the related steady increase in highly volatile electricity 
feed-in from a wide range of decentralised equipment. 
EVN is therefore also pursuing innovative approaches and 
research projects in this area. One project concentrates 
on the use of battery storage facilities in the medium -
voltage network: Trials are currently in progress here as 
a means of temporarily shifting load peaks and creating 
flexibility in network operations.

In a project with the Vienna University of Technology, 
methods are being tested for the real-time analysis of 
data from the low-voltage network. EVN is also working 
on setting up a long range wide area network (LoRaWAN) 
for the energy-efficient transmission of data over large 
distances to create the basis for applications and solu-
tions in the future Internet of Things.

• Reporting: Discussion and evaluation of the risk 
profile by the Risk Working Committee and the 
Group Risk Committee; the implementation of 
 further risk management measures where necessary; 
reporting on risk issues to the Audit Committee 

• Process review: Definition of the organisational 
units that must submit to an explicit risk assessment; 
regular reviews to determine whether the methods 
used to identify and assess risks should be modified 
to reflect changed conditions; routine reviews by the 
internal audit department

Responsibilities of the Risk Working Committee

The Risk Working Committee supports the corporate 
risk management department in the correct implemen-
tation of the risk management process. It evaluates and 
approves changes in risk (assessment) methods and 
defines the type and scope of risk reporting. 

The voting members of the committee at the corporate 
level include the heads of the following corporate func-
tions: controlling, legal and public affairs, finance, ac count-
ing, internal audit and the chief compliance officer (CCO) 
as well as an (internal) energy industry expert.
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EVN’s major risks and opportunities as well as related risk mitigation measures

Risk/opportunity category Description Risk mitigation measure

Market and competition risks/opportunities

Profit margin risks/opportunities
(price and volume effects)

Energy sales and production: failure to meet profit margin targets 
• Procurement and selling prices (esp. for energy carriers) that are volatile and/or 

 deviate from forecasts
• Weaker demand (above all due to weather/climate change, politics, reputation or competition) 
• Decline in own generation
• Reduced project volume in the environmental services business (in particular due to market 

 saturation, limited resources for infrastructure projects, non-inclusion in or failure to win tenders)

Potential climate risk

Procurement strategy tailored to the market environment; hedging strategies;  
diversification of  customer segments and business areas;  
product portfolio that reflects customer demands;  
 longer-term sale of power plant capacity

Supplier risk Cost overruns on planned projects;  
incomplete performance of contracted services or failure to meet contract obligations

Partnerships; contractual controls wherever possible;  
third party expert opinions

Financial risks/opportunities

Foreign currency risks Transaction risks (foreign exchange losses) and translation risks on the conversion of foreign 
 currency amounts in the consolidated financial statements; foreign exchange risk in financing for 
Group companies

Monitoring; limits; hedging instruments

Liquidity, cash flow and
financing risk

Failure to repay liabilities on schedule or to obtain the required liquidity/funds when 
needed at the expected conditions; potential climate risk

Long-term, centrally managed financial planning;  
safeguarding financing requirements (e. g. through credit lines)

Market price risks/opportunities Decline or increase in the value of investments (e. g. funds) and listed strategic holdings 
(e. g.  Verbund AG,  Burgenland Holding); potential climate risk 

Monitoring of loss potential via daily value-at-risk calculations; investment guidelines

Counterparty/credit risks (default risks) Complete or partial failure of a business partner or customer to provide the agreed performance Contractual construction; credit monitoring and credit limit systems; regular monitoring of customer
behaviour; hedging instruments; insurance; systematic diversification of business partners

Investment risks Failure of a core subsidiary or holding company to meet profit targets; potential climate risk Representation on corporate bodies of the respective company

Rating changes Higher refinancing costs due to rating downgrades; potential climate risk Ensuring compliance with key financial indicators

Interest rate risks Changes in market rates; increase in interest expense;  
negative effects of low interest rates on the valuation of assets and provisions and on future tariffs

Use of hedging instruments; fixed interest rates in financing contracts
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EVN’s major risks and opportunities as well as related risk mitigation measures

Risk/opportunity category Description Risk mitigation measure

Impairment risks Recognition of impairment losses to receivables, goodwill, investments, generation equipment 
and other assets (profitability/value significantly dependent on electricity and primary energy prices 
and energy sector framework conditions); potential climate risk

Monitoring via sensitivity analyses

Guarantee risk Financial loss due to claim of contingent liabilities; potential climate risk Limit volume of guarantees as far as possible; routine monitoring

Strategy and planning risks

Technology risk Late identification of and reaction to new technologies (delayed investments)  
or to changes in  customer needs; investments in “wrong” technologies;  
potential climate risk

Active participation in external research projects;  
own demonstration facilities and pilot projects;  
ongoing adjustments to keep technologies at the latest level 

Planning risk Model risks; incorrect or incomplete assumptions;
lost opportunities

Feasibility studies by experienced, highly qualified employees;  
monitoring of parameters and regular updates; four-eyes principle

Organisational risks Inefficient or ineffective processes and interfaces; duplication; potential climate risk Process management; documentation; internal control system (ICS)

Operating risks

Infrastructure risks Incorrect design and use of technical facilities;  
potential climate risk

Elimination of technical weaknesses;  
regular inspections and reviews of current and planned infrastructure

Service disruptions/network breakdowns  
(own and third party), accidents 

Supply interruptions; physical danger to persons or infrastructure through explosions/accidents;
potential climate risk 

Technical upgrading at interfaces of the different networks;  
expansion and maintenance of network capacity

IT/security risks (incl. cybersecurity) System losses; data loss or unintended transfer; hacker attacks Strict system and risk monitoring (internal control system); backup systems; technical maintenance;  
external audits; occupational safety and health measures; crisis training

Workforce risks Loss of highly qualified employees; absence due to work accidents; surplus or shortfall of personnel; 
communication problems; cultural barriers; fraud; intentional or unintentional misrepresentations of 
transactions or items in the annual financial statements

Attractive work environment; occupational health care and safety measures; flexible working time
models; training; events for employees for the exchange of information and networking purposes; 
internal control system (ICS)

External risks/opportunities

Legislative, regulatory and political risks/opportunities Change in political and legal parameters and/or the regulatory environment (e. g. environmental laws, 
changes in the legal framework, shifting subsidy scheme, market liberalisation in South East Europe); 
political and economic instability; network operations: non-inclusion of actual operating costs in the 
network tariffs established by regulatory authority; potential climate risk

Cooperation with interest groups, associations and government agencies on a regional, national 
and international level; appropriate documentation and service charges
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EVN’s major risks and opportunities as well as related risk mitigation measures

Risk/opportunity category Description Risk mitigation measure

Legal and litigation risks Non-compliance with contracts; litigation risk from various lawsuits;  
regulatory and supervisory audits

Representation in local, regional, national and EU-wide interest groups;  
legal consulting

Social and general economic environment Macroeconomic developments; debt/financial crisis;  
stagnating or declining purchasing power; rising unemployment; potential climate risk

Best possible utilisation of (anti-)cyclical optimisation potential

Contract risks Failure to identify legal, economic or technical problems;
contract risks under financing agreements 

Extensive legal due diligence; involvement of external experts/legal advisors;  
contract database and ongoing monitoring

Other risks

Granting of undue advantages,   
non-compliance, data protection incidents

Distribution of confidential internal information to third parties and the granting of undue advantages/
corruption; violation of regulations for the protection of personal data

Internal control systems; uniform guidelines and standards;  
Code of Conduct; compliance organisation

Project risk Cost overruns on the construction of new capacity; potential climate risk Contractual agreement on economic parameters

Co-investment risk Risks related to the implementation of major projects jointly with partners; potential climate risk Contractual safeguards; efficient project management

Sabotage Sabotage, e. g. to natural gas lines, wastewater treatment plants or waste incineration plants Suitable security measures; regular measurement of water quality and emissions

Image risk Reputational damage; potential climate risk Transparent and proactive communications; sustainable management

Potential climate risks

EVN also places high priority on climate protection, and 
potential climate risks are therefore identified as part of 
the risk inventory. Climate risk is consciously not defined 
as a separate risk category but – wherever applicable – 
represents interdisciplinary material in the individual risk 
categories. A differentiation is made between transition 
risks and physical risks: Transition risks include the uncer-
tainties which arise during the transition to a renewable 
energy system. Physical risks, in contrast, involve events 
and changes caused directly by climatic factors.

The tables on pages 149 to 151 show the risks classified 
under the above categories and the measures designated 
for their minimisation.

In line with the Sustainability and Diversity Improvement 
Act, the risk inventory aims to systematically identify 
potential risks and effects of EVN’s business activities 
and business relations on areas of environmental, social 
and employee-related issues, the observance of human 
rights and the fight against corruption. The identified 
risks and their impact were dealt with in accordance 
with the steps defined by the risk management process.

Risk profile

In addition to the normal industry risks and uncertain-
ties, EVN’s risk profile is influenced primarily by political, 
legal and regulatory challenges and changes in the com-
petitive environment. EVN carries out an annual risk 
inventory that is updated as needed through ad-hoc 
risk reports. This inventory includes the following cate-
gorisation of risks: market and competition risks, finan-
cial risks, operating risks, external risks, strategic and 
planning risks and other risks. These are largely assessed 
in terms of their financial impact on the EVN Group. 

Group Risk Committee and control 

The results of the risk inventory and the related reports 
are presented to and discussed by the Group Risk 
 Committee, which consists of the Executive Board of 
EVN AG, the heads of the organisational units and 
the members of the Risk Working Committee. The 
Group Risk Committee decides on any need for action, 
can establish working groups and assign specified 
tasks, and is authorised to approve the results of the 
risk  inventory (risk reports). 
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involved in the accounting process have the necessary 
qualifications and undergo regular training. Complex 
actuarial opinions and valuations are prepared by exter-
nal experts or specially qualified employees. The man-
agers responsible for the specific processes – in general, 
the heads of the organisational units and corporate 
functions – are responsible for compliance with these 
processes and the related control measures.

Risk assessment and control activities

Multi-stage control measures have been implemented 
to prevent material misstatements in the presentation 
of transactions in order to ensure that the individual 
financial statements of all subsidiaries are recorded 
 correctly. These measures include automated controls 
that are executed by the consolidation software as well 
as manual controls by the involved corporate functions. 
These corporate service departments carry out extensive 
plausibility checks of the individual subsidiaries’ financial 
statements to ensure their correct transfer to the con-
solidated financial statements. The review of the financial 
statement data includes analyses at the position, segment 
and Group levels, both before and after consolidation. 
The consolidated financial statements are not released 
until these quality controls are complete at all levels.

EVN AG and the major domestic and foreign subsidiaries 
use SAP software (FI module, finance and accounting) 
for their accounting. The IFRS consolidated financial 
statements are prepared with the Hyperion Financial 
Management software, whereby the data from the in di-
vidual financial statements of the consolidated companies 
are transferred by means of an interface. The account-
ing systems and all upstream systems are protected 
by  restricted access as well as automated and mandatory 
manual control steps.

 management report. The Executive Board is responsible 
for establishing a suitable internal control and risk man-
agement system (ICS) for accounting processes as defined 
in § 82 of the Austrian Stock Corporation Act. The effec-
tiveness of the ICS must be monitored by the Audit 
Committee in accordance with § 92 (4a) no. 4b of the 
Austrian Stock Corporation Act.

EVN’s ICS for accounting processes is monitored at regu-
lar intervals by auditing the processes that are considered 
to be exposed to risk. The results of these monitoring 
activities are reported to the Executive Board and the 
Audit Committee. The ICS ensures clear lines of responsi-
bility and eliminates unnecessary process steps, and 
thereby further improves the security of processes for 
the preparation of financial statements. The description 
of the major features of the ICS covers five interrelated 
components: control environment, risk assessment, 
control activities, information and communication, and 
monitoring.

Control environment

The Code of Conduct issued by EVN and the underlying 
values apply to all Group employees.

 EVN’s Code of Conduct is available under 

www.evn.at/code-of-conduct

The consolidated financial statements are prepared by 
Group accounting and controlling. The related processes 
are based on a uniform accounting guideline that defines 
the accounting policies to be applied as well as key 
 processes and schedules for the entire Group. Binding 
instructions apply to the reconciliation of intragroup 
accounts and other work required for the preparation 
of the consolidated financial statements. All employees 

• Impairment risks
• Completion risk for major international projects 

in the environmental business
• Cybersecurity

EVN’s risk profile is influenced primarily by common 
industry risks and uncertainties and, in particular, by 
political, legal and regulatory challenges and changes. 
All these aspects are categorised as part of EVN’s risk 
management process.

Overall risk profile

In addition to the uncertainties connected with the areas 
of business and operations outside Austria, EVN contin-
ues to be confronted with a challenging environment in 
its home market of Lower Austria. The overall risk profile 
of EVN is trending downwards. No future risks can be 
identified at the present time that could endanger the 
continued existence of the EVN Group. 

The table on the pages 149 to 151 provides a summary 
of the material risks and uncertainties to which the 
EVN Group is exposed. For the first time, this table also 
includes opportunities for certain categories, if applicable.

Key features of the internal control 
and risk management system related 
to accounting processes

In accordance with § 267 (3b) and in connection with 
§ 243a (2) of the Austrian Commercial Code, those 
 companies whose shares are admitted for trading on 
a regulated market are required to disclose the key fea-
tures of their internal control and risk management 
 system for corporate accounting processes in the 

Following are several examples that illustrate the alloca-
tion of potential climate risks to EVN’s risk categories: 

• Weaker demand due to a mild winter: physical risk 
that is assigned to the category “profit margin risk”

• Decline in electricity production due to a climate- 
related drop in water flows: physical risk that is 
assigned to the category “profit margin risk”

• Damage caused by extreme weather: physical risk 
that is assigned to the category “service disruptions/
network breakdowns”

• Change in environmental regulations: transition risk 
that is assigned to the category “external risks”; 
stricter requirements could possibly lead to addi-
tional costs

• Additional stress for the electricity network due to 
the ongoing expansion of substantially more volatile 
renewable generation: transition risk that is assigned 
to the category “operating risks” (“service disrup-
tions/network breakdowns”)

Risk and opportunity analysis for 2023/24

In view of the geopolitical crises during the past years 
and the resulting distortions on energy markets, EVN also 
monitored risk developments in the Group throughout 
the reporting period. Ad-hoc analyses were not required 
in 2023/24 but the assessment of the major risks with a 
potentially high impact was updated at the end of the 
first half-year. A report on these risks and their effects 
was also presented to the Audit Committee of EVN’s 
Supervisory Board.

The following issues were identified as the major uncer-
tainties with the potentially highest effects and analysed 
in particular detail in connection with the risk inventory 
carried out as of 30 September 2024 (excerpt):
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the Audit Committee also receive a report on the ICS 
for financial accounting twice each year, which contains 
basic information to evaluate the efficiency and effec-
tiveness of the ICS and is designed to support the man-
agement of the ICS by the responsible corporate bodies. 
The report is prepared by ICS management in coopera-
tion with the ICS Committee based on information sup-
plied by the managers responsible for ICS, the persons 
who carried out the controls and the auditors.

This information is also distributed to management and 
key personnel in the involved companies to facilitate 
monitoring and control activities and thereby ensure the 
accuracy of accounting and reporting procedures. EVN’s 
internal audit department carries out regular reviews of 
the ICS for financial accounting, and their findings are also 
included in the continuous improvement of this system.

The ICS for financial reporting and all accounting- related 
processes are reviewed by the auditor at least once each 
year to verify compliance with the required controls, to 
evaluate any risk incidents that occurred during the finan-
cial year and to determine whether the controls are still 
suitable to deal with the existing risks. In the reporting 
period, a number of process adjustments and improve-
ments were made as part of the continuous efforts to 
further develop the ICS for  financial reporting.

Information, communication and monitoring

The Executive Board provides the Supervisory Board with 
quarterly reports on EVN’s asset, financial and earnings 
position, together with a statement of financial position 
and a statement of operations. The Executive Board and 

Consolidated non-financial report

The consolidated non-financial statement required by the 
Austrian Sustainability and Diversity Improvement Act 
was prepared in accordance with § 267a of the Austrian 
Commercial Code and is presented as an independent 
non-financial report.

 See page 12ff
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creation of a tax participation association for their 
investments in EVN AG”. This contract basically calls 
for the syndicated exercise of voting rights by NLH 
and WSTW in the Annual General Meetings of EVN 
but reflects only the voting weight in the Annual 
General Meeting based on the respective invest-
ments held by NLH and WSTW and in accordance 
with legal regulations and/or the articles of asso-
ciation (NLH continues to hold a simple – but not 
qualified – majority and WSTW continues to hold 
a blocking minority).

4. Based on the above-mentioned constitutional require-
ments, the province of Lower Austria is the major 
shareholder of EVN with a stake of 51.0%. The second 
largest shareholder is Wiener Stadtwerke GmbH, 
Vienna, with a stake of 28.4%; this company is wholly 
owned by the city of Vienna. As of 30 September 2024, 
EVN held treasury shares representing 0.9% of share 
capital and free float equalled 19.7%.

5. EVN has not issued any shares with special control 
rights.

6. Employees who own shares in EVN may exer-
cise their voting rights personally at the Annual 
General Meeting. EVN does not have a stock 
option programme.

7. The Executive Board consists of at least two mem-
bers. The Supervisory Board has a minimum of eight 
and a maximum of 12 members. Unless another 
majority is required by law, the Annual General 
Meeting passes its resolutions with a simple majority 
of the votes cast or with a majority of the capital 
represented in cases requiring a majority of capital.

8. There were no authorisations as defined by § 243a (1) 
no. 7 of the Austrian Commercial Code in effect during 
the 2023/24 financial year which entitled the Execu-
tive Board, in particular, to issue the company’s shares. 
However, the possibility of issuing previously repur-
chased treasury shares to employees remains intact. 

9. A change of control in EVN in the sense of § 243a (1) 
no. 8 of the Austrian Commercial Code is currently not 
possible because of the legal regulations described 
above under points 2. and 3. Therefore, there are no 
possible consequences of a change of control.

10. There are no agreements to provide compensation 
to the members of corporate bodies or employees in 
the event of a public takeover.

Disclosures required by § 243a of the 
 Austrian Commercial Code

1. The share capital of EVN AG totalled 
EUR 330,000,000 as of 30 September 2024 and 
was divided into 179,878,402 zero par value bearer 
shares, each of which represents an equal stake in 
share capital. Shareholders are not entitled to the 
issue of individual share certificates. There is only 
one class of shares, and all shares carry the same 
rights and responsibilities. EVN AG shares are traded 
in the Prime Market segment of the Vienna Stock 
Exchange.

2. There are no restrictions on voting rights or agree-
ments limiting the transfer of shares which exceed 
the general requirements of the Austrian Stock 
Corporation Act. However, it should be noted that 
the transferability of the investment owned by the 
province of Lower Austria, which holds its shares 
through NÖ Landes-Beteiligungsholding GmbH, 
St. Pölten, is limited by Austrian federal and provin-
cial constitutional law.

3. NÖ Landes-Beteiligungsholding GmbH (“NLH”) and 
Wiener Stadtwerke GmbH (“WSTW”) established a 
tax participation association on 23 September 2021, 
for which they concluded an “agreement over the 
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structured process for the complete sale of WTE that 
was terminated on 4 April 2024. 

For the 2024/25 financial year, EVN expects Group net 
result within a range of EUR 400m to EUR 440m – under 
the assumption of a stable regulatory and energy policy 
environment.

The dividend policy was confirmed and is unchanged. 
As of the 2024/25 financial year, the dividend will equal 
at least EUR 0.82 per share in the future, whereby EVN 
wants its shareholders to appropriately participate in any 
additional earnings growth. In the medium term, a pay-
out ratio equalling 40% of Group net result, adjusted for 
extraordinary effects, is targeted.

Our Group – with an integrated business model in the 
energy sector combined with internet and telecommuni-
cations services and drinking water supplies in Lower 
Austria that complement and complete our infrastructure 
offering – is a reliable partner for our customers. At the 
same time, these activities create the basis for successful 
and attractive positioning on the capital market.

Maria Enzersdorf, 27 November 2024

EVN AG
The Executive Board

Outlook on the 2024/25 financial year

EVN intends to consistently pursue the realisation of its 
goals and plans in the 2024/25 financial year. In line 
with the Strategy 2030, the foundation was created in 
recent years – despite the many economic and geo-
political developments and energy sector distortions – 
to position EVN as the designer of a climate-neutral 
energy future. Infrastructure projects were developed, 
an open dialogue was carried out with stakeholders, 
and a concentrated focus was placed on planning and 
optimisation. Digitalisation projects, innovations and 
visions accompany and supplement this ambitious 
course. It has led to the more precise definition and 
further expansion of the investment programme, which 
will be reflected in investments by the Group of approx-
imately EUR 900m annually up to 2030. 

In the Generation Segment, EVN is continuing to concen-
trate on the expansion of wind power and photovoltaics. 
The project pipeline is well filled and sufficiently diversi-
fied to meet the goal for an increase to 770 MW of 
installed wind power capacity and 300 MWp of photo-
voltaic capacity. The completion of the projects currently 
under construction will bring EVN a major step forward. 
Moreover, the expansion of renewable generation is one 
of the major drivers for the initial transition plan that was 
revised in 2023/24 and submitted to the Science Based 
Target initiative for verification.

Most of the annual investments will continue to be 
directed to the expansion of the network infrastructure 
in the coming years. The greatest challenge for the elec-
tricity distribution network remains unchanged and 
involves the optimal integration of the high, and continu-
ously rising, volatile feed-in volumes from wind and 

photovoltaic equipment into Austria’s energy system. 
Extensive network investments are also required to meet 
changing consumption patterns, for example the grow-
ing use of e-mobility or heat pumps.

Our approach to the issue of large battery storage reflects 
our conviction that innovation and pilot projects can lead 
to new business models. At the energy hub in Theiss, we 
are therefore constructing a large battery storage facility 
with a capacity of 70 MW which is planned for commis-
sioning as a virtual power plant at the end of 2027. Our 
objective is the optimised management of this large 
battery in terms of energy efficiency to enable the mar-
keting of surplus production from solar energy in times 
of effective demand. In addition to participation in the 
day-ahead or intraday market, we also see concrete 
applications of battery storage in network operations 
because the temporary shift and use of flexibilities can 
also have a positive influence on network stability.

We are continuing to address the challenges in energy 
sales with additional offers and services. On the other 
hand, EVN established an early position as a provider 
of charging infrastructure for e-mobility. We also offer 
transaction platforms and software solutions for energy 
communities and create attractive added value for cus-
tomers in this area. The construction of e-charging in fra-
structure and the development of digital offers for 
 customers will also increasingly determine the further 
development of our activities in South East Europe. 

Our decision as regards the international project business 
is unchanged and means the future focus of the EVN 
Group will remain on the core energy business. Further 
strategic options for WTE are therefore under evaluation 
and naturally reflect the investor feedback from the 

Stefan Szyszkowitz Alexandra Wittmann Stefan Stallinger 

CEO and Spokesman  CFO and Member  CTO and Member  
of the Executive Board  of the Executive Board  of the Executive Board   
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